
Agenda for a meeting of the Executive to be held on 
Tuesday, 4 February 2020 at 10.30 am in Committee 
Room 1 - City Hall, Bradford
Members of the Executive – Councillors

LABOUR
Hinchcliffe (Chair)
I Khan
Ross-Shaw
Ferriby
Jabar
Farley

Notes:

 This agenda can be made available in Braille, large print or tape format on request by 
contacting the Agenda contact shown below.

 The taking of photographs, filming and sound recording of the meeting is allowed 
except if Councillors vote to exclude the public to discuss confidential matters covered 
by Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. Recording activity should be 
respectful to the conduct of the meeting and behaviour that disrupts the meeting (such 
as oral commentary) will not be permitted. Anyone attending the meeting who wishes 
to record or film the meeting's proceedings is advised to liaise with the Agenda 
Contact who will provide guidance and ensure that any necessary arrangements are in 
place. Those present who are invited to make spoken contributions to the meeting 
should be aware that they may be filmed or sound recorded.

 If any further information is required about any item on this agenda, please contact the 
officer named at the foot of that agenda item.  

From: To:
Parveen Akhtar
City Solicitor
Agenda Contact:  Jill Bell / Yusuf Patel
Phone: 01274 434580/4579
E-Mail: jill.bell@bradford.gov.uk / yusuf.patel@bradford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



A. PROCEDURAL ITEMS

1.  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 

(Members Code of Conduct - Part 4A of the Constitution)

To receive disclosures of interests from members and co-opted 
members on matters to be considered at the meeting. The disclosure 
must include the nature of the interest.

An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it becomes 
apparent to the member during the meeting.

Notes:

(1) Members may remain in the meeting and take part fully in 
discussion and voting unless the interest is a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or an interest which the Member feels would 
call into question their compliance with the wider principles set 
out in the Code of Conduct.  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
relate to the Member concerned or their spouse/partner.

(2) Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months 
must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget 
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this 
restriction applies to them.  A failure to comply with these 
requirements is a criminal offence under section 106 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.  

(3) Members are also welcome to disclose interests which are not 
disclosable pecuniary interests but which they consider should 
be made in the interest of clarity.

(4) Officers must disclose interests in accordance with Council 
Standing Order 44.

2.  INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS 

(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution)

Reports and background papers for agenda items may be inspected by 
contacting the person shown after each agenda item.  Certain reports 
and background papers may be restricted.  

Any request to remove the restriction on a report or background paper 
should be made to the relevant Strategic Director or Assistant Director 
whose name is shown on the front page of the report.  

If that request is refused, there is a right of appeal to this meeting.  



Please contact the officer shown below in advance of the meeting if 
you wish to appeal.  

(Jill Bell / Yusuf Patel - 01274 434580 434579)

3.  RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE EXECUTIVE 

To note any recommendations to the Executive that may be the subject 
of report to a future meeting.  (Schedule to be tabled at the meeting).  

 (Jill Bell / Yusuf Patel - 01274 434580 434579)

4.  MEETINGS OF COUNCIL AND THE EXECUTIVE 2020/21 

The City Solicitor will submit a report (Document “AP”) which
recommends a schedule of ordinary meetings for Council and the
Executive for the municipal year 2020-21.

Recommended -

(1) That the schedule of meetings of the Executive for 
2020/21as set out in appendix 1 to Document “AP” be 
approved.

(2) That it be a recommendation to the annual meeting of 
Council that the ordinary meetings of Council for 2020/21as 
set out in appendix 1 to Document “AP” be approved.

(Jill Bell/Yusuf Patel – 01274 434580/4279)

1 - 6

B. STRATEGIC ITEMS

LEADER OF COUNCIL & CORPORATE

(Councillor Hinchcliffe)

5.  2020-21 BUDGET UPDATE 

On 2 January 2020 the Executive approved budget proposals for 
consultation as required with the public, interested parties, staff and the 
Trade Unions.

The report of the Director of Finance (Document “AQ”) provides the 
Executive with an update on national announcements and local 
decisions. It also identifies issues and uncertainties which could still 
have a bearing on the final size of the funding gap for future financial 
years.

7 - 14



Executive will need to have regard to this report when considering the 
recommendations to make to Council at their meeting on 18 February 
2020

Recommended -

Executive is asked to note the contents of Document “AQ” and to 
have regard to the information contained within this report when 
considering the recommendations to make to Council on a budget 
for 2020/21 at their meeting on 18 February 2020.

(James Hopwood – 01274 432882)

6.  CONSULTATION FEEDBACK AND EQUALITY ASSESSMENT ON 
NEW PROPOSALS IN THE 2020-21COUNCIL BUDGET 

On 2 January 2020, the Executive approved new budget proposals for 
consultation with the public, interested parties, staff and the Trade 
Unions. These were included in Appendix E of the financial plan, for 
ease these have also been included in Appendix B of the report of the 
Assistant Director, Office of the Chief Executive. 

The report of the Assistant Director, Office of the Chief Executive 
(Document “AR”) and appendices provides feedback from the public 
engagement and consultation programme and the consultation with 
Trade Unions and sets out a summary of the equality assessments 
carried as outlined in the Proposed Financial Plan Updated (2020-21). 

 

Recommended -

That in accordance with Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the 
Executive has regard to the information contained in Document 
“AR”, appendices and equality assessments when considering 
the recommendations to make to the Council on budget 
proposals for 2020-21 on 20 February 2020.

(Phil Witcherley – 01274 431241) 

15 - 28

7.  QTR. 3 FINANCE POSITION STATEMENT FOR 2019-20 

The report of the Director of Finance (Document “AT”) provides 
Members with an overview of the forecast financial position of the 
Council for 2019-20.

It examines the latest spend against revenue and capital budgets and 
forecasts the financial position at the year end. It states the Council’s 
current reserves and forecasts school balances for the year.  

29 - 94



Recommended -

That the Executive

(1) Note the contents of Document “AT” and the actions taken 
to manage the issues highlighted in the report.

(2) Approve the following capital expenditure schemes. 

 £0.25m to purchase a Trommel for the sorting of recycling 
at the Bowling Back Lane site. This will be funded by the 
savings generated through a reduction in fines received by 
the Council.

(Andrew Cross – 01274 436823)

C. PORTFOLIO ITEMS

EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS 
PORTFOLIO & DEPUTY LEADER

(Councillor I Khan)

NOTE

The following item is included on this agenda as an 
exceptions to the Forward Plan in accordance with the 
provisions of Paragraph 10 (General Exception to the 
Forward Plan) of Part 3D of the Constitution.

8.  DETERMINATION OF PRIMARY AND SECONDARY ADMISSION 
ARRANGEMENTS 

The report of the Strategic Director of Children’s Services (Document 
“AU”) asks the Executive to determine the admission arrangements 
for September 2021 including:

 Approving the Admission Arrangements for Community and 
Voluntary Controlled Schools.

 Approving the Co-ordinated Admission Schemes for Annual and 
In-Year Admissions.

 Noting the ‘own admission authority schools’ proposing changes 
to their admission policies.

 Noting Published Admission Numbers.

95 - 132



Recommended -

(1) That the Executive approve the Primary and Secondary 
Admission Arrangements.

(2) That the Executive approve the Primary and Secondary Co-
ordinated Admissions Scheme.

(3) That the Executive approve the In-Year Co-ordinated 
Admissions Scheme.

(4) That the Executive note the proposed changes to the 
admission arrangements for own admission schools listed 
in 3.1 of Document “AU”.

(5) That the Executive note the Published Admission Numbers 
contained in Appendix F of Document “AU”.

(Marium Haque – 01274 431078)

9.  ENSURING THE SUFFICIENCY OF SPECIALIST PLACES FOR 
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE WITH SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL 
NEEDS AND DISABILITIES (SEND) ACROSS THE DISTRICT 

The report of the Strategic Director of Children’s Service (Document 
“AV”) asks the Council Executive to: 

Approve the proposals outlined in this report to deliver:

 80 additional maintained special school places at Beechcliffe 
School, delivered on a split site (Ellar Carr site)

 12 new Resourced Provision places at Fagley Primary School 

 The re-distribution of 10 Early Years Enhanced Specialist 
Provision places from Abbey Green Nursery School to Midland 
Road Nursery School

Recommended -

That the Executive:

(1) Approve the proposal to increase the number of places for 
pupils at Beechcliffe Special School to be delivered on a 
split site, by increasing the pupil numbers from 144 to 224.

(2) Approve the proposal to develop a new 12 place Resourced 
Provision (RP-LA) for primary aged children with 
Communication and Interaction needs including Autistic 
Spectrum Disorders (ASD) at Fagley Primary School.

133 - 
174



(3) Approve the proposal to reduce the current number of 
EYESP places at Abbey Green Nursery School from 20 Part 
time places to 10 part time places.

(4) Approve the proposal to develop a new 10 part time place 
EYESP at Midland Road Nursery School.

(Marium Haque – 01273 431078)

10.  PROPOSED REDUCTION OF PUBLISHED ADMISSION NUMBER 
AT CARRWOOD AND LOW ASH PRIMARY SCHOOLS 

The report of the Strategic Director of Children’s Services (Document 
“AW”) asks the Executive to: 

Approve the reduction of the published admission number at:
 Carrwood Primary School from 60 to 30 from 1 

September 2021
 Low Ash Primary School from 90 to 60 from 1 September 

2021

Recommended -

(1) That the Executive approve the proposal to reduce the 
Published Admission Number (PAN) at Carrwood Primary 
School from 60 to 30 from 1 September 2021.

(2) That the Executive approve the proposal to reduce the 
Published Admission Number (PAN) at Low Ash Primary 
School from 90 to 60 from 1 September 2021.

(Marium Haque – 01274 431078)

175 - 
196

REGENERATION, PLANNING & TRANSPORT 
PORTFOLIO

(Councillor Ross-Shaw)

11.  HOMES AND NEIGHBOURHOODS DESIGN GUIDE 

The report of the Strategic Director of Place (Document “AX”) seeks 
Executive approval to formally adopt the Homes and Neighbourhoods 
Design Guide as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for use 
in the determination of planning applications.

The purpose of the Guide will be to achieve a step change in the 
quality of new housing development in the District in support of policies 
in the current adopted Local Plan Core Strategy. It sets a vision for 
“green, safe, inclusive and distinctive neighbourhoods that create 
healthy communities for all.”

197 - 
380



At the 11th June 2019 Meeting of the Executive it was resolved that the 
Draft version of the Homes and Neighbourhoods Design Guide be 
approved for public consultation for a period of 8 weeks. It was also 
resolved that the outcome of the consultation, including any suggested 
amendments, be reported back to the Executive as soon as possible 
with a view to seeking approval to adopt the Guide as a Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD).  

The public consultation period ran from 30th July to 24th September 
2019. This report details the key issues which have arisen from the 
consultation and the subsequent changes which are proposed to the 
Guide as a result.

Recommended -

(1) That the Homes and Neighbourhoods Design Guide with 
the changes as recommended, in Appendix 1 to Document 
“AX”,  be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document.

(2) That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director Place 
in consultation with the Portfolio Holder to carry out any 
minor amendments of a drafting or similar nature 
necessary, prior to the formal publication of the adopted 
Homes and Neighbourhoods Design Guide SPD. 

(Andrew Marshall - 01274 434050)

12.  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

Recommended –

That the public be excluded from the meeting during the 
discussion of  Not for Publication Appendices 2 and 3 to 
Document “AY” on the grounds that it is likely, in view of the 
nature of the proceedings, that if they were present, exempt 
information within paragraph 3 (financial or business affairs) of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) 
would be disclosed and it is considered that, in all the 
circumstances, the public interest in allowing the public to remain 
is outweighed by the public interest in excluding public access to 
the relevant part of the proceedings for the following reasons:

It is in the public interest in maintaining these exemptions 
because it is in the overriding interest of proper administration 
that Members are made fully aware of the financial and legal 
implications of any decision. 

13.  CIVIC QUARTER DISTRICT HEAT - OUTLINE BUSINESS CASE 

The report of the Director of Corporate Resources (Document “AY” 
that contains Not for Publication appendices 2 and 3) presents a 
summary of the outline business case to support the Council’s ambition 
to develop a City Centre based District Energy Network, supplying low 
carbon heat and electricity on commercial terms, to city centre civic 

381 - 
392



buildings, other public sector buildings and commercial properties.

Recommended –

(1) That the Outline Business Case is accepted and that 
Executive request officers continue to develop the project 
to commercialisation on the basis of the recommendations 
made to deliver the preferred outputs and business 
structure as described throughout the OBC and subject to 
finance approval of the financial and economic business 
cases by Strategic Director Corporate Resources in 
consultation with the leader of the council.  

(2) That appropriate decision making authority is delegated to 
the Strategic Director Corporate Resources in consultation 
with the Healthy People and Places, and Regeneration 
Portfolio Holders to allow necessary milestones be hit to 
achieve the project. This delegated authority will allow 
funding applications to be submitted and project decisions 
on the structure and development of the project elements, 
such as agreeing heads of terms with customers, continue 
without delays.  

(Neill Morrison - 01274 434003)

14.  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

Recommended –

That the public be excluded from the meeting during the 
discussion of  Not for Publication Document “AZ” on the grounds 
that it is likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings, that if 
they were present, exempt information within paragraph 3 
(financial or business affairs) of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended) would be disclosed and it is 
considered that, in all the circumstances, the public interest in 
allowing the public to remain is outweighed by the public interest 
in excluding public access to the relevant part of the proceedings 
for the following reasons:

It is in the public interest in maintaining these exemptions 
because it is in the overriding interest of proper administration 
that Members are made fully aware of the financial and legal 
implications of any decision. 

15.  REGENERATION UPDATE 

The Director of Finance will present Not for Publication Document 
“AZ” which provides an update on the Council’s regeneration projects.

Recommended that the recommendations contained in Not for 
Publication Document “AZ” be approved.

(Chris Chapman – 01274 433656)



16.  MINUTES OF THE WEST YORKSHIRE COMBINED AUTHORITY 

To receive the minutes of the meeting of the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority held on 10 October 2019 attached.

393 - 
406

THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER



Report of the City Solicitor to the meeting of Executive 
to be held on Tuesday 4 February 2020

AP

Subject:  

MEETINGS OF COUNCIL AND THE EXECUTIVE 2020/21

Summary statement:

This report recommends a schedule of ordinary meetings for Council and the 
Executive for the municipal year 2020/21. 

Parveen Akhtar
City Solictor

Portfolio:  

Leader of Council

Report Contact:  Jill Bell/Yusuf Patel
Phone: (01274) 434580/4579
E-mail: jill.bell@bradford.gov.uk
yusuf.patel@bradford.gov.uk

Overview & Scrutiny Area: 

Corporate

Page 1

Agenda Item 4/

mailto:jill.bell@bradford.gov.uk


1. SUMMARY

1.1 The Executive is asked to consider a proposed schedule of ordinary meetings for 
Council and the Executive for the municipal year 2020/21.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Paragraph 4.1 of Part 3D of the Constitution  - Executive Procedure Rules provides 
that the Executive may agree and publish a schedule of meetings and make a 
recommendation to the Council on dates for ordinary meetings of the Council for the 
municipal year prior to the commencement of that municipal year.

2.2 The suggested schedule of meetings for the Council and the Executive is set out in 
the appendix to this report.

3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

3.1 Part 1 of Schedule 12 to the Local Government Act 1972 provides that:-

(1) A principal Council shall in every year hold an annual meeting.

(2) The annual meeting of a principal Council shall be held (a) in a year of 
ordinary elections of Councillors to the Council, on the eighth day after the 
day of retirement of Councillors or such other day within the 21 days 
immediately following the day of retirement as the Council may fix; and (b) in 
any other year, on such day in the month of March, April or May as the 
Council may fix.  

3.2 In recommending this schedule of meetings, account has been taken of Bank and 
School Holidays, Party Conferences and religious festivals.  

4. OPTIONS

4.1 No other options are relevant.

5. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

5.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

6. RISK MANAGEMENT

There are no significant risks arising out of the implementation of the proposed 
recommendations.

7. LEGAL APPRAISAL

7.1 The relevant legal considerations are set out in paragraph 3.1 of this report.

Page 2



8. OTHER IMPLICATIONS

8.1 EQUAL RIGHTS

None

8.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

None

8.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

None

8.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

None

8.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

None

8.6 TRADE UNION

None

8.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS

None

8.8 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

None

8.9 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT

None

9. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

None  

Page 3



10. RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1 That the schedule of meetings of the Executive for 2020/21as set out in appendix 1 
to this report be approved.

10.2 That it be a recommendation to the annual meeting of Council that the ordinary 
meetings of Council for 2020/21as set out in appendix 1 to this report be approved.

11. APPENDICES

 11.1 Appendix 1 – schedule of meetings of Council and the Executive for 2020/21.

12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

None

Page 4



Appendix 1

COUNCIL AND EXECUTIVE DATES 2020 -21

COUNCIL (Tue) EXECUTIVE (Tue)

14 July 2020 9 June 2020
13 October 7 July
8 December 8 September
19 January 2021 6 October 
18 February (Thursday Budget) 3 November
16 March 1 December
18 May (AGM) 5 January 2021

2 February 
16 February (Budget)
2 March
6 April

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of the Director of Finance to the meeting of 
Executive to be held on 4 February 2020.

AQ

Subject:  

2020-21 BUDGET UPDATE

Summary statement:

On 2 January 2020 the Executive approved budget proposals for consultation as required 
with the public, interested parties, staff and the Trade Unions.

This report provides the Executive with an update on national announcements and local 
decisions. It also identifies issues and uncertainties which could still have a bearing on the 
final size of the funding gap for future financial years.

Executive will need to have regard to this report when considering the recommendations 
to make to Council at their meeting on 18 February 2020.

Chris Chapman
Director of Finance 

Portfolio:  

Leader of Council

Report Contact: James Hopwood
Phone: 01274 432882
E-
mail:James.Hopwood@Bradford.gov.uk

 Overview & Scrutiny Area: 

Corporate

Page 7

Agenda Item 5/



1. SUMMARY

1.1 This report provides an update on the budget following the Financial Plan Update 
2020/21, that was considered at Executive on 2 January 2020.

1.2 The Financial Plan Update 2020/21 presented next year’s budget proposals for 
consultation.

1.3 This report compares the Proposed Financial Plan with the Provisional Local 
Government Settlement and any updates. 

1.4 The Provisional Local Government Settlement is subject to the outcome of a 
consultation which ends on 17 January and the confirmation of the Final Settlement. 
This report is based upon officers’ assessment of the Provisional Local Government 
Settlement, informed by financial analysts. 

1.5 The overall impact of the Provisional Settlement and local funding issues is 
potential additional funding of £1.515m, which will be set aside within the Transition 
and Risk Reserve to manage a number of cost pressures.

2. MAIN MESSAGES

2.1 The Provisional Local Government Settlement published on 20 December 2019 had 
several announcements that will affect Bradford Council. The Settlement is open for 
consultation until 17 January.

 Confirmation of the Council Tax Referendum limit at 3.99% (a Council Tax 
Precept limit of 1.99% and an Adult Social Care Precept of 2%);

 Confirmation of Bradford’s £10.160m additional allocation for Social Care;

 A new guarantee to continue the Social Care increase for the term of the 
current parliament;

 Ending of the Leeds City Region and North Yorkshire 75% business rate 
pool;

 Confirmation that 2020-21 is the final full year of the New Homes Bonus, but 
also an announcement that there would be no national surplus to distribute.

2.2 The Council Tax Referendum Limits are per the Financial Plan.

2.3 The Provisional Settlement proposed that Town and Parish Councils are not subject 
to referendums on Council Tax increases above set limits.

2.4 Further the Provisional Settlement confirmed the £10.160m increase in total Social 
Care funding that was announced in the Technical Consultation. After minor 
changes to the different funding streams, overall compared to the Financial Plan, 
Bradford has an additional £0.354m.

2.5 The Winter Pressures Grant is included within total Social Care funding discussed 

Page 8



above. The Provisional Settlement announced that this grant will be merged into 
other Social Care Funding Streams in 2020-21. The effect will be to remove some 
ring-fencing but this is not expected to have a significant impact.

2.6 As noted, the Social Care increases will continue for the term of the current 
parliament. It is unclear whether this increase will be in cash (nominal) terms or 
uplifted for inflation. A nominal ongoing increase has been added to the revised 
budget – this also improves the Medium Term Financial Plan position.

2.7 This ongoing funding is welcome because demographic and demand pressures 
within Adults and Children’s Social care continue to present challenges. The 
Financial Plan highlighted that these challenges were a national issue.

2.8 The Provisional Settlement confirmed that the current 2019-20 financial year will be 
the last year of the Leeds City Region Business Rate Pool. 

2.9 The Provisional Settlement confirmed the eventual end of the New Homes Bonus 
scheme, with the final tranche received in 2023-24. There was also no national 
surplus to distribute, against the expectations in the Financial Plan. This absence of 
a national surplus, offset by some other data improvements, caused a £0.470m 
funding reduction for Bradford.

3. OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS

3.1 The Provisional Settlement also announced a “real terms increase” for the Public 
Health Grant. Individual Authority allocations were not announced. However, a real 
terms increase would be consistent with the assumptions in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan. 

3.2 There was a small change to the expected indexation applied to the Spending 
Funding Assessment. This led to a very minor reduction to the amounts for the 
Revenue Support Grant and Top Up Grant, which will be compensated with a 
specific grant. 

3.3 The Schools funding announced in the Provisional Settlement was in line with 
Proposed Financial Plan. This included the High Needs Block for Special Education 
Needs and Disability (SEND).

4 GRANT FUNDING

4.1 A number of allocations for ongoing specific grants are still to be announced. They 
could cause some further small changes to funding amounts.

4.2 Authorities are also expecting announcements on allocations from a new Pothole 
Fund. Any such allocations are ring-fenced to Highway improvements. 

4.3 There has been a separate announcement that the Troubled Families Grant will 
continue for a further year: this is in line with the assumptions in the Proposed 
Financial Plan.

4.4 The Provisional Settlement is one year only. The expected implementation date for 
the delayed Fair Funding Review and the new Business Rates Retention scheme is 

Page 9



still expected in 2021-22. However, their impact on the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy is difficult to predict with any certainty.

5. LOCAL FUNDING ISSUES

5.1 At the meeting of the Executive held on 7 January 2020 the Council Tax base for 
2020/2021 was approved as a total number of Band D equivalent properties of 
144,350. This was already reflected in the Proposed Financial Plan.

5.2 The provisional Business Rates Base was also approved at Executive on 7 
January. The final Business Rates Base will be completed for the end of January 
and the final budget documents updated accordingly.

5.3 Discussions are taking place around the new West Yorkshire Business Rates Pool. 
The new Pool will redistribute within West Yorkshire a proportion of Business Rates 
that would otherwise be paid back to the Government. Overall, it is expected that 
Bradford could receive £0.788m from the New Pool if the decision of the new ‘pool’ 
Committee is to allocate to Councils rather than utilise at a West Yorks regional 
level.  

5.4 The rate of Employer’s pension contributions is also lower than expected, saving an 
additional £0.800m.

6 Other Pressures

6.1 Compared to the Financial Plan, there have also been a number of upward 
pressures. These potentially relate to:-
 the Pay Award, budget provision has been made for a 2% increase. Each 

additional 1% award above this figure costs £2.3m
 the National Living Wage, our current salary bandings are above the new rates, 

so we are not directly impacted. However, a number of our care contracts will be 
impacted with additional costs up to £0.5m  

 SEND travel, there is an expected increase in SEND travel, which may be offset 
through savings from reducing out of district placements. The impact is currently 
being assessed.  

6.2 The quarter 3 budget monitoring identified the continuing pressures on Children’s 
social care. However, this is currently being managed within the overall Council 
budget.

6.3 The total amount in the Capital Investment Programme (CIP) increased by £4m 
between quarter 2 and quarter 3 - from £550.1m in quarter 2 to £554.1m in quarter 
3. The proposed new schemes for the 2020-21 CIP are also being developed. The 
impact of these changes will be worked through and considered for the final capital 
budget presented to Executive and Full Council in February.

7 Potential Effect of Items Highlighted in this Report

7.1 The overall impact of the Provisional Settlement and local funding issues is 
£1.515m additional funding. Potentially this could be subject to a proposal to 
transfer the increased funding into Risk and Transition Reserves – this could fund 
the pressures around the Pay Award, the National Living Wage and SEND travel. 

Page 10



An overall position is set out in Appendix A.

7.3 As noted, the £10.160m increase for Social Care will continue for the term of the 
current parliament. Appendix A highlights that this increase can now be factored 
into an updated Medium Term Financial Plan.

7.4 The 2020-21 CIP in the Proposed Financial Plan will be updated for the changes in 
the quarter 3 Financial Position Statement.

8. OTHER MATTERS TO TAKE INTO CONSIDERATION

8.1 At 31st December 2019 reserves stand at £204.3m (Council £177.1m and Schools 
£27.2m); within this total, unallocated reserves stand at 10.3m. 

8.2 It is recommended that unallocated reserves are maintained at their current level 
given the underlying budgetary pressures facing the Council. 

8.3 In separate reports to this meeting the Executive will consider feedback received to 
date from the on-going consultation processes on the budget proposals which 
includes feedback received from the public, interested parties and key stakeholders. 
The Trade Unions and will also consider the equality implications of the proposals. 
(Budget Proposals 2020-21 Consultation Feedback & Trade Union Feedback on 
Executive Budget Proposals).

8.4 In proposing the final budget the Executive will need to have due regard to the 
information contained within this report, the consultation feedback received to date 
and the public sector equality duty as set out in section 149 Equality Act 2010.

9 RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

9.1 The uncertainties regarding the funding that will be available to the Council are 
considered within this report. In particular, the results of the Fair Funding Review 
and the Business Rates review are now expected to impact 2021-22 onwards.

8. LEGAL APPRAISAL

8.1 It is necessary to ensure that the Executive have comprehensive information when 
considering the recommendations to make to Council on a budget for 2020/21 at 
their meeting on 18 February 2020. It is a legal requirement that Members have 
regard to all relevant information and the information in this report is considered 
relevant in this context.

9. OTHER IMPLICATIONS

9.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY

The equality implications are considered in a separate report to be presented to this 
meeting of the Executive. 

9.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

Page 11



There are no direct sustainability implications resulting from this report.

9.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

There are no direct greenhouse gas emissions implications resulting from this 
report.

9.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct community safety implications resulting from this report

9.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

There are no Human Rights implications resulting from this report

9.6 TRADE UNION

As noted, Trade Union feedback on the budget proposals is considered in a 
separate report to be represented to this meeting of the Executive. 

9.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct Ward or area implications resulting from this report.

9.8 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

None identified.

9.9 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT

None identified.

10. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

None  

11. RECOMMENDATIONS

11.1 Executive are asked to note the contents of this report and to have regard to the 
information contained within this report when considering the recommendations to 
make to Council on a budget for 2020/21 at their meeting on 18 February 2020.

12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Document AB - Proposed Financial Plan 2020/21Executive Report 2 January 2020

Document AI – Calculation of Bradford’s Council Tax Base and Business Rates 
Base for 2020/21 Executive Report 7 January 2020

Document AT – Financial Position Statement for Third Quarter Executive Report 4 
February 2020

Page 12



APPENDIX A: SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Summary Position 02-Jan-20
Settlement 

impact

Budget 
Update 
Report

Cumulative gap 2020/21 Changes 2020/21 Comment
£000 £000 £000

2019/20 Base Budget 359,911 359,911
Reversal of non recurring investment -6,267 -6,267
Full year effect of Recurring pressures 8,559 8,559 £0.5m will need to be reinstated 2021-22
Sub total 362,203 0 362,203

FUNDING CHANGES
Local Council Tax Support & Housing Benefit 
Admin Grant 250
BCF Uplift -2,000 -297 -2,297
New Homes Bonus 919 -150 769
Independent Living Fund 57 -57 0
Improved BCF 0 0
Returned New Homes Bonus -620 620 0
New social care support grant -10,160 -43 -10,203 £10.2m ongoing for term of current parliament
s31 grants 4,972 -175 4,797
Public Health Grant Uplift -1,200 -1,200 "real terms increase" announced

0
0

-7,782 -102 -7,885

INDEXATION
Pay Award incl NLW 5,156 5,156
Contract Price Indexation 6,868 6,868
Income -448 -448
Employers LGPS Contribution 0 -800 -800
Increased income target for bus lane fines -800 -800

0
Base Net Expenditure Requirement 365,197 -902 364,294
Adult demographic growth 1,600 1,600
Children's Demographic growth 625 625
Additional profile of Children's demographic growth13,000 13,000
One off pressures Table 7 7,298 7,298

0
Existing savings in 4 year plan -17,396 -17,396
Savings reduced 2,020 2,020
Travel assitance reduced and re-phased -2,210 -2,210
Capital financing and central budget 
adjustments 3,095 -788 2,307 New Pool
Cost reduction Revs and Bens  as a result of 
Universal Credit 0 0
New Savings proposals -330 -330

Release of overprovision from previous 
years (MRP) 6,520 6,520
Apprenticeship levy reduction 0 0

0
0

Net Expenditure Requirement 379,419 -1,690 377,728

RESOURCES
Localised Business Rates -66,085 -66,085

Collection fund surplus -980 -980
Top Up Business Rate Grant -69,376 117 -69,259
RSG -34,666 58 -34,608
Further austerity cuts 2.5% to 19/20 SFA and 
then further flat £1m p.a. 0
Transfer to reserve for MRP overprovision 0 0
Pre agreed Use of Reserves - earmarked and 
Transitional Table 3 -900 -900
Proposed Use of reserves -1,300 1,515 215
Council Tax Income -206,112 -206,112
Total resources -379,419 1,690 -377,728

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report of the Assistant Director, Office of the Chief 
Executive to the meeting of Executive to be held on 
4 February 2020.

Subject:  AR
Consultation feedback and equality assessment on new proposals in the Council 
Budget for 2020-21 

Summary statement:

On 2 January 2020, the Executive approved new budget proposals for consultation with the 
public, interested parties, staff and the Trade Unions. These were included in Appendix E of 
the financial plan, for ease these have also been included in Appendix B of this report. 

This report and appendices provides feedback from the public engagement and consultation 
programme and the consultation with Trade Unions and sets out a summary of the equality 
assessments carried as outlined in the Proposed Financial Plan Updated (2020-21). 

David Walmsley
Assistant Director: Office of the Chief Executive

Portfolio:  

Corporate 
Report Contact:  

Phil Witcherley – Head of Policy and 
Performance

Overview & Scrutiny Area: 

Corporate

Page 15

Agenda Item 6/



1. SUMMARY

1.1 On 2 January 2020, Executive approved new budget proposals for consultation with    
the public, interested parties, staff and the Trade Unions. These were included in 
Appendix E of the financial plan, for ease these have also been included in Appendix B 
of this report.

1.2 This report and appendices provides feedback from the public engagement and 
consultation programme and the consultation with Trade Unions  and sets out a 
summary of the equality assessments carried as outlined in the Proposed Financial 
Plan Updated (2020-21). 

1.3 This report is based on feedback received at the date of submitting this report for 
publication on 23 January 2020.  Any feedback received between this date and the 
consultation closing on 26 January 2020 will be provided as an addendum to the 
Executive meeting on 4 February 2020. 

 

2. BACKGROUND

Best Value and the Equality Act 

2.1 Statutory guidance on Best Value introduced in September 2011 and reaffirmed in 
March 2015 reminds local authorities that they are under a duty to consult service 
users and potential service users, local voluntary and community organisations, and 
small businesses.  This duty applies at all stages of the commissioning cycle, including 
whenever authorities are considering the decommissioning of services. 

2.2 There should also be opportunities for organisations, service users and the wider 
community to put forward options on how to reshape the service or project. Local 
authorities should assist this engagement by making available all appropriate 
information in line with the Government’s transparency agenda. 

2.3 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from unlawful discrimination on the basis of 
‘protected characteristics’.  The Equality Act 2010 defines protected characteristics as 
age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, marriage and civil 
partnership, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. The Council’s approach 
to equalities goes beyond this, by looking at equality more broadly and taking into 
account the impact of our decisions on people on low income or with a low wage.

2.4 The 2010 Act also introduced a specific Public Sector Equality Duty which requires 
local authorities, in the exercise of their functions, including when making decisions, to 
have due regard to the need to:

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
prohibited by the Act; 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic 
and people who do not share it; and 

Page 16



 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
people who do not share it.

2.5 In discharging this duty, local authorities not only need to understand how different 
people will be affected by their activities, proposals and decisions, they also need to 
demonstrate that they have given due regard by publishing information that shows they 
have consciously discharged their responsibilities as part of the decision-making 
process.  

2.6 There is a range of guidance materials on the Public Sector Equality Duty from the 
Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) to assist the bodies that are subject 
to the duty, to understand the duty and meet their responsibilities.  This notes that a 
public body will only be able to comply with the general equality duty in relation to a 
decision, if the ultimate decision maker:

 understands the body's obligations under the general equality duty.
 has sufficient information.
 demonstrably takes this information fully into account throughout the decision-

making process.

2.7 The EHRC emphasises the importance of ensuring that the duty is complied with 
before a decision is taken, while options are being developed and appraised, as well as 
at the time of the actual decision.  The duty cannot be used retrospectively to justify a 
decision.  

3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

Supporting the 2020-21 Budget Setting Process

3.1 While the Council is not required under statute to produce or publish equality impact 
assessment (EIA) forms specifically, a local decision has previously been taken to 
continue to use EIA forms.  Equality impacts are considered by officers and elected 
members as part of the development of the budget proposals, with assessments 
recorded through an EIA form. The forms can then assist members of the public and 
other interested parties to view potential equality impacts. This will show where a 
disproportionate impact has been identified, or where an impact affects a number of 
people or particularly vulnerable groups.  Mitigations will have also been considered, 
and where these have been possible, they have also been captured on the EIA forms. 

3.2 Case law has confirmed that in order to fulfil the duty under S149 of the Equality Act 
2010, Elected Members need to have considered equality impacts and given due 
regard to the three aims of the equality duty as part of their decision making processes. 

3.3 EIA forms outlining identified equality impacts on the new budget proposals, agreed by 
the Executive at their meeting on 2 January 2020, have been available on the Council’s 
web site since that time at new Budget EIAs - 2020-21 Bradford Council. Given the 
small number of new proposals in the Proposed Financial Plan, there is only one EIA 
and this is for Green Waste changes (7E2) 

3.4 Following a review and assessment of the consultation feedback, EIA forms will be 
updated then republished at the same time as the papers for the Executive meeting the 

Page 17

https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/budget-eias-2020-21/


final budget will be considered at Full Council on 20th February 2020.  

Cumulative Equality Impacts on the 2020-21 Budget Proposals

3.5 The equality impact of proposals that have been agreed in previous years for this 
budget has been included in the impact papers for previous budgets (a link to these are 
in the Background Documents list for this paper). Four additional Council 2020-21 
budget proposals were agreed for consultation by Executive at its meeting of the 2 
January 2020 (these are included in Appendix B). Only one of these, Green waste 
collection and disposal – increase in prices of £3 in 2020-21 (7E2) has been identified 
as having a potential low equality impact for people on low income/low wage.  

Consultation Process 

3.6 The consultation programme for the budget proposals for 2020-21 is part of an open, 
on going conversation between the Council and citizens, voluntary and community 
sector, businesses, Council employees and Trade Unions about the future of local 
services.  

3.7 As outlined in the Financial Plan Update that went to Executive on the 2 January 2020. 
The consultation comprised of a survey enabling individuals and organisations to 
comment on the proposals of their choosing. Responses could be provided online or by 
writing to the Council using the Freepost address. 

3.8 Social media (Twitter and Facebook) and Council’s app was also used to promote the 
consultation. An easier-to-read version of the budget information was also made 
available. There have also been regular posts promoting the consultation through the 
Council’s corporate social media accounts and Stay Connected e-mail newsletters for 
residents.  

3.9 The consultation programme on the new proposals opened with the publication of the 
report the ‘Proposed financial plan updated 2020-21’ on 16 December 2019 which the 
Executive approved for consultation on 2 January 2020. This process was delayed due 
to the pre-election period in advance of the recent General Election. 

3.10 To engage with the business community, we have presented the overall Financial Plan 
as outlined on the 2 January 2020 to the Chambers of Commerce and the Economic 
Partnership meeting. We are also running an exercise to consult with young people 
across the district on the budget and senior staff have attended a meeting with the 
Voluntary and Community Sector to discuss relevant measures.  

3.11 Engagement and consultation is an on going process and there will be further specific 
consultation with service users and other interested parties on specific proposals as 
appropriate following the approval of the budget at the Council meeting on 20 February 
2020. 

Consultation – Number of Responses
 

3.12 At the time of writing, the Council has received 105 comments on the proposals in the 
Financial Plan update.  Of this, 71 were in relation to the Green Waste proposal (7E2). 

Page 18



A further three have been received on council tax cuts and a further 31 comments have 
been made on either proposals that are not included in the consultation or are 
comments not related to any specific proposal.  These comments were received from 
the online questionnaire, postal questionnaire, letters, emails and response to the 
green waste service survey 2019. 

3.13 Monitoring of the corporate social media accounts and the budget microsite has shown 
over 800 unique individuals have accessed the online budget consultation pages at the 
time this report was written. There were not any social media comments on specific 
budget proposals, but there were a number of comments made about the following 
issues: 

 the overall level of Council Tax, 
 PCN charges and road safety, 
 the number of councillors, and 
 the focus of activity in Bradford City Centre compared with the wider district.

3.14 The proposal generating most comments through the survey and letters/emails 
received were:

Proposal Number of 
responses

Green Waste (7E2) 71

3.15 Most of the comments with a bearing on the green waste Proposals have come from a 
wider consultation on the green waste service. Notably the green waste survey 
conducted in early December 2019. 

3.16 A small number of proposals received fewer than five comments. This includes a small 
number of comments about those on low incomes/wages ability to pay an increased 
Council Tax rate and a small number of comments on the wider strategic measures 
including supporting the Council’s action on climate emergency.

3.17 Section 7.6 describes the engagement and consultation that has taken place with 
Trades Unions.

3.18 Appendix A summarises the responses we have had to date.

3.19 Full Council of 15 October 2019 referred a petition they had received about the 
Libraries and Museums Service to Council Executive of the 5 November 2019. At their 
meeting of the 5 November 2019, Executive determined that the petition would be 
considered as part of the Budget Consultation report and the petitioners would be 
invited to the meeting. The petition, signed by 1269 citizens, calls on the Council to 
reconsider its decision in regards to changes to the Libraries, Museums and Galleries 
budget. The petition is provided at Appendix A Consultation feedback (service and 
equalities) and Libraries and Museums petition. 

4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

4.1 The financial impact of decisions arising from the consultation will be considered at the 

Page 19



Executive meeting on 4 February 2020 and will be evaluated and incorporated into the 
final budget proposals from Executive to Council on 20 February 2020.

5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

5.1 Equality assessments have been carried out on the initial proposals and will continue to 
be updated alongside mitigations being considered. 

6. LEGAL APPRAISAL

6.1 S149 of the Equality Act 2010 (the Public Sector Equality Duty) provides as follows:

(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions have due regard to the need 
to;

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it

(3) Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity between persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it 
involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to;

a) remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;

b) take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it;

c) encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 
public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionately low. 

(4) The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different from 
the needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take 
account of disabled persons’ disabilities. 

(5) Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves 
having due regard, in particular, to the need to;

a) tackle prejudice, and
b) promote understanding.

(6) Compliance with the duties in this section may involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others; but that is not to be taken as permitting conduct that would 
otherwise be prohibited by or under this Act. 

6.2 The Council must ensure that it has sufficient information to enable it to identify whether 

Page 20



a proposal, if implemented, would disproportionately affect particular groups with 
relevant protected characteristics and if so whether any such adverse impact can be 
avoided or mitigated.

6.3 The courts have established a number of principles which the Council should take into 
account in making decisions:

 the duty means that the potential impact of a decision on people with different 
protected characteristics must always be taken into account as a mandatory relevant 
consideration

 where large numbers of vulnerable people, many of whom share a protected 
characteristic, are affected, consideration of the matters set out in the duty must be 
very high

 even if the number of people affected by a particular decision may be small, the 
seriousness or the extent of discrimination may be great.  The weight given to the 
aims of the duty is not necessarily less when the number of people affected is small.  

6.4 There is also a duty on all Best Value authorities to consult when making changes to 
services or ending service provision.

6.5 In addition to these specific legal duties, the Council has put out its proposals for public 
consultation and accordingly must have regard to the responses before making budget 
decisions. 

6.6 In summary,  it is necessary to ensure that Executive have comprehensive information 
when considering the recommendations to make to Council on a budget for 2020-2021. 
Case law has confirmed that, in order to fulfil the duty under S149 Equality Act 2010, 
Elected Members need to read in full the EIA forms and consultation feedback  as it is a 
legal requirement that Elected Members have regard to all the relevant information and 
accordingly Elected Members are referred to all the information in this report including 
appendices and to the equality assessments:  Budget EIAs - 2020-21 | Bradford Council

7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS

7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY

Where specific equality and diversity issues have been raised as a result of 
consultation, they are considered in the appendices of this report and through the 
equality impact assessment forms (EIAs).

Consideration of the cumulative impact of proposals, especially where these are 
considered to be high for a specific protected group and across several proposals, is 
vital when final decisions on service changes are made. Particular consideration should 
also be given to the fact that people may exhibit more than one protected characteristic.

The equality impact of proposals that have been agreed in previous years for this 
budget has been included in the impact papers for previous budgets (a link to these are 
in the Background Documents list for this paper). Four additional Council 2020-21 
budget proposals were agreed for consultation by Executive at its meeting of the 2 
January 2020 (these are included in Appendix B). Only one of these, Green waste 
collection and disposal – increase in prices of £3 in 2020-21 (7E2) has been identified 

Page 21

https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/budget-eias-2020-21/


as having a potential low equality impact for people on low income/low wage. 

7.2. SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

None

7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

None

7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

The Council has a legal obligation under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to consider 
any community safety implications of its decisions.  

7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

None

7.6 TRADE UNION

This is the first time since 2011 that the Council has not had to issue a section 188 
notice as a consequence of the likely impact of the budget proposals on job losses/FTE 
reductions.

The Leader has met with and briefed the trade unions at a high level in the morning on 
the 16th December 2019. There has also been an OJC1 meeting on the 6th January 
2020 where the trade unions were taken through the budget proposals as part of the 
consultation.

Consultation with the trade unions is on going until Executive decides, following the 
workforce and public consultation, on the proposals. 

7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS

As implementation plans are developed for the delivery of budget decisions, following 
20 February 2020, ward impacts will be further addressed. 

7.8 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

There are no issues in relation to corporate parenting.

7.9 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT

There are no impacts arising from this report on data protection and information security 
matters. Feedback from the consultation is anonymous.  If any personal details were to 
be provided, they would not be published, and be securely held.

8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

Page 22



None

9. RECOMMENDATIONS

9.1 That in accordance with Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Executive has regard 
to the information contained in this report, appendices and equality assessments when 
considering the recommendations to make to the Council on budget proposals for 2020-
21 on 20 February 2020.

10. APPENDICES

 Appendix A –Consultation feedback (service and equalities)  and Libraries and 
Museums petition

 Appendix B – List of budget proposals agreed for consultation 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Report to Executive on 4 December 2018: Proposed Financial Plan 2019-20 and 
2020-21 – document Z with accompanying appendices
https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=6826&Ver=4 

Equality Impact Assessments (for budget proposals 2019-20 and 2020-21)
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/budget-eias-
2019-20/ 

Report to Executive of 5 February 2019: Consultation feedback and equality 
assessment for the 2019-20 Council budget and proposals for teh 2020-21 Council 
budget, Item 80

Equality Impact Assessment for new budget proposal for consultation agreed by 
Executive 2 January 2020 Green Waste Service – £3 increase in charge (7E2) 

Report to Executive of 2 January 2020: Proposed Financial Plan Update 2020-21 - 
Item 5

Page 23

https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=6826&Ver=4
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/budget-eias-2019-20/
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/budget-eias-2019-20/
https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=6828&Ver=4
https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=6828&Ver=4
https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=6828&Ver=4
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/budget-eias-2020-21/
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/your-council/council-budgets-and-spending/budget-eias-2020-21/
https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=7313&Ver=4
https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=7313&Ver=4


Appendix A – Consultation feedback (service and equalities)  and Libraries and Museums petition 

Consultation feedback
(Where proposals have received no comment through the consultation, these have not been included in the table below.)
 
Proposal Issues raised   
Green Waste The majority of comments about Green Waste charges have been drawn from comments made by respondents to the Green 

Waste Service Survey conducted in December 2019.

Of those that made comments in response to the Green Waste Survey, 71 commented on charges for the service as follows: 

27 respondents said the charge for the service was too high. However, 14 respondents said the cost was about right. 

Four respondents said that we should consider providing discounts for certain groups (e.g. pensioners). 

26 respondents said that the service should be free of charge. 

A number of people also said that if the charges increased,  they would stop subscribing to  the service
Council Tax Increases Two respondents said that they were concerned about being able to pay. E.g.” Having to pay more council tax i'm already on 

benefits and cannot afford another increase as my budget is stretched as it is, unable to find a suitable disabled property and 
have been waiting over 4 years now with incommunities and still nothing.”

A respondent said we should “ Review the situation for people on benefits this is not a what I chose to be on, if I could I 
would work and get out of this situation but some help needs to be given to people to help cope.” Or “provide no Change for 
the unemployed”

Climate Emergency  We received a small number of responses (3) These are largely supportive of the proposals and are asking whether we 
should go further. 

P
age 24



Case
Other comments received

Issue raised

1

Any more planned money being spent on council buildings upgrades.

Over the last few years millions has being upgrading council buildings while you cut services you could have kept the services at their pre cut levels and not 
spent the money on things that helped you the council.

Spend zero on council offices etc upgrades and use the entire budget on things for the people of Bradford. Sack whoever has allowed the Odean building fiasco 
to carry on as long as it has.

Upgrading Council buildings

2

I would like clarification about how the 2% social care precept is going to be spent.

I cannot see where the extra money is going to be spent on social care as you have marked down and increase of £21m. for children's services, but to my mind 
this is not social care. The only monies I see being spent are £1.6.m on demographic pressures in adult social care. How is this going to make a differece to all 
the people out there who need extra help to live well. Remember your LIVE WELL AND AT HOME policy for disabled and older people.

 2% social care precept

3 Wasting millions on vanity projects.  Stop city if culture bid. City of Culture bid

4
This council is totally inept and all the councillors should be sacked.

Get rid of all labour councillors.
 

9
The disproportionate amount of money spent in Bradford.

All areas away from the city of Bradford suffer from underfunding.  Stop the relentless diversion of funds into the city itself
 

10

Cuts. I fully accept that this current government has deliberately starved local authorities of cash under austerity. I applaud waste reduction and avoiding 
duplication but cumulative cuts have left us to the bone.

Eroding of soft targets/easier cuts eg libraries and museums. Worried about the academisation of our schools has reduced local accountability. I still reel from 
the Kings Science fiasco.

This is really hard. Some salaries are grotesque and really hard to justify. Avoid getting Serco and Capita involved at all costs.

Libraries and museums

11

I have an issue is of huge concern in the local area. Rubbish is dumped on a daily a basis. I am concerned that if the cuts to street cleaning are made then the 
area with become even more of an health hazard.

I feel that more should be done to catch people dumping rubbish! The council wardens should patrol the area to offer a deterant!
Litter picking and flying tipping

12 I see a lot of proposals affecting the city but not so many affecting the surrounding towns that pay into the pot. As someone in Ilkley who is watching the place 
deteriorate I’m not seeing why I am paying you more to deliver me nothing. Spending on the City Centre

13
Think monies should be spent on more essential services. We already failed at capital of culture, why waste more money?

Spend on essential services.
City of Culture bid

15

There is no mention of any increases for top executives. Shareholders are able to voice their opinions at AGMs - who is responsible for deciding on executive 
pay and is there any control system.

If there is no control system and the review is completely independent then there is no suggestion. If not I suggest implementation of such a system.

increase in executive pay

16

THE TWO PROPOSALS RELATING TO HEALTH AND OBESITY AND THE MENTAL HEALTH PROVISION.

WHY ARE HEALTH AND WELLBEING AND OBESITY PROVISION SEPARATE AND MENTAL HEALTH ALLOWED LESS IN THE BUDGET THAN THESE 
TWO.

COMBINE THE FIRST TWO AND LOWER THE COMBINED BUDGET AND INCREASE THE MENTAL HEALTH BUDGET.

Health and obesity

17 Bins.  Sticky labels on bins what day/ which bin ( recycling/ waste?).  Unmarried women in this day& age!! Not necessarily.  Keeping young bad drivers off roads 
(big fines). Nothing for the lazy

18

The current planning restrictions on change of use to a takeaways A5 should be extended throughout the City save for designated city centre areas.

A freeze on takeaway development would limit access to fast food and relieve those areas afflicted by fast food ribbon development of anti-social behaviour, 
street litter and flytipping.

Health and obesity

19 That there won’t be any quiet places for children and young adults to study. I work in a noisy school and feel they need quiet, me as well! Cuts to libraries

P
age 25



 

The children and myself use the Bingley Swimming pool. I need to go for health reasons and it’s handy. The new one would be too far away and Shipley is often 
overcrowded. They should re-open the toilets in Shipley and in Bingley because the money spent on these would be worthwhile. People would be able to go to 
the toilet more easily, for instance the elderly. “Hanging on” causes more health problems, for instance digestive problems. The money spent on these would 
ease the burden on the NHS. Also people would feel that you care more. People would be happier and there would be less mental health problems. I would 
happily volunteer to clean or something.

Keep swimming pools open, hospitals and toilets. The country should be proud of these, it would also bring more tourists as people would be happier here. 
There would be more of a sense of community because, let’s face it, who doesn’t have a natter in the loos sometimes? or is that just me! They have closed the 
swimming pool at the school where I work and I presume the children have lessons at Bingley, like we did (I only work in the canteen so I don’t know!). 
Swimming decreases obesity and helps the heart and lungs etc, don’t want to bore you.

Cuts to swimming pools

20 This is not a priority.  The money could be used to provide more social housin,g or more funding for social services,or more funding for schools. More help for 
youth services in the more rural parts of Bradford such as Burley in Wharfedale which is suffering from a lot of vandalism. City of Culture bid

21 My concerns are for fly tipping, more fines should be imposed and power given to take property to cover the fines Fly tipping

22

The "Climate Emergency" is a con. It is certainly a threat to people on lower incomes, as "green measures" are aimed at transferring wealth from them to the 
Davos set. Please do not fall for this, Bradford.

The aspiration to "listen to" the views of children is absurd. I am all for a child friendly environment, but the implication that their views should be taken into 
account in formulating policy is a road to disaster.

Environmental concerns should start on a local level: cleaning up the appalling mess on the streets in certain areas. Offering people incentives to recycle, rather 
than relying on penalties. Encouraging local participation, as in Wibsey Park, where local volunteers have done a lot to improve the facilities there.

Climate emergency

23
Museums, arts, libraries, galleries, entertainment are some of the most important things for mental well-being - do not take them away.

Stop funding on the Odeon, let commercial private operators do that and deliver museums/galleries/arts.
Libraries and museums

25

Mentions are made about money being given to improve facilities in Bradford, Keighley, Shipley but no mention is made about Ilkley. Ilkley is the “playground” 
for these areas but at present is being allowed to decline so that in 10 years time it will probably be in need of major financial input.

Improve the maintenance of pathways, pavements to maintain safety and attractiveness of the town. Keep business rates low enough for smaller businesses to 
be able to stay in Ilkley. Use the money garnered from the parking scheme to go back into Ilkley services such as cleaning gutters, new litter bins, park 
maintenance etc

District funding

26

There is nothing really mentioned in here for the residents of Bradford on a low level. For the average household in relation to housing needs, benefits, grants, 
waste management, support services etc.

Expansion of 20mph Zones - £140,000 Focused on schools and promoting road safety, clean air, lower emissions cycling and walking. Will we actually see this 
happening. I live on Westminster Road where there is a primary school and over the last few months a couple of incidents have occurred where vehicles have 
hit children or near misses because vehicles come speeding down the road and drivers are not paying due care and attention when reversing out etc. To date i 
have not seen anything to support making this road safer for children. Also there is nothing in the proposal to do with the Youth of today to try and get them off 
the street and support them in educational institutions of some sort. Nothing about making sure they do not fall in a life of crime.

I dont believe traffic calming measure such as speed bumps has reduced vehicles driving fast etc. However, having islands on either side of the road so vehicles 
have to slow to manoeuvre them have been seen as a more better way of improving this. I believe having bollards that are raised during school hour times in the 
road preventing vehicles from parking directing outside the school will increase safety significantly.

Housing
Benefits
Grants
Waste management
Support services

27

Safe, clean and active communities, particularly road safety.

That not enough resources are being committed to road safety issues, like road driving and parking behaviour.

Commit to more out of normal hours time - 14 hour days - to patrolling those streets in areas where abuse of sensible and caring standards and values are 
flagrant, and with illegal activity.

Road safety

28

I am concerned at the disparity of funding for towns outside of the city centre.

Whilst the city centre is getting over £100m, large towns like shipley and keighlewy are having to fight over a measly £300,000.

The council should stop prioritizing bradford centre at the expense of the surrounding towns. Many towns are crumbling whilse the city centre gets endless 
amounts of investment and infostructure.

District funding

P
age 26



29

mental health in all areas.

No community back up with nhs services to care for vulnerably people been discharged. also saftey on railways and lighting in the community's.

Safety barriers on all railways safer and more lighting in community's link up community care with nhs services and ensure the teams are effective to comply the 
continuation of care in peoples homes.as what they are receiving in the hospital.

Mental health / NHS

Safety on the railways

31

Mental health.  I am unable to access mental health advocacy. as I am not on a section I cannot use voiceability. I have used advocates in the past from vital 
who have been very helpful but now voiceability have taken over and have said that I arnt entitled to advocacy as they only work with people who are on a 
section.

I would like access to a mental health advocate.

Mental health advocacy

32

The Climate Emergency.

I applaud the the current Budget's proposals in for tackling the Climate Emergency, but they do not go nearly far enough to achieve the reductions in carbon 
output necessary if we are to avoid increasingly catastrophic events such as those currently playing out in Australia and Jakarta, and in Yorkshire last Autumn. 
£1m seems woefully paltry to me when set against the economic and societal cost of not acting more decisively to combat climate change.

I would like to see far more money put aside for improving low carbon transport, [public, commercial and private], improving the housing stock [insulation, green 
energy, low carbon heating]. All support for the expansion of Leeds Bradford Airport should be stopped. We need far greater staff to enforce existing regulations 
across the board. All Council communications, both internal and external, need to tell the truth about our current situation in order to push people to facing up to 
it. Of course it's 'too hard', but the alternative is much worse. And I'd like to see Queensbury tunnel opened as a shared use footpath / cycleway.

Climate emergency

33

Amongst other things, the plans for "City Village". What evidence is there to show how many people would actually wish to live in the centre of Bradford? Have 
the proposals been costed?

The Council should make a concerted effort to raise more cash by taking stronger action against those residents who do not pay their Council Tax. £18 million 
"written off" ( Telegraph and Argus report 2018). is not acceptable by any stretch of the imagination!

City village

Petition received by Council of the 15 October 2019 and referred to Council Executive of 5 November 2019 for consideration by Executive as part of the Council 2020-21 budget consultation

The petition was signed by 1269 citizens who were asked whether they supported the following 
statement:  

Bradford Council - stop the Cuts to Museums and Libraries -  

P
age 27



Appendix B – Proposals in Financial Strategy for Consultation (Appendix E in the Budget Proposals as agreed by Executive on 2 January 2020) 

New proposals open for Consultation until 26th January 2020

Ref Proposal for Change
2020/21
£’000
Impact

Equalities impact on the Equality Duty
protected characteristics & low income
groups 

Mitigation EIA

7R1 Theatres –increase income and
commercial activity 80 No impact identified n/a 7R1

7R2 Economy and development –generate
extra income from project work 50 No impact identified n/a 7R2

0
Total Better Skills, More Jobs and a
Growing Economy 130

Safe Clean Active

7E1
Sport and Physical Activity increased
income through marketing leading to
additional fitness membership

50 No impact identified n/a 7E1

7E2 
Green Waste Collection & 
Disposal –
increase in prices of £3 for 20/21.

150 

This proposal is likely to have no or a low
impact on everyone. The exception is people
on low incomes for whom the price increase will
have a greater impact. Increasing the annual
charge by £3 per annum may result in the
service being unaffordable to some residents.

Though considered no mitigations have
yet been identified. 7E2

Total Safe Clean Active 200
New draft proposals open for consultation 330

P
age 28



Report of the Director of Finance to the meeting of 
the Executive to be held on 4th February 2020.

Subject:  AT
Qtr. 3 Finance Position Statement for 2019-20

Summary statement:

This report provides Members with an overview of the forecast financial position of the Council 
for 2019-20.

It examines the latest spend against revenue and capital budgets and forecasts the financial 
position at the year end. It states the Council’s current reserves and forecasts school balances 
for the year.  

Chris Chapman
Director of Finance

Portfolio:  

Leader of the Council and Corporate

Report Contact:  Andrew Cross
Business Adviser Management 
Accounting
(01274) 436823
andrew.cross@bradford.gov.uk

Overview & Scrutiny Area: 
Corporate

Page 29

Agenda Item 7/

mailto:andrew.cross@bradford.gov.uk


QTR. 3  FINANCIAL POSITION STATEMENT FOR 2019-20

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This report is the third monitoring report presented to Members on the Council’s 2019-20 
financial position. It provides an early indication of the revenue and capital financial position of 
the Council at the 31st March 2020. 

The report covers 
 The forecast outturn of the Council’s revenue budget including management 

mitigations where issues have been identified.
 The delivery of 2019-20 approved budget savings plans.
 A statement on the Council’s reserves including movements in the 3rd quarter. 
 An update on the Capital Investment Plan. 
 An update on Council Tax and Business Rates collection. 

2.0. MAIN MESSAGES

Revenue Budget

2.1 Based on a projection at December 31st 2019, the Council is forecast to 
overspend the £359.9m net revenue budget (£1.125bn gross budget) by £0.2m.

Gross Expenditure Gross Income Net

 Budget
£m

Forecast
£m

Variance
£m

Budget
£m

Forecast
£m

Variance
£m

Budget
£m

Forecast
£m

Variance
£m

Health and Wellbeing 229.8 230.0 0.1 -118.1 -120.5 -2.4 111.7 109.5 -2.2
Children's Services 471.3 482.2 10.9 -373.8 -374.7 -0.9 97.4 107.5 10.0
Department of Place 122.3 124.5 2.2 -56.9 -58.8 -1.9 65.4 65.7 0.3
Corporate Resources 223.8 218.5 -5.3 -179.6 -175.6 4.0 44.2 42.8 -1.4
Chief Executive 4.6 4.6 0.0 -0.4 -0.4 0.0 4.2 4.2 0.0
Non Service Budgets 6.9 6.2 -0.6 -0.8 -0.6 0.0 6.1 5.6 -0.5
General Fund 66.2 61.8 -4.74 -35.3 -37.0 -1.3 30.9 24.8 -6.1
Total Council 1,124.9 1,127.8 2.9 -764.9 -767.6 -2.7 359.9 360.1 0.2

2.2 The Council manages approximately 130 different services, and the vast majority 
of these are forecast to end the year largely in line with their budgets. Contained 
within the overall £0.2m forecast overspend, there are however some significant 
variances (above + or - £0.3m) to plan, and these exceptions are summarised 
below with additional detail provided in Section 5 – Service Commentaries.

Children’s Services

2.3 Children’s Services are forecast to overspend the £97.4m net expenditure 
budget by £10.0m. This is due largely to a £10.6m forecast overspend on 
Children’s Social Care resulting mainly from increasing numbers of Children 
Looked After (CLA) and Children requiring support. 

2.4 There were 1,015 CLA at the end of September 2018 and this number has 
increased to 1,236 at the 31st of December 2019. The movement in CLA and
Children receiving support in permanent arrangements is as follows:

Page 30



Apr 19 Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3
Children Looked After 1,167 1,198 1,236 1,236

Children in Permanent Arrangements 624 625 630 645
Total 1,791 1,823 1,866 1,881

2.5 Although the numbers of placements are growing at a rate lower than originally 
anticipated by Children’s Services (1,400 CLA were forecast by year end), there 
has been a large increase in the number of typically costlier placements, most 
notably in Purchased Residential Care and Independent Foster Care. 

2.6 The main variances that result from the projected increase in CLA numbers are;
 A £6.7m forecast overspend on the £12.3m external purchased placements 

budget. 
 A £1.0m overspend on the £15.5m Fees and Allowances budget paid to 

Foster Carers and Special Guardians amongst others. Use of fostering and 
special guardianship is cost effective, but rising volumes in placements 
generate additional cost.

 A £1.0m overspend on the £5.8m Through and After Care services budget 
due to the need to provide accommodation for more young people.

2.7 Internal residential homes are also forecast to overspend the £4.9m net budget 
by £0.6m due mainly to agency staff and premises costs.

2.8 Additional Children Looked After numbers are also contributing to the £1.2m 
forecast overspend on the £16.8m Social Work budget. Budgets have 
increased significantly to cover a new staffing structure reflecting a move from 3 
to 4 teams, however an overspend is still expected due to high levels of Social 
Work agency staff.

2.9 The Children with Disabilities service is also forecast to overspend the £3.9m 
net budget by £0.8m due mainly to an assessment that only £0.1m of a £0.4m 
agreed respite saving will be delivered; a £0.2m overspend on Direct 
Payments, and a £0.2m overspend on staff costs.

2.10 The above pressures are partly counter balanced by a one off underspend on 
the Targeted Early Help service of £1.0m in advance of a £0.9m saving in 
2020-21.

2.11 The 2019-20 budget included £2.4m of additional investment for Children 
Looked After to help address additional Purchased Placement costs; £1.0m 
was also provided for additional Social Worker pay, and £0.6m for new Social 
Worker posts to help manage higher workloads and reduce staff turnover. 
Additionally, £1.5m was allocated as an Ofsted Inspection contingency on top 
of amounts provided for prices and demographic growth. 

2.12 Furthermore, the Council also allocated a one off £6.5m Children’s Investment 
Fund to help respond to the pressures in Children’s Social Care.   All of this has 
now been committed in line with an improvement plan over the next 3 years.

2.13 The above budget increases will not however be sufficient to cover the 
additional Children Looked After numbers/costs expected by Children’s Social 
Care, resulting in the forecast overspend. 

Page 31



2.14 A £17.65m1 increase in the Children’s budget in 2020-21 is currently factored 
into the Medium Term Financial Plan/ budget planning, and identified 
management actions need to be progressed to address rising costs to 
ensure the overspend doesn’t recur next year.

2.15 Additionally, Children’s Social Care are having a recruitment drive to 
increase the number of permanent Social Workers to improve the service 
and reduce the number of agency staff. 

Travel Assistance

2.16 The Travel Assistance service provided to Children and Adults Service users 
with assessed needs, and delivered by the Passenger Transport Service 
within the Department of Place has a budgeted savings target of £4.774m.

2.17 Due to uncertainties of delivering the Travel Assistance savings without 
impacting vulnerable groups, a corporate contingency has been set aside to 
meet any savings shortfall pending a detailed review

2.18 The review has completed and has found that only £2.47m is deliverable by 
2021-22, with £0.5m being deliverable in 2019-20.

2.19 Currently the Travel Assistance service is reporting a £0.2m delivery of 
savings in 2019-20. However, £0.5m of recurring budget savings are forecast 
to be delivered by the end of 2019-20.

2.20 It should also be recognised that the service has managed to avoid 
increased costs and absorbed additional demand which could have cost 
approximately £0.6m. 

2.21 Contingencies will be used to mitigate any underachievement in 2019-20, 
and the budget saving for 2020-21 is proposed to be reduced following the 
external review of deliverability.

Department of Place

2.22 The Department of Place is forecast to overspend the £65.2m net 
expenditure budget by £0.2m, and deliver £2.9m of the planned £3.5m 
budget savings. The main budget variances include;

2.23 Waste Disposal Services are forecast to overspend the £16.7m budget by 
£0.8m due mainly to the disposal of dry mixed recycling (DMR) residual 
waste where falling market prices for recyclable materials are resulting in 
higher costs to the Council.

2.24 The contract for the processing and disposal of Dry mixed recycling tonnes 
has recently been extended and new recyclate extraction equipment for the 
Materials Reclamation Facility (MRF) is planned, which should help to 
reduce waste processing costs. 

1 £13.625m Demographic growth, £2m Early help (for 2020-21 and another £2m for 2021-22), £2m 
increase in Social Work Base budget (to replace £2m funded from one off funds). 

Page 32



2.25 However, although the 2020-21 proposed budget includes £1m for additional 
demographic growth and contract price increases, this is unlikely to be 
sufficient to cover the falling market prices for recyclable materials. 

2.26 Sports and Culture are also forecast to overspend by £0.4m due mainly to an 
overspend in Sports Facilities due in part to the delayed opening of the new 
Sedbergh leisure centre. The forecast overspend is lower than last year and 
is not expected to recur in 2020-21.

2.27 Planning Transportation & Highways are also forecast to overspend by 
£0.2m. This is largely due to a £0.2m forecast overspend in Building Control 
due to lower than budgeted fee income. This has been a recurring issue for a 
number of years and the 2020-21 budget proposals include a budget 
increase to address this.

2.28 Additionally, Street Lighting is forecast to overspend by £0.4m due to higher 
energy costs than budgeted. The overspends are partly counter balanced by 
additional incom in Highways maintenance (£0.4m) this year, and the Street 
Lighting capital investment plan should help reduce energy consumption 
when implemented in the longer term. The procurement of a Street Lighting 
contractor has commenced.

2.29 A £1.4m forecast underspend in Neighbourhoods and Customer services, 
linked mainly to increased parking and enforcement related revenues in 
Uniformed Services (£1.2m), brings the Department of Place back towards 
balance.  All other services are broadly forecast to end the year as budgeted.

General Fund & Non Service

2.30 The General Fund which provides budgets for the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority, Capital Financing, and contingencies amongst others is forecast to 
underspend by £6.0m due to; 

 £3.4m of Corporate contingencies
 £1.3m of remaining one off VAT refund
 £1.3m of other underspends (interest income, capital financing, West 

Yorkshire Combined Authority & others)

2.31 The Non Service area which includes added pension years for former 
employees, payments to West Yorkshire Joint Services, Flood defence 
payments and External Audit costs amongst others, is forecast to 
underspend by £0.6m due mainly to lower pension costs. 

Department of Health & Wellbeing

2.32 The Department of Health and Well-Being is forecast to underspend the 
£111.7m net expenditure budget by £2.2m due mainly to a £0.7m forecast 
underspend in Operational Services, a £0.5m underspend on Commissioning 
and Integration, a £0.3m underspend in Environmental Health and a £0.7m 
underspend within the Strategic Director.

2.33 Although Operational Services are forecast to underspend overall, there is a 
£0.6m forecast overspend on Older People (OP) and Physical Disabilities 

Page 33



(PD) Home Care caused by higher Home Care hours than budgeted. Part of 
the higher Home Care hours results from the delayed opening of the new 
Extra Care facility in Keighley. This scheme will become operational in the 
new year and should help reduce Home Care hours in the 4th quarter.  

2.34 There has also been an increase in the enablement support hours delivered 
by private Home Care providers due to capacity issues in the Bradford 
Enablement Support Team (BEST).  This is as a result of supply issues in 
the market, primarily related to the new Locality contracts, which has resulted 
in BEST holding a significant number of long term care hours. 

2.35 Work is on-going to reduce Home Care hours through reviewing packages of 
care (focusing on the short term cases held with private providers) and 
working with the market to increase capacity.  The overspend on Home Care 
has been partly counter balanced (£0.3m) by a reduction in the number of 
OP and PD Residential and Nursing placements.

2.36 Since November, there has been a significant reduction in Home Care hours 
mainly as a result of reviewing enablement packages held with private 
providers. The service is hopeful this downward trend will continue as supply 
is increasing in the market which will enable BEST to focus on Enablement.  
It should also be noted that the BEST team have recently been assessed as 
Outstanding by the Care Quality commission.

2.37 £2.5m of the £3.1m Public Health savings are forecast to be achieved; the 
shortfall of £0.6m is due to the delay in the procurement process for the new 
0-19 Children’s Service and will be met from reserves and a £0.2m one off 
contribution from health.

Corporate Resources

2.38 Corporate Resources are forecast to underspend the £44.2m net budget by 
£1.4m, and deliver £1.8m of £2.5m of budgeted savings as planned. The 
main variances are outlined below.

2.39 Estates and Property Services, while forecasting an overall balanced 
position, contains pressures of £0.3m due mainly to income shortfalls in 
Estates Operational & Investment (£0.5m), and a £0.3m overspend in 
Industrial Services Group due to significant trading pressures. There are also 
on-going structural pressures in Architectural Services (£0.25m). These are 
however being counter balanced by underspends in other services. 

2.40 The £0.5m forecast income shortfall in Estates Operational Investments is 
linked to underachieved savings (£0.275m) that were planned to be delivered 
by expanding the investment estate, and lower rental income from the 
existing estate. In respect of investment property, the Council has recently 
purchased a site in Ilkley to generate additional rental income. The £0.25m 
forecast overspend in Architectural Services is due to lower workloads 
resulting from a smaller capital programme.

2.41 Revenues & Benefits are forecasting a £1.5m underspend including £0.5m 
relating to benefits payments which is one off in nature. Additionally £0.2m 
relates to short term in year savings on salaries due to vacancy control plus 
£0.2m on court costs and £0.1m on contracts. A further £0.3m underspend 

Page 34



relates to the net in year impact of a reduction in unsubsidised overpayments 
and a knock on reduction in recovery income and bad debt provision. 

Material Changes since Qtr 2 (Sept)

3.1 The forecast position has deteriorated by £0.3m to an overspend of £0.2m.

 £ms Forecast Variance at 
Qtr 2

Forecast Variance at 
Qtr 3

Change in Variance

Children's Services 8,528 10,020 1,492
Department of Place -178 306 484
Chief Executive 10 52 42
General Fund -6,019 -6,087 -68
Non Service Budgets 0 -506 -506
Health and Wellbeing -1,619 -2,187 -568
Corporate Resources -781 -1,368 -587
Total Council -59 230 289

3.2 Although the overall change is very small relative to the size of the Councils 
budget, there has been some significant changes to departmental forecast 
variances since Qtr 2.

3.3 The forecast overspend in Children’s Services has increased by £1.5m due 
largely to increased Purchased placement costs for Children Looked After, and 
higher Social Work costs due to high levels of Agency staff as outlined 
previously.

3.4 The forecast variance in the Dept of Place is mainly due to an increase in the 
forecast overspend in Waste Services as outlined.

3.5 The forecast underspend in Health and Wellbeing has increased by £0.6m, due 
primarily to an additional unbudgeted share of Better Care Fund money. This 
has been factored into next year’s budget proposals.

3.6 The £0.5m increase in the Non Service underspend to £0.5m is due to lower 
costs of pension contributions for former employees as outlined.

3.7 The £0.6m increase in the Corporate Resources underspend is mainly due to a 
£0.5m increase in the Revenues and Benefits underspend related to Benefit 
payments. The improvement is one off in nature.

Savings Tracker 

4.1 The combined budget savings of £22.0m in 2019-20 brings the total savings the 
Council has had to approve in the eight years following the 2010 
Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) to £278.2m.

4.2 The 2019-20 budget includes £16.1m of new budget reductions, however 
£5.9m of prior year underachieved savings have carried forward into 2019-20, 
meaning that £22.0m of savings will need to be delivered in 2019-20.

4.3 In tracking progress made against each individual saving proposal, £14.6m of 
the £22.0m is forecast to be delivered, leaving £7.4m that is forecast not to be 
delivered.

Page 35



 

Prior year 
underachieved  

Savings 
outstanding at 

31/3/19  
2019/20 New 

Savings
Total Savings 

2019/20

Forecast 
Variance 

2019/20
Health & Wellbeing 0.0 4.7 4.7 1.2
Children’s Services 0.0 6.1 6.1 0.3
Place 0.7 2.8 3.5 0.6
Corporate Resources 0.4 2.0 2.4 0.7
Chief Executives Office 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0
Travel Assistance 4.8 0.0 4.8 4.6
General Fund 0.0 0.5 0.5 0.0
Total 5.9 16.1 22.0 7.4

4.4 Although the forecast underachieved savings remain high, they are lower than 
the last 3 years. 

Underachieved 
Savings £ms

2013/14 4.4
2014/15 2.3
2015/16 4.9
2016/17 7.9
2017/18 22.6
2018/19 13.4
2019/20   7.4

4.5 The £7.4m of forecast underachieved savings are largely due to the £4.6m 
Travel Assistance Saving which has been subject to a review, and will be 
addressed as part of the 2020-21 budget planning process. Additionally, there 
is a forecast underachievement of £0.5m on the £1.5m Adults Demand 
Management saving linked to higher Home Care costs. This underachievement 
is however counterbalanced by underspends in other parts of Health & 
Wellbeing.

4.6 The other forecast underachieved savings are not expected to have a 
significant impact in 2020-21, and have not been factored into the Medium 
Term Financial Plan/ 2020-21 budget planning process.

Page 36



5. SERVICE COMMENTARIES

5.1 Health and Wellbeing

 The Department of Health and Well Being is forecast to underspend the 
£111.7m net expenditure budget by £2.2m (£1.6m at Qtr 2), and deliver £3.5m 
of the £4.7m budgeted savings.

 Gross expenditure  Income  Net expenditure

Department of Place
Budget

£m
Forecast

£m  
Budget

£m
Forecast

£m  
Budget

£m
Forecast

£m
Variance

£m
Operational Services 109.9 109.4 -58.2 -58.4 51.7 51.0 -0.7
Learning Disabilities 64.8 65.8 -15.1 -15.8 49.9 49.9 0.1
Commissioning & Integration 9.6 9.1 -2.0 -2.0 7.7 7.1 -0.6
SD Health & Wellbeing 2.4 2.8 -0.6 -1.7 1.8 1.1 -0.7
Public Health 42.9 42.9 -42.3 -42.5 0.7 0.4 -0.3
Total 229.8 230.0 -118.1 -120.5 111.7 109.5 -2.2

5.2 Operational Services 

Operational Services are forecast to underspend the £51.7m net expenditure budget 
by £0.7m. Contained within the underspend, there are however a number of significant 
forecast variances. The main financial issues and mitigating actions are outlined 
below.

Older People and Physical Disabilities Purchased Care (£1.4m overspend)

 The table below shows that Older People (OP) and Physical Disability (PD) 
services are being transformed in line with the Home First strategy which seeks 
to keep people independent and at home, rather than in Residential and 
Nursing care;

Client Numbers
Q3                 

2017/18
Q3              

2018/19
Q3                        

2019/20 
Total Residential & Nursing 1,225 1,119 1,012

OP& PD Direct Payments 295 327 370
OP& PD Home Care - Purchased 1,806 1,782 1,777
OP & PD Extra Care 253 231 239
Total Community Care Services 2,354 2,340 2,386

Total Clients 3,579 3,459 3,398

 However, the changes are not as budgeted, resulting in a forecast overspend.

OP & PD Home Care (£0.6m overspend)

 From April to October 19, there was a significant increase in the number of 
homecare hours provided for the following reasons; 

 The Home Care budget had assumed a reduction of 5,100 monthly Home Care 

Page 37



hours resulting from the opening of the new Extra Care facility in Keighley, 
originally due to open in April 2019; however, the facility will not become 
operational until early in the new year and the delay has impacted on the Home 
Care budget. The Home Care budget was reduced by £0.6m in 2019-20 to fund 
additional Extra Care capacity and there is a compensating part-year 
underspend of £0.3m on the Extra Care budget. The issue is not expected to 
recur next year.

 Supply issues in the Home Care market, primarily relating to the new locality 
contract have resulted in the in-house Bradford Enablement Support Team 
(BEST) undertaking non-enablement caseloads (long term home care 
packages). As a consequence of delivering a high number of non-BEST 
caseloads there is reduced capacity to deliver enablement services; the number 
of BEST caseloads has reduced from 220 in April 19 to 159 caseloads in 
December 19.  As a result of this, the Home Care budget has seen an increase 
in short term enablement hours delivered by the private sector.

 With the BEST team undertaking some non-enablement Home Care work, this 
is impacting on their capacity to deliver enablement work and is a factor in the 
increase in delayed transfers of care. This was outlined in greater detail in the 
Mid-Year Performance report. 

 November and December have however seen a monthly reduction of 5,400 
hours as a direct result of reviewing enablement packages held with private 
providers.  As at 31st December, homecare hours delivered are 9,500 above 
budget (98,100 hours delivered in December, against a budget of 88,600 
hours). 

 The significant reduction in the number of Residential and Nursing placements 
will have also resulted in an increase in Home Care hours as an alternative 
provision. This is however a positive direction of travel.

In Year Mitigation

 The department is working to reduce the overall demand for Home Care 
through tighter controls of variations to packages, service user reviews 
(currently focusing on the short term cases held with private providers) and 
working with the market to increase capacity. This will then support the long 
term home care hours currently being provided by the enablement team (BEST) 
to move to external providers and allow BEST to focus on enablement.

 As the new Extra Care facility becomes operational in the last quarter of the 
year, this should also help to reduce demand on the Home Care budget.

 The overspend on Home Care is also partly counterbalanced by an underspend 
on Residential & Nursing Care (£0.3m).

OP & PD Residential and Nursing (£0.3m underspend)

 The service is forecast to underspend the £14.8m net budget by £0.3m as a 
result of fewer Residential and Nursing clients than budgeted.  This is a positive 
direction of travel in advance of further planned reductions over the next two 

Page 38



years.

OP & PD Respite (£0.4m overspend)

 External respite is also forecast to overspend by £0.4m.  The budget was 
reduced in 2019-20 to contribute to funding the Valley View Residential scheme 
in Keighley which will also deliver respite.  However, due to delays in the 
opening of the scheme, the service has been incurring respite expenditure with 
external providers.  This overspend should not recur next year.

OP & PD Direct Payments & Individual Service Funds (£0.3m overspend)

 OP & PD services have seen an increase in the number of clients receiving 
Direct Payments (+41 from March 19 to 370 clients in December 2019); 49 
clients higher than budgeted for December 2019.  This is a positive direction of 
travel as it is the departments policy to increase the use of Direct Payments as 
the Council has a relatively low proportion of clients receiving a direct payment 
per the Adults Social Care Outcomes Framework benchmark. 

PD Supported Living (£0.3m overspend)

 PD Supported Living is forecast to overspend by £0.3m due to reclassification 
of expenditure from Home Care. Budgets will be realigned to reflect the 
reclassification.

Demand Management Saving

 The Older People budget area has a demand management saving (6A1) of 
£0.8m to achieve in 2019-20 on long term support.  At Quarter 3, long term 
support for OP & PD is £0.5m overspent as a result of higher than budgeted 
home care hours as detailed above.  However, if the reduction seen in the last 
two months continues then it is possible that demand for services could end the 
year as planned, meaning any underachievement from this year doesn’t impact 
on next year.

Mental Health Purchased Care (£0.5m underspend)

 Mental Health Purchased Care is forecast to underspend the £7.8m net 
expenditure budget by £0.5m due to lower Residential, Nursing and Community 
Care client numbers than last year.

Client Numbers
Q3                 

2017/18
Q3              

2018/19
Q3                        

2019/20 
Total Residential & Nursing 190 171 156
MH Home Care - Purchased 163 264 200
MH Supported Living 0* 66 120
MH Direct Payments 52 53 51
MH Day Care 13 12 6
Total Community Care Services 228 395 377

Total Clients 418 566 533
*Block Contract in 17/18

Page 39



In-House Residential and Day Care (£0.5m underspend)

 In-house Residential and Day Care service is forecast to underspend the £6.6m 
net expenditure budget by £0.5m.  This is primarily due to the delay in the 
opening of new Residential and Extra Care schemes in Keighley, resulting in 
part year budget saving of £0.2m for the Residential Scheme (Valley View) and 
£0.3m for the Extra Care Scheme (Fletcher Court).  As highlighted, there has 
been additional expenditure incurred with external providers, impacting on the 
Purchased Care budgets outlined previously.  The Residential Scheme opened 
in November 2019, however the Extra Care scheme is not due to open until 
later in the new year.

Access, Assessment & Support (£0.7m underspend)

 Access, Assessment & Support is forecast to underspend the £9.3m net 
expenditure budget by £0.7m primarily due to vacancies within the service.  The 
saving is non-recurrent as the service is seeking to recruit to these vacancies; 
this will involve re-profiling the staffing mix to focus on a refreshed Operating 
Model in line with the departments strategy.

No Recourse to Public Funds (£0.3m underspend)

 No Recourse to Public Funds is due to underspend the £0.8m net expenditure 
budget by £0.3m due to a forecast reduction in accommodation costs and 
allowances paid to service users and includes £0.1m Resettlement Scheme 
grant funding.

5.3 Learning Disabilities (£0.1m overspend)

 The table below shows that Learning Disability services are being transformed 
in line with the strategy of reducing Residential and Nursing Care and caring for 
people in the community instead.

Client Numbers
Q3                 

2017/18
Q3              

2018/19
Q3                        

2019/20 
Total Residential & Nursing 280 228 174

LD Home Care – Purchased 487 350 317
LD Supported Living 0 313 421
LD Direct Payments 437 465 476
LD Day Care 921 935 938
Total Community Care Services 1,845 2,063 2,152

Total Clients 2,125 2,291 2,326

 The numbers of new placements to Residential and Nursing care are also 
relatively low (7.9 per 100,000 Bradford vs 15.1 per 100,000 Regional) 
indicating good performance in advance of further planned reductions to 
Residential and Nursing placements numbers in future years.

Page 40



 The Learning Disability budget is forecast to overspend by £0.1m due to 
unbudgeted agency expenditure, and at Q3 is forecast to achieve the £0.8m 
demand management saving (6A1).

5.4 Commissioning and Integration

 Commissioning and Integration is forecast to underspend the £7.6m net 
expenditure budget by £0.6m due to staffing vacancies (£0.2m) and non-
recurrent reductions in grant payments to providers (£0.4m).  The service is in 
the process of recruiting to vacant posts which is essential to deliver key pieces 
of commissioning.

5.5 Public Health

 Public Health is forecast to underspend by £0.3m due mainly to vacancies 
within Environmental Health.  

 Approval has been received from Public Health England to carry forward any 
Public Health grant underspend to 2020-21. 

 £2.5m of the £3.1m Public Health savings are forecast to be achieved; the 
shortfall of £0.6m is due to the delay in the procurement process for the new 0-
19 Children’s Service and will be met from reserves and a £0.2m one off 
contribution from health.

Page 41



6.1 Children’s Services

 Gross expenditure  Income  Net expenditure

Children's Services
Budget

£m
Forecast

£m  
Budget

£m
Forecast

£m  
Budget

£m
Forecast

£m
Variance

£m
Directors Office 0.4 0.4  0.0 0.0  0.4 0.4 -0.0 
Children's Social Care 79.9 90.4  -9.4 -9.4  70.4 81.1 10.6 
Education & Learning 39.5 39.5  -27.4 -27.7  12.1 11.8 -0.3 
Performance, Commissioning & 
Partnerships 56.3 56.6  -40.6 -41.1  15.7 15.5 -0.2 

Schools 295.1 295.3  -296.4 -296.5  -1.2 -1.2 0.0
Total 471.3 482.2  -373.8 -374.7  97.4 107.5 10.0

Children’s Services

 Children’s Services are forecast to overspend the £97.4m net expenditure 
budget by £10.0m. This is due mainly to a £10.6m forecast overspend on 
Children’s Social Care resulting from increasing numbers of Children Looked 
After (CLA) and Children requiring support.  The main issues and mitigating 
actions are outlined below

6.2 Children’s Social Care

 There were 1,015 CLA at the end of September 2018 and this number has 
increased to 1,236 at the 31st of December 2019. The increase in CLA and 
Children receiving support in permanent arrangements is as follows:

Apr 19 Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3
Children Looked After 1,167 1,198 1,236 1,236

Children in Permanent Arrangements 624 625 630 645
Total 1,791 1,823 1,866 1,881

 Although the numbers of placements are growing at a rate lower than originally 
anticipated by Children’s Services (1,400 CLA were forecast by year end), there 
has been a large increase in the number of typically costlier placements, most 
notably in Purchased Residential Care and Independent Foster Care, and a 
reduction in areas that have a £0 placement cost.

 Apr-19 Dec-19 Change

Approx 
Cost per 
placement 
per year 

CLA in placement on date - Residential 
Purchased 51 67 16 £173k
Residential In-House 51 47 -4 £160k
Fostering Purchased 100 148 48 £43k
Foster Care in House 364 362 -2 £26k
CLA in placement on date - Family and 
Friends 333 357 24 £12
Placed for adoption/ with parents or other 268 255 -13 £0
Number of Children Looked After 1,167 1,236 69

 The main variances that result from the projected increase in CLA numbers are;

 A £6.7m forecast overspend on the £12.3m external purchased placements 

Page 42



budget. 
 A £1.0m overspend on the £15.5m Fees and Allowances budget paid to 

Foster Carers and Special Guardians amongst others. Use of fostering and 
special guardianship is cost effective, but rising volumes in placements 
generate additional cost. 

 A £1.0m overspend on the £5.8m Through and After Care services budget 
due to the need to provide accommodation for young people.

 Internal residential homes are also forecast to overspend the £4.9m net 
budget by £0.6m due mainly to agency staff and premises costs.

 Higher numbers of Children Looked After and Children requiring support are 
also adding pressure to the £16.8m Social Work budget. This is forecast to 
overspend by £1.2m due mainly to higher workloads and the continued use 
of agency staff due to a shortage of staff. Budgets have increased 
significantly to cover a new staffing structure reflecting a move from 3 to 4 
teams, however an overspend is still expected due to the high levels of 
Social Work agency staff.

Apr 19 Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3
Social Work Agency Staff 53 60 72 78

 Agency staff numbers are continuing to grow as a result of there being higher 
numbers of Social Workers leavers than starters, and increased workloads.

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total
Social Work 
Leavers 

2 2 10 7 1 5 4 2 0 33

Social Work 
Starters

0 1 1 2 4 5 3 2 0 18

Net Change -2 -1 -9 -5 3 0 -1  0       0 -15

 The Children with Disabilities service is also forecast to overspend the £3.9m 
net budget by £0.8m due mainly to an assessment that only £0.1m of a £0.4m 
agreed respite saving will be delivered; a £0.2m overspend on Direct 
Payments, and a £0.2m overspend on staff costs.

 The above pressures are partly counter balanced by a one off underspend on 
the Targeted Early Help service of £1.0m in advance of a £0.9m saving in 
2020-21.

 The 2019-20 budget included £2.4m of additional investment for Children 
Looked After to help address additional Purchased Placement costs; £1.0m 
was also provided for additional Social Worker pay, and £0.6m for new Social 
Worker posts to help manage higher workloads and reduce staff turnover. 
Additionally, £1.5m was allocated as an Ofsted Inspection contingency on top 
of amounts provided for prices and demographic growth. 

 Furthermore, the Council also allocated a one off £6.5m Children’s Investment 
Fund to help respond to the pressures in Children’s Social Care.   £6.0m of this 
has been committed in line with an improvement plan over the next 3 years.

Page 43



 The above budget increases will not however be sufficient to cover the 
additional Children Looked After numbers/costs expected by Children’s Social 
Care, resulting in the forecast overspend. A £17.65m2 increase in the Children’s 
budget in 2020-21 is currently factored into the Medium Term Financial Plan/ 
budget planning. 

  Additionally, Children’s Social Care are having a recruitment drive to increase 
the number of permanent Social Workers to improve the service and reduce the 
number of agency staff.

 Use of agency staff within the Children’s Services team is a necessary part of 
the improvement journey both to work with the increased numbers of children 
who have come into the system over a short period of time as legacy issues are 
addressed, and to bring additional skills and experience.  The rise in numbers 
has been recognised by the Children’s Management Team and an urgent 
action group has been set up chaired by an Assistant Director to drive a 
recruitment plan which will address the rising number of vacancies and agency 
staff. 

Savings

 Children’s Services are on track to deliver £5.8m of the £6.1m of budget savings 
largely as a result of implementing the £5.7m Targeted Early Help saving in 2018-
19. The main forecast underachieved saving relates to respite care (£0.3m).

In Year Mitigation

 Children’s Social Care are having a recruitment drive to increase the number of 
permanent Social Work staff to improve the service and reduce the number of 
agency staff. However, so far Agency staff numbers are continuing to grow.

 The service continues to implement the Ofsted improvement plan.

 The service is working with Impower in supporting sufficiency in Bradford through 
the Valuing Care Approach. 

 The above are however unlikely to have a significant impact on the Children’s 
Social Care overspend this financial year.

Future Year mitigation 

 The Council’s draft budget proposals for 2020-21 includes planned investment of 
£17.65m in 2020-21 to address the current overspend, and deliver improvements 
with the Children Social Care service. 

 Identified management actions will also need to be progressed to address rising 
costs to ensure the overspend doesn’t recur next year.

Remaining Department 

2 £13.625m Demographic growth, £2m Early help (for 2020-21 and another £2m for 2021-22), £2m 
increase in Social Work Base budget (to replace £2m funded from one off funds). 

Page 44



 The overspend in Children’s Social Care, is partly counter balanced by 
underspends in other parts of the Department. 

 Performance Commissioning and Development are forecast to underspend the 
£15.7m net expenditure budget by £0.2m.

 Education and Learning is also forecast to underspend the £12.1m net budget by 
£0.3m due to an underspend in SEN Services.

7.0 Travel Assistance

 The Travel Assistance service provided to Children and Adults Service users with 
assessed needs, and delivered by the Passenger Transport Service within the 
Department of Place has a budgeted savings target of £4.774m.

 Due to uncertainties of delivering the Travel Assistance savings without impacting 
vulnerable groups, a corporate contingency was set aside to meet any savings 
shortfall pending a detailed review.

 Edge Public Solutions were engaged in November 2018 to review and support the 
delivery of the Travel Assistance Savings, and they found only £2.468m of the 
£4.774m budget savings can be delivered by 2021-22. £2.306m of the 
undeliverable saving is being addressed through the 2020-21 budget setting 
process leaving £2.468m to be delivered by 2021-22. The reviewed £2.468m 
savings profile has changed again due to delays in the delivery programme, but is 
still expecting to deliver £2.468m of per year budget savings by the end of 2021-
22. The table below provide details on the savings profile

Description £ms 2018-
19

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 Total 
Savings

Reviewed Budget Saving Profile 0.033 1.261 1.140 0.034 2.468
Current Budget Savings Profile 0.033 0.478 1.855 0.102 2.468
Change to Original Profile 0.000 -0.783 0.715 0.068 0.000

 Overall the Travel Assistance service is reporting a £0.2m delivery of savings in 
2019-20. However, £0.5m of recurring budget savings are forecast to be delivered 
by the end of 2019-20.

 It should also be recognised that the service has managed to avoid increased 
costs and absorbed additional demand which could have cost approximately 
£0.6m. 

 Contingencies will be used to mitigate any underachievement in 2019-20.

 Special Education Needs (SEN) pupils with Education and Health Care Plans 
(EHCP) are however expected to increase by 34.0% or 1,123 pupils between April 
2018 to March 2021 resulting in a 36% or 357 increase in pupils receiving Travel 

Page 45



Assistance. This pro-rata increase in demand will cost the Travel Assistance 
budget approximately £1.3m by 2020-21.

Page 46



8.0 Department of Place 

 
The Department of Place is forecast to overspend the £65.4m net expenditure budget 
(£122.3m gross budget) by £0.3m and deliver £2.9m of the £3.5m savings as planned. 

 Gross expenditure  Income  Net expenditure

Department of Place
Budget

£m
Forecast

£m  
Budget

£m
Forecast

£m  
Budget

£m
Forecast

£m
Variance

£m
Waste, Fleet & Transport Services 40.5 41.3  -16.2 -15.9  24.3 25.4 1.1 
Neighbourhoods & Customer 
Services 23.8 23.7  -7.1 -8.5  16.6 15.2 -1.4 

Planning, Transportation & Highways 20.5 21.4  -7.0 -7.6  13.5 13.8 0.3 
Sports & Culture Services 23.6 24.1  -18.5 -18.6  5.1 5.5 0.4
Economy & Development Services 13.6 13.5  -8.1 -8.2  5.5 5.4 -0.1 
Directors Office 0.4 0.4  0.0 0.0  0.4 0.4 0.0 
Total 122.3 124.5  -56.9 -58.8  65.4 65.7 0.3

 The main financial issues and mitigating actions are outlined below:

8.1 Waste, Fleet & Transport Services

Waste Services

Waste Services are forecast to overspend the £25.3m net budget (£31.2m gross) by 
£1.1m. The main issues and mitigating actions are outlined below.

Waste Disposal 

 Waste Disposal (including Household Waste Recycling Centres) is forecast to 
overspend the £18.5m budget by £0.8m due to a combination of reduced 
income from sales of recyclates, and increases in green waste disposal costs. 

 Increasing amounts of waste are being recycled, however there have also been 
higher tonnes of general waste disposal due in part to population increases.

To Q3 17-18 To Q3 18-19 To Q3 19-20

Waste Collected as Recycling (Tonnes) 000s 59 63 64

Waste to Landfill or Alternative Treatment (Tonnes) Excl Trade Waste 000s 100 96 100

Total Tonnes (Excl Trade Waste) 000s 159 159 163

Mitigation

 To increase the tonnages of saleable recycIates that are extracted at the in-
house Materials Reclamation Facility (MRF), the service trialled a new piece of 
sorting equipment (a mobile trommel) from July to August. This proved 
successful at reducing residual waste and extracting recyclates and an 
extended hire period was subsequently entered in to.

 A procurement exercise to purchase a longer, static trommel that will improve 
performance further is planned.

 The budget proposals for 2020-21 include budget increases to address higher 
green waste disposal contract prices and an increase in the general waste 

Page 47



contract price. 

Waste Collection

 Waste Collection, incorporating the Kerbside Waste Collection Service, Garden 
Waste Service, Trade Waste and Admin & Depots, are forecast to overspend 
the £6.9m net budget (£11.3m gross budget) by £0.2m.

 This is largely due to a forecast overspend on employee costs due to the 
creation of an additional collection round, required because of demographic 
growth, and lower than budgeted income in Trade Waste.

 The tonnes collected from recycling bins and general waste bins is marginally 
higher than last year linked in part to property growth, however tonnes of Trade 
Waste are reducing impacting on income levels. 

Kerbside Waste & Recycling Collection 2016-17 to end 
of Qtr 3

2017-18 to end 
of Qtr 3 

2018-19 to end 
of Qtr 3

2019-20 to end 
of Qtr 3

Tonnes collected from Recycling bins 14,800 21,900 25,500 25,800
Tonnes collected from Waste bins 95,800 80,300 76,900 77,700
Kerbside Tonnes collected 110,700           102,100 102,300 103,500

Tonnes of Garden Waste Collected 7,400 8,000 6,000 6,500
Tonnes of Trade Waste Collected 14,900 15,500 14,600 13,700

Future Year Issues

 Pressures on both collection & disposal services due to increasing numbers of 
new houses has been highlighted as a budget issue for future years. 

8.2 Sport & Culture

Sports & Culture are forecast to overspend the £5.1m net budget (£23.5m gross 
budget) by £0.4m, and deliver £1.5m of the £2.1m of budgeted savings. The main 
issues and mitigating actions are outlined below.

Sport Facilities

 Sports Facilities are forecast to overspend the £0.9m net expenditure budget 
(£5.9m gross budget) by £0.3m.

 The forecast overspend is largely due to the delayed opening of the new 
Sedbergh leisure centre which resulted in additional costs at Richard Dunn and 
lower income at Sebergh; a restructure that took longer than planned (but is 
now implemented), and lower income than would have been the case had new 
fitness centres being created as planned.

Page 48



Sports Facilities To Qtr 3 2017/18 To Qtr 3 2018/19  To Qtr 3 2019/20
Total Visits 000s 1,289 1,317 1,258

Future Year Mitigation

 The service has a 3-year budget recovery plan, which will deliver improvements 
and the overspend is not expected to recur in 2020-21. Additionally, the option 
of a gym extension at Shipley is being developed which will build on the recent 
success of the expansion of fitness facilities across the district and raise 
additional income.

Theatres

 Theatres are forecast to underspend the £0.3m net expenditure budget (£8.3m 
gross budget) by £0.1m due to a booking fee increase, and better than 
anticipated sales from Les Miserables.

 Total attendees have increased significantly since the re-opening of St Georges 
Hall following the major refurbishment, and attendees at St Georges Hall are 
approximately 9,000 higher than they were in the equivalent time period in the 
year prior to closure.

Theatres – Ticketed Attendees To Qtr 3 2017/18 To Qtr 3 2018/19  To Qtr 3 2019/20
Alhambra 188 205 219
St Georges Hall 0 0 62
Total 188 205 281

 

All Other Service Areas

 All other areas of the service are currently forecast not to show any significant 
variance against budget.

8.3 Planning, Transportation & Highways

Planning Transport & Highways are forecast to overspend the £13.5m net expenditure 
budget (£20.5m gross budget) by £0.3m. The main issues and mitigating actions are 
outlined below.

Street Lighting

 Street Lighting is forecast to overspend the £3.5m budget by £0.4m due mainly 
to a backdated Capacity Market charge in 2018-19 of £120k and a similar 
subsequent forecast charge in 2019-20. The Capacity Market scheme helps to 
safeguard electricity supplies during winter months with the cost of running the 
scheme recovered through consumers’ electricity bills (currently 2.9% of the bill). 
There is also a one off pressure of £54k due to final costs relating to carbon 
reduction charge in 2019-20.

Page 49



Future Year Mitigation

 In response to increasing energy costs and an ageing infrastructure, the service 
has approval to invest £45m into modern energy efficient lighting equipment 
(LEDs). The procurement competition has commenced and progress will be 
reported in due course.

Highways Maintenance

 Increased work for West Yorkshire Transport Schemes has generated additional 
income to offset against Highway Maintenance budgets (£0.4m).

8.4  Neighbourhoods & Customer Services

Neighbourhoods and Customer Services are forecast to underspend the £16.6m net 
budget (£23.7m gross budget) by £1.4m as a result of £1.2m of higher revenues in 
Uniformed Services, and a £0.2m forecast underspend in Customer Services. 

Uniformed Services

 Uniformed Services income, which supports investment in highways, is set to 
exceed the net budget by £1.2m from additional parking and enforcement related 
revenues.  

9.0 Corporate Resources

 Corporate Resources are forecast to underspend the £44.2m net budget by 
£1.4m, and deliver £1.8m of the £2.5m of budgeted savings as planned. 

 Gross expenditure  Income  Net expenditure

Corporate Resources
Budget

£m
Forecast

£m  
Budget

£m
Forecast

£m  
Budget

£m
Forecast

£m
Variance

£m
Director of Corporate Resources 0.3 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.2 -0.1
Financial & Procurement 5.3 5.0 -0.5 -0.5 4.7 4.5 -0.2
Estates and Property Services 50.0 48.2 -37.1 -35.2 13.0 13.0 0.0
Human Resources 5.8 5.8 -2.0 -2.0 3.7 3.8 0.0
ICT 14.1 13.6 -2.0 -1.7 12.0 11.9 -0.1
Legal & Democratic 8.7 9.3 -2.2 -2.5 6.4 6.8 0.4
Revenues & Benefits 139.7 136.2 -135.7 -133.6 4.0 2.6 -1.5
Total 223.8 218.5 -179.6 -175.6 44.2 42.8 -1.4

The main variances are outlined below.

9.1Estates & Property Services

 Estates and Property Services are forecast to overspend by £0.1m. The main 
issues and actions are outlined below.

 Built Environment contains overspends in Architectural Services where 
the £0.2m forecast overspend is due to lower workloads resulting from a 
smaller capital programme and in ISG where a forecast £0.3m 
overspend is due to significant trading pressures. Reviews of both 
services are currently being undertaken with a view to addressing these 

Page 50



issues for 2020/21. The structural element of the Architects pressure is 
to be subject to a budgetary realignment in 2020-21.

 A £0.5m forecast income shortfall in Estates is linked to both 
underachieved savings (£0.275m) that were planned to be delivered by 
expanding the investment estate, and lower rental income from the 
existing estate. The structural pressure relating to the reduced size of the 
existing estate is to be the subject of a budgetary realignment in 2020-
21. In respect of investment property, the Council has recently 
purchased a site in Ilkley to generate additional rental income. 

 The above are partly offset by a £0.6m underspend in Catering & Office 
Services, and a £0.2m forecast underspend in the Energy Unit due to 
favourable winter weather to date. Approximately £0.3m of the Catering 
& Office Services underspend is due to one off savings, while the 
remainder is subject to a budget realignment for 2020-21. 

9.2 Revenues & Benefits

 Revenues & Benefits are forecasting a £1.5m underspend including £0.5m 
relating to benefits payments which is one off in nature. Additionally, £0.2m 
relates to short term in year savings on salaries due to vacancy control plus 
£0.2m on court costs and £0.1m on contracts. A further £0.3m underspend 
relates to the net in year impact of a reduction in unsubsidised overpayments 
and a knock on reduction in recovery income and bad debt provision. 

9.3 Legal & Democratic

 Legal and Democratic forecast overspend of £0.35m relates to increased 
expenditure for the Coronial function (which the Council contributes 55% 
towards); the cost of District elections postage, and an increase in Register 
Office staffing costs not met by forecast income. The staffing budget for the 
Coronial function has had to be increased to address the inadequate resources 
available and there has been an increase in the number of complex inquests 
and attendant legal challenges. The cost of postage for local elections has 
increased and is not funded nationally. The Register Office will be reviewing its 
scale of fees and charges.

9.4 Underspends in Finance & Procurement and ICT are mainly on salaries due to 
in year vacancies pending recruitment. All other areas are largely as budgeted.

Reserves

10.1 At 31st December 2019 reserves stand at £204.3m (Council £177.1m and 
Schools £27.2m). 

10.2 Net movements in reserves have led to a £1.9m decrease in total reserves from 
£206.2m at 30th September 2019 to £204.3m at 31st December 2019. At 31st 
December 2019 unallocated reserves stand at £10.3m. 

  Closing 
Balance 

 
 Closing 
Balance 

 Opening 
Balance 
2019-20

Net 
Movement

 Balance as 
at 31st Dec 

2019

Page 51



2017-18
 £m

2018-19
£m

£m  £m

Council reserves 127.8 181.6 181.6 -4.5 177.1
Schools Delegated budget 25.2 27.2 27.2 0.0 27.2
Total 153.0 208.8 208.8 -4.5 204.3

10.3 The £1.9m net decrease in reserves include: 

Releases from Reserves

£1,475k from Grant Reserves – Integration Delivery
£170k from Regional Growth Fund Reserve
£113k from Additional Costs of Projects Reserve
£38k from Schools Traded HR Services

Transfers to Reserves
None

Appendices 1&2 outline Council and Schools reserves.

School Balances
 
10.4 The table below shows that School Reserves (including Schools Contingencies) 

forecast position as at 31st of March 2020. The forecast is based on information 
submitted by school at the end of quarter two, schools do not report their 
quarter three financial position for 2019-20 until the end of January 2020. 

Balance 1st April 
2019

Balance 31st 
March 2020

Movement

Nos £000 Nos £000 Nos £000
Nursery 7 651 7 662 0 (11)
Primary 84 7,648 83 6,413 1 1,235
Secondary 7 (509) 6 (3,320) 1 2,811
Special 4 969 3 386 1 583
Pupil Referral Units (PRU) 6 432 4 134 2 298

Subtotal 108 9,191 103 4,275 5 4,916
School Contingency 17,541 21,060 0 (3,519)
Other Activities 544 287 0 257
Total 108 27,276 103 25,622 5 1,654

10.5 The school balances reserve is currently forecast to reduce by £1.7m in 2019-
20. There have been three schools (Carlton Bolling College, Delius and Oldfield 
Primary) that converted to academy status in 2019-20. Two Education in 
Hospital pupil referral units are now managed by the local authority from the 1st 
September 2019.

10.6 There are five schools (three primary, one secondary and one pupil referral 
units) currently in deficit with a combined deficit total of £4.7m. The main 
concern remains Hanson Secondary where the deficit balance is forecast to 
increase from £3.6m at the end of 2018-19 to £4.5m in 2019-20. 

10.7 In setting the 2019-20 Schools Budget, £2.9m of the School Contingency 
balance of £17.5m was allocated to support the overall schools budget from 

Page 52



April 2019 with the rest to support future year school budgets. 

Capital Expenditure

11.1 The Council continues to seek to deliver a large capital programme across the
District, which will provide improved facilities and infrastructure to support the 
delivery of the Council Plan.

11.2 Overall, the revised capital budget for the Capital Investment Plan is £554.1m. 
The reprofiled resource position for the 2019-20 Plan stands at £120.7m. To the 
end of December there has been total spend of £58.3m. A summary by service 
is shown below with a detailed monitor in Appendix 3.

Q2 Re 
profiled 
Budget 

2019-20 Changes

 Re 
profile 
Budget 

2019-20

Spend      
31 Dec 

2019
Budget 

20-21
Budget  
 21-22

Budget 
22-23 

onwards Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Health and Wellbeing 3.8 0.8 4.6 3.4 3.8 3.4 0 11.8

Children's Services 28.0 0 28.0 12.8 15.9 2.3 0 46.2

Place - Economy & Development 17.5 0 17.5 8.2 30.5 8.8 6.5 63.3

Place - Planning, Transportation & Highways 27.1 0.8 27.9 14.3 24.6 50.3 116.5 219.3

Place - Other 13.6 1.2 14.8 7.9 9.7 4.4 12.4 41.3

Corp Service – Estates & Property Services 14.4 2.6 17.0 11.7 4.3 0.1 0 21.4

TOTAL - Services 104.4 5.4 109.8 58.3 88.8 69.3 135.4 403.3

Reserve Schemes & Contingencies 12.8 -1.9 10.9 0 37.8 45.3 56.8 150.8

TOTAL 117.2 3.5 120.7 58.3 126.6 114.6 192.2 554.1

11.3 There has been an increase in the budget of £3.5m for 2019-20 and overall an 
increase of £4.0m. In Quarter 2 the capital programme underwent a review to 
analyse and challenge the current approved spending profiles. Challenge 
sessions were held with Directorates and schemes re-profiled between years to 
better reflect the year of spend. Following the previous review, the Quarter 3 
budget has not been amended unless new budgets have been approved by 
Executive or the scheme is directly funded by grant or revenue.       

11.4 The increase to budgets is made up of:

 £0.32m for Ilkley Parking scheme funded by revenue.  
 £0.8m for recreation schemes funded by grants and section 106 

contributions.
 £0.8m of new funding for Highways schemes 2020-21 onwards, including 

highways maintenance and bridge works. 
 £0.25m for the Waste Trommel included in this report. 

Also there are additional budgets for the following schemes that were reviewed 
and approved by Executive in November 2019 for inclusion in the Capital 
Programme. These are:
 £2.1m for the 2019-20 IT Capital Programme.
 £0.4m for works on Mitre Court to relocate the Schools Meals Central 

Production Unit to a smaller more efficient property.
 £0.3m to extend fitness facilities at Shipley Gym.
 
Capital Programme 2019-20 Update

Page 53



11.5 The latest forecast for expenditure for 2019-20 is £93.5m, compared to a 
revised budget of £120.7m. Spend to the end of December is £58.3m. A 
summary by service is shown below with a detailed monitor in Appendix 3. The 
capital programme underwent a review in Quarter 2 to challenge spending 
profiles. Schemes were re-profiled between years and slippage in to future 
years is expected to reduce compared to previous years.  

Budget, forecast and spend to date as at 31 December for 2019-20
Revised 
Budget  

2019-20

Annual 
Spend 

Forecast

Variance Spend          
31 Dec 

2019

Spend to 
date as a % 
of forecast

£m £m £m £m %

Health and Wellbeing 4.6 4.0 -0.6 3.4 85.0%

Children's Services 28.0 18.2 -9.8 12.8 70.3%

Place - Economy & Development 17.5 12.3 -5.2 8.3 67.5%

Place - Planning, Transportation & Highways 27.9 24.0 -3.9 14.2 59.2%

Place – Other 14.8 15.4 0.6 7.9 51.3%

Corporate Resources – Estates & Property 17.0 15.5 -1.5 11.7 75.5%

TOTAL - Services 109.8 89.4 -20.4 58.3 65.2%

Reserve Schemes & Contingencies 10.9 4.1 -6.8 0 0

TOTAL 120.7 93.5 -27.2 58.3 62.4%

11.6 There is a forecast capital programme variance of £27.2m between the budget
and the latest expenditure forecast. The projected underspend reflects in part 
the timing in delivery of some capital schemes.  The variation will be closely 
monitored and the final outturn position will be highly dependent on schemes 
both starting and continuing on schedule and delivering to plan. Scheme 
phasing will continue to be monitored to ensure that it is accurate and realistic. 

11.7 It should be noted that there are a number of significant elements of the
Corporate Property programme, such as the Strategic Acquisitions
programme, which are dependent on negotiations with third parties in order to
achieve a successful outcome for projects such as land acquisition. This
means that there is a risk that additional slippage could be required later in the 
year if the negotiations take longer than anticipated.

New Capital Schemes

11.8 The Project Appraisal Group (PAG) has considered the following capital bids 
and recommends their approval by Executive for inclusion in the Capital 
Investment Plan (CIP). 

Waste Trommel - £0.250m to purchase a static trammel. This is a  large 
rotating drum used as part of the process to sort recycling materials collected 
by the Council. This will enable an upgrade to Material Recycling Facility and 
reduce the waste and fines the Council receives on the dry materials recycling 
sent to a private contractor for further processing.

The purchase will be funded as an invest to save scheme with the savings, due 
to reduced fines, funding the annual capital financing costs. 
 

Capital Resources

Page 54



11.9 The capital programme is reviewed on an on-going basis to confirm the capital 
resources required to finance 2019-20 capital spend are in place and the
future years programme is fully funded. Whilst the capital programme remains 
affordable in 2019-20, a wider review will consider the continued affordability of 
debt costs in future years in the context of: planned expenditure and pressures 
in conjunction with the Council priorities; projections on interest rates; and the 
Council’s balance sheet to fund capital spend.

11.10 Capital receipts from the sale of fixed assets exceed £2m to date and the 
Council is expected to achieve the target of £3m in capital receipts for the year. 
The Council has received an additional £15.8m in capital grants and 
contributions so far this year.

11.11 £5.6m of loans have matured in July and August 2019 with an average rate of 
interest of 6.7% and a further £11.5m is due to mature in February 2020. To 
finance commitments in the capital plan £41m of new borrowing has been 
undertaken currently this year. Up to the 30th September £35m was borrowed 
and in this quarter two loans for £1.5m and £4.5m were completed on the 21st 
October. The average rate of interest on the two loans is 2.67%.

Council Tax and Business Rates Collection 

12.1 Regarding Council Tax and Business Rates, the Council will receive in 2019-20 
its budgeted shares. Any variance from the budget to the outturn is carried 
forward into 2020-21, so only impacts on next financial year.  Bradford has a 
share of a surplus on Council Tax (£0.9m) and Business Rates (£0.8m). This is 
already factored into the Financial Plan for 2020-21 (2 January 2020 
Executive).

12.2 Collection rates for Business Rates at the end of December were 79.1% (79.1% 
at December 2018), and 75.1% (75.1% at December 2018) for Council Tax. 
Collection rates for Council Tax and Business Rates are shown in the tables 
below. 

       Business Rates 

Business Rates Collection 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Number of Business Rates bills issued plus the number of summonses 31,595 26,253 23,856
CIS_034 (BV10) - Business Rates collected in year to 31 Dec  £000s 113,206 113,572 112,030
BV10 % Business Rates collected in year  to the 31 Dec 78.9% 79.03% 79.05%
Business Rates Collection Target at the 31 Dec 79% 79% 79%

       Council Tax

Council Tax Collection 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Council Tax - Dwellings administered 216,385 217,847 219,107

BV9 Council Tax collected in year to 31 Dec £000s 155,313 170,620 180,216
BV9 % of Council Tax Collected to 31 Dec 75.5% 75.17% 75.18%
Council Tax Collection Target at 31 Dec 75% 75% 75%

12.3 Council Tax is currently on target with a potential surplus, although this is less 
certain. 

Page 55



13.0 RISK MANAGEMENT

 The Financial risks of future known and uncertain liabilities are being addressed 
through contingencies and provisions outlined in this report.

 The Council’s risk register is provided in Appendix 4

14.0 LEGAL APPRAISAL

 This report is submitted to the Executive in accordance with the Budget and 
Policy Framework Procedure rules

15.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS

16.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY

None

16.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

None

16.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

None

16.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

None

16.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

None

16.6 TRADE UNION

None

16.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS

None

16.8 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

None

16.9 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT

None

16.10 NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

Page 56



None

17.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Executive

17.1 Note the contents of this report and the actions taken to manage the issues 
highlighted in the report.

17.2 Approve the following capital expenditure schemes as set out at paragraph 11.8 
of this report.

 £0.25m to purchase a Trommel for the sorting of recycling at the Bowling Back 
Lane site. This will be funded by the savings generated through a reduction in 
fines received by the Council.

 
18.0 APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Reserves Statement as at 31st December 2019
Appendix 2 Service Earmarked Reserves as at 31st December 2019 
Appendix 3 Capital Investment Plan
Appendix 4    Risk Register
 

19.0 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

 Qtr 2 Finance Position Statement 2019-20 – Executive 
 Qtr 1 Finance Position Statement 2019 -20 – Executive 9th July 2019
 2019-20 Finance Position Statement – Executive 9th July 2019
 Qtr 4 Finance Position Statement 2018-19 – Executive 2nd April 2019
 Recommendations from the Executive – Budget 2019-20 – Council 21st Feb 

2019

Page 57



Reserves Statement as at 31st December 2019           Appendix 1                                           

 
Opening Balance

£000

Movement in
 2019-20

£000

Closing  
Balance

£000 Comments

A. Reserves available to support the annual revenue budget  
Unallocated Corporate Reserves 10,300 0 10,300

Total available Unallocated Corporate 
Reserves 10,300 0 10,300  

     

B Corporate Earmarked Reserves to cover specific financial risk or fund specific programmes of work.
     

ESIF - STEP 241 0 241 Funding to support young 
and disadvantaged 
people into employment

Exempt VAT 2,000  0 2,000 Amount set aside to meet 
the estimated cost of VAT 
that the Council would not 
be able to recover should 
it exceed its partial 
exemption limit.

Trade Waste VAT refund 103 -103 0 £120k per annum to be 
used in 2015-16 onwards 
to contribute towards the 
cost of Financial Services.

PFI credits reserve 490 0 490 Funding to cover 
outstanding potential 
Building Schools for the 
Future liabilities.

Insurance 1,775 0 1,775 To mitigate and smooth 
the impact of any future 
increases in insurance 
premiums.

Industrial Centres of Excellence 1 -1 0  
Single Status 23 0 23 To cover any residual 

implementation of Single 
Status costs.

Better Use of Budgets 789 -789 0 To cover deferred spend 
on priority work from 
2018-19

Economic Partnership Reserve 157 0 157 To pump prime initiatives 
linked to the Council’s 
programme

Regional Growth Fund 4,222 -320 3,902 The Council’s revenue 
match funding for the 
Regional Growth Fund

Regional Revolving Investment Fund 625 0 625 Money set aside in 2013-
14 carried forward to meet 
the Council’s commitment 
to the Regional Revolving 
Investment Fund.

Discretionary Social Fund 1,622 0 1,622 To fund a replacement 
local welfare scheme 
following the government 
ending its Local Welfare 
Assistance grant 
programme at 31 March 
2015.

Transitional and Risk Reserve 16,759 -6,006 10,753 To help fund Transitional 
work, and cover risks.

Dilapidation & Demolition 1,388 0 1,388 At the end of a lease on a 
building, the Council will 
be liable for any 
dilapidations of the 
building. The Council also 
plans some demolition 
work.

Health Integration Reserves 222 -222 0 Available to fund projects 
that lead to greater 

Page 58



 
Opening Balance

£000

Movement in
 2019-20

£000

Closing  
Balance

£000 Comments
integration between the 
Council and its Health 
partners.

Match Fund Basic needs Grant 700 0 700
Strategic Site Assembly 698 -200 498
Implementation Reserve 2,557 0 2,557 To fund Projects 

associated with delivering  
savings plans.

Insurance Risk 1,893 0 1,893 Reduced Insurance 
provision, increased 
reserve.

NDR Volatility Reserve 2,735 0 2,735 Additional S31 grant to 
offset NDR deficit 
resulting from govt policy 

Council Tax Reserve 575 0 575
Redundancy Reserve 5,430 0 5,430 To provide for the costs of 

future redundancies
Review of Council’s MRP Policy 10 0 10 Professional advice on 

MRP policy
Review of Council’s Pension Guarantees 4 0 4
Leeds City Region WYTF 421 0 421 Contribution to WY 

Transport Fund
Leeds City Region Economic Development 402 0 402

Financing Reserve 47,401 6,520 53,921 MRP policy changed to 
annuity method. The 
reserve to be used to fund 
higher MRP costs in 
future years.

Financing Reserve 2019/20 1,000 0 1,000
Markets Compensation 360 0 360

ICT Programmes Budget 4,951 0 4,951 To fund future ICT 
projects

Finance Works Reserve 56 0 56
Sub Total 99,610 -1,121 98,489  
C. Reserves to support capital investment   

Renewal and replacement 5,137 0 5,137

Markets 390 0 390 Cumulative Market trading 
surpluses to be re-invested 
in maintaining market 
buildings throughout the 
district.

Sub total 5,527 0 5,527  

D. Service Earmarked Reserves 32,473 -1,204 31,269  See Appendix 2

E. Revenue Grant Reserves 18,636 -2,226 16,410  

F General Reserves
    

General Fund 15,000 0 15,000 The GF balance acts as a 
necessary contingency 
against unforeseen events.  
The balance at 31st March 
represents a minimum of 
2.5% of the Council's 
budget requirement in line 
with council policy and the 
general advice of External 
Auditors. 

Schools delegated budget 27,276 0 27,276 Represents in the main 
balances held by schools 
as part of delegated 
budget responsibility.  
These balances are not 

Page 59



 
Opening Balance

£000

Movement in
 2019-20

£000

Closing  
Balance

£000 Comments
available for Council use 
but are balances 
attributable to individual 
schools.

Sub Total General Fund Reserve & School 
balances 42,276  0 42,276  

Grand total 208,822 -4,551 204,271  

Page 60



Appendix 2         
Departmental Earmarked Reserves Statement at 31st December 2019                   
 

Opening 
Balance

£000

Movement in 
2019-20

£000
Latest Balance

£000 Comments
Adult and Community Services    
Supporting People 754 0 754 Funding to support invest 

to save projects
Integrated Care 838 -170 668 NHS and Council  monies 

used to support ring 
fenced projects  and 
integration of health and 
social care

Great Places to Grow Old 232 0 232 Funding to cover 
management and staffing 
costs linked to the 
transformation of services 
for older people. 

Care Act Reserve 368 0 368 To support the 
implementation of the 
Care Act

Public Health 59 0 59 Help Support Living Well 
Service implementation

Total Adult and Community Services 2,251 -170 2,081  

Children Services     

BSF Unitary Charge 7,852 0 7,852 These reserves are being 
built up to ensure that in 
the future there is 
sufficient money available 
to meet the cost of BSF 
annual contract payments 
when the PFI grant the 
Council receives reduces

BSF Unitary Charge Phase 2 5,747 0 5,747 See above

Travel Training Unit 331 0 331
Early Help Enabler Support 397 0 397 To help support Early 

Help programme

Early Help Workforce Development 34 0 34
Retail Academy (Skills for Employment) 338 0 338 Skills for work

Prevention & Early Help 500 0 500 To fund time limited 
Prevention & Early Help 
Worl

SEND Inspection Resource 194 0 194

One Workforce Reserve 641 0 641

Creative Skills 187 0 187

ICE Advanced Skills 105 0 105

Training Work Programme (Skills for Work) 663 0 663 Skills for Work

Total Children 16,989  0 16,989  

Department of Place
    

Marley & other pitch and gyms 106 0 106 To provide match funding 
under the terms of grants 
given to maintain Sports 
and Leisure venues 
across the District

City centre regeneration 51 0 51 Delivery of City Centre 
Growth Zone 

Customer Service Strategy 46 -17 29 Non recurring investment 
to be used to fund the 
Customer Service 
Strategy.

Page 61



 

Opening 
Balance

£000

Movement in 
2019-20

£000
Latest Balance

£000 Comments
Taxi Licensing 499 0 499 Statutory requirement to 

set aside any taxi 
licensing surplus when 
setting future fees.

Theatres Box Office 346 0 346 Work associated with the 
restoration of St Georges 
Hall and signage at the 
Alhambra 

Cricket Pitch Refurbishment 310 -310 0 Maintenance & 
improvement work 
associated with 6 Council 
owned cricket pitches.

Culture Service Transition 76 0 76 To cover costs associated 
with modernising the 
service and adopting a 
different service delivery 
model.

HLF Building Maintenance 10 -10 0 A condition of the HLF 
grant is that an asset 
management programme 
is in place to maintain 
Manningham Library to a 
specified standard. 

Torex 10 0 10 To address e-Govt targets 
and improve service 
delivery.

Tourism reserve 15 0 15 To develop a new model 
of volunteer tourism.

Culture Company 73 0 73 Help create a Culture 
Company

Gym Equipment 133 0 133 To fund replacement gym 
equipment in Sports 
Facilities

Museum Restoration 76 0 76

Council Housing Reserve 790 0 790 To meet future costs 
associated with later 
stages of the affordable 
housing programme

Housing Development Programme 75 0 75 Fee income generated to 
be used to subsidise the 
delivery of projects in 
future years.  

Bradford District Improvement District 9 0 9 Development and 
enablement costs for 
establishment of BIDs

HMO Licencing Scheme 383 0 383 A statutory requirement 
that fees can only be 
generated and retained 
within the HMO licensing 
function. 

VCS Transformation Fund 362 0 362 Developing peer to peer 
solutions to building 
capacity within the VCS

Tree & Woodland Planting Fund 76 0 76 District wide Tree & 
Woodland planting fund 
as part of Woodland 
Strategy. 

City Park Sinking Fund 812 0 812 Funding set aside to meet 
the lifetime maintenance 
costs of City Park.

European Structural Investment Programme 1,463 0 1,463 Used as match funding 
for ESIf and future WYCA 
calls for enterprise activity

Empty Rates Relief Scheme 500 0 500 Supporting Business 
Growth

Private Housing Rented Option 200 0 200 Landlord incentives

Homelessness prevention 283 0 283 To fund initiatives to 
prevent Homelessness.

Page 62



 

Opening 
Balance

£000

Movement in 
2019-20

£000
Latest Balance

£000 Comments
District Tenants Federation 30 0 30 Funding committed to 

provide support to District 
Tenants Federation 

Clergy House/Jermyn Court 88 0 88 Set aside for lifetime 
maintenance costs of  
Clergy House/Jermyn 
Court

Cold Weather Calculator 11 0 11 Licence costs over 
several years

Fresh Start 412 0 412 Housing project focussing 
on offenders

Complex Needs Project 280 0 280 Project to support hard to 
place vulnerable 
homeless people

B&B Emergency Contingency 261 0 261 Contingency for 
temporary 
accommodation/B&B 
expenditure

Housing Options IT System 173 0 173 Housing IT

PT&H Local Plan 216 0 216 To complete the local 
plan

PT&H Local Plan Transport Modelling 250 0 250 To complete the local 
plan

Ad:venture & community enterprise Reserve 83 0 83 Match funding for a Leeds 
City Region business 
support project.

Economic Strategy Reserve 186 0 186 For delivery of the 
Economic growth 
strategy.

Bereavement Strategy 91 0 91 Procurement of external 
specialist support to 
complete the feasibility 
stage of the Bereavement 
Strategy

Housing Development Growth Fund 500 0 500

Well England Reserve 100 0 100 Programme provides a 
range of initiatives to 
support Health & 
Wellbeing in Girlington, 
Holme Wood and 
Keighley.

Department of Place 9,385 -337 9,048

Corporate Resources     

Schools Traded HR Reserves 147 -38 109 To mitigate the risk of 
changes in customer 
base.

Workforce Development 122 0 122 Changing the 
organisation - vision & 
values, recruitment & 
selection, development of 
managers, performance 
management,
leadership & succession 
planning.

District Elections 208 0 208 To smooth the cost of 
District Elections over a 

Page 63



 

Opening 
Balance

£000

Movement in 
2019-20

£000
Latest Balance

£000 Comments
four year period.

Non Council Events programme 10 0 10 To support events put on 
by non-Council.

Community Support and Innovation Fund 322 0 322

To support community led 
service provision and 
investment in initiatives 
that engage with 
vulnerable people.

Subsidy Claim 600 0 600

Contingent support set 
aside to address the 
fluctuations in the subsidy 
claims.

Revs & Bens Recovery Costs 211 0 211 Legal fees linked to 
Council Tax.

UC Admin Reserve 546 -546 0

To help cover the cost of 
the implementation of 
universal credit 
administration.

Additional cost of Estate projects including 
legal and 3rd party costs Reserve

350 -113 237

ISG over achievement trading reserve 51 0 51 To support ISG

Bradford Learning Network (Broadband) 313 0 313 Balancing reserve related 
to Schools Broadband 
Contract

Estates CAT Support 228 0 228 Residual funding for on-
going programme 
promoting and facilitating 
community asset 
transfers

Payroll Reserve 100 0 100

Central Admin Estates Security 100 0 100 To cover costs of 
covering 
emergency/critical alert 
requirements

Energy unit 540 0 540 To help smooth effect of 
price spikes.

Total Corporate Resources 3,848 -697 3,151  

Total Service Earmarked Reserves 32,473 -1,204 31,269

Page 64



37

Appendix 3

Capital Executive Report Funding

Scheme 
No Scheme Description

Q2  2019-
20 

Budget 
Exec 

Oct19
Q3 New 
projects

Revised 
at Q3 

2019-20 
Budget Forecast

Spend               
31 Dec19

Budget 
2020-21

Budget 
2021-22 

  Budget 
2022-23

  Budget 
2023-24 

& 
onwards

Specific 
Grants,       

cap 
receipts, 
reserves

Invest to 
Save 

Funding
Corporate 
Borrowing

Budget 
Total

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Health and Wellbeing        
CS0237a Great Places to Grow Old 0 0 0 0 0 2,000 3,000 0 0 0 0 5,000 5,000
CS0237b Keighley Rd Extra Care Fletcher Court 1,402 800 2,202 2,000 1,928 200 0 0 0 996 1,406 0 2,402

CS0237c Keighley Rd Residential Care Valley 
View 988 0 988 839 665 200 0 0 0 0 1,188 0 1,188

CS0373 BACES DFG 980 0 980 700 506 443 443 0 0 1,866 0 0 1,866
CS0239 Community Capacity Grant 50 0 50 86 34 936 0 0 0 986 0 0 986
CS0311 Autism Innovation Capital Grant 19 0 19 19 0 0 0 0 0 19 0 0 19
CS0312 Integrated IT system 90 0 90 90 0 0 0 0 0 90 0 0 90
CS0352 Electric vehicle charging infrastructure 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1
CS0451 The Third Place 250 0 250 250 250 0 0 0 0 250 0 0 250

Total - Health and Wellbeing 3,780 800 4,580 3,985 3,383 3,779 3,443 0 0 4,208 2,594 5,000 11,802

       
Children's Services        
CS0249 Schools DRF 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CS0278 Targeted Basic Needs 33 0 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 33 0 0 33
CS0286 Outdoor Learning Centres 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CS0022 Devolved Formula Capital 2,685 0 2,685 2,690 2,690 0 0 0 0 2,685 0 0 2,685
CS0030 Capital Improvement Work 626 0 626 550 116 0 0 0 0 626 0 0 626
CS0240 Capital Maintenance Grant 1,000 0 1,000 522 332 0 0 0 0 1,000 0 0 1,000
CS0240b Capital Maintenance Grant 3,870 0 3,870 3,685 2,373 0 0 0 0 3,870 0 0 3,870
CS0240c School Cap Inv Prog 19-20 2,002 0 2,002 132 138 1,002 0 0 0 3,004 0 0 3,004
CS0244a Primary Schools Expansion Progr 5,600 0 5,600 3,000 1,855 1,429 0 0 0 7,029 0 0 7,029
CS0244b Silsden Sch £7.265m Exec 12/04/16 3,424 0 3,424 1,000 107 6,337 465 0 0 10,226 0 0 10,226
CS0244c SEN School Expansions 2,363 0 2,363 1,800 901 3,600 0 0 0 5,963 0 0 5,963
CS0362 Secondary School Expansion 6,198 0 6,198 4,700 4,329 3,500 1,798 0 0 11,496 0 0 11,496
CS0377 LA SEN Free School 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CS0421 Healthy Pupil Capital Grant 227 0 227 113 1 0 0 0 0 227 0 0 227

Total - Children's Services 28,028 0 28,028 18,192 12,842 15,868 2,263 0 0 46,159 0 0 46,159

P
age 65



38

Capital Executive Report Funding

Scheme 
No Scheme Description

Q2  2019-
20 

Budget 
Exec 

Oct19
Q3 New 
projects

Revised 
at Q3 

2019-20 
Budget Forecast

Spend               
31 Dec19

Budget 
2020-21

Budget 
2021-22 

  Budget 
2022-23

  Budget 
2023-24 

& 
onwards

Specific 
Grants,       

cap 
receipts, 
reserves

Invest to 
Save 

Funding
Corporate 
Borrowing

Budget 
Total

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Place - Economy & Development Services        
CS0134 Computerisation of Records 10 0 10 10 10 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 10
CS0136 Disabled Housing Facilities Grant 5,575 0 5,575 4,500 2,896 5,753 2,028 4,392 0 12,748 0 5,000 17,748
CS0137 Development of Equity Loans 1,000 0 1,000 1,000 609 1,200 1,195 1,211 0 2,576 0 2,030 4,606
CS0144 Empty Private Sector Homes Strat 1,206 0 1,206 1,206 542 825 825 831 0 0 0 3,687 3,687
CS0225 Afford Housing Prog 11-15 0 0 0 62 62 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CS0308 Afford Housing Prog 15 -18 2,021 0 2,021 2,521 1,907 500 0 0 0 0 2,521 0 2,521
CS0380 Afford Housing Prog 18-21 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CS0250 Goitside 1 0 1 0 0 177 0 0 0 0 0 178 178
CS0280 Temp Housing Clergy House 55 0 55 55 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 55 55
CS0335 Bfd Cyrenians 255-257 Mnghm Ln 9 0 9 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 9
CS0084 City Park 192 0 192 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 192 192
CS0085 City Centre Growth Zone 1,720 0 1,720 200 114 4,400 0 0 0 0 0 6,120 6,120
CS0189 Buck Lane 53 0 53 90 78 0 0 0 0 0 0 53 53
CS0228 Canal Road 100 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 100

CS0241 Re-use of Frmr College Builds Kghly 570 0 570 220 214 0 0 0 0 0 0 570 570

CS0266 Superconnected Cities 846 0 846 25 17 0 0 0 0 0 0 846 846

CS0446 Staithgate La Enterprise Zone site  
Investigation works 85 0 85 85 0 0 0 0 0 85 0 0 85

CS0291 One City Park (fmr Tyrls) 0 0 0 0 0 4,800 0 0 0 4,800 0 0 4,800
CS0265 LCR Revolving Econ Invest Fund 625 0 625 0 0 0 0 0 0 625 0 0 625
CS0345 Develop Land at Crag Rd, Shply 43 0 43 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 43 43
CS0107 Markets  26 0 26 26 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 26 26
CS0363 Markets Red'mnt - City Cntr 2,779 0 2,779 2,200 1,796 11,850 4,760 0 0 1,260 4,371 13,758 19,389

CS0363b Markets Red'mnt - City Cntr Public 
Realm 596 0 596 50 0 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 1,596 1,596

       

Total - Place - Economy & Development Services 17,512 0 17,512 12,264 8,251 30,505 8,808 6,434 0 22,104 6,892 34,263 63,259

       

P
age 66



39

Capital Executive Report Funding

Scheme 
No Scheme Description

Q2  2019-
20 

Budget 
Exec 

Oct19
Q3 New 
projects

Revised 
at Q3 

2019-20 
Budget Forecast

Spend               
31 Dec19

Budget 
2020-21

Budget 
2021-22 

  Budget 
2022-23

  Budget 
2023-24 

& 
onwards

Specific 
Grants,       

cap 
receipts, 
reserves

Invest to 
Save 

Funding
Corporate 
Borrowing

Budget 
Total

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Place - Planning, Transportation & Highways        
CS0131 Kghly Town Cntr Heritage Initi 151 0 151 0 0 0 0 0 0 151 0 0 151
CS0178 Ilkley Moor 14 0 14 14 0 0 0 0 0 14 0 0 14
CS0179 Landscape Environ Imp 21 0 21 0 0 0 0 0 0 21 0 0 21
CS0285 Strategic Development Fund 1,167 0 1,167 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,167 1,167
CS0071 Highways S106 Projects 149 100 249 300 10 300 0 0 0 549 0 0 549
CS0372 Countryside S106 Projects 126 100 226 300 10 300 0 0 0 526 0 0 526
CS0091 Capital Highway Maint 5,006 0 5,006 5,006 4,016 0 0 0 0 5,006 0 0 5,006
CS0095 Bridges 200 0 200 700 647 0 0 0 0 200 0 0 200
CS0096 Street Lighting 132 0 132 132 62 0 0 0 0 132 0 0 132
CS0099 Integrated Transport 140 0 140 140 39 0 0 0 0 140 0 0 140
CS0164 Local Intgrtd Transp Area Com 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CS0168 Connecting the City (Westfield) 15 0 15 19 0 0 0 0 0 15 0 0 15
CS0172 Saltaire R/bout Cong& Safety Works 279 0 279 0 0 0 0 0 0 279 0 0 279
CS0252 Measures to Support Hubs 45 0 45 0 0 0 0 0 0 45 0 0 45
CS0264 Highway to Health 0 0 0 437 437 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CS0282 Highways Strategic Acquisi 176 0 176 0 0 0 0 0 0 176 0 0 176
CS0289 Local Pinch Point Fund 495 0 495 0 0 0 0 0 0 495 0 0 495
CS0293 West Yorks & York Transport Fund 7,529 0 7,529 6,615 2,794 4,273 30,386 93,147 0 135,335 0 0 135,335
CS0396 WYTF Corr Imp Projects 218 550 768 1,476 893 5,720 5,077 0 0 11,015 0 550 11,565
CS0296 Pothole Funds 431 0 431 490 241 0 0 0 0 431 0 0 431
CS0306a Strategic Transp Infrastr Priority 1,090 0 1,090 0 0 1,690 0 0 0 0 0 2,780 2,780
CS0302 Highways Prop Liab Redn Strat 97 0 97 30 30 0 0 0 0 97 0 0 97
CS0310 Clean Vehicle Technology Fund 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3
CS0317 VMS Signage 39 0 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 39 0 0 39
CS0319 Challenge Fund 425 0 425 1,111 1,100 0 0 0 0 425 0 0 425
CS0323 Flood Risk Mgmt 30 0 30 90 38 0 0 0 0 30 0 0 30
CS0325 Street Lighting Invest to Save 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CS0329 Damens County Park 106 0 106 106 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 106 106

CS0332 Flood Funding 6 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 6

CS0334 Air Quality Monitoring Equip 9 0 9 9 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 9

P
age 67



40

Capital Executive Report Funding

Scheme 
No Scheme Description

Q2  2019-
20 

Budget 
Exec 

Oct19
Q3 New 
projects

Revised 
at Q3 

2019-20 
Budget Forecast

Spend               
31 Dec19

Budget 
2020-21

Budget 
2021-22 

  Budget 
2022-23

  Budget 
2023-24 

& 
onwards

Specific 
Grants,       

cap 
receipts, 
reserves

Invest to 
Save 

Funding
Corporate 
Borrowing

Budget 
Total

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
CS0350 Street Lighting Invest to Save 312 0 312 312 30 0 0 0 0 0 312 0 312
CS0365 National Productivity Invest Fund 3 0 3 43 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3
CS0370 LTP IP3 Safer Roads 1,619 0 1,619 124 21 0 0 0 0 1,619 0 0 1,619
CS0371 LTP IP3 Public Transport 247 0 247 225 225 0 0 0 0 247 0 0 247
CS0375 Sign Shop 19 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 0 19
CS0379 NPIF UTMC 1,247 0 1,247 1,247 938 0 0 0 0 1,247 0 0 1,247
CS0386 Cycling & Walking Schemes LTP3 18 0 18 18 1 0 0 0 0 18 0 0 18
CS0414 LTP IP3 Safer Rds 214 0 214 206 223 0 0 0 0 214 0 0 214
CS0398 Bfd City Ctre Townscape Herit 500 0 500 100 0 1,115 845 290 0 2,500 0 250 2,750
CS0430 Hwys Maint Fund Oct18 2,553 0 2,553 2,553 1,927 0 0 0 0 2,553 0 0 2,553
CS0432 Steeton/Silsden Crossing 189 0 189 110 56 0 0 0 0 189 0 0 189
CS0423 Highways IT upgrade 83 0 83 83 33 0 0 0 0 0 83 0 83
CS0433 Gain Lane / Leeds Rd Jct 30 0 30 30 0 0 0 0 0 30 0 0 30
CS0450 CILS payments 0 0 0 40 40 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CS0453 IP3 Safer Rds 1920 120 0 120 120 2 0 0 0 0 120 0 0 120

CS0454 Area Comm ITS 1920 660 0 660 660 203 0 0 0 0 660 0 0 660
CS0434 Smart Street Lighting 209 0 209 209 80 9,595 12,760 11,940 11,080 0 45,584 0 45,584
CS0455 IP4  projects 828 0 828 777 125 1,258 1,201 0 0 3,287 0 0 3,287
CA0456 WY Integrated UTMC Centre 200 0 200 200 33 432 0 0 0 632 0 0 632

       

Total Place - Planning, Transportation & Highways 27,150 750 27,900 24,032 14,254 24,683 50,269 105,377 11,080 168,478 45,998 4,853 219,309

Dept of Place - Waste, Fleet & Transport        
CS0060 Replacement of Vehicles 3,000 0 3,000 5,000 701 3,000 3,000 3,000 0 0 12,000 0 12,000
CS0063 Waste Infrastructure & Recycling 26 0 26 26 16 0 0 0 0 26 0 0 26
CS0283 Above Ground Fuel Storage 22 0 22 35 35 0 0 0 0 0 0 22 22
CS0438 Harris St Fencing 59 0 59 68 68 0 0 0 0 0 0 59 59
CS0435 Sugden End Landfill Site 856 0 856 150 62 1,105 0 0 0 0 0 1,961 1,961
CS0415 Shearbridge Depot Security 100 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 100

CS0416 Fleet Management IT systems 
upgrade 39 0 39 39 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 39 39

P
age 68



41

Capital Executive Report Funding

Scheme 
No Scheme Description

Q2  2019-
20 

Budget 
Exec 

Oct19
Q3 New 
projects

Revised 
at Q3 

2019-20 
Budget Forecast

Spend               
31 Dec19

Budget 
2020-21

Budget 
2021-22 

  Budget 
2022-23

  Budget 
2023-24 

& 
onwards

Specific 
Grants,       

cap 
receipts, 
reserves

Invest to 
Save 

Funding
Corporate 
Borrowing

Budget 
Total

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

CS0417 Keighley Transfer Loading Station 
electrical systems 34 0 34 34 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 34 34

       

Total Place - Waste, Fleet & Transport 4,136 0 4,136 5,352 902 4,105 3,000 3,000 0 26 12,000 2,215 14,241

Dept of Place - Neighbourhoods & Customer Services       
CS0066 Ward Investment Fund 35 0 35 35 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 35 35
CS0132 Community Hubs 25 0 25 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 25
CS0378 Cust Serv Strategy 158 0 158 158 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 158 158
CS0359 Community Resilience Grant 18 0 18 18 0 0 0 0 0 18 0 0 18

CS0462 Ilkley Parking scheme £320k Invest to 
Save 0 100 100 300 250 220 0 0 0 0 320 0 320

       

Total Place - Neighbourhoods & Customer Services 236 100 336 536 250 220 0 0 0 18 320 218 556

Dept of Place - Sports & Culture        
CS0151 Building Safer Commun 47 0 47 47 0 0 0 0 0 47 0 0 47

CS0328 Cliffe Castle Various 15 0 15 15 0 0 0 0 0 15 0 0 15

CS0430 Cartwright Hall Café 105 0 105 105 105 0 0 0 0 0 105 0 105
CS0340 St George's Hall -176 0 -176 400 199 0 0 0 0 0 0 -176 -176
CS0129 Scholemoor Project 0 0 0 0 0 0 83 0 0 83 0 0 83
CS0162 Capital Projects - Recreation 247 355 602 506 117 440 0 0 0 1,042 0 0 1,042
CS0229 Cliffe Castle Restoration 110 0 110 91 89 10 10 0 0 130 0 0 130
CS0347 Park Ave Cricket Ground 7 0 7 45 3 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 7
CS0004 S106 Recreation 0 0 0 100 37 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CS0367 King George V Playing Fields 0 0 0 0 0 200 820 0 0 700 0 320 1,020

CS0403 Bereavement Strategy - Consultants 
Fees 400 0 400 400 369 341 0 0 0 91 0 650 741

CS0277 Wyke Manor Sports Dev - demolitn 177 0 177 427 278 0 0 0 0 177 0 0 177
CS0277b Wyke Manor Ph2 Sports Dev 739 0 739 0 0 4,000 523 0 0 2,600 0 2,662 5,262
CS0245 Doe Park 37 0 37 0 0 0 0 0 0 37 0 0 37

P
age 69



42

Capital Executive Report Funding

Scheme 
No Scheme Description

Q2  2019-
20 

Budget 
Exec 

Oct19
Q3 New 
projects

Revised 
at Q3 

2019-20 
Budget Forecast

Spend               
31 Dec19

Budget 
2020-21

Budget 
2021-22 

  Budget 
2022-23

  Budget 
2023-24 

& 
onwards

Specific 
Grants,       

cap 
receipts, 
reserves

Invest to 
Save 

Funding
Corporate 
Borrowing

Budget 
Total

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
CS0459 Ilkley Lido Tank 0 460 460 460 0 0 0 0 0 0 115 345 460
CS0461 Shipley Gym extension & equipment 0 305 305 305 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 305 305
CS0458 Doe Park Drainage 0 40 40 40 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 40 40
CS0356 Sedbergh SFIP 7,479 0 7,479 6,579 5,579 408 0 0 0 0 0 7,887 7,887
CS0354 Squire Lane Sports Facility 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,300 7,100 0 0 9,400 9,400

       

Total - Dept of Place - Sports & Culture 9,187 1,160 10,347 9,520 6,776 5,399 1,436 2,300 7,100 4,929 220 21,433 26,582

           
Corp Resources - Estates & Property Services        

CS0094 Property Programme (bworks) 200 0 200 0 0 300 0 0 0 0 0 500 500

CS0333 Argus Chambers / Britannia Hse 218 0 218 170 29 500 0 0 0 0 0 718 718
CS0366 Property Programme 17-18 0 0 0 0 -19 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CS0391 Property Programme 18-19 1,022 0 1,022 880 759 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,022 1,022

CS0443 Property Programme 19-20 1,580 -950 630 1,580 452 424 0 0 0 0 0 1,054 1,054
CS0230 Beechgrove Allotments 148 0 148 148 0 0 0 0 0 148 0 0 148
CS0050 Carbon Management 900 0 900 900 113 261 0 0 0 0 0 1,161 1,161
CS0305 Healthy Heating Scheme 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CS0420 Electric vehicle charging infrastructure 200 0 200 200 115 0 0 0 0 200 0 0 200
CS0385 ULEV Taxi scheme LTP3 50 0 50 50 0 0 0 0 0 50 0 0 50
CS2000 DDA 50 0 50 30 0 50 62 59 0 0 0 221 221
CS0361 Strategic Acquisitions 6,540 0 6,540 6,540 6,541 0 0 0 0 0 6,540 0 6,540
CS0381 Godwin St 1,964 0 1,964 1,700 1,332 1,000 0 0 0 2,964 0 0 2,964
CS0409 Coroner's Court and Accommodation 650 0 650 550 505 1,700 0 0 0  0 0 2,350 2,350
CS0383 Jacobs Well demolition 255 0 255 255 163 0 0 0 0 0 0 255 255
CS0427 Coroner's Equipment 600 0 600 600 288 0 0 0 0 0 0 600 600
CS0460 Mitre Court CPU Property & Equip 0 1,400 1,400 0 0 0 0 0 0 450 0 950 1,400
CS0457 Simpson Green - roof 0 25 25 25 0 30 0 0 0 0 0 55 55
CS0445 Core IT Infrastructure 1920 0 2,100 2,100 1,850 1,396 0 0 0 0 2,100 0 0 2,100

       

Total Corp Resources – Estates & Property Services 14,377 2,575 16,952 15,478 11,674 4,265 62 59 0 5,912 6,540 8,886 21,338

       

P
age 70



43

Capital Executive Report Funding

Scheme 
No Scheme Description

Q2  2019-
20 

Budget 
Exec 

Oct19
Q3 New 
projects

Revised 
at Q3 

2019-20 
Budget Forecast

Spend               
31 Dec19

Budget 
2020-21

Budget 
2021-22 

  Budget 
2022-23

  Budget 
2023-24 

& 
onwards

Specific 
Grants,       

cap 
receipts, 
reserves

Invest to 
Save 

Funding
Corporate 
Borrowing

Budget 
Total

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Reserve Schemes & Contingencies
CS0395 General Contingency 442 -55 387 387 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 0 0 3,387 3,387
CS0397 Essential Maintenance Prov 0 0 0 0 0 2,000 2,000 2,000 0 0 0 6,000 6,000
CS0399 Strategic Acquisition 3,460 0 3,460 3,460 0 10,000 10,000 10,000 0 0 33,460 0 33,460
CS0403 Bereavement Strategy 0 0 0 0 0 1,755 10,845 0 0 0 0 12,600 12,600
CS0403b Muslim Burial Ground 0 0 0 0 0 500 500 0 0 0 0 1,000 1,000
CS0403c Oakworth Crematorium 0 0 0 250 0 2,500 250 0 0 0 0 2,750 2,750
CS0403d Heaton Crematorium 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CS0403e Brierley Crematorium 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CS0306c Strategic Acq - Highways 550 -550 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CS0400 Keighley One Public Sector Est 500 0 500 0 0 4,000 4,000 9,500 0 0 18,000 0 18,000
CS0402 Canal Road Land Assembly 450 0 450 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 450 450
CS0401 Depots 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,000 0 0 0 0 3,000 3,000
CS0404 Sports Pitches 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,733 4,248 4,250 2,400 0 7,831 10,231
CS0404b Playgrounds 0 0 0 0 0 750 1,500 2,750 0 0 0 5,000 5,000
CS0405 City Hall / RFL 0 0 0 0 0 3,000 3,000 4,000 0 2,000 5,000 3,000 10,000
CS0407 Affordable Housing 3,845 0 3,845 0 0 3,803 5,500 16,076 0 14,430 14,794 0 29,224
CS0408 Top of town 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,000 0 0 0 3,000 3,000
CS0410 Godwin St (fmr Odeon) 2,000 0 2,000 0 0 7,500 2,000 0 0 0 11,500 0 11,500
CS0413 LD Home - Branshaw 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CS0436 Childrens Home (A) 200 0 200 0 0 300 0 0 0 0 500 0 500
CS0437 Childrens Home (B) 100 0 100 0 0 400 0 0 0 0 0 500 500
CS0459 Ilkley Lido Tank 460 -460 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CS0458 Doe Park Drainage 40 -40 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CS0237 Bronte Residential 800 -800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CS0463 Waste Trommel 0 0 0 0 0 250 0 0 0 0 250 0 250

Total - Reserve Schemes & Contingencies 12,847 -1,905 10,942 4,097 0 37,758 45,328 52,574 4,250 18,830 83,504 48,518 150,852

TOTAL - All Services 117,253 3,480 120,733 93,456 58,331 126,582 114,609 169,744 22,430 270,644 158,068 125,386 554,098

P
age 71



44

Corporate Risk Register January 2020

Risk Status

Alert

High Risk

Warning

OK

Unknown

  

    

Risk Code & Title CRR_New_BCM Critical facilities Current Risk Matrix

Description

Critical facilities - premises, IT & communication systems, key staff resource - become 
unavailable 
Disruption of services and infrastructure arising from a civil contingency or business 
continuity incident. 
Loss of IT infrastructure following CyberAttack

Potential Effect of risk

The Council is unable to function - some or all delivery priorities jeopardised. 
The Council is unable to meet its Corporate targets 
The reputational risk to the Council is adversely effected 
The welfare and safety of the Council’s citizens is at risk 
Increasing incidence and impact of service interruption events.
Failure of business-critical systems 
Climate incident - extreme weather, flooding 
Civil unrest. 
Hostile act 
Work streams are dictated by the Community Risk Register
Severe business disruption following loos of IT systems including public facing websites following Cyber Attack

P
age 72



45

The Risk score has increased from C iii to B ii specifically following the last CyberAttack (January 2020)

Internal Controls

All services have in place a business continuity plan which are collated by the Emergency Management Team annually. These plans are 
owned by the relevant Service Assistant Director
Plans identify a list of critical and statutory functions for their service (Annex A), Generic Actions (B) and Specific Action to take in 
relation to identified risks (C). 
Services' Business Continuity Plans which must be reviewed annually by the Assistant Director (or a nominated deputy) as the plan 
owner. 
These plans will be reviewed by the Emergency Management Team 
The Emergency Management Team coordinates the Councils approach to an incident/emergency and lead on the requirements of the 
Civil Contingencies Act 2004. The act lists 7 areas of responsibility which are to make risk assessments, create emergency plans, 
communicate with the public, co-operate with other responding organisations, share information with other responders, make our own 
business continuity arrangements and promote business continuity to businesses.  
7 duties are covered in key work area sub groups and one of these groups is the Training and Exercising Group. They regularly develop 
exercises where plans are tested in a range of scenarios, such as incidents caused by bad weather, a CBRN (chemical, biological, 
radiological and nuclear) event, flooding, resource sharing etc. These events are sometimes “live” but may also be table top. Different 
injects are added during the day and the outcomes debriefed for lessons identified 
Service on call 24 hours per day, 365 days a year and are responsible for co-coordinating the Council’s approach in an incident or 
emergency situation.  
In place a range of plans which include contingencies for extreme weather, flooding, evacuation, rest centre/humanitarian assistance 
centres and Emergency Management Plan, to name but a few. These plans are exercised and tested regularly and lessons identified are 
included in plan reviews. 
Disaster Recovery site away from the City which houses secondary servers which would be switched over to from the Councils servers in 
the City Centre should there be an incident affecting these. 
IT Services have a recovery plan for re-instating IT infrastructure following CyberAttack  

Actions/controls under 
development

Following staff changes within the Emergency Planning Service, a revised plan format has been developed to make them simpler and 
more useable. Emergency Planning are working with identified service leads to review/reformat plans into the new style. Draft plans 
were requested by 17th January 2019 and final plans in place and signed off by AD's by 31 March 2019. Annual reviews will commence 
March 2020. A training and exercise programme will be developed to support the annual review process

IT Services corporate IT recovery plan in event of CyberAttack or similar needs further development

Ownership Managed By Susan Spink / Chris Chapman (IT infrastructure)

    

Risk Code & Title CRR_New_Hsg 2 Inadequate housing supply in terms of quality, accessibility 
and affordability. Current Risk Matrix

P
age 73



46

Description

Changing demographics and demand pressures, changes in national policy (especially as 
relating to affordable housing) and a period of reduced housing construction, leads to an 
inadequate housing supply in terms of type, quality, accessibility and affordability. This 
will impede the Council’s progress towards the corporate priority of decent homes that 
people can afford to live in. In March 2019 MHCLG published guidance which requires 
Local Authorities to open a Housing Revenue Account (HRA) where their stock exceeds 
200 units. Finance is considering the options and next steps. This could affect the 
council’s direct delivery programme. The HRA is due to be in place by 1.4.2020

Potential Effect of risk

Reduced scope for economic development and adverse impact on labour market due to reduced mobility and availability. 
Negative impact on regeneration priorities and neighbourhoods. 
Negative impact and wasted resources associated with a large number of empty homes. 
Negative impact on health priorities as inadequate housing contributes to chronic health problems, critical incidents such as falls and 
delays discharge back in to the community 
Negative impact on education priorities as inadequate housing affects children’s educational attainment. 
Net additional homes (CIS_05 (NI 154)) 
Number of affordable homes delivered (NI 155) 
Negative impact on homelessness and greater use of temporary accommodation

Internal Controls

Documented evidence base for Housing and Homelessness Strategy which reflects anticipated demographic and demand changes and 
other regular monitoring of trends such as Housing Market tracker
Comprehensive stock modelling for Bradford District completed in 2016 providing insight in to housing condition and basis for targetted 
interventions.
Strategic direction for District set out in Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2014-19 which was approved by the Council’s Executive 
and Bradford Housing Partnership in 2014. Progress on the strategy is reported annually to Regeneration and Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. The Strategy is currently under review as it expires in 2019: this will result in two separate strategies, a 
Homelessness Strategy and a Housing Strategy Number of other housing related strategies, policies and programmes setting out 
actions and interventions to address housing supply/ provision including the Local Investment Plan, area plans, Great Places to Grow 
Old programme, Empty Homes Delivery Plan and Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy and area plans. The two strategies are now 
published online for consultation and weree considered by Executive in January 2020.
Arc4 have recently been commissioned by Planning to undertake a Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) and Local Housing 
Needs Study. These will analyse the Bradford housing market in depth, advising on the amount and type of homes needed in different 
areas, including affordable and specialist housing.The Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) is also under review by 
the Planning Service to ensure that sufficient land is made available during the life of the Local Development Plan to meet the District’s 
housing needs. Analysis of the Council’s land bank / land holdings is underway with a view to identifying a pipeline of sites suitable for 
housing / disposal.
Ongoing monitoring of external factors which may impact on housing development and improvement in the District, such as Brexit and 
the potential impact that this will have on developer confidence, general economic conditions and political/ legislative changes such as 
changes in the approach to provision of affordable housing. These factors taken into account and acted on in development of relevant 
plans and policies.
Key indicators relating to housing functions reported in the Council Plan
Development and Enabling team working to maximise the number of new affordable homes in the District through working in 
partnership with Registered Providers and Homes England to attract affordable housing grant and private finance to support the delivery 
of new build Affordable Housing schemes. By the summer of 2019, the Council will have delivered over 400 affordable homes for rent. 

P
age 74



47

Planning service ensure provision of affordable housing is maximised through Section 106 planning agreements on larger private 
development schemes
Housing Standards team apply the Council’s statutory enforcement powers to improve the standards of accommodation in the growing 
private rented sector – dealt with approximately 2103 requests for assistance during 2018/19. The SHMAA is complete and published.
Work with the Leeds City Region and energy providers to develop and deliver energy efficiency improvements to the District’s housing 
stock.
Invest in a proactive programme of interventions to bring empty homes back in to use.
Allocations Policy which ensures access to social housing and supports employment mobility. Council provides Housing Options service 
which proactively seeks to prevent homelessness.
Private Sector Lettings Scheme developed to make better use of private rented sector in meeting housing need.
Monitoring of impacts of welfare reforms (e.g. benefits cap, roll-out of Universal Credit, Under 35s, LHA caps) ongoing, with short-term 
impacts mitigated via Discretionary Housing Payments (DHPs).

Actions/controls under 
development

 Development of new housing and Homelessness Strategies underway to replace current strategy ‘A Place to Call Home’, the online 
consultation is complete and the strategies went to Executive on 2.1.2020. Development of a Housing Design guide to improve the 
quality of new build housing developments and through delivery of exemplar projects by the Council, is published for consultation. The 
Core Strategy is published for consultation
Local Plan development.
Facilitate capital investment by partner organisations in order to exploit new financial models for the supply of housing in the District.
Consideration of options for the delivery and management of additional new build affordable housing by the Council beyond the 2015-
2018 Affordable Housing Programme is under review as a result of recent Government guidance which requires Local Authorities to 
open a Housing Revenue Account (HRA) where their stock exceeds 200 units, this is awaiting the outcome of financial services analysis. 
The HRA is due to be in place by 1.4.2020

Ownership Managed By Shelagh O’Neill

 

   

Risk Code & Title CRR_New_R&I Delivering Economic Growth Current Risk Matrix

Description

Bradford Economic Growth Strategy seeks to grow the  economy by £4 million with an 
additional 24,000 jobs and up-skilling 48,000 people to Level 3 by 2030. Provision of 
new, and the maintenance of new and existing infrastructure to sustain and unlock new 
growth is challenging, particularly where development values are low or remediation or 
development costs are high.
Economic uncertainty could delay regeneration and growth impacting on strategic 
decisions and inward investment. 

Potential Effect of risk
~ Income raised through council tax and business rates and New Homes Bonus etc. is less than predicted and/or costs are higher than 
forecast
~ Inability to raise funds for projects and regeneration projects not completed

P
age 75



48

~ Potential damage to the Council’s reputation and the Economic Partnership
~ Not able to meet member, government and the public’s expectations 
~ Deteriorating physical and infrastructure assets
~ Young people are not equipped to achieve their potential within the district 

Internal Controls

Key account management with major businesses and employers to enhance business relationships and engagement with the private 
sector through various networks e.g. regular Property Forum; City Region joint working; district wide events. Joint attendance with 
Leeds City Region at Investor events in London progresses engagement with key investors. 
Comprehensive Invest in Bradford website  www.investinbradford.com 
Partnership working - supporting effective local and regional strategic partnerships e.g. West Yorkshire Combined Authority activity. 
Growth Deal project development and Economic Strategy in place and progress monitored. 
Strategic planning and leadership e.g. Bradford Economic Partnership launched 6.3.18. www.madeinbradford.com 
Relationship management - development and monitoring of benefits from key programmes such as the European Structural Investment  
Fund (ESIF), Homes England. West Yorkshire Transport Plan, Leeds City Region Transport Strategy and related projects, and the Local 
planning development framework 
Utilisation of housing investment as a key factor in regeneration e.g. to meet affordable homes targets (see separate corporate risk on 
Housing). 
Respond to Government consultations and participate on working groups focussing on key policy areas
Economic Strategy +365 Event 6th March 19 and Annual Report shared with partners.
Business Development Zones studies completed for 4 areas in Bradford, Shipley, and two in Keighley

Actions/controls under 
development

Implementation of Economic  Strategy – Delivery Plan 
Development of the Bradford District Workforce Plan
Economic Development - service reshaping and restructure 
ESIF Programme engagement 
Maximising opportunities to attract Government funding to support for urban centre regeneration 
Development of Leeds City Region (LCR) pipeline projects 
Development of Local Plan 
Initiatives developed under the Growth Deal to protect priority outcomes 
Leeds City Region and West Yorkshire Combined Authority action impacting on the District 
Support for business post Brexit with the LEP 
Engagement in plans for Shared Prosperity funding in order to maximise future resources
Review of Strategic plans underway and employment land research commissioned to identify appropriate interventions 
NPR growth strategy being developed in consultation with partners.
. Review of WY Combined Authority SPA's (spatial priority areas) is underway.

Ownership Managed By Shelagh O'Neill

    

P
age 76

http://www.investinbradford.com/
http://www.madeinbradford.com/


49

Risk Code & Title CRR_New_SSC Cohesive Community Current Risk Matrix

Description

An incident occurs that leads to a rising of community tensions, possibly leading to 
counter action, civil unrest and criminal activity. 
 
As a consequence, there is a direct impact on managing the outcome for the council, 
police and partners and adverse reputational damage to the 'district'. 

Potential Effect of risk

Negative impact on trust - between citizens, the Council and its partner agencies. 
Widening inequality. 
Cost of managing response is not contained within existing resources (council, police & partners). 
Breakdown in relationships between different community groups, leading to protracted tensions that need to be managed. 
Loss of community cohesion within the district. 
Adverse media and reputational damage for the district and key agencies. 
Ineffective engagement with citizens, community groups 
Communities continue to believe that some sections are treated better than others 
Impact of welfare reform on the district's most vulnerable communities

Internal Controls

The Stronger Communities Partnership is a Strategic Delivery Partnership reporting to   the Health and Well Being Board.
Neighbourhood Service supported multi agency Place Based Meetings -  reporting community tensions as part of standard agenda – 
including police, youth service, RSLs etc. 
Council Wardens record issues that may lead to increased community tensions. 
Ward Assessments provide an annual assessment of community tensions based on above.  
West Yorks Police share their community tension monitoring with Safer Communities team. 
Comprehensive action plans ensure each delivery group's objectives are achieved, evidence of effectiveness obtained and performance 
monitored. 
Community Safety Partnership co-ordinates a Reassurance and Engagement group. 
Police incidents which may have an impact on tension are shared with relevant partners. 
Hate Crime reports are being monitored on a weekly basis in the lead up to EU exit.
The Counter Extremism and the Prevent Strategy programme reduces risk of extremist influences creating divisions between 
communities. 

Actions/controls under 
development

The Stronger Communities Partnership is a Strategic Delivery Partnership reporting to the Health and Well Being Board. Neighbourhood 
Service supported Ward Officer Teams - reporting community tensions as part of standard agenda – including police.

Council Wardens record issues that may lead to increased community tensions.

West Yorkshire Police share their community tension monitoring with Safer Communities team.

Community Safety Partnership co-ordinates a Reassurance and Engagement group.

Police incidents which may have an impact on tension are shared with relevant partners.

P
age 77



50

The Counter Extremism and the Prevent Strategy work reduces risk of extremist influences creating divisions between communities.

A stronger communities strategy has been developed which includes a programme of work to respond to the government's Integrated 
Communities Strategy. £2.6 million has been allocated to support a two year programme of work. A new 'Stronger communities 
Partnership' is in place that will oversee the implementation of the strategy delivery plan and the district's wider work in support of 
building strong and resilient communities.

Social media continues to pose challenges with real and often 'fake news' leading to heightened tensions locally although effective 
relationships across communities and a shared commitment to support Bradford and its district is currently providing an effective 
response.

Work is ongoing to understand and respond to the concerns that are being expressed by some residents associated with Britain's exit of 
the European Union. Hate crime monitoring is taking place on a weekly basis and an engagement plan has been developed and is being 
implemented to respond to concerns.

Support is being provided through voluntary sector groups with residents seeking to apply to the EU Settlement Scheme.

A Brexit Preparedness Steering Group meets and considers emerging impacts that includes those with a possibility of community 
tensions. 

Ownership Managed By Ian Day

Risk Code & Title CBMDC Corp – Brexit Resilience & Opportunities Current Risk Matrix

Description

Following the election, the UK will be leaving the EU with the withdrawal agreement. The 
new relationship with Europe on immigration and trade will be agreed during 2020 with a 
deadline of 31 December 2020. 

We are working across the council to prepare for the implications and opportunities 
presented by Brexit on our residents and businesses. 

Potential Effect of risk

 There are a number of potential issues that may arise, including:

- Filling skills gaps in social care which have, in the recent past, relied in part on a European Union workforce. 
- Impact on the UK Economy and local economy.
- Ensuring an estimated 26,000 EU citizens who live and work in Bradford obtain settled status and retain their rights.  

 

Internal Controls

CMT has conducted a Brexit Preparedness risk assessment and developed a corporate strategy for mitigating the risks should there be a 
no deal Brexit. This was discussed weekly with relevant internal colleagues and at the Council Management Team meetings. We will 
continue to monitor this in light of the 2020 trade negotiations. 

P
age 78



51

The focus is on two areas of implications: 

- Ensuring EU residents are aware of how to achieve settled status by the deadline of December 2020 (and that vulnerable 
citizens including Looked After Children are supported). 

- Ensuring businesses are aware of the impact of changes and are directed to support (and to continue to monitor the impact 
on businesses until the trade negotiations with the EU are completed) 

  We are also regularly meeting senior representatives of partner organisations including the NHS, Police and CVS sector. 

Actions/controls under 
development

 CMT has have developed a proportionate approach to mitigate risks with CMT members responsible for individual risks associated with 
Brexit. This approach is subject to on-going review and updating.

Ownership Managed By Joanne Hyde

Risk Code & Title CRR_New_Env Environment and sustainability Current Risk Matrix

Description

Responding to Climate Emergency by management of Carbon Emissions helping to 
manage rising costs, resource pressures and increasing exposure to penalties as a 
result of demographic changes and other volume/capacity pressures, changing targets, 
legislation, economic and political pressures. 

Potential Effect of risk

Reputational damage due to failure to meet carbon reduction targets or if identified as having poor measurement and control systems in 
place 
Damage to Council’s credibility as leader if district-wide targets not met. 
Need to develop new consensus and relationships with city and citizens around creative, local initiatives to enhance sustainability 
Need to re-prioritise and reallocate resources. 
Reduced ability to promote external investment. 
Amount of energy costs as gross figure and relative to the size of Council’s estate/ activities 
Performance against corporate carbon reduction target (40% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by 2020, using 2005 as baseline 
year) 
Performance against climate emergency declaration with implicit target of net zero carbon district by 2038 and significant progress by 
2030.  Additional metrics will be required to assess progress in this area.
Climate "incident" now certain to increase in both frequency and severity.  These will include Surface Water Flooding, Fluvial Flooding, 
High Winds and Gales, Drought, High Temperatures, Heat Waves, Cold Snaps and High Snowfall. 
Lack of robust understanding of population and other economic trends but globally expected to be millions of climate refugees due to 
displacement from rising sea levels 77-87CM by 2100 and water stress / drought
Actions identified in corporate energy cost reduction plan not delivered 

P
age 79



52

Funding for renewable energy and energy efficiency projects not available 
Funding for helping to improve district housing stock to help reduce energy wastage and provide dwellings more resilient to Climate 
Change not available
Wider stakeholder community under resourced to deliver on action commitments 
Central Government, Council and wider community unwilling to accept the scale of changes that are required to make the required 
contributions to Carbon Reduction
Changing legislation, political priorities, targets 
Global insecurity causing major fluctuations in energy costs

Internal Controls

Managing systems and processes to monitor and report on energy consumption and carbon emissions to ensure compliance with 
statutory Carbon Reduction Commitment. 
Carbon emissions from Council operations published annually, tracking progress against 2020 target which has been achieved in 
2017/18 financial year. 
Arrangements with Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation for the monitoring of utility markets and understanding impacts of price volatility. 
Use procurement processes to secure optimal price advantage in purchasing resources for instance through category management. 
Sophisticated and comprehensive understanding of corporate resource use profiles and identification of business critical resource risks in 
terms of supply and availability or price volatility and impacts on service budgets. 
Delivering corporate resilience through sourcing local resources where viable such as PV panels, District Heat Network. 
Delivering projects to use resources such as energy, efficiently and where feasible reducing direct resource consumption.
Climate Emergency declaration has identified a number of priorities for the councils internal CO2 reduction and progress of these is 
being reported to Overview and Scrutiny. 

Actions/controls under 
development

 Working on a strategy to take the councils carbon emissions from 2020 to 2050 and to possibly take a more interventionist approach 
when it comes to wider district emissions.
Working with CDP Cities to identify potential courses of action and strategies for climate mitigation and adaptation  
Climate action plan in development and this will feed into the carbon emissions reduction strategy as well as local and district plans.  
Work underway to bolster the agenda where it cuts across council departments. 
Working with WYCA to co-ordinate energy and carbon strategy work and to align with neighbouring district on actions and targets.  
Utilising WYCA relationship with Tyndall Centre for climate change to help produce science based targets for district CO2 reduction.
Development of logic model to prioritise interventions and investments.
Internal Audit Review being completed.
Refocus on the 2038 Carbon Target to be undertaken.
 

Ownership Managed By Ben Middleton

Risk Code & Title CRR_New_FSE 1 Financial resilience and sustainability Current Risk Matrix

Description Central Government funding is likely to continue to reduce in the Medium Term. 

P
age 80



53

The combination of past and future funding reductions and increasing service demand 
outs pressure on continued effective delivery of Council services and priorities. 

The SR2019 announcements have alleviated this problem slightly for 2020/21 to enable 
time to develop longer term sustainable actions and associated budget plans

Potential Effect of risk

Services run the risk of failing to deliver statutory minimum standards 
Budget is overspent.
Suboptimal decisions could be made. 
Achievement of priorities delayed or not delivered. 
Service delivery not achieved. 
Challenges to governance framework. 
Deterioration in reputation with knock on consequences. 
Scarce resources may not be utilised / prioritised to maximum effect. 
Reduced effectiveness of Council Leadership 
The Council’s budget & setting of Council Tax is challenged.
The risk remains for future years though already being planned for through organisational review and new operating models 
workstream. 
Central Government funding is still reducing and the future is uncertain beyond 2020. Service demand pressures could cause 
disproportionate budget pressure if not properly funded by government.
Potential for S114 Decision to be made by the S151 Officer if underlying budget issues not addressed.

Internal Controls

Council priorities reaffirmed in the Council Plan approved July 2016 and in the Medium Term Financial Strategy as regularly updated.  
Comprehensive financial and performance monitoring information provided to DMTs, CMT and Executive supported by value for money 
and activity information. 
Budget process fully integrated with the Authority’s strategic service and value for money planning. 
Political engagement in place for budget process. 
Budget challenge sessions (Officer and Members) instituted during 2018/19 with focus on robust business case development for new 
proposals. Budget Challenge sessions extended to Capital schemes in 2019/20
Rigorous Change Board challenge sessions introduced for all budget saving proposals to effectively track through into delivery and 
provide early visibility of risks to delivery. 
Medium term planning extended over a six year time line. 
Controls on procurement and workforce changes in place 
Meaningful budget consultation process in place 
Strict adherence to Reserves Policy.
Project Appraisal Group established to scrutinise individual capital business cases 

Actions/controls under 
development

A series of productivity ratios continue to be developed along side the linkage of activity and finance data to identify whether value for 
money is being achieved - Power Bi. 
Medium Term Financial Strategy incorporating scenario planning / forecasting / sensitivity analysis, is being continuously updated to 
take account of national and local funding announcements. 
Raise financial acumen across the Council to improve decision making
Implement Finance for Non-Finance Managers training

P
age 81



54

Future Transformational Plan being developed to implement new operating models to deliver cost effective service outcomes.
CIPFA Financial Resilience Index issued Dec 2019 shows the Council has a relatively sustainable position across most indices and plans 
in place to ensure continued resilience 

Ownership Managed By Chris Chapman

    

Risk Code & Title CRR_New_FSE 2 Information Security Current Risk Matrix

Description Confidential data is lost, stolen, accessed or disclosed without authority because of 
inadequate data security or non-observance of protocols 

Potential Effect of risk

Damage to the Council's commercial interests, reputation and ability to provide credible leadership of the district. 
Risk of financial penalty 
Penalty arising from reference of data security breach to Information Commissioner. 
Adverse publicity. 
Loss of trust between the Council, its partners and citizens
Required "culture change" is not achieved 
Inadequate engagement fails to deliver physical security, effective procedures or efficient processes.

Internal Controls

Designated SIRO (senior information risk owner) – Strategic Director Corporate Resources, with operational support from Director of 
Finance
Assistant Directors Assigned Information Asset Owners. 
Cross departmental Information Assurance Group established and regular meetings scheduled
Regular DPO / SIRO meetings scheduled to focus priorities
Regular Information Governance reporting to CMT and Governance & Audit Cttee
Information Asset Administrators (IAAs) – managers appointed by IAOs who collectively form the Information Assurance Operational 
Network (IAON). Middle management working group who support Assistant Directors in meeting their IAO responsibilities. 
Security breach notice and protocol is well established. 
IT Security Policies, guidance and procedures actively maintained and reviewed annually. 
GDPR Implementation Plan in place 
Technological solutions enable a consistent, safe and accessible infrastructure for data - IT systems and projects enable the business 
while minimising risk to the confidentiality, integrity and availability of those systems. Data in use, in transit and at rest should be in 
line with legislative requirements and follow policy/procedure. 
Appropriate physical security mechanisms. - Buildings are secured to a level commensurate with the nature of the data they contain. 
Mechanisms are in place to protect physical (paper based) information from creation to destruction. 
Risk Log approved by IAG and regularly updated. 
Public Services Network (PSN) compliance achieved which is a rigorous on-going IT governance assessment 

P
age 82



55

Secure e-mail solutions in place for safe information exchange with other public service agencies and 3rd party organisations, GCSx and 
Egress in place and communicated through service DMTs and Managers Express 
Regular independent Penetration testing of IT systems to provide assurance that suitable technical security controls are in place. 
Required encryption in place. 
Online Training distributed incorporating new requirements of the Data Protection Act 2018. Monitoring of participation taking place.
The council has now moved from SAC B compliancy to SAC D for PCI DSS compliancy, this is where the merchants checks that we have 
controls in place to handle, process and store card details on our network

Actions/controls under 
development

Revised Management Report being prepared breaking down performance on information governance at departmental level for FOIs, 
Subject Access Requests and data breaches. Report to be reviewed at CMT.
GDPR and Information Assurance Improvement Plan identified and being  implemented during 2019/20 

Ownership Managed By Chris Chapman

    

Risk Code & Title CRR_New_FSE 3 Governance breakdown Current Risk Matrix

Description Governance and corporate management framework is compromised, for example as a 
result of prioritising short term cost reduction over long term transformation. 

Potential Effect of risk

Increase in fraud. 
Declining performance. 
Critical inspection/ external/ scrutiny report. 
Non-compliance with statute or regulations. 
Prosecution / financial penalty. 
Outcomes not delivered 
Resources not effectively or efficiently allocated and utilised 
Financial loss. 
Reputational damage 
Failure to deliver value for money. 
Staff reductions may create potential for weakening of key controls through reduced examination and assurance work

Internal Controls

Strong Governance & Audit Committee (GAC) and scrutiny arrangements. 
Annual work programme determined by the GAC in consultation with S151 Officer and City Solicitor. 
New Code of Corporate Governance Adopted by the Council in December 2017. Assurance exercise completed April 2018. This follows 
the CIPFA/SOLACE framework "Delivering Good Governance in Local Government" 
Reference to risk a fundamental element in prioritising and design of Annual Internal Audit plan. 
Established whistle blowing policy and procedure available to all staff. 
Internal Audit Annual Opinion Satisfactory approved at Governance and Audit Committee 31.7.19

P
age 83



56

Corporate Fraud Unit established  and Performance Report approved  at Governance and Audit Committee 19.9.19
External Audit independent overview. 
Annual review of governance framework including Strategic Directors' compliance statements. 
Established insurance principles & processes 
New Corporate indicator set established 
Regular review of corporate indicators presented to Executive to measure performance in delivering service improvement and outcomes 
Increased demand on services/requests for assistance 
Quarterly reporting of corporate risks to CMT and Executive through the Finance and Performance Report
A recent improvement is a quicker follow up on Audit recommendations to ensure they have been implemented
Revised Risk Strategy approved by Executive 

Actions/controls under 
development

Review of Transition Arrangements currently being undertaken.
Back to Basics Approach 

Ownership Managed By Joanne Hyde

    

Risk Code & Title Adults Corp - 1 ADULTS - MCA DoLS Current Risk Matrix

Description
The Department has a backlog of requests for authorisation of the Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards waiting for allocation

Potential Effect of risk

Harm to an individual.
Damage to the Council's reputation. 
Financial consequences. 
Backlog of cases currently held by the MCA/DoLS Team could mean that people are at risk of an unauthorised deprivation of liberty 
taking place not in line with the Mental Health Act 2007. 
Court of Protection is able, and has taken action to indemnify people and their families up to the current potential maximum rate,  
£1000 per week for an unauthorised deprivation of liberty.

Internal Controls

The department has recruited a Principle Social Worker who has reviewed practice and implemented an improvement plans which 
includes:
  - review of staffing compliment, leading to the establishment of a new MCA team and a business case for new resources
  - review processes and systems to improve workflow and reduce backlog – this has led to significant reductions in DoLS backlog
  - training and development linking to statutory responsibility, national guidance and benchmarks for all front line staff including social 
workers, OTs and CCOs
  - Improving data quality and reporting through prioritising and implementation of the SystmOne DoLS module .Amendments to the 
DOLS workspace went live in early 2019.

P
age 84



57

In Feb 2019, CMT approved business case for additional resources to support the DoLS, MCA and Safeguarding Service.

Review of processes complete. Workloads more manageable levels. Backlog addressed through the implementation of the MCA/DOLSs 
business case and has reduced from 2,000 to 50.

New safeguarding procedures have been implemented which have resulted in screening of safeguarding concerns take place in both 
Access and MASH to ensure that they are dealt with appropriately and in a timely manner. A smaller proportion of concerns will be dealt 
with by the Care Management and Safeguarding team as a result but these will be the more complex concerns and section 42 enquires. 

Actions/controls under 
development

SystmOne is being developed and a new workspace for Safeguarding is expected to be completed by Jan 20.  Alongside this, Power BI 
reporting functionality will be developed to allow improved performance management of the services.

DOLS to be transferred to the LPS scheme in October 2020.
Workstream under way with MCA service.
External partnership workstream with CCG, Care Trust, Teaching Trust and Airedale.
Awaiting departmental health and social care the LPS code of practice due March 2020

Following the investment in DoLS and MCA Service and confirmation of adequate internal and external controls via Internal Audit, this 
risk can be de-escalated and held on Departmental Risk Register who will manage the performance of MCA DoLS. However following a 
change a legislation in later 2019 the DoLS Scheme will be replaced with the Liberty Protection Scheme (LPS) with a scheduled but 
unconfirmed implementation date of October 2020. The Department is well cited on the changes and has worked with DHSC on the 
impact of the changes across the system and have a multi-agency steering group in place now together with CCG, BCDCT, BTHCT, AWC 
and the statutory advocacy provider to ensure a smooth transition between the schemes and to ensure the Council and partners are 
legally compliant following the change of legislation. 

Ownership Managed By Bev Maybury

 

   

Risk Code & Title Adults Corp - 2 ADULTS - Safeguarding incident Current Risk Matrix

Description We have the embargo policy for providers and working as a whole system to identify and 
mitigate against risks in accordance with safeguarding procedures. 

Potential Effect of risk Harm to an individual.
Damage to the Council's reputation.

P
age 85



58

Backlog of cases currently held by the Adult Protection Unit could lead to litigation of the Council. 
Adults at risk could be placed at further risk of harm without the backlog of cases being addressed. 
Failure to follow the N & W and York City Safeguarding Procedures will result in non-compliance with the Care Act 2014 and the ‘Making 
Safeguarding Personal’ (MSP) initiative. 
Safeguarding Procedures being applied incorrectly and without front-line operational consideration for MSP 
Information will not be disseminated to the operational workforce in order to effect changes in practice and improve service delivery. 
 If performance data is not appropriately collected, analysed and reported there is a risk that 
1. The incorrect data collected will not allow for appropriate analyses to be made. 
2. There is a risk that the data collected will lack integrity. 
3. The service will be unable to deploy resources to those areas identified as needing specific support. 
4. Appropriate data collection will ensure a robust analysis of how the service is working towards its goals and delivering outcomes for 
service users.

Internal Controls

Safeguarding Adults Procedures in place which are currently being updated in line with the Care Act 2014 and to embed the provision of 
Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP).  
Senior management representation on Safeguarding Adults Board. 
Strong cooperation with the Commissioning arm of the Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), and with the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC). Regular meetings are scheduled each month throughout the year. 
Reporting to Council Members via the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
Regular meetings, discussions and supervision between the Adult Protection Team Manager and staff members of the Adult Protection 
Unit to ensure that staff understand how to address the current backlog of cases and the seriousness of failing to do so.  
Safeguarding Adults Board now managed by CXO – as part of joint support for Childrens and Adults Safeguarding Boards
Work underway on delivering the training plan for 2019/20.

Actions/controls under 
development

On-going monitoring of all reported incidents by the Adult Safeguarding Team. 
The North and West and York City Safeguarding Adults Procedures have been updated and are currently being implemented both within 
the Council and Partner agencies.
A training programme is being delivered to ensure all staff across all partner agencies receive a consistent level of training.  
Internally, the Safeguarding Adults process has been reviewed and a new streamlined approach to respond to Safeguarding Concerns 
has been put inplace.  
A Communication Strategy is to be developed to enable the SAB partner agencies to disseminate information within their own agencies, 
across agencies and the public.  
The collecting and collating of safeguarding performance data is to be improved through a review of current data collection and 
presentation of the performance reports.  
Develop links with HM Coroner through face to face meetings and the development of a Protocol for effective working between 
Safeguarding, Commissioning and the HM Coroner. 
Further develop the links with the PREVENT initiative to address the growing concerns from the risk of adults being radicalised. 

Implementation of Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub
Independent review of historic cases working alongside legal to identify priority cases which need further consideration
Development of Systmone safeguarding module to enable capture and sharing of information, work in progress to develop a 
safeguarding module, aim to complete by Jan 20

Safeguarding service now fully staffed

P
age 86



59

1 x Service manager
2x Team managers
9 x Social workers

As part of the new West Yorkshire Safeguarding Policy and Procedures implementation, which went fully operational across Bradford and 
District in January 2020, the Department is continuing to produce a protocol to formalise roles and responsibilities in relation to Whole 
Service Safeguarding.

Ownership Managed By Bev Maybury
    

 

   

Risk Code & Title CRR_New_Care 2 ADULTS - Demographic change / migration / legislation Current Risk Matrix

Description
Ability to deliver the Adults Social Care Transformation Programme priorities is 
threatened by rising costs and resource pressures due to changing demographics and 
changing legislation. 

Potential Effect of risk

Demand for social care services is predicted to continue increasing and overspends are likely.
Budget proposals highlight this particular pressure as an ongoing concern for the Council.
There is a continuing need to re-prioritise and reallocate resources and actions have been identified in preparing budgets for coming 
years.
Conflict between expectations and affordability - standards of service deteriorate as a result of increasing demand and fewer resources
Lengthening waiting lists for assessments and provision of care
Increases in numbers requiring care
Increasing overspends

Internal Controls Department has worked with IMPOWER to review demand management - saving and transformation plans. 

P
age 87



60

New savings plans based on a demand management modelling have been agreed by leadership, these also include renegotiating and 
remodelling services to help mitigate the pressure.  Work is underway to deliver these new workstreams, progress to date has shown 
that at quarter 2 we are ahead of the activity targets set at the start of the year – this is translating in an underspend in the 
department.

Monthly Finance, Quality and Performance (FQP) meeting in place with DMT focusing on reviewing budget position and performance 
management data and identify any pressure areas as well as areas of potential under spend elsewhere in the budget to mitigate and 
relieve problems.

H&WB Transformation and Change Board in place which includes DMT members, Service Managers on an as and when required basis, 
Finance Reps and a rep from the Corporate BHBL Transformation Team.  Meetings held on a monthly basis to review progress on 
Transformation and change activity.

As part of the implementation of our revised Performance Framework, the approach taken at the FQP meeting has been implemented 
within the AD SMT meetings and within the Service Manager Team Meetings.  

At FQP meetings a Performance and Finance report is presented which summarises progress to date.  Where problems are still being 
identified these are highlighted in the quarterly budget monitoring reports to Members. 

Further work is being done with Team managers to embed the consistent use of performance and finance monitoring and review across 
all areas within the department. Bespoke training on the Performance Management Framework has been rolled out to all team 
Managers, similarly the Team Managers are also going through training on financial management. 

Regular progress updates are provided to the Portfolio Holder highlighting potential issues raised by this pressure.

Actions/controls under 
development

Continue to work with Health Partners as part of the integration of health and social care agenda to examine areas where there may be 
overlaps or synergies that could lead to more efficient ways of working and increasing value for money. Impower are leading on a 
review of demand pressures across the health and social care system with a specific focus on Hospital interface. 

Ownership Managed By Bev Maybury

Risk Code & Title CRR_New_E&S 1 Delivery of skills and training priority Current Risk Matrix

Description
Increasing budget pressure and resource constraints caused by competition for 
resources required for delivery of skills and training priorities. 
Need to deal with historical / legacy issues. 

P
age 88



61

Potential Effect of risk

Lack of coordination in the efforts of various agencies involved. 
Lack of congruence with educational attainment objective. 
District becomes unattractive to businesses and employers. 
Loss of leadership role. 
Actions detailed in the Employment and Skills Strategy are not delivered, impacting ability to fully realise the ambitions in the Economic 
Strategy Pioneering, Confident and Connected
Get Bradford Working outcomes not realised 
Funding bodies releasing new contracts in isolation.  Underspend of current funding

Internal Controls

Delivery of the ESIF STEP programme continues in Bradford and Leeds.  ESIF STEP contract runs until March 2020. ESIF funding has 
been secured for 19-24 unemployed through partnership with WYCA, delivery started in January 2019. Additionally further funding has 
been secured for unemployed adults in partnership with Leeds Council to run until September 2022.

Skills for Work (SfW) Choice and Work Programme contracts continue to run down until final customers leave programme. 

Reed in Partnership continue delivery of the DWP Work and Health Programme in the North of England and are delivering this 
programme in the Bradford district. Partnership meetings have been held to ensure the new provision is appropriately located within the 
provision landscape and accessible to those residents that it is intended for without creating duplication or unhelpful competition.

SfW continue to deliver Levy and Non-Levy Apprenticeships. SfW continues to deliver Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) 
classroom and Community Learning.

Continuation of implementation of Post-16 Review recommendations overseen by post-16 Board with regular progress reporting.

Performance monitoring of post-16 provision and sharing of best practice through heads of post-16.

Actions/controls under 
development

Senior management remains engaged with the Government’s devolution agenda for education and skills funding through West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority and Leeds City Region networks. Officers are working to shape policy, maximise funding opportunities and inform 
WYCA’s ESIF commissioning decision making. Similar work is being undertaken through the Key Cities network, where the Deputy 
Leader holds the education and skills portfolio.

LA holds keep in touch with heads of post-16 in schools, colleges, and other independent learning providers work across our post-16 
partnership to continue to build on recent improvements on academic grades at Level 3 supporting the opening of two new post-16 free 
schools in September and exploiting options for A Level provision in the North of the District, increasing the number of young people 
having a level 3 upon reaching working age.

The LA is working through differing post-16 partnerships in the development and implementation or Workforce Development Plan 
collaboratively developing a more strategic approach to understanding the market so the skills system can operate more effectively to 
meet changing business needs. This will consider how we secure improve outcomes at Level 3 and higher skills that are better aligned 
with local economic need.
The Council, and encourage other anchor institutions to work towards, all of our workforce having or working towards Level 2 
qualification, with the aspirational that our staff who do not hold a Level 3 qualification will work towards achieving one;
Explore approaches to using the Apprenticeship Levy and other funding to develop a support package for the employment of care 
Apprentices in SMEs locally, particularly targeting Level 3.

P
age 89



62

Seek  an improved public funding settlement, potentially as part of a skills devolution deal, to facilitate the up-skilling of people of 
working age.

Build a career and technical education system to increase access to jobs with career advancement potential and that delivers the 
experiences and technical skills to secure entry to work and advance through in-work training.

The District Workforce Development plan has been approved by executive and will launch October 29th.  Progress is being made with 
key actions and workstreams and a Bradford Skills Board is to be set up, chaired by the Portfolio Holder to oversee progress against our 
targets.

Ownership Managed By Jenny Cryer; 

Risk Code & Title CS - Children & Young People – SEND Services Current Risk Matrix

Description Delivery of the SEND Reforms and compliance with the SEND Codeof Practice

Potential Effect of risk

Services are not compliant with legislative requirements leading to a risk of Judicial Reviews
Education, Health and Care Assessments are not undertaken within statutory timeframes
SEND Inspection outcome is unfavourable resulting in external intervention

Internal Controls

SEND Strategic Partnership Board established with clear ToRs providing governance over the four operational workstreams.
Workstreams in place to focus on priority areas with action plans that are based on the objectives from the SEND Strategy to ensure 
implementation Workstream membership consists of services and partners across the whole Local Area.
Creation of the SEND Transformation and Compliance Team to lead on ensuring compliance with the SEND reform agenda.
Creation of a 0-25 Integrated Assessment Team – increasing staffing levels for Casework Officers to enable EHC compliance measures 
to be met. This full restructure was implemented in September 2019.
Additional Management capacity in place to support the creation of efficient and effective SEN Assessment teams.
Caseload  allocation  system introduced with clear monitoring and accountability procedures with casework supervision happening on a 
regular basis.
Targeted Assessment Team in place to deal with backlog of EHC assessments, provide additional capacity for quality assuring EHCPs, 
support and modelling EHCP writing and deal with parental enquiries/complaints. Additional EHCP writers have also been recruited to 
support in working through the backlog of EHC assessments.
Ensuring accuracy of data and effective use of Capita data base.
Monthly SEND Inspection preparation meetings with Health colleagues.

Actions/controls under 

P
age 90



63

development

Development of an accurate SEF with supporting data and evidence across the Local Area.
Development of SEND Data Dashboard which collates SEND data from all services into a central programme. This includes a front page 
of key indicators which are scrutinised by the SEND Strategic Partnership Board on a monthly basis.
Regular feedback mechanisms being established with Parents/Carers and children and young people through SEND Ambassadors and 
monthly Parental listening events.

Ownership Managed By Marium Haque

Risk Code & Title CS - Children & Young People – Inspection Outcome (Ofsted monitoring visit 
Oct 2019) Current Risk Matrix

Description

The pace of change has been too slow following the inspection in September 2018. 
Although the local authority is making progress in improving services for children in need 
of help and protection in some discrete areas of practice the pace; consistency and 
sustainability of improvement remains a risk

Potential Effect of risk
 Poor reputation 
 Intervention by DfE of local authority services 
 Financial

Internal Controls

 Children’s Services Improvement Board in place Chair Kersten England/Joanne Hyde 
 New DCS established a new CSC structure and recruitment to support and sustain improvement will be in place by Feb 2020
 New permanent Deputy Director for Social Care is now in post (Nov 2019) with a focus on improvement 
 Innovation and Improvement Project Team now in post with key projects underway for innovation and improvement in critical areas 

of practice 
 Improved vital signs reporting in place for CSC data; quality of audits and workforce management. Ofsted report ‘Senior managers 

have recently implemented an improved performance dataset, which is enabling frontline managers to address compliance with key 
performance indicators’

 Self-evaluation tools are in place which reflect current status of practice which are driving improvement.  Ofsted recognise this work 
and reflect this in their focused visit report … the local authority (recognise it areas for improvement) in its self-evaluation, which 
provides an accurate understanding of its areas for improvement. 

 Increased investment has been secured for improvement through LA finances

Actions/controls under Plan Inspection Timetable 

P
age 91



64

development

Ownership Managed By Mark Douglas

   

Risk Code & Title CRR_New_E&CS1 Educational attainment Current Risk Matrix

Description
Failure to improve academic outcomes for children and young people resulting in lack of 
competitiveness in the workforce and in accessing further and higher education.  
Associated impact on culture and employment creation. 

Potential Effect of risk

Low attainment at the end of KS4 and 5 reducing employment and FE/HE opportunities.  Low attainment in KS1&2 means reduced 
levels of progress into KS4&5
Bradford as a place to teach and to learn becomes unattractive and a cycle of less good teaching continues to impact on life chances for 
young people. 

Internal Controls

Schools are autonomous institutions and academies are independent of LA control.  Internal controls from Education and Inclusion exist 
in terms of offering visits to all schools and academies to provide a quality assurance mechanism for the service.  This is not compulsory 
and is dependent on the quality of relationships between the service and schools in an increasingly fragmented educational landscape.  
Strategic mechanisms to limit this include meetings with CEOs, DfE, RSC , and LA councillors and officers to continue partnership 
working and dialogue wherever possible.
Systems and processes exist to support and monitor the LA maintained schools including risk assessments and close monitoring with 
performance targets. 

Actions/controls under 
development

 Improved level of staffing for school improvement posts to add capacity to the monitoring and challenge function for LA maintained 
schools.  Through a traded service this will be offered to all schools and academies.  
Partnership working with DfE Opportunity Area to bring about improvements in the least well performing academies and schools

Ownership Managed By Sue Lowndes

Risk Code & Title CRR_New_E&CS2 Safeguarding incident Current Risk Matrix

P
age 92



65

Description

A high-profile safeguarding failure occurs caused by inadequate governance procedures or 
non-observance of protocols; significant increases in demand and inability to recruit and 
retain suitably qualified staff.  Inadequate Ofsted judgment exacerbates challenges described 
and demonstrates that the risk level is high.
Areas of risk in the Ofsted report include MASH/Front Door; placement sufficiency; social work 
practice; management and QA.

Potential Effect of risk
Harm to an individual. 
Damage to the Council's reputation 

Internal Controls

Bradford Safeguarding Children Board (BSCB) 
The BSCB has carried out a Section 11 Audit of the safeguarding arrangements. 
Tight Performance Management Systems and clear lines of Management and Accountability Systems in place. Comprehensive Child 
Protection Training Strategy in place for all operational staff. 
BSCB has implemented enhanced safeguarding procedures across member agencies in the district including a review of children missing 
education and a review of the CSE Team. 
Children’s Social Care
An Improvement Plan, Improvement Board and Governance have been put in place with six themed work streams.
Additional QA capacity has been recruited to provide scrutiny and additional data capacity to develop and enhance performance 
dashboards. 
Additional managers and social workers have been recruited to address the demand issues 
Social work pay has been uplifted and a recruitment programme put in place.   Mandatory training is in place for all staff.  
MASH/Front Door
Additional Head of Service in place to increase management capacity; remodelling of the front door; enhanced partnership approach to 
early help in localities 

Actions/controls under 
development

A review of caseload allocation has been put in place to ensure resources are aligned to need. There remain high caseloads across the 
social work teams at this time.
The BSCB risk register now reflects the increases in LAC and CP Plans and as separate risk the staffing challenges within Children’s 
Services. Mitigation and progress is monitored through the Business Planning process. The BSCB continues to conduct multi-agency 
challenge panels and has timetabled further panels. 
A follow up Section 175 and Section 11 audit are on-going to allow organisations and schools, to self evaluate SG arrangements and the 
BSCB will collate and analyse finding to understanding risk and threat. 
A revised Strategic response to CSE has been signed off and linked Action Plan is in the final stages of planning. The LA have appointed 
a CSE analyst who will be tasked with the production of Profiles and assessments to inform resourcing, prioritising and planning of 
services. 
Collaborative work continues with the SAB and CSP around complex safeguarding, Digital Safeguarding, Shared learning from SCR’s and 
Communications. This work allows the BSCB to recognise the impact of harm to children involved in OCG and Modern Day Slavery. This 
will present an opportunity to reduce duplication of work around families with multiple vulnerabilities. 

P
age 93



66

The risk has been increased to recognise the recent increasing demands and resourcing challenges.
The Quality Assurance Framework has been revised and a regular programme of monthly themed audits is in place in order to provide a 
continual assessment of social work practice.  This is complemented by tracking and quality reports produced by IROs and CP Chairs 
after conference/review.
Quality and performance dashboards are also in place to monitor the quality of social work practice.

New safeguarding arrangements under Working Together 2018 have commenced since the 1/9/19 and the BSCB is now called the 
Bradford Partnership (TBP). Key work streams include the implementation of a Continuum of Need and the Front Door now deals with 
exploitation in a wider sense, with the launch of a multi-agency protocol. TBP continues to work closely with the Children Services 
Improvement Board to provide scrutiny and oversight and facilitate multi-agency working activity. Collaborative work continues with the 
BSAB and CSP around wider complex safeguarding themes, shared learning from serious case reviews and communication and 
engagement work. 

Ownership Managed By Jenny Cryer

P
age 94



Report of the Strategic Director of Children’s Services 
to the meeting of the Executive to be held on 4 February 
2020

Subject:  AU
Determination of Primary and Secondary Admission Arrangements

Summary statement:

This report asks the Executive to determine the admission arrangements for 
September 2021 including:

 Approving the Admission Arrangements for Community and Voluntary Controlled 
Schools.

 Approving the Co-ordinated Admission Schemes for Annual and In-Year 
Admissions.

 Noting the ‘own admission authority schools’ proposing changes to their admission 
policies.

 Noting Published Admission Numbers.

This report has not been included on the published forward plan as an issue for consideration 
however the decision by Executive must be made by 28th February in accordance with School 
Admission Code of Practice to ensure the authority is complaint with its statutory duty .  As it is 
impractical to defer the decision until it has been included in the published Forward Plan the 
report is submitted in accordance with paragraph 10 of the Executive Procedure Rules set out in 
the Council’s Constitution.

Mark Douglas
Strategic Director, Children’s Services

Portfolio:  

Education, Employment and Skills

Report Contact:  Marium Haque
Deputy Director, Children’s Services
Phone: (01274) 431078
E-mail: Marium.Haque@bradford.gov.uk

 Overview & Scrutiny Area: 

Children’s Services

Page 95

Agenda Item 8/



1. SUMMARY

This report asks the Executive to determine the admission arrangements for 
September 2021 including:

 Approving the Admission Arrangements for Community and Voluntary Controlled 
Schools.

 Approving the Co-ordinated Admission Schemes for Annual and In-Year 
admissions.

 Noting the ‘own admission authority schools’ proposing changes to their admission 
policies.

 Noting Published Admission Numbers. 

BACKGROUND
2.1 Admission Arrangements:

2.1.1 All schools must have admission arrangements that clearly set out how children will 
be admitted, including the criteria that will be applied if there are more applications 
than places available. Admission arrangements are determined by Admission 
Authorities.

2.1.2 The Local Authority is the admission authority for community and voluntary 
controlled schools in the area. As such, the Local Authority is required to determine 
admission arrangements for the schools by complying with the relevant statutory 
procedures. Voluntary Aided, Foundation Schools and Academies are responsible 
for determining their own admission arrangements. 

2.1.3 When changes are proposed to admission arrangements, all admission authorities 
must consult on the admission arrangements that will apply for admission 
applications in the following academic year. If no changes are made to admission 
arrangements, they must be consulted on at least every 7 years. For admission 
arrangements for entry in September 2021, consultation must be for a minimum of 
6 weeks and must take place between 1 October and 31 January of the school year 
before those arrangements are to apply. All admission authorities must determine 
admission arrangements every year even if they have not changed from the 
previous year and consultation has not been required. Admission authorities must 
determine admission arrangements for entry in 2021 by 28 February every year.

2.1.4 There are no proposed changes to the admission arrangements for community and 
voluntary controlled schools with the exception of decreasing the PAN’s of Low Ash 
and Carrwood Primary Schools which are being dealt with through consultation and 
a separate Executive report.

2.1.5 The admission arrangements for community and voluntary controlled primary 
schools for 2021/22 are shown in Appendix A. Appendix B shows the admission 
arrangements for community secondary schools for 2021/22. 

2.1.6 The co-ordinated Admissions Scheme for primary schools, secondary schools and 
in-year admissions can be found in Appendix C, D and E. The only changes from 

Page 96



the 2019/20 scheme are the dates for 2021/22.

2.1.7 Published Admission Numbers (PANs) for Primary and Secondary Schools for entry 
in September 2021 are shown in Appendix F.

3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

3.1 Own admission authority schools

A number of own admission authority schools have consulted on changes to their 
admission policies. Details can be found on individual school websites and will be 
published on the Bradford Council website in the Autumn term:

Primary Schools and Academies:
Barkerend Thornbury
Co-op Academy Parklands
Secondary Schools and 
Academies:
Bradford Forster Academy Carlton Bolling
Bradford Girl’s Grammar Ilkley Grammar
Buttershaw Business & Enterprise 
College Queensbury

Own admission authorities must also consult with other admission authorities including the 
Local Authority.  Where the Local Authority does not support the changes outlined in the 
individual consultations we will formally feedback to the school/academy or MAT the Local 
Authorities position. In the case of PAN reductions we do not support any reductions that 
would interfere with the Local Authorities statutory duty to ensure sufficient school places. 
This is based on the projected numbers for basic need which ensures we have sufficient 
schools places to offer places to every Reception and Yr7 child due in school in 
September 2021, enabling us to meet our statutory duty, as reported to the DfE in the 
SCAP return.

Page 97



4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

4.1 Schools receive funding through the Fair Funding Formula which allocates funding 
to schools based on the number of pupils attending the school. 

5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

There are no identified risks.

6. LEGAL APPRAISAL

6.1 The Local Authority is the admission authority for community and voluntary
controlled schools in the area, and is required to determine arrangements for those
schools by complying with the relevant statutory procedures. Voluntary aided,
foundation, trust schools and academies are responsible for determining their own
admission arrangements.

6.2 The School Standards and Framework Act 1998, and associated regulations,
required admission authorities to determine the admission arrangements on an
annual basis, including the admission criteria that will be used if a school is
oversubscribed, for the schools for which they are responsible.

6.3 In accordance with the School Admissions Code 2014, when changes are proposed
to admission arrangements for entry in September 2021, all admissions authorities
must consult on those arrangements. Consultation must be for a minimum of 6
weeks and must take place between 1 October and 31 January of the school year
before those arrangements are to apply. Own admission authorities must also 
consult with other admission authorities including the local authority If no changes 
are made to admission arrangements, they must be consulted on at least once 
every seven years.

6.4 All admission authorities must determine their admission arrangements even if there 
have been no changes and no consultation has taken place. Admission
Authorities must determine their admission arrangements for entry in September
2021 by 28 February 2020. Once admission authorities have determined their
admission arrangements, they must notify the appropriate bodies and must publish
a copy of the determined arrangements on their website displaying them for the
whole school year in which offers for places are made.

6.5 Admission Authorities must set a PAN for each ‘relevant age group’ when 
determining their admission arrangements.

6.6 Own admission authorities are not required to consult on their Published Admission
Numbers (PAN) where they propose to either increase or keep the same PAN. For
a community or voluntary controlled school the Local Authority (as admissions
authority) must consult at least the governing body of the school where it proposes
to either increase or keep the same PAN. All admission authorities must consult
where they propose a decrease to the PAN. Own admission authorities must notify
the Local Authority of their intention to increase the school’s PAN and refer to the
change on the school’s website.

6.7  Each year all local authorities must formulate and publish on their website a
scheme by 1 January in the relevant determination year to co-ordinate admission

Page 98



arrangements for all publicly funded schools within their area. Where the scheme is
substantially different from the scheme adopted for the previous academic year, the
local authority must consult the other admission authorities in the area and any
other local authorities it determines. Where the scheme has not changed from the
previous year there is no requirement to consult, subject to the requirement that the
local authority must consult on the scheme at least once every seven years even if
there have been no changes in that period. There is no requirement for local
authorities to co-ordinate in-year applications but they must provide information in
the composite prospectus on how in-year applications can be made and will be
dealt with.

6.8 Under section 14 of the Education Act 1996, the Local Authority has a statutory
duty to provide sufficient school places for all pupils in its area.

7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS

7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY

Admission arrangements must not discriminate directly or indirectly against any 
group or individual.

Equality Impact Assessment completed 10 January 2020 see Appendix H.

7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

There are no sustainability implications

7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

The proposals would not impact on greenhouse gas emissions.

7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

There are no community safety implications from this report.

7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

There are no direct Human Rights implications arising from this report. 

7.6 TRADE UNION

No implications for Trade Unions. 

7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS

No implications for Ward Councillors.

7.8 AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS
(for reports to Area Committees only)

N/A

Page 99



7.9 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

No implications for corporate parenting.

7.10 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT

General Data Protection Regulation principles relating to individuals’ data and rights 
under the Data Protection Act 2018 will be respected. 

8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

None

9. OPTIONS

In accordance with the statutory School Admissions Code of Practice:

9.1 To approve the Primary and Secondary Admission Arrangements

9.2 To approve the Primary and Secondary Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme

9.3 To approve the In-Year Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme

10. RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1 That the Executive approve the Primary and Secondary Admission Arrangements.

10.2 That the Executive approve the Primary and Secondary Co-ordinated Admissions 
Scheme.

10.3 That the Executive approve the In-Year Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme.

10.4 That the Executive note the proposed changes to the admission arrangements for 
own admission schools listed in 3.1 

10.5 That the Executive note the Published Admission Numbers contained in Appendix 
F.

11. APPENDICES

Appendix A: Admission Arrangements for Community and Voluntary Controlled Primary 
Schools

Appendix B: Admission Arrangements for Community Secondary Schools
Appendix C: Co-ordinated admission scheme for primary schools 2021/22
Appendix D: Co-ordinated admission scheme for secondary schools 2021/22
Appendix E: In-Year co-ordinated admissions scheme for 2021/22
Appendix F: School Published Admission Numbers (PANs)

12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

School Admissions Code 2014

Page 100



Appendix A
Admission Arrangements for

Community and Voluntary-Controlled Primary Schools
2021/2022

ENTITLEMENT
All three and four year olds are entitled to a free early education place before they reach 
statutory school age (the beginning of the school term immediately following the child’s 
fifth birthday). Some two year olds are also entitled to free education if they meet the 
entitlement criteria.

Children are admitted into Reception in the September following their fourth birthday. 
Parents can request that the date their child is admitted to the school is deferred until later 
in the school year or until the term in which the child reaches compulsory school age. 
Parents can request that their child takes up the place part-time until the child reaches 
compulsory school age. The admission criteria will apply to all children seeking a school 
place, whatever their term of entry.  The place offered will be reserved on condition that it 
is taken up within the same school year. 

Admissions of summer born children may be deferred to the following September but in 
those cases children may be offered a place to enter Year 1 unless an application has 
been made and agreed by the LA or the admitting authority in advance. The Local 
Authority will consider any application for a deferred entry into Reception of summer born 
children for the September following their fifth birthday. Such requests will be considered in 
accordance with the Local Authority’s ‘Guidance on the admission of summer born 
children’ and DfE Advice.

Children attending a school’s nursery are not guaranteed a place in the reception class 
and a separate application must be made. 

PUPILS WITH AN EDUCATION, HEALTH AND CARE PLAN
The admission of pupils with an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) is dealt with by 
a separate procedure.  Such children are dealt with through a separate legislative process 
and without reference to the oversubscription criteria below. Children who have an EHCP 
which names a specific school, will be admitted to that school. 

TIE BREAK
When demand exceeds places in any of the following policies, the distance between the 
child’s home and school, measured by a straight line distance from the Ordnance Survey 
address point of the home to the main entrance to the school building, will be used to 
decide who is given a place; those living nearest being given the available places. Where 
the offer of places to applicants with equi-distant addresses would lead to 
oversubscription, the decision of who will be offered the place will be made by random 
selection.

MULTIPLE BIRTHS
Where a parents of multiple births (twins, triplets etc) request admission and only one of 
the siblings can be offered a place, the remaining siblings will also be offered places above 
the admission number.

Page 101



ADMISSION POLICIES

A)       Schools with Priority Admission Areas 

The following schools have priority admission areas; maps of these areas can be viewed 
at the respective schools or on the Bradford Council website: 

Addingham, Ben Rhydding, Cottingley Village, Eldwick, Long Lee primary schools. 

Where the number of preferences for a school exceeds the number of places available, 
priority will be given to children in the following categories:

1. Looked after children or children who were previously looked after but ceased to be 
so because they were adopted or became subject to a residence or special 
guardianship order (see Note 1)

2. Children who were Previously Looked After Children outside of England and Wales 
who were adopted (see Note 2)

3.  Children who have exceptional social or medical needs, supported by a written 
recommendation from the child’s paediatrician/consultant or professional from 
Children’s Services. The letter must explain why the school is the only suitable 
school to meet the child’s needs and why no other school could provide the 
appropriate support for the child. 

4. Children who have a brother or sister, living at the same address and who will still be 
attending the school at the time of admission. (see Note 3)

5. Children whose home address is within the school’s priority admission area*. (see 
Note 4)

6. All other children.

* For Cottingley Village and Eldwick primary schools, criterion 4 above will apply first for 
the whole of priority area one and then for the whole of priority area two; if there are 
remaining unallocated places, criterion 5 will then be applied.

B) All other community schools and All Saints CE (Bradford)

Where the number of preferences for a school exceeds the number of places available, 
priority will be given to children in the following categories:

1 Looked after children or children who were previously looked after but ceased to be 
so because they were adopted or became subject to a residence or special 
guardianship order (see Note 1). 

2 Children who were Previously Looked After Children outside of England and Wales 
who were adopted (see Note 2)

3 Children who have exceptional social or medical needs, supported by a written 
recommendation from the child’s paediatrician/consultant or professional from 
Children’s Services. The letter must explain why the school is the only suitable school 

Page 102



to meet the child’s needs and why no other school could provide the appropriate 
support for the child.

4   Sisters and brothers of children living at the same address, who are at present on roll 
at the school, and will still be attending the school at the time of admission (see Note 
3).

5     All other children.

C)    Bowling Park Primary School (Community School)

Application Procedure
Bowling Park Primary School operates on two sites: 60 places at the New Cross Street 
site and 30 places at the Usher Street site. Parents must indicate which site they are 
applying for by naming the site on the online  common application form by using the 
‘Notes’ available on the online system. Where the number of preferences for either site 
exceeds the number of places available at that site, the oversubscription criteria below will 
first be applied in relation to that site to determine which applicants for that site will be 
offered places. In the event of a place not being offered at the preferred site, the 
oversubscription criteria will then be applied in relation to the other site.  Applicants will 
only be considered for both sites if both sites are preferenced on the online common 
application form in the ‘Notes’ of the application form.

Oversubscription Criteria

1 Looked after children or children who were previously looked after but ceased to be 
so because they were adopted or became subject to a residence or special 
guardianship order (see Note 1).

2 Children who were Previously Looked After Children outside of England and Wales 
who were adopted (see Note 2)

3 Children who have exceptional social or medical needs, supported by a written 
recommendation from the child’s paediatrician/consultant or professional from 
Children’s Services. The letter must explain why the school is the only suitable 
school to meet the child’s needs and why no other school could provide the 
appropriate support for the child.

4 Sisters and brothers of children living at the same address, who are at present on 
roll at the school, and will still be attending that at the time of admission (see Note 
3).

5 All other children.

Late and refused applications and in-year admissions
Late or refused applicants and applicants for any other year group that is full, may be 
placed on a waiting list for Bowling Park School, at parent’s request.  The oversubscription 
criteria above will be used to determine who will be given an available place at either site.  
In some circumstances, this may result in places being offered to siblings at different sites. 
In those circumstances, parents can request that their child be moved to the preferred site 

Page 103



at a later stage if a place becomes available.

Appeals
Where a place cannot be offered at either site, parents have the right to appeal for a place 
at Bowling Park Primary School to the Independent Appeals Panel.  Parents do not have 
the right to appeal for place at a particular site. Where a place at the school is granted on 
appeal, the headteacher will decide at which site the pupil will be placed.  Every effort will 
be made to place siblings at the same site.

E) Voluntary-controlled Church of England schools

The admission criteria below apply for the following schools: 

Burley & Woodhead CE St Matthew’s CE
Low Moor CE  
St Luke’s CE  

Where the number of preferences for a school exceeds the number of places available, 
priority will be given to children in the following categories:

1. Looked after children or children who were previously looked after but ceased to be 
so because they were adopted or became subject to a residence or special 
guardianship order (see Note 1).

2. Children who were Previously Looked After Children outside of England and Wales 
who were adopted (see Note 2)

3. Children who have exceptional social or medical needs, supported by a written 
recommendation from the child’s paediatrician/consultant or professional from 
Children’s Services. The letter must explain why the school is the only suitable 
school to meet the child’s needs and why no other school could provide the 
appropriate support for the child.

4. Sisters and brothers of children living at the same address who are at present on 
roll at the school and will still be attending the school at the time of admission (see 
Note 3).

5. Children of parents who are members* of the Church of England or other Christian 
denominations for whom the preferred school is the nearest Church of England 
school to the home address (see * below).

6. All other children.

* For admission under criterion 4, parents will be asked to demonstrate membership of the 
appropriate Christian denomination by submitting with their application, a letter from their 
minister or other church leader confirming the parents’ regular and frequent attendance at 
church. 

F)  All Saints CE Primary School (Ilkley) - voluntary-controlled 

Page 104



Where the number of preferences for the school exceeds the number of places available, 
priority will be given to children in the following categories:

1. Looked after children or children who were previously looked after but ceased to 
be so because they were adopted or became subject to a residence or special 
guardianship order (see Note 1)

2. Children who were Previously Looked After Children outside of England and 
Wales who were adopted (see Note 2)

3. Siblings of children resident at the same address who are at present on roll at 
the school and who will still be attending the school at the time of admission.

4. Up to 50% of the remaining places will be allocated to the children of parents 
who are practicing members of the Church of England or other Christian 
denominations for whom All Saints’ C of E Primary School Ilkley is the nearest 
Church of England school to the home address in the following priority order. 
(Note 4nand Note 6)

a. Weekly Worship
b. Fortnightly Worship
c. Monthly Worship

5. All other children.

NOTES

1. A ‘looked after child’ is a child who is in the care of the local authority, or being 
provided with accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their social 
services functions (as defined in the Children Act 1989).

2. A ‘previously looked after child’ is a child who has been in ‘state care’ outside of 
England and Wales, accommodated by a public authority, a religious organisation 
or any other organisation the sole or main purpose of which is to benefit society and 
legally adopted.

3. The terms “siblings” refers to children who live with the same family at the same 
address. Children living with the same family e.g. foster children and step-sisters 
and brothers are also included. Cousins are not siblings.

4. In order to meet this criterion, parents will be required to complete a Supplementary 
Information Form (SIF), signed by their Vicar or Church Leader, confirming their 
attendance at the church over the last two years. This requires the personal 
involvement of the family, including the child for whom the application is made, in 
the worship and life of a Church of England Church, or that of any member of the 
Churches Together in Britain and Ireland, or any other recognised Trinitarian 
Church.  Priority will be given on the basis of how frequent attendance at worship.

5. ‘Home address’ refers to the child’s permanent home at the date of admission.  
Where the child lives with split parents who have shared responsibility, it is for the 

Page 105



parents to determine which address to use when applying for a primary school. 
Proof of residency may be required at any time during or after the allocation 
process.

6. “Nearest Church of England School” is measured by a straight line distance from 
the main entrance of the home to the main entrance of the nearest Church of 
England primary school, including those in other local authorities.

7. Proximity to school is used as a tie-breaker, those living closest being given priority. 
When demand exceeds places in any of the criteria, the distance between the 
child’s home and school, measured by a straight line distance from the Ordnance 
Survey address point of the home to the main entrance to the school building, will 
be used to decide who is given a place; those living nearest being given the 
available places. Where the offer of places to applicants with equi-distant addresses 
would lead to oversubscription, the decision of who will be offered the place will be 
made by random selection by Local Authority officers. 

8. Multiple Births – where the parents of children of multiple births (twins, triplets etc) 
request admission and only one of the siblings can be offered a place, the 
remaining siblings will also be offered places above the admission number.

Page 106



Appendix B
Admission Arrangements for

Titus Salts School 
2021/2022

The Published Admission Number (PAN) for Titus Salt School is 250. The school will admit 
up to this number using the following admission criteria:

Pupils with an Education, Health and Care Plan
The admission of pupils with an Education, Health and Care Plan is dealt with by a 
separate procedure.  Such children will be admitted to the named school named without 
reference to the oversubscription criteria below.

Tie Break
When demand exceeds places in any of the following criteria, the distance between the 
child’s home and school, measured by a straight line distance from the Ordnance Survey 
address point of the home to the main entrance to the school building, will be used to 
decide who is given a place; those living nearest being given the available places. Where 
the offer of places to applicants with equi-distant addresses would lead to 
oversubscription, the decision of who will be offered the place will be made by random 
selection. This will be by the drawing of lots by a Local Authority officer.

Multiple Births
Where a family of multiple births (twins, triplets etc.) request admission and only one of the 
siblings can be offered a place, the remaining siblings will also be offered places above the 
admission number.

Oversubscription Criteria
Where the number of preferences for a school exceeds the number of places available, 
priority will be given to children in the following categories:

1. Looked after children or children who were previously looked after but ceased to be 
so because they were adopted or became subject to a residence or special 
guardianship order (see Note 1).

2. Children who were Previously Looked After Children outside of England and Wales 
who were adopted (see Note 2)

3.  Children who have exceptional social or medical needs, supported by a written 
recommendation from the child’s paediatrician/consultant or professional from 
Children’s Services. The letter must explain why the school is the only suitable 
school to meet the child’s needs and why no other school could provide the 
appropriate support.

4. Children whose home address in the school’s priority admission area who have a 
brother or sister, attending from the same address, who are at present in years 7 – 
10 and who will still be attending the school at the time of admission. (See Note 3).

5. Other children whose home address is in the school’s priority admission area (see 
Note 3).

Page 107



6. Children whose home address is outside the school’s priority admission area who 
have a brother or sister, attending from the same address, who are at present in 
years 7 – 10 and who will still be attending the school at the time of admission.

7. All other children (see Note 3).

NOTES

1. A ‘looked after child’ is a child who is in the care of the local authority, or being 
provided with accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of their social 
services functions. A previously  ‘looked after child’ who is no longer looked after, in 
England and Wales, because he/she is the subject of an adoption, special 
guardianship or child arrangements order which includes arrangements relating to 
with whom the child is to live.

2. A ‘previously looked after child’ who has been in ‘state care’ outside of England and 
Wales, accommodated by a public authority, a religious organisation or any other 
organisation the sole or main purpose of which is to benefit society and legally 
adopted.

3. The term ‘sisters’ and ‘brothers’ refers to children who live with the same family at 
the same address. Children living with the same family e.g. foster, adopted children 
and step-sisters and brothers are also included, cousins are not siblings.

4. ‘Home address’ refers to the child’s permanent home at the date of admission.  
Where the child lives with split parents who have shared responsibility, it is for the 
parents to determine which address to use when applying for a secondary school. 
Proof of residency may be required at any time during or after the allocation 
process.

Titus Salts School Admission Policy for Entry into Sixth Form
Entry requirements are set by each school and full details of these can be found in the 
respective schools’ sixth form prospectus. Students not currently on roll of the school who 
wish to join the sixth form must complete an application form and return it to the school by 
the date specified.

Year 11 students currently on roll at the school may proceed to Year 12 where the entry 
requirements are met.

The sixth form prospectus can be found at https://www.titussaltschool.co.uk/sixth-form or 
contact the school direct for a copy.

Page 108

https://www.titussaltschool.co.uk/sixth-form


Appendix C

Co-ordinated Admission
Scheme for the Bradford Metropolitan District 

Area

For applications made during the normal admissions 
round 

for Primary Schools
2021-2022

Page 109



1. INTRODUCTION

This scheme has been prepared in accordance with The Schools Standards and Framework 
Act 1998 as amended by the Education Act 2002 and the School Admissions (Co-ordination of 
Admission Arrangements) Regulations 2007 (as amended).  The regulations state that all local 
authorities (LAs) must draw up a scheme which co-ordinates admission arrangements covering 
all maintained primary schools (but not special schools) in its area. 

The co-ordinated scheme is designed to ensure that every parent of a pupil living in the 
Bradford district, who has applied for a primary school place during the normal admission 
round, receives an offer of one school place on the same day.  All preferences must be 
expressed by an online application via their local authority website or in exceptional 
circumstances on a ‘paper’ form and the offer of a place is the responsibility of the ‘home LA’. 

Each LA is required to exchange information on preferences for a school outside the LA in 
which the pupil lives, with the ‘home’ authority.  Bradford will co-ordinate with its neighbouring 
authorities: Kirklees, North Yorkshire, Calderdale and Leeds. There is an agreed timetable 
between the neighbouring authorities and own admission authority schools and academies 
within the Bradford Metropolitan District. The scheme requires that all primary school 
allocations must be communicated to parents on the national offer date which is 16 April (or the 
next working day) each year.

2.    APPLYING FOR A SCHOOL PLACE

a) All Bradford Metropolitan District Council (BMDC) residents must apply for any primary school 
maintained by BMDC, or any infant, primary or junior school in any other local authority on the 
common application form  (CAF) by using the online application system via the Bradford 
Council website, www.bradford.gov.uk. Paper forms will only be available in exceptional 
circumstances from the Admissions Team, Margaret McMillan Tower, Princes Road Bradford 
BD1 1NN from mid November.  Parents of children resident within the Bradford district but 
attending a nursery school within another authority or attending any private pre-school setting 
will be sent an Admissions booklet by post (based on data provided from various sources), 
however it remains the parents legal responsibility to ensure they apply online and on time, 
regardless of whether they receive any information from the Local Authority. 

 . 

b) Any parents applying for a church aided school or academy, for faith reasons, will need to fill in 
a supplementary information form (SIF) in addition to completing the CAF online. This form 
is only to be used where additional information is required in order for the governing body to 
apply their admission criteria, i.e. faith grounds. Copies of SIFs are available from individual 
schools. The completed SIFs must be returned by the specified closing date to the relevant 
school.  If a CAF has been completed but not a SIF, the preference is still valid and must be 
considered. Applicants who have not completed a SIF or who have done so but not provided 
the required evidence of their faith, would be ranked lower than those that have provided 
evidence of their faith. An application cannot be considered without a completed CAF.

c) Dixons Music Primary require parents applying for one of the six music places to complete their 
SIF which must be returned to the school by their specified closing date (see their admission 
policy).

d)   For pupils resident in another LA, parents must use the online CAF or complete a paper CAF 
through their home LA.

e)   The closing date for all applications is 15 January.

Page 110

http://www.bradford.gov.uk/


f)   It is the responsibility of each pre-school setting to distribute admissions information to parents 
of children attending their nursery.  Primary schools should also contact any parent who has 
expressed an interest in a reception place, whose child is not attending the nursery, informing 
them that information is available from school, is on the Bradford Council website and is also 
available from the Admissions Team.

g)   All early years providers must ensure that a child starting their nursery during the school year is 
given a booklet and advised to complete an online application. Parents applying after the 
closing date or due to an offset request the previous year can only apply on a paper CAF and 
cannot apply online.  All paper CAFs and late applications must be forwarded to the 
Admissions Team as soon as possible. 

3.    PROCEDURE

Stage 1

a) Week beginning 9 November 2020, summary information for parents in the form of a booklet 
will be available to parents of nursery children and will be distributed to all Bradford LA nursery, 
primary schools and early years settings. Parents will be required to apply online except in 
exceptional circumstances when a paper form will be available through the Admissions Team. 
It is the school or nursery’s responsibility to ensure that the booklets are given to all relevant 
aged pupils in their nursery. Full details of the admissions process and arrangements are in the 
'Guide for Parents' which is available on the Bradford Council website.

b) Parents may apply for up to five primary schools and must apply online or return the CAF to 
their child’s primary school, to their first preference school or to the Admissions Team by 15 
January. 

c) Parents are required to return the completed SIFs to the relevant school by 15 January at the 
latest or by the closing date outlined in the individual schools admissions policy (e.g. 
Dixons Music Academy’s).

d)   Any supporting evidence for an application regarding looked after or formerly looked after 
children or from relevant professionals for children applying under social or medical needs 
must be sent to the Admissions Team by the 15 January. 

Stage 2                       
                                           
a)   By Friday 5 February 2021, the Admissions Team will forward preferences for schools within 

other LAs. Other LAs will send the Admissions Team preferences made by parents resident in 
their LA for a Bradford school. These details will be sent via the secure data transfer website. 

b) By Friday 12 February 2021, the Admissions Team will forward preferences (including those 
from out-of-authority pupils) to own admission authority schools for them to apply their 
admission criteria. The order of preference will not be included as this is not relevant when 
schools are applying their admission criteria. These details will be uploaded on to Bradford 
Schools Online for schools to view.

c) By Friday 26 February 2021, each admission authority school will apply its own admission 
criteria and return to the Admissions Team a list of all applicants, in rank order, in accordance 
with the admission criteria. The information can be sent via the secure data transfer website or 
by email if password protected. 

Page 111



Stage 3           

a) By Friday 5 March 2021, in the first cycle of exchange of information, the Admissions Team 
will have:

 notified other LAs whether a place can be offered in a Bradford school to applicants 
resident in their LA;

 received information from other LAs regarding offers of places to a Bradford resident;
 made provisional decisions based on information from other admission authorities and 

the ranked order of schools applied for. Where a child is eligible for a place at more 
than one school, they will be offered the one ranked higher on the application form.

b) By Friday 19 March 2021, in the final exchange of offers with other LAs, places will be 
allocated for all Bradford district pupils, including those not given any of their preferred schools.

c) By Monday 12 April 2021, pupil allocation lists will be available on Bradford Schools Online for 
primary schools to view. 

d)  On 16 April parents who applied online will receive emails confirming their allocated school.  All 
other applicants will receive a letter after 16th April via Royal Mail.

e) On 16 April any applicant requiring a letter should receive the offer in writing. All letters will be 
posted to the child’s home address. Where the allocated school is not the highest ranked 
school, the email/letter will explain the reasons why. The email/letter will also inform parents 
about the waiting lists and their statutory rights of appeal against the decisions to refuse places 
at their preferred schools. 

f) By 30 April 2021, parents must accept the place offered by completing and returning an 
acceptance slip to the allocated school. Waiting list forms must be returned to the Admissions 
Team by the same date.

g) Monday 17 May 2021, deadline by which parents should return appeal forms. 

h) Appeals received by the deadline date will be heard within 40 school days during June and 
July and by 19th July 2021 at the latest, in accordance with the School Appeals Code of 
Practice 

4.    LATE APPLICATIONS AND CHANGES OF PREFERENCE

Where circumstances justify (exceptional circumstances supported by proof and agreed by two 
senior officers and/or school staff) a late application, will be considered as ‘received on time’ 
and dealt with as those received by the deadline.  Any form received by primary schools after 
the deadline should be date stamped and returned to the Admissions Team as soon as 
possible.  Once parents have made their five preferences, they cannot be changed without an 
exceptional reason/ change in circumstances for doing so, for example if the family has 
recently moved address and the preferences are no longer ‘local’. 

Once preferences have been sent to other admission authorities and LAs, late applications will 
be considered after all those that were accepted as on time.   

After allocations have been completed, an unsuccessful application or dissatisfaction with the 
allocated school will not be considered reasons to allow further applications to be made during 
the ‘normal admissions round’, i.e. until 31 August each year. However, parents may submit a 
late application for an under-subscribed school or where a parent has applied for less than five 
schools, late applications up to a total of five preferences will be accepted.

Page 112



5.    WHERE PREFERENCES CANNOT BE MET

In the event that an offer cannot be made for any of the preferences expressed by a parent 
resident in the Bradford LA area, a place will be allocated to their child at another school with 
places available.  This may include church schools or a single-sex school. The Admissions 
Team consider which is the most appropriate alternative school taking into consideration all 
children without a school place, where applicants live, schools with available places and 
available bus routes (if applicable). 

6. WAITING LISTS

Community schools
The Admissions Team will maintain waiting lists for all community and voluntary-controlled 
schools until the end of the 2021-2021 academic year. Parents can request that their child is 
placed on the waiting list for any of the schools for which they have applied. 

A vacancy occurs when the allocated number falls below the Published Admission Number 
(PAN) for that school. Places will be allocated from the waiting list in accordance with the 
admission criteria and not when a name is entered on the list.  It is possible for names to fall 
down the list if other names are added from later applicants who rank higher on the admission 
criteria.  

      Voluntary-aided, Foundation, Trust schools and Academies
The School Admissions Code states that waiting lists must be maintained at least until the end 
of the Autumn term (December).  Once the allocation letters have been sent out by the 
Admissions Team on behalf of all admission authorities, any questions about waiting lists 
should be made to the relevant school.  If there is pupil movement after allocations have been 
made and voluntary-aided, foundation schools and academies are able to offer additional 
places, they must inform the Admissions Team. It is for each admission authority to determine 
whether they will maintain waiting lists beyond the Autumn term. 

By agreement, the Admissions Team will maintain waiting lists for voluntary-aided, foundation, 
trust schools or academies, if requested to do so.

7. RIGHT OF APPEAL

a) Any parent whose child has been refused a place at any of the schools applied for, has the 
right to appeal against that decision to an independent appeal panel. Parents cannot appeal for 
schools for which no application has been made or for changes of preferences that have not 
been permitted.

b) A parent who applies late and is refused their preferred school has the right of appeal.  Whilst 
we will endeavour to process all appeals as soon as possible, applications and/or appeals 
received after the relevant deadline dates may not be heard until after the start of the academic 
year.

c) Repeat appeals will not be considered for the same school within the same academic year 
unless there has been a significant change in circumstances such as a house move.  Repeat 
appeals are authorised by senior officers within the Admissions Team or the relevant governing 
body (for own admission authority schools).   

Page 113



8.   IN-YEAR APPLICATIONS AND TRANSFERS

a)   ‘In-year applications’ are defined as applications for admission to Reception which are 
submitted on or after the first day of the school year of admission, or applications for any other 
year group.

b)   A separate co-ordinated scheme for in-year admissions sets out this process, however all 
Catholic schools and some Church of England VA schools deal with their own in-year 
applications.

c)   Parents who wish their children to go to a different school once he or she has started should 
discuss this with the child’s current headteacher. Transfers can only normally take place at the 
start of a full term, unless there are special reasons.  

9. FAIR ACCESS PROTOCOL 

      Each LA must have a Fair Access Protocol, agreed with the majority of schools in its area to 
ensure that outside the normal admissions round, unplaced children, especially the most 
vulnerable, are offered a place at a suitable school as quickly as possible. The Fair Access 
Protocol also ensures that all schools admit their ‘fair share’ of children with challenging 
behaviour and who are vulnerable. In these circumstances, all schools may admit above their 
PAN but must not breach class size unless it is an excepted pupil, as outlined in the Code. The 
operation of the Fair Access Protocol is outside the arrangements of co-ordination and is 
triggered when a parent of an eligible child has not secured a school place under normal in-
year admission procedures, even following the outcome of an appeal. The protocol can be 
viewed on the Bradford Council website.

Page 114



PRIMARY SCHOOL ADMISSIONS TIMETABLE 2021-2022

Application process opens
Monday 11 November 2020

Closing date for applications
15 January 2021

Details of applications sent to other local authorities
By Friday 5 February 2021

Details of applications for Bradford district VA, foundation and academies sent to relevant schools
By Friday 12 February 2021

VA, foundation schools and academies to provide the Admissions Team with ranked lists of offers
By Friday 26 February 2021

First cycle of exchange of potential offers with other local authorities 
By Friday 5 March 2021

Final exchange of provisional allocations with other local authorities
By Friday 19 March 2021

List of allocated pupils available on BSO (confidential until national offer day, 16 April) 
By Monday 12 April 2021

Online applicants receive an email confirming allocated school 
 16 April National Offer Day

Paper applicants are sent an allocation letter via Royal Mail
16 April 2021

Deadline for return of acceptance slips/ waiting list forms
Friday 30 April 2021

Closing date for return of appeal forms
Monday 17 May 2021

Appeal hearings take place
June and July 2021

Waiting lists are closed
31 July 2022

Page 115



Appendix E

Co-ordinated Admission
Scheme for the Bradford Metropolitan District 

Area

For applications made during the normal admissions 
round 

for Secondary Schools
2021-2022

Page 116



1. INTRODUCTION

This scheme has been prepared in accordance with The Schools Standards and Framework 
Act 1998 as amended by the Education Act 2002 and the School Admissions (Co-ordination of 
Admission Arrangements) Regulations 2007 (as amended).  The regulations state that all Local 
Authorities (LA’s) must draw up a scheme which co-ordinates admission arrangements 
covering all maintained secondary schools (but not special schools) in its area. 

The co-ordinated scheme is designed to ensure that every parent of a pupil living in the 
Bradford district, who has applied for a secondary school place during the normal admission 
round, receives an offer of one school place on the same day.  All preferences must be made 
by an online application via their local authority website or on a paper common application form 
and the offer of a place is the responsibility of the ‘home LA’. 

Each LA is required to exchange information on preferences for a school outside the LA in 
which the pupil lives, with the ‘home’ authority.  Bradford will co-ordinate with its neighbouring 
authorities: Kirklees, North Yorkshire, Calderdale and Leeds. There is an agreed timetable 
between the neighbouring authorities and own admission authority schools and academies 
within the Bradford Metropolitan District. The scheme requires that all secondary school 
allocations must be communicated to parents on the national offer date which is 1 March (or 
the next working day).

The scheme does not apply to special schools or sixth form applications.

Wherever the phrase ‘common application form’ (CAF) is used, this refers to the online 
application system www.bradford.gov.uk/admissions . A paper version is available from the LA 
but only for those who can demonstrate an inability to use the online system. Parents are able 
to use computers in public Local Authority buildings e.g. libraries or make an appointment with 
officers from the Admissions Team for assistance.

2.    APPLYING FOR A SCHOOL PLACE

a) All Bradford Metropolitan District Council (BMDC) residents must apply for any secondary 
school maintained by BMDC or by any other LA on a CAF. Parents should apply online via the 
Bradford Council website, www.bradford.gov.uk. Paper forms are available from the 
Admissions Team, Margaret McMillan Tower, Princes Way, Bradford BD1 1NN.  Parents of 
pupils resident within the Bradford district but attending a primary school within another 
authority will be sent an admissions booklet by post (based on data provided by other LA’s). 

b) Any parents applying for a school or academy, for faith reasons or that require fair banding 
assessments; will need to fill in supplementary information forms (SIF’s) in addition to 
completing the common application form. Supplementary information forms are only to be used 
where additional information is required in order for the governing body to apply their admission 
criteria. The SIF is available from individual schools. The completed SIF must be returned by 
the closing date specified by the relevant school.  If a CAF has been completed but not a SIF, 
the preference is still valid and must be considered. Applicants who have not completed a SIF 
or who have done so but not provided the required evidence of their faith, will be ranked lower 
than those that have provided evidence of their faith. An application cannot be considered 
without a completed CAF. 

c) Bradford Girls Grammar School and some of the Dixons Multi-Academy Trust schools use ‘Fair 
Banding’ and require applicants to complete a SIF in order to register for their non-verbal 
reasoning tests. 

d)   For pupils resident in another LA area but attending a Bradford LA primary school, parents 
should apply online through their home LA.

Page 117

http://www.bradford.gov.uk/admissions
http://www.bradford.gov.uk/


e) The closing date for applications is 31 October. Parents should consult individual 
schools regarding the closing date for SIF.

f)    Primary schools should ensure that a child starting in year 6 during the school year is given a 
booklet advising parents how they apply online. If this is after the closing date a paper form will 
need to be completed. All late applications must be forwarded to the Admissions Team as soon 
as possible.

g)  Catholic secondary schools should liaise with their feeder catholic primary schools to ensure 
that all year 6 pupils are supplied with a SIF. 

3.    PROCEDURE

Stage 1

a) Week beginning 7 September 2020, a booklet containing summary information for parents 
will be distributed to all Bradford LA primary schools for their Year 6 children. Parents will be 
required to apply online except in exceptional circumstances when a paper form will be 
available through the Admissions Team. It is the schools’ responsibility to ensure that these are 
given to all Year 6 pupils in their school. Full details of the admissions process and 
arrangements are in the 'Guide for Parents' which is available on the Bradford Council website.

b) Parents may apply for up to five secondary schools and must apply online or return the 
completed CAF to their child’s primary school or to the Admissions Team by 31 October. 

c) Parents are required to return the completed SIF to the relevant school or academy by the 
specified closing dates. 

d)   Any required evidence regarding looked after or adopted children or from relevant 
professionals for children with social or medical needs must be sent to the Admissions Team 
by 31 October.

Stage 2                         
                                         
a)   By Monday 16 November 2020, the Admissions Team will forward preferences for schools 

within other LAs. Other LAs will send the Admissions Team details of preferences made by 
parents resident in their LA for a Bradford school. These details will be sent via the secure data 
transfer website. 

b) Week commencing 23 November 2020, the Admissions Team will forward details of 
preferences (including those from out-of-authority pupils) to ‘own admission authority’ schools 
and academies for them to apply their own admission criteria. The order of preference will not 
be included as this is not relevant when schools are applying their admission criteria. These 
details will be uploaded on to Bradford Schools Online (BSO) for schools to view.

c) By Friday 11 December 2020, each admission authority school will apply its own admission 
criteria and return to the Admissions Team a list of all applicants, in rank order, in accordance 
with the admission criteria. The information can be sent via the secure data transfer website or 
by email if password protected. 

Stage 3           

a) By Friday 15 January 2021, in the first cycle of exchange of information, the Admissions Team 
will have:

Page 118



 notified other LAs whether a place can be offered in a Bradford maintained secondary 
school to applicants resident in their LA;

 received information from other LAs regarding offers of places to a Bradford resident;
 made provisional decisions based on information from other admission authorities and 

the ranked order of schools applied for. Where a child is eligible for a place at more 
than one school, they will be offered the one ranked higher on the application form.

d) By Monday 8 February 2021, in the final cycle of exchange of offers with other LAs, places will 
be allocated for all Bradford district pupils, including those not given any of their preferred 
schools.

c) On Monday 22 February 2021, final allocation lists will be available on Bradford Schools 
Online for primary and secondary schools to view. Parents who apply online will be sent an 
email on 1 March National Offer Day. Parents who applied on a paper form will be sent a 
letter on 1 March via Royal Mail, as will any parent who applied online but who indicated they 
did not wish to receive an email, Parents who are unable to access their email or who are 
waiting for their letter to be delivered via the Royal Mail, will not be informed over the telephone 
of their allocated school. Where the allocated school is not the highest ranked school, the letter 
will explain the reasons why. The letter will also inform parents about waiting lists and their 
statutory rights of appeal against the decisions to refuse places at their preferred schools. 

d) Some schools within Bradford and other LAs may require parents to accept the offer. It will be 
made clear where this is the case and failure to accept the place by the specified deadline may 
result in the place being withdrawn and offered to another child. 

e) By Monday 15 March 2021, parents need to accept offers of places (if required) and return 
waiting list forms for their preferred schools to the Admissions Team.

f) Monday 12 April 2021, deadline by which parents should return appeal forms if they wish to 
have them heard before the end of the academic year.

g) Appeals received by the deadline date will be heard within 40 school days during June and 
July and by 15th June 2021 at the latest, in accordance with the School Appeals Code of 
Practice 

4.    LATE APPLICATIONS AND CHANGES OF PREFERENCE

After allocations have been made on 1 March, an unsuccessful application or dissatisfaction 
with the allocated school will not be considered reasons to allow further applications to be 
made during the ‘normal admissions round’, i.e. until 31 August each year. However, parents 
may submit a late application for an under-subscribed school or where a parent has applied for 
less than five schools, late applications up to a total of five preferences will be accepted.

Where circumstances justify (exceptional circumstances supported by proof and agreed by two 
senior officers and/or school staff) a late application, will be considered as ‘received on time’ 
and dealt with as those received by the deadline.  Any form received by primary schools after 
the deadline should be date stamped and returned to the Admissions Team as soon as 
possible.  Once parents have made their five preferences, they cannot be changed without an 
exceptional reason/ change in circumstances for doing so, for example if the family has 
recently moved address and the preferences are no longer ‘local’. 

Once preferences have been sent to other admission authorities and LAs, late applications will 
be considered after all those that were accepted as on time.   

Page 119



5.    WHERE PREFERENCES CANNOT BE MET

In the event that an offer cannot be made for any of the preferences expressed by a parent 
resident in the Bradford LA area, a place will be allocated to their child at another school with 
places available.  This may include church schools or a single-sex school. The Admissions 
Team consider which is the most appropriate alternative school taking into consideration all 
children without a school place, where applicants live, schools with available places and 
available bus routes (if applicable).

6. WAITING LISTS

Waiting lists must be maintained for all schools until 31st December 2022, in accordance with 
the Code of Practice.

Community schools
The Admissions Team will maintain waiting lists for all community and voluntary-controlled 
schools until the end of the 2021-2022 academic year. Parents can request that their child is 
placed on the waiting list for any of the schools for which they have applied. 

A vacancy occurs when the allocated number falls below the Published Admission Number 
(PAN) for that school. Places will be allocated from the waiting list in accordance with the 
admission criteria and not when a name is entered on the list.  It is possible for names to fall 
down the list if other names are added from later applicants who rank higher on the admission 
criteria.        

      Voluntary-aided, Foundation, Trust schools and Academies
Once the allocation letters have been sent out by the Admissions Team on behalf of all 
admission authorities, any questions about waiting lists should be made to the relevant school.  
If there is pupil movement after allocations have been made and voluntary-aided, foundation 
schools and academies are able to offer additional places, they must inform the Admissions 
Team. It is for each admission authority to determine whether they will maintain waiting lists 
beyond the Autumn term. 

By agreement, the Admissions Team will maintain waiting lists for voluntary-aided, foundation, 
trust schools or academies, if requested to do so. 

      
7. RIGHT OF APPEAL

a) Any parent whose child has been refused a place at any of the schools applied for, has the 
right to appeal against that decision to an independent appeal panel. Parents cannot appeal for 
schools for which no application has been made or for changes of preferences that have not 
been permitted.

b) A parent who applies late and is refused their preferred school has the right of appeal.  Whilst 
we will endeavour to process all appeals as soon as possible, applications and/or appeals 
received after the relevant deadline dates may not be heard until after the start of the academic 
year.

c) Repeat appeals will not be considered for the same school within the same academic year 
unless there has been a significant change in circumstances such as a house removal.  Repeat 
appeals are authorised by senior officers within the Admissions Team or the relevant governing 
body (for own admission authority schools).   

Page 120



8.   IN-YEAR APPLICATIONS AND TRANSFERS

a)   ‘In-year applications’ are defined as applications for admission to Year 7 which are submitted 
on or after the first day of the school year of admission, or applications for any other year 
group.

b)   A separate co-ordinated scheme for in-year admissions sets out this process; however some 
secondary schools who are their own admitting authority deal with their own In Year 
Admissions directly.  Please refer to the In Year and Mid Year Admissions policies for further 
details. 

c)   Parents who wish their children to go to a different school once he or she has started should 
discuss this with the child’s current headteacher. Transfers can only normally take place at the 
start of a full term, unless there are special reasons.  

9. FAIR ACCESS PROTOCOL 

      Each LA must have a Fair Access Protocol, agreed with the majority of schools in its area to 
ensure that outside the normal admissions round, unplaced children, especially the most 
vulnerable, are offered a place at a suitable school as quickly as possible. The Fair Access 
Protocol also ensures that all schools admit their ‘fair share’ of children with challenging 
behaviour and who are vulnerable. In these circumstances, all schools may admit above their 
PAN but must not breach class size unless it is an excepted pupil, as outlined in the Code. The 
operation of the Fair Access Protocol is outside the arrangements of co-ordination and is 
triggered when a parent of an eligible child has not secured a school place under normal in-
year admission procedures, even following the outcome of an appeal. The protocol can be 
viewed on the Bradford Council website.

Page 121



SECONDARY SCHOOL ADMISSIONS TIMETABLE 2021-2022
Application process opens

Monday 7 September 2020

Closing date for applications
31 October

Details of applications sent to other local authorities
By Monday 16 November 2020

Details of applications for VA, foundation and academies sent to relevant schools
Week commencing 23 November 2020

VA, foundation schools and academies to provide the Admissions Team with ranked lists of offers
by Friday 13 December 2020

First cycle of exchange of potential offers with other local authorities 
by Friday 15 January 2021

Final exchange of provisional allocations with other local authorities
by Monday 8 February 2021

List of allocated pupils available on BSO from 22 February 2021
(confidential until national offer day  1 March 2021

Online applicants receive an email confirming allocated school
1 March 2021 National Offer Day 

Paper applicants are sent an allocation letter via Royal Mail on 1 March 2021

Deadline for return of acceptance slips/ waiting list forms
by Monday 15 March 2021

Closing date for return of appeal forms
Monday 12 April 2021

Appeal hearings take place 
May – June 2021

Waiting lists are closed 31 December 2021 

Page 122



Appendix E

In-year Co-ordinated 
Admissions Scheme & Mid Term Transfer Policy

For applications and mid-term transfers during 
the school year for all schools in the Bradford 

Metropolitan District Area
2021-2022

Page 123



1.      INTRODUCTION

Although there is no legal requirement to co-ordinate in year admissions, the Local Authority 
will continue to do so for all community and voluntary-controlled schools and any own 
admission authority school that wishes to participate in co-ordination. The In Year Co-
ordinated Admissions Scheme explains this process and is reviewed annually. 

An ‘in-year admission’ is defined as admissions to a school outside the normal transfer times 
or for a year group that is not the normal year of entry. For community and voluntary 
controlled schools, Bradford LA will co-ordinate admissions. The scheme does not apply to 
nursery schools, special schools or sixth form applications.

2.      APPLICATION FORMS

2.1    Bradford District residents who wish to apply for a community or voluntary-controlled school 
must complete the common in year application form.  Applications for own admission 
authority schools (voluntary-aided, foundation, trust schools and academies) for which the LA 
administer their in year applications, should also be made using the LA’s application form. 
The in year application form is available from the Admissions Team at Margaret McMillan 
Tower, Princes Way Bradford BD1 1NN. A copy of the form can also be downloaded from the 
Council’s website (www.bradford.gov.uk) or Bradford Schools Online 
https://bso.bradford.gov.uk/content/admissions).

2.2    Parents/carers will be asked to give reasons why they wish their child to transfer. The form 
also lists the Fair Access categories and the parent is required to tick any that apply to their 
child. Where a parent has requested a transfer of school within the Bradford district or from 
another authority but has not moved house, the Head of Year or a member of the Senior 
Leadership Team at the child’s current school, must complete Part Two of the form which 
asks for further information on the child to establish whether the transfer request should be 
dealt with through the Fair Access Protocol. If Part 2 is not completed the application process 
may be delayed if Fair Access placement is required.

2.4   Parents must return the completed application form to the Admissions Team. If any 
community or voluntary-controlled school receives an application or a request for a place 
direct from the parent, whether the school has places or not, the application should be 
forwarded to the Admissions Team. 

2.6    Applications for any Catholic school or Idle CE primary schools, must be made on the 
individual school’s application form which are available from the school and returned directly 
to the school. 

2.7   In accordance with the School Admissions Code, these schools must inform the LA’s 
Admission Team of every application made for their school and the outcome of the 
application and provide copies of any letters sent to the parent.  

3      NUMBERS ON ROLL
         All schools and academies are required to communicate the availability of places to the LA’s 

Admission Team when requested to do so. Admission officers will request updated numbers 
on roll in each year group from all schools on a regular basis, i.e. fortnightly. This will enable 
the Admissions Team to offer accurate advice to parents on the availability of school places 
in their area. In addition, schools should routinely inform the Admissions Team each time a 
child leaves the school and whether children allocated have been admitted.   

Page 124

http://www.bradford.gov.uk/
https://bso.bradford.gov.uk/content/admissions


4      APPLICATION PROCEDURES

4.1   Applications for community and voluntary-controlled schools

4.1.1 The LA’s Admissions Team (as the Admissions Authority for community and voluntary-
controlled schools) will determine whether an applicant can be offered a place in any of these 
schools. If there are more applications than places available in the year group, the 
Admissions Team will consider the application against its published ‘oversubscription criteria’.

4.1.2 Where a community or voluntary-controlled school is ranked higher on the application form 
and a place can be offered, the Admissions Team will aim to process the application within 
20 school days from receipt of the form.

4.1.3  If more than one school listed can be offered, the applicant will be offered a place at the 
school ranked highest on the application form.

4.1.4 If none of the schools listed can be offered, a place will be offered at an alternative available 
school, unless the child’s current school is within a reasonable distance. If this is the case, no 
other school will be offered.

4.1.5 Where any school has more than two places in the relevant year group and the parent has 
approached the school directly, the child may be admitted and the school then send 
notification of the application and the start date to the Admissions Team, if the school 
knows there is no waiting list.  If only one place is available or there is a waiting list, the 
school must contact the Admissions Team to establish whether there are any other 
applicants waiting to be processed.

4.2 Applications for own admission authority schools for whom the LA co-ordinates 
admissions

4.2.1 The Admissions Team will forward details of the application to the relevant school.  This will 
be done within 7 school days of receipt of the application and where the school is ranked 
higher than a community or voluntary-controlled school that could be offered. 

4.2.2 If, at any one time, there are more applicants than there are places in the year group or a 
waiting list, the school’s oversubscription criteria must be used to determine who will be 
offered the place. Where a vacancy exists and an application qualifies based on the school’s 
oversubscription criteria, the Admissions Team will inform the school; the governing body (or 
delegated persons to determine the application), as the admission authority, will confirm 
whether the applicant can be offered a place at their school.  

4.2.3 Following receipt of the application, the school must inform the Admissions Team whether 
the applicant can be offered a place within a maximum of five school days. (If the year group 
is full, the school should inform the Admissions Team immediately.) The applicant may be 
kept on the school’s waiting list if one is maintained.

4.2.4 Following receipt of the school’s decision, the Admissions Team will write to the parent 
informing them of the outcome of their application within five school days.  An offer of an 
alternative school will be made where appropriate. 

4.2.5 Where any school has more than two places in the relevant year group and the parent has 
approached the school directly, the child may be admitted and the school then send 
notification of the application and the start date to the Admissions Team, if the school 
knows there is no waiting list.  If only one place is available or there is a waiting list, the 
school must contact the Admissions Team to establish whether there are any other 
applicants waiting to be processed.

Page 125



4.3   Applications for Catholic schools and other own admission authority schools dealing 
with their own in year admissions

4.3.1 Applications should be made on the school’s own in year application form. 

4.3.2 Once any application has been considered by the school, the Admission Team must be 
notified of the details and outcome of the application and provided with copies of all 
correspondence sent to the parent regarding the outcome of the application.

4.3.3 Where a place is not available, the school must send details to the Admissions Team, with a 
copy of the refusal letter sent to the parent, who will then offer an alternative school if the 
child is not on roll at another local school.

 
4.4    Applications for schools in other local authorities     
                                                   
4.4.1   Parents resident in the Bradford district who wish to apply for a school maintained by 

another local authority must make direct contact with the relevant authority. Parents will be 
informed of the outcome of their application either by the relevant authority or the school 
applied for.

4.4.2 Residents in other local authorities who would like their child to attend a school in the 
Bradford LA must complete a Bradford In Year Application form. Parents will be informed 
by the Bradford Admissions Team, of the outcome.

4.4.3 Bradford will accept applications from other LA’s where parents are yet to move into the 
local area, in order to facilitate the allocation of a school place in a timely manner; proof of 
an impending move may be required before an offer is confirmed. If parents living in 
Bradford who are moving to other LA’s wish to make their applications through Bradford LA 
we will facilitate this, however it may be quicker for parents to approach those LA’s directly 
as not all LA’s co-ordinate In Year applications.

5. OFFERS OF SCHOOL PLACES 

5.1 Where the application is for a community, voluntary-controlled school or another admission 
authority school that the LA is co-ordinating admissions for, the Admissions Team will write to 
parents informing them of the result of their application. Parents will be given the opportunity 
to place their child on a waiting list and informed of their right of appeal if not given their 
preferred school.

5.2 When a school has been allocated, the Admissions Team will inform the relevant school that 
the offer has been made.

5.3 Parents will be required to contact the school to make an appointment, within five school 
days of the decision letter being sent.  The school must contact parents to chase up any 
parents who have failed to make an appointment or agree a start date. If a parent refuses the 
allocated school and no other school is available the allocation will remain unless the place is 
required due to a shortage of places in an area. Any appeal hearing will be informed of the 
refused allocation and of the nearest school with places. If an appeal for the preferred school 
is refused, the case may be referred to the Education Safeguarding Team.

5.4 Where the application is for a Catholic school or an own admission authority school that is 
dealing with its own in year admissions, they must confirm the offer in writing and inform the 
LA’s Admissions Team immediately.

Page 126



6      ADMISSION TO SCHOOL
Once a school place has been determined and the allocated school informed, the pupil 
should be admitted to the school within the following timescales:

i)    Pupils new to the district or who have moved house
      Pupils new to the Bradford district or who have had a significant house move (two miles 

under the age of eight, three miles over the age of eight) should normally be admitted to 
school within ten school days of the offer being made.

ii) Pupils transferring from another local school
The authority’s ‘Mid Term Transfer Policy’ which is attached to this document, states 
that pupils who are transferring from one local school to another may only do so at the 
beginning of a new term.  Therefore, in the case of such applicants, the offer of the 
school place will be from the start of the following term after the application has been 
made unless in exceptional circumstances the child may be admitted sooner by 
agreement between the schools and the Admissions Team. Year group numbers will be 
amended to take into account the allocation and the reserved place.

7      WAITING LISTS
        After an unsuccessful application, parents can request that their child is placed on a waiting 

list for their preferred school(s). The Admissions Team will maintain waiting lists for all year 
groups for community and voluntary-controlled schools until the end of the school year in 
which the application was received (for primary schools) and the end of the term (for 
secondary schools). 

Schools which are their own admission authority may choose to keep waiting lists or not. All 
waiting lists must be maintained in the order of the oversubscription criteria.  If places 
become available during the year, all offers must be made in accordance with the Mid Term 
Transfer Policy.

Allocations made through the Fair Access Protocol are made without reference to waiting 
lists.

8      CHILDREN WITH AN EDUCATION, HEALTH AND CARE PLAN (EHCP)
Applications for these children will be dealt with the by Special Educational Needs Team 
(01274 435750) who will liaise with parents and schools to determine which schools can 
meet the child’s needs.

9    FAIR ACCESS PROTOCOL
 All LA’s must have a Fair Access Protocol (FAP), agreed with the majority of schools in its 
area to ensure that outside the normal admissions round, unplaced children, especially the 
most vulnerable, are offered a place at a suitable school as quickly as possible. The FAP 
ensures that all schools admit their fair share of children with challenging behaviour and 
children who arrive outside the admissions round who may have difficulty securing a school 
place. In these circumstances, all schools may be asked to admit above their published 
admission number. The operation of the FAP is triggered when a parent of an eligible child 
has not secured a school place under normal in-year admission procedures, including after 
an appeal hearing.

Schools dealing with their own in year admissions must refer unsuccessful 
applications to the LA’s Admission Team as soon as possible as the application may 
need to be dealt with through the FAP. All schools must participate in admitting 
children through the FAP in accordance with the Code of Practice for School 
Admissions 2014.

Page 127



BRADFORD LA IN-YEAR CO-ORDINATED ADMISSIONS SCHEME

Pupil Mid-Term Transfer Policy
 
1. Introduction

This policy clarifies the roles of headteachers and the Local Authority when parents make a 
request to change school during the school year and sets out the process for dealing with 
such requests.

The aim of this policy is to enhance pupil progress by encouraging a considered approach to 
changes of school and provides a framework for the exchange of pupil information. The 
majority of pupil transfers take place for legitimate reasons, such as a change of address and 
the aim is not to inhibit parents’ rights to express a preference for another school in 
appropriate circumstances.

2. Background
There is an expectation that pupils will remain at school for the usual period of time and only 
change schools at the end of the primary phase. Both primary and secondary schools liaise 
closely to ensure smooth transition and pastoral arrangements are aimed at providing pupils 
with continuity between phases. However, many schools in the Bradford District experience 
high levels of pupil mobility during the school year which impacts on the attainment and 
achievement of pupils and on school staff in terms of induction, administration and tracking 
pupils’ progress. This mobility undermines the pupil’s continuity of progress and that of other 
pupils when school staff have to manage pupils leaving or joining classes mid-year. It can 
also impede financial and staff planning.

There is evidence that mid-year movement is often disruptive to the statutory SEN process. 
This is particularly important during a child’s early years at school, when the first steps 
towards assessing educational needs are taken. If this process is delayed because of 
changes of school, the result is often a lack of appropriate support throughout the remaining 
phase of education.

3. Legal Framework
Under the Schools Standards and Framework Act (1998) as amended by the Education Act 
2002, a parent has the right to express a preference for a place at a school at any time.  The 
LA (or in the case of VA, foundation schools and academies, the governing body) has a legal 
duty to comply with the parents’ preference to admit the pupil on to the school roll, unless to 
do so would ‘prejudice the provision of efficient education, or efficient use of resources’. This 
means that the school must admit the pupil unless that particular year group is at or above the 
published admission number. 

While it is essential that children who have no school place are found one quickly, section 433 
of the Education Act 1996, permits deferment of admission until the start of a school term, 
subject to certain exceptions (see paragraph 5). This would particularly be the case where 
requests for school transfer has been made that do not involve a house move or where there 
is no need for an immediate move (see exceptions below). In such cases, schools can 
arrange for a child to start at the beginning of the next term. This does not conflict with the 
parent’s right to ‘express a preference’, but does allow schools to manage the movement of 
pupils transferring mid-year.

The LA has powers to direct admission to a foundation or voluntary-aided school in its area 
and can refer matters to the Education & Skills Funding Agency for consideration in relation to 
academies and free schools.

Page 128



4.     School Transfer Process
Any in-year admission request (whether the child is already attending a Bradford District 
school or is new to the area) shall be co-ordinated by the local authority.  An ‘In Year 
Common Application Form’ is available from the Admissions Team or can be downloaded 
from the Bradford Council website and must be returned to the Admissions Team. 

For all applications, parents will be required to ask the Head of Year or a member of the 
Senior Leadership Team at the child’s current school to complete Part Two of the application 
form.  This section asks for information such as attendance, reasons for the transfer request 
and other factors which may have affect the child’s education and therefore the suitability of a 
school place.  The information provided by the current school will assist in determining 
whether the transfer request may require being dealt with under the Fair Access Protocol 
and/or by LA officers to determine whether the transfer request comes under one of the 
exceptions given below.

If the preferred school has places in the appropriate year group and the school does not refer 
the application through the Fair Access process, the Admissions Team will inform parents that 
a place is allocated and arrangements can then be made for the admission to take place at 
the start of the next school term.

5.     Exceptions 
Mid-term transfer of a pupil may only take place sooner than the start of the next term, if:

 the headteachers of the current and receiving schools agree that it is in the best interests 
of the pupil that transfer should take place sooner;

 the pupil has moved house to live more than three miles from the present school (if the 
pupil is aged over eight years) or over two miles (if the pupil is aged under eight years);

 the pupil has been unable to transfer at the start of the term as a result of illness or for 
other reasons beyond the parents’ control;

 the admission is into Year 7 and Reception only, where a place becomes available from 
the waiting list during the autumn term only;

 it has been determined that the admission of the pupil comes under the ‘Fair Access 
Protocol’ or other significant circumstances apply which identify the child as vulnerable; 
and

 the admission is due to a successful appeal heard by an independent appeals panel.

When a request for transfer has been agreed and the offer of a place made, the receiving 
school must liaise with the current school regarding the agreed admission date and pupil data.

For pupils with an Education, Health & Care Plans (EHCP), any change of school must be 
made through a review of the EHCP by the school / SEN Team.  Children with EHCPs are not 
dealt with through the admissions process as they have their own process enshrined in 
legislation.

6. Information for parents
Guidance notes that accompany the ‘in-year common application form’ informs parents of the 
detrimental effects that changing schools has on their child’s progress and that such decisions 
should not be taken without careful consideration. Governors may wish to add similar 
statements to their school booklets and websites.

Page 129



Appendix F
Primary School Published Admission Numbers (PANs)

School PAN  School PAN
Addingham 30  Farfield 60

All Saints' CE (Bradford) 90  Farnham 60

All Saints' CE (Ilkley) 60  Fearnville 60

Appleton 60  Feversham 60

Ashlands 60  Foxhill 30

Atlas Community Primary 30  Frizinghall 60

Baildon CE 60  Girlington 60

Bankfoot 30  Glenaire 30

Barkerend  (subject to approval) 60  Green Lane 90

Beckfoot Allerton 60  Greengates 30

Beckfoot Heaton Primary 90  Grove House 60

Beckfoot Priestthorpe 30  Harden 30

Ben Rhydding 30  Haworth 45

Blakehill 60  Heaton St Barnabas' CE 60

Bowling Park 90  High Crags 60

Brackenhill 60  Hill Top CE 30

Bradford Academy 60  Hollingwood 60

Bradford Girls Grammar 52  Holybrook 30

Burley & Woodhead CE 30  Holycroft 60

Burley Oaks 60  Home Farm 60

Byron 90  Horton Grange 90
Carrwood  (pending Exec Board 
approval) 30  Horton Park 60

Cavendish 60  Hoyle Court 45

Christ Church Primary Academy 30  Idle CE 60

Clayton St John's CE 60  Ingrow 60

Clayton Village Primary 30  Iqra 90

Co-op Academy Parkland 30  Keelham 15

Copthorne 60  Keighley St Andrew's CE 60

Cottingley Village Primary 60  Killinghall 90

Crossflatts 60  Knowleswood 60

Crossley Hall 90  Lapage 90

Cullingworth 45  Laycock 15

Denholme 30  Lees 30

Dixons Allerton Academy 60  Ley Top 60

Dixons Manningham Academy 60  Lidget Green 90

Dixons Marchbank Academy 60  Lilycroft 60

Dixons Music Academy 60  Lister Primary 60

East Morton CE 30  Long Lee 60

Eastburn Junior & Infant 30  Low Ash (pending Exec Board 
approval) 60

Eastwood 60  Low Moor CE 60

Eldwick 75  Lower Fields 60

Fagley 30  Margaret McMillan 90

Page 130



School PAN  School PAN

Marshfield 60  St Luke's CE 30

Menston Primary 60  St Mary's & St Peter's Catholic 30

Merlin Top 45  St Matthew's Catholic 30

Miriam Lord Community 60  St Matthew's CE 60

Myrtle Park 30  St Oswald's CE 60

Nessfield 60  St Paul's CE 30

Newby 60  St Philip's CE 30

Newhall Park 60  St Stephen's CE 60

Oakworth 60  St Walburga's Catholic 30

Oldfield 8  St William's Catholic 30

Our Lady & St Brendans Catholic 30  St Winefride's Catholic 60

Our Lady Of Victories Catholic 30  Stanbury Village School 15

Oxenhope CE 30  Steeton Primary 45

Parkwood 30  Stocks Lane 30

Peel Park 90  Swain House 60

Poplars Farm 60  Thackley 60

Princeville 60  The Academy At St James 60

Rainbow 60  The Sacred Heart Catholic 30

Reevy Hill 30  Thornbury  (subject to approval) 60

Riddlesden St Mary's CE 60  Thornton 90

Russell Hall 30  Thorpe 30

Ryecroft 60  Trinity All Saints CE 60

Saltaire 60  Victoria 45

Sandal 60  Wellington 60

Sandy Lane 45  Westbourne 60

Shibden Head 60  Westminster CE 90

Shipley CE 30  Whetley 90

Shirley Manor 30  Wibsey 90

Silsden Primary 90  Wilsden 60

Southmere 60  Woodlands CE 15

St Anne's Catholic 30  Woodside 60

St Anthony's Catholic (Clayton) 30  Worth Valley 30

St Anthony's Catholic (Shipley) 18  Worthinghead 30

St Clare's Catholic 30  Wycliffe CE 60

St Columba's Catholic 50   

St Cuthbert & The First Martyr's 30

St Francis' Catholic 30

St John The Evangelist 30

St John's CE 60

St Joseph's Catholic (Bradford) 40

St Joseph's Catholic (Bingley) 30

St Joseph's Catholic (Keighley) 45

Page 131



Secondary School Published Admission Numbers (PANs)

School PAN
Appleton Academy 180

Beckfoot Oakbank 300

Beckfoot School 270

Beckfoot Thornton 260

Beckfoot Upper Heaton 145

Belle Vue Girls 180

Bingley Grammar 300

Bradford Academy 230
Bradford Forster Academy (consulting to decrease not 
supported by LA) 180

Bradford Girls' Grammar School (subject to approval) 140

Bronte Girl’s Academy 120

Buttershaw 300

Carlton Bolling 300

Dixons Allerton Academy 245

Dixons City Academy 180

Dixons Cottingley 180

Dixons Kings Academy 160

Dixons McMillan 134

Dixons Trinity Academy 134

Eden Boys Leadership Academy 120

Feversham College 120

Grange Technology College 300

Hanson School 300

Ilkley Grammar 300

Immanuel College 300

Laisterdyke 180

Oasis Academy Lister Park 160

One In A Million 75

Parkside 210

Queensbury (under consultation) 180

St Bede's & St Joseph's Catholic 290

The Holy Family 165

Titus Salt 250

Tong (will admit to 210 if required) 180

University Academy Keighley 180

Page 132



Report of the Strategic Director, Children’s Services to 
the meeting of Executive Committee to be held on 4th 
February 2020

Subject:  AV
Ensuring the Sufficiency of Specialist places for Children and Young People with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) across the District

Summary statement:

This report asks the Council Executive to: 

Approve the proposals outlined in this report to deliver:

 80 additional maintained special school places at Beechcliffe School, delivered on a 
split site (Ellar Carr site)

 12 new Resourced Provision places at Fagley Primary School 

 The re-distribution of 10 Early Years Enhanced Specialist Provision places from 
Abbey Green Nursery School to Midland Road Nursery School

Mark Douglas
Strategic Director, Children’s Services

Portfolio:   Cllr Imran Khan

Report Contact:   Marium Haque  
Deputy Director, Children’s Services
Phone: (01274) 431078
E-mail: Marium.Haque@bradford.gov.uk

 Overview & Scrutiny Area: 

Children and Families

Page 133

Agenda Item 9/



1. SUMMARY

1.1 This report asks the Council Executive to approve the following proposals:

 80 additional maintained secondary special school places at Beechcliffe 
Special School, to operate on a split site (Ellar Carr site) to deliver specialist  
places for children and young people with Social Emotional and Mental 
Health needs (SEMH) 

 Develop a new 12 place Local Authority Led - Resourced Provision (RP-LA) 
for primary aged children with Communication and Interaction needs 
including Autistic Spectrum Disorders (ASD) at Fagley Primary School

 Reduce the current number of Early Years Enhanced Specialist Provision 
places at Abbey Green Nursery School from 20 Part time places to 10 part 
time places  

 Redistribute 10 part time Early Years Enhanced Specialist Provision places 
from Abbey Green Nursery School to Midland Road Nursery School

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Bradford Metropolitan District Council has a statutory duty under The Education Act 
1996 Section 14(1) to ensure that it provides sufficient school places for all pupils 
who are resident within Bradford. 

2.2 There are specific duties to ensure that there is sufficient specialist provision for 
pupils with SEND where an Education Health and Care (EHC) plan has determined 
that their needs should be met in specialist provision.

2.3 Bradford District has experienced a significant increase in demand for Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) provision in the last 10 years.

2.4 In 2018 the Council Executive approved a number of proposals to increase and 
create additional specialist provision across the district. The Regional Schools 
Commissioner also approved via the Headteacher Board a number of proposals 
relating to academy schools across Bradford. This led to a total increase of 360 
additional specialist places, across the LA maintained and Academy sector.

2.5 It is projected that the demand for SEND provision will continue to grow across all 
sectors in the Bradford District. It was outlined to the Schools Forum in January 
2019 the LAs need to commission an additional 354 places. This was presented as 
part of the draft outline plan.

2.6 Rationale 

2.7 The Expansion of Beechcliffe Special School and the Closure of Ellar Carr 
Pupil Referral Unit (PRU):  Over time more children and young people with an 

Page 134



Education and Health Care Plan have been placed within the PRU, due to 
insufficient specialist places across the district. This has led to the PRU operating 
more like a special school for children and young people with Social Emotional and 
Mental Health (SEMH) needs. 

2.8 In 2018 the Schools Forum requested that officers explore the viability of the re-
designation of Ellar Carr PRU as a special school. However due to the current 
legislation around opening new schools, this would have to be via the Free School 
presumption route. 

 
2.9 The proposal is close Ellar Carr Pupil Referral Unit and to develop a split site of 

Beechcliffe Special School on the site. This will deliver much needed additional 
places for secondary aged Children and Young people with Social, Emotional and 
Mental Health Needs (SEMH). This proposal will provide an additional 80 special 
school places and enable children and young people who are currently being 
educated at Ellar Carr PRU to be educated in a special school setting. 

2.10 There will be very little impact to the children and young people currently accessing 
the PRU when Ellar Carr closes as the majority already have an Education and 
Health Care Plan for Social Emotional and Mental Health.

2.11 The current workforce at Ellar Carr, are all employees of Bradford Council. As 
Beechcliffe Special School is an LA maintained school, therefore the current 
workforce will remain employees of Bradford Council.

2.12 The development of a new 12 place Local Authority Led - Resourced 
Provision (RP-LA) at Fagley Primary School:  Developing a 12 place Resourced 
Provision at Fagley Primary School There is currently no specialist provision for 
Primary aged children with Communication and Interaction needs including Autistic 
Spectrum Disorders (ASD) in the East Constituency. This proposal will establish 12 
new Primary places at Fagley Primary School.  The new provision will operate out 
of the newly configured Children’s Centre accommodation, located on the main 
school site. Children’s Centre Services will also continue to operate on the site.

2.13 The reduction of 10 EYESP places at Abbey Green Nursery School and the 
redistribution of 10 new places at Midland Road Nursery School:
Since the opening of the 20 place Early Years Enhanced Specialist Provision 
(EYESP) for children aged 2 – 5 years with a range of special educational needs 
and disabilities at Abbey Green Nursery School, the setting has run with an under 
occupancy. 

2.14 Abbey Green Nursery School is part of a federation with Midland Road Nursery 
School and Strong Close Nursery School who have an Executive Head who 
oversees all the provisions. It has been identified that it would be beneficial to the 
children and families in the area, if both Abbey Green and Midland Road Nursery 
Schools delivered EYESP places.

3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

3.1 Statutory Responsibilities – The Local Authority has a statutory responsibility to 
keep under review the specialist provision it makes for children and young people 

Page 135



with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND). It has been identified that 
there is an urgent need for additional specialist places across all sectors within the 
District.

3.2 Out of Authority placements – The number of children and young people being 
placed outside of Bradford is increasing as we do not currently have sufficient 
provision to meet need.  Investment in district placements would ultimately save 
funding expensive out of district placements. 

3..3 The proposed establishment of a provision that is recognised by the Local Authority 
as reserved for children with SEND at a maintained school requires the Local 
Authority to publish formal Statutory Notices.

3.4 Consultation 

3.5 Having regard to DfE Guidance pre publication consultation was carried out with 
interested parties before the publication of statutory notices. 

3.6     In line with Regulations, a Pre- Consultation was undertaken between: 5thNovember 
to 18th November 2019 with an on-line survey and public meetings. 

3.7     The Statutory Consultation on the above proposals was carried out between: 28th 
November 2019 to 9th January 2020.This was over an extended period to take into 
account the Christmas holiday period. The consultation information can be found on 
the Council Website under Consultation and Engagement pages.

3.8 The list of all those consulted with, is shown in Appendix 1. 

3.9 Details of the consultations were placed on the Councils Website, Bradford Schools 
Online, Local Offer website and individual school websites.

3.10 In total 173 responses were received. See Appendix 2 for a full analysis of the 
consultation.

4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

4.1 Capital Costs: The Local Authority has identified £2.6 million pounds from the 
Basic Needs Allocation to pay for the additional accommodation/modifications that 
are required to deliver the outlined proposals within this report.  The Local Authority 
will also use the latest SEND Capital allocation from central government.

4.2 Revenue Costs: The revenue funding for all of the additional places is included in 
the High Needs Block (HNB) allocation determined by the Schools Forum.  

4.3 All of the proposed additional special school places will be funded in accordance 
with the local determined funding formula for special educational needs pupils. Core 
funding will be delegated to the schools for an agreed number of places. Additional 
funding will be paid in accordance with individual pupil needs.  The revenue funding 
for all of the additional places is included in the High Needs Block (HNB) allocation 
determined by the Schools Forum.  

Page 136



4.4 The proposed new resourced provision places will be funded in accordance with the 
local determined funding formula for special educational needs pupils. Element 1 of 
the place funding will be delegated to the schools for an agreed number of places. 
Element 2 & Element 3 (additional funding will be paid in accordance with individual 
pupil needs – 7 range funding model) will be retained by the central service to pay 
for the staffing/resources in the proposed provisions. The Local Authority will 
maintain a service level agreement with each of the schools who host the proposed 
new resourced provisions.

4.5 The number of children and young people being placed outside of Bradford is 
increasing as we do not currently have sufficient provision to meet need.  
Investment in district placements will ultimately save funding expensive out of 
district placements.

4.6     The creation of additional SEMH places in Bradford will negate the need to place 
children and young people in very expensive out of authority provisions in the 
Independent sector and allow them to be educated at a local level, avoiding 
separation from their families and local communities.

4.7     The increase in specialist places will have a financial impact on the home to school 
transport budget, however this will be minimal in comparison to the significant 
projected costs of educating children and young people out of authority and the 
longer term impacts that are associated with moving children away from their 
families. Therefore the creation of more specialist provision within the District will 
reduce the reliance and avoid costs associated with high cost out of District 
independent provision, and mitigate against longer term negative outcomes.    

5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

5.1 Statutory Responsibilities – The Local Authority has a statutory responsibility to 
keep under review the specialist provision it makes for children and young people 
with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND). It has been identified that 
there is an urgent need for additional specialist places across all sectors within the 
District.

5.2 Individual risks associated with the development/expansion programmes are 
managed as part of the overall project to deliver the sufficiency of specialist places 
across the District. 

5.3 There is also a reporting mechanism to the Council Change Programme Board, the 
School Organisation Board, the SEND Strategic Partnership Board and the Schools 
Forum on the various strands of the projects including time scales, Capital and 
Revenue funding constraints, Issues and Risks.

6. LEGAL APPRAISAL

6.1 Where a local authority proposes to increase places or make changes to 
maintained special schools, all interested parties who are likely to be affected by 
the proposals should be consulted in the development of the proposals. 

Page 137



6.2 There is no longer a requirement for a statutory pre-publication consultation period 
but there is a strong expectation that interested parties who are likely to be affected 
by the Local Authority’s  proposals will be consulted prior to publication of statutory 
notices. This is set out in DfE statutory guidance - Making significant changes 
(prescribed alterations) to maintained schools.  

6.3 It is important that the proposals are the subject of broad consultation with all 
interested parties to ensure that their views are considered and that they are fully 
informed and involved before a final recommendation is made in this case to 
publish statutory notices. 

6.4 Where a local authority proposes to increase the number of pupils at a special 
school maintained by them by 10% or 20 pupils whichever is the lesser or to 
establish provision that is recognised by the local authority as reserved for children 
with SEN at a maintained school it must follow a statutory process which includes 
publishing formal statutory notices.

6.5 This statutory consultation period is called the Representation Period and lasts for 4 
weeks from the date of publication of the statutory notice in a local newspaper. 
Notices were published in the Telegraph and Argus (T&A) on 28 November 2019 
and in the T & A and Keighley News in relation to Beechcliffe School on 5 
December 2019 the Representation period ended on 9th January 2020 after the 
Christmas holiday period.  

6.6 Any objections or comments received as a result of the consultation during the 
Representation Period must be considered by the Local Authority before deciding 
whether to implement the proposals. The Local Authority should consider the 
representation results fully and in conjunction with an Equality Impact Assessment 
and SEN Improvement Test.

6.7 The Local Authority must have regard to its public sector equality duties under 
section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 when exercising its functions and making any 
decisions.  The Local Authority must carry out an Equalities Impact Assessment to 
enable intelligent consideration of the proposals and must have due regard to the 
information in the Equalities Impact Assessment when considering any decision to 
approve the proposals.

6.8 The SEND Code of Practice January 2015 provides that when considering any 
reorganisation of special educational needs provision that the Local Authority must 
also make it clear how it is satisfied that the proposed alternative arrangements are 
likely to lead to improvements in the standard, quality and/or range of educational 
provision for SEN. This is the SEN Improvement Test.

6.9 The School Organisation ( Prescribed Alteration to Maintained Schools) (England) 
Regulations 2013 requires that the Local Authority is the decision maker for 
proposals related to maintained schools and must take the decision within two 
months of the end of the Representation Period i.e. before 9 March 2020 otherwise 
the proposals must be referred to the School Adjudicator. 

7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS

Page 138



Evidence of Need: The Bradford District has experienced a significant increase in 
demand for SEND provision in the last 10 years.  It is projected that the demand for 
SEND provision will continue to grow and additional specialist places for primary 
and secondary aged children and young people in the Bradford District will be 
required.

The Bradford Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is updated on an annual 
basis.  This identifies considerable higher prevalence of some child disability and/or 
complex needs in Bradford compared to the national average. 

All available data shows that there will be an on-going need to provide specialist 
provision for children and young people with a range of special educational needs 
and disabilities throughout the Bradford District.

In monitoring these trends, data and information, it has confirmed that further 
specialist provision is required to meet the needs of its current and future 
population. All Local Authorities have a statutory duty to keep under review the 
provision they make for pupils with special educational needs and disabilities 
(SEND).  This must be based on the regular review of current and future trends 
(pupil profiles).  

The Bradford District Education Organisation Plan takes into account different 
factors when predicting school demand including fertility and birth rates, housing 
growth and inward/outward migration.  Analysis of the Index of Deprivation and 
population estimates from the Office for National Statistics are also taken into 
account.  

In January 2005 the population in the Districts Schools and Nurseries was 79,589. 
In January 2015 the population was 90,292 and the current population in January 
2019 had risen to 100,778.

There have been a number of influencing factors in relation to the demand for 
specialist places in the Bradford District:

 Improvements in medical interventions which has significantly increased life 
expectancy for those children with life limiting conditions

 The overall increase in the pupil population since 2005

 A significant increase in the number of referrals received for statutory 
assessment

 Requests for statutory assessment have increased from 265 in 2015/16 to 842 
in 2018/19. Approximately 20% of these requests resulted in a change of 
provision

 
 An increase in the number of in-year admissions to special schools and the 

number of children and young people requiring a change in provision to 
special school.  For place projection purposes it is anticipated that this number 
will continue at similar levels for the next three years.

Page 139



 The capacity of our schools to meet the needs of children and young people 
with special educational needs and disabilities alongside balancing the needs 
of all children and the pressure to improve standards and outcomes

 Parental preference for specialist provision needs 

When analysing current primary needs of children with an EHCP, the top 5 needs in   
Bradford are as follows:

1. Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD)
2. Social, Emotional and Mental Health Needs (SEMH)
3. Severe Learning Difficulty (SLD)
4. Speech Language and Communication Needs (SLCN)
5. Physical Difficulties (PD)

Autistic Spectrum Disorder remains the most common type of primary need both 
nationally and in Bradford. Nationally ASD is showing a 1% increase from 28% to 
29% of pupils presenting with this need.

In Bradford we have seen an increase of 8.8% from 2018 to 2019 for children and 
young people with ASD who have an EHCP.

In the same time period we saw an increase of 27.8% for children and young 
people with SEN support.

Social, Emotional and Mental Health Needs (SEMH) is the second largest 
percentage of primary need in Bradford. 

Currently 29% of SEMH primary needs are in the primary school sector, with 71% in 
the secondary sector. 

The data identifies there is a significant gap in provision for children and young 
people with ASD and SEMH.

7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY

The Local Authority must not discriminate directly or indirectly against any group or 
individual. The schools and any proposed new provision will continue to cater for 
the needs of all children and serve its community. 

An Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried out and can be seen 
Appendix 4.

7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct sustainability implications arising from this report. Any 
development or changes to buildings undertaken as a result of these proposals will 
be undertaken in a sustainable way which minimises the future impact of the Local 
Authority’s carbon footprint.  

7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

Page 140



The proposals will not impact on gas emissions.  If children are able to attend their 
local provision this could lead to a reduction in emissions.

7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

These arrangements will allow the children and young people to build their skills in 
a specialist environment and access their own community in the safest and most 
independent fashion.

7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

The Human Rights Act incorporates the European Convention on Human Rights 
which provides that no person shall be denied the right to education...  

7.6 TRADE UNION

As part of the consultation process the Trade Unions will be consulted formally 
about these proposals in accordance with the Council’s IR Framework.

7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS

Ward Councillors have been briefed  about the proposed changes to the 
schools/provision in their wards

7.8 AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS
(for reports to Area Committees only)

N/A.

7.9 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

No direct impact on corporate parenting, however the proposals to increase 
specialist provision across the District will provide a wider choice within their local 
communities, reducing need for out of District placements.

7.10 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT

Undertake a Privacy Impact Assessment to determine whether you need to deal 
with data protection and information security matters arising from the 
proposal/decision.

The City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council (the ‘Council’) is registered with 
the Information Commissioners Office (ICO). For more information about how the 
Council uses information, please refer to the general ‘Privacy Notice’ on the 
Council’s website.

Children’s Services will undertake a Privacy Impact Assessment to identify any data 
protection and information security matters arising from the proposals. 

The legal basis for holding any data relating to buildings is contractual and may 

Page 141



relate to tenancy or other property type agreements. General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) principles relating to individual’s rights will be fully respected.

Any need for partner agencies to share data would only be with the express 
permission of the service users in the full knowledge of why and what it would be 
used for. General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) principles relating to any 
individuals data and rights under the Data Protection Act 2018 will be respected.

8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

N/A.

9. OPTIONS

We ask the council executive to consider the following options: 
 
9.1 Beechcliffe Special School (Ellar Carr site)
 

(a) Approve the proposal to increase the number of places for pupils at 
Beechcliffe Special School to be delivered on a split site, by increasing the 
pupil numbers from 144 to 224 with effect from 24th February 2020 (subject to 
any necessary Capital building programme).

(b) Reject the proposal to increase the number of places for pupils at Beechcliffe  
Special School.

(c) Approve the published proposals subject to specified conditions.

9.2 Fagley Primary School 

(d) Approve the proposal to develop a new 12 place Resourced Provision (RP-LA) 
for primary aged children with Communication and Interaction needs including 
Autistic Spectrum Disorders (ASD) at Fagley Primary School with effect from 
24th February 2020 (subject to any necessary Capital building programme).

(e) Reject the proposal to develop a Resourced Provision at Fagley Primary 
School.

(f) Approve the published proposals subject to specified conditions.

9.3 Abbey Green Nursery School

(g) Approve the proposal to reduce the current number of EYESP places at Abbey 
Green Nursery School from 20 Part time places to 10 part time places with 
effect from 24th February 2020.

(h) Reject the proposal to reduce  the number of EYESP places for pupils at 
Abbey Green Nursery School.

(i) Approve the published proposals subject to specified conditions.

9.4 Midland Road Nursery School

(j) Approve the proposal to develop a new 10 part time place EYESP at Midland 
Road Nursery School with effect from 24th February 2020.

Page 142



(k) Reject the proposal to develop a new 10 part time EYESP at Midland Road 
Nursery School.

(l) Approve the published proposals subject to specified conditions.

10. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the Executive:

10.1 Approve the proposal to increase the number of places for pupils at Beechcliffe 
Special School to be delivered on a split site, by increasing the pupil numbers from 
144 to 224.

10.2 Approve the proposal to develop a new 12 place Resourced Provision (RP-LA) for 
primary aged children with Communication and Interaction needs including Autistic 
Spectrum Disorders (ASD) at Fagley Primary School.

10.3 Approve the proposal to reduce the current number of Early Years Enhanced 
Specialist Provision (EYESP) places at Abbey Green Nursery School from 20 Part 
time places to 10 part time places.

10.4 Approve the proposal to develop a new 10 part time place EYESP at Midland Road 
Nursery School.

11. APPENDICES

11.1 Appendix 1 - List of Consultees.

11.2 Appendix 2 - Outcome of Statutory Consultation/Analysis of responses.

11.3 Appendix 3 - SEN Improvement Test.

11.4 Appendix 4 - Equality Impact Assessment.

11.5 Appendix 5 – Beechcliffe Special School Statutory Proposal Document.

11.6 Appendix 6 – Fagley Primary School Statutory Proposal Document.

11.7 Appendix 7 – EYESP Statutory Proposal Document.

12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

12.1 Decisions of the Executive on Tuesday, 9th July 2019.

12.2 Report to the Interim Strategic Director of Children’s Services, seeking approval to 
publish statutory notices.

12.3 School Forum Report January 2019 (Draft outline plan).

12.4 SEND Code of Practice 2014.

Page 143



12.5 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2019.

Page 144



Appendix 1 List of consultees  

The pre-consultation was held for each proposal between the periods of 5th November to 
18th November 2019 with an on-line survey and public meetings. The Statutory 
Consultation took place between 28th November 2019 to 9th January 2020.

All consultation documents were share with interested parties in a variety of methods 
shown below:  

Ensuring the sufficiency of specialist places in Bradford’s Special Schools
Group Method 
Parents/Carers School websites, Bradford Council website, 

Bradford Local Offer website and Bradford 
Schools Online.
Attendance at Public Consultation Meetings and
Schools Forum Documentation

All Bradford Schools, Headteachers 
and Governing Bodies

E-mail
Bradford Council website, Bradford Local Offer 
website and Bradford Schools Online.
Attendance at Public Consultation Meetings and
Schools Forum Documentation

All Trade Union Representatives E-mail and published online
Neighbouring Local Authorities, 
Director of Children’s Services

E-mail and published online

CE Diocese, RC Diocese, Council 
of Mosques

E-mail and published online

Youth Voice E-mail and published online
Parish Councils, Neighbourhood 
Forums

E-mail and published online

Elected Members E-mail and published online 
Briefing can be organised if requested

Members of Parliament E-mail and published online
Bradford and Airedale Primary Care 
Trusts/Clinical Commissioning 
Groups

E-mail and published online

SENDIASS E-mail and published online
Bradford and Airedale Parents 
Forum

E-mail and published online

Bradford Council Staff E-mail, BSO and Bradnet
Attendance at public consultation meetings 

All other interested parties E-mail and published online

There were 3 public meetings arranged at the following times and venues: 

1. Monday 9th December 2019 9.30-10.30am – Room 104 Margaret McMillan Tower, 
Bradford, BD1 1NN

2. Wednesday 11th December 2019 5.30-6.30pm –Margaret McMillan Tower, 
Bradford, BD1 1NN

3. Thursday 19th December 1.00pm -2.00pm at Keighley Library Annexe – Spencer 
Street, Keighley, BD21 2BN

Page 145



Appendix 2 Outcomes of Statutory Consultations 

The Statutory consultations took place between 28th November 2019 and the 9th January 
2020 for Fagley Primary School, Abbey Green Nursery School and Midland Road Nursery 
School. 

For Beechcliffe Special School and Ellar Carr Pupil Referral Unit this took place between 
5th December 2019 and 9th January 2020. 

There was limited attendance at the public meetings however there was a good online 
response of 173 between all the consultations. 

The table below shows a summary of respondents to the consultation as a whole.

Provision Parents Members 
of staff

Others Agree Disagree

Abbey Green & Midland Road 
Nursery

118 29 2 147 2

Beechcliffe/ Ellar Carr 3 2 0 4 1
Fagley Primary School 0 14 5 19 0
Totals 121 45 7 170 3

Detail of Responses

1. Do you agree with the proposal to reduce the current number of EYESP at 
Abbey Green Nursery School Early Years Enhanced Specialist Places from 20 
part time places to 10 part time places?

Yes 98%
No 2%

Reasons for not supporting were stated as:

 Abbey Green has committed time, effort, training and use of finances to develop 
this provision

2. Do you agree with the proposal to develop an EYESP at: Midland Road 
Nursery School to deliver 10 part time places? 

Yes 99%
No  1%

Reasons for not supporting were stated as:

 Geographically it would be beneficial if the specialist provision was distributed 
between all 7schools within their community and have the associated support. 
Inclusion is important in all nursery schools and having a good balance of SEND 
provision ensures that the needs of individuals are met with ‘role models’ to 
support learning and language development. 

 it will detract from the provision that Abbey Green offers

3. Do you agree with the proposal to develop additional places at: Beechcliffe 
Special School on the Ellar Carr Site for Secondary aged children with Social 

Page 146



Emotional and Mental Health needs (SEMH). This will increase Beechcliffe’s 
places from 144 to 224. 

Yes 80%
No   20%

Reasons for not supporting were stated as:

 My child has settled at his school for the past 3 years now
 In principle the merger seems fine; however the consultation does not provide 

details as to the number of children that are currently attending Ella Carr, which 
conform to the PRU criterion and those to SEND. Also the skills set at Ella Carr 
will be for PRU children thus not suitable for Special needs. Hence I do not think 
it would be an advisable move by the Council by locating both types of Children 
as it would affect the overall quality of provision. I for one would put my child to 
Ella Carr if there were PRU children being taught ( purely on the disparity 
between the needs of the children)

4. Do you agree with the proposal to develop a: Local Authority Led - Resourced 
Provision (RP-LA) for 12 primary aged children with Communication and 
Interaction needs including Autistic Spectrum Disorders (ASD) at Fagley 
Primary School

Yes- 100% 

Reasons stated to support this proposal were: 

 The places are very much needed as the children with SEND need alternative 
provision so that their individual needs can be met by specialist staff in the 
correct environment to support a calm and engaged curriculum. Although every 
need is made to be inclusive for children with SEND a separate provision is 
sometimes needed. 

 Within the district, the provision for children with a requirement for specialist 
places is woefully inadequate and is preventing children from being able to 
adequate progress, seriously impacting on their future prospects. 

 Attempting to meet these children's needs within mainstream provision amidst a 
background of ever deeper cuts to budgets is placing an unbearable strain on 
children, parents and staff. 

 It will be welcomed wholeheartedly by both families and schools to support 
children in east Bradford with special needs 

 A vital development that needs to occur to ensure that all young people have a 
fair chance of a good quality of life. 

 I think this is fantastic. 
 Fully support the move as long as no teaching is compromised across the board 
 I am pleased to see that action is being taken to address the need for specialist 

provision

Page 147



Appendix 3: SEN Improvement Test

Sufficiency of Specialist places for Children and Young People with
Special Educational Needs & Disabilities across our District

This document demonstrates how the proposals to improve our offer of Specialist 
Provision meet the requirements of the ‘SEN Improvement Test.

Background Information
The Local Authority and Academies currently offer a range of educational provision across 
the Bradford District including; Mainstream schools and Academies, Special schools, 
Additionally Resourced Centres (ARC’s), Resourced Provision (RP) and Early Years 
Enhanced Specialist Provision (EYESP)

These proposals will create additional specialist places across the maintained school 
sector and mainstream special schools which form part of:

 A flexible and responsive offer of provision across the district 

The expansion of Special Schools, EYESP’s and new Resourced Provisions is based on 
the following principles:

 There is an urgent need for more specialist places in Bradford due to the increase 
in population.

 All children are to be valued equally, regardless of their ability, behaviour, family 
circumstances, ethnic origin, gender and sexual orientation.

 All children are to be provided with the best learning opportunities, environment and 
experience which maximises their learning.

 All children are entitled to a broad, balanced and relevant curriculum which is 
differentiated to meet individual needs.

 Children’s diverse special educational needs and disabilities require a range of 
flexible and varied provision.

The SEN Improvement Test

When proposing to make changes to existing SEND Provision, proposers have to meet 
the SEN Improvement Test and be able to demonstrate that the proposed arrangements 
are likely to lead to improvement in the standard, quality and/or range of educational 
provision for children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities.

The required improvements of the test are as follows:
 Improved access to education and associated services including the curriculum, 

wider school activities, facilities and equipment with reference to the Local 
Authority’s Accessibility Strategy.

 Improved access to specialist staff, both education and other professionals, 
including external support and outreach services.

 Improved access to suitable accommodation.
 Improved supply of suitable places.
 Confirmation from the schools that they are willing to receive additional pupils with a 

range of Special Educational Needs.
 Confirmation of specific transport arrangements.
 Confirmation of how the proposals will be funded and the planning for staffing 

arrangements that will be put in place.

Page 148



Confirmation of the requirements:

 Improved access to education and associated services including the 
curriculum, wider school activities, facilities and equipment with reference to 
the Local Authority’s Accessibility Strategy

Bradford Council will continue to meet the requirements of the Government’s 
inclusion agenda.  It will ensure a flexible continuum of provision for pupils with a 
range of special educational needs and disabilities, according to the needs of 
individual children and young people.  It will also take into account the provision 
specified in the child’s Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) and the wishes of 
the parent/carer.

Leadership and management will be provided by the Schools and Academies along 
with the Council (centrally retained model), who will ensure that all resources are 
used efficiently and effectively in supporting children and young people with a range 
of special educational needs and disabilities.  Partnership working with the District 
Achievement Partnership (DAP), RP-SL and SENDCO Networks, will ensure the 
development of a cohesive, district wide approach to training needs across the 
district and improve capacity.

The Resourced Provision Local Authority led will be delivered in a Maintained 
Primary School.  Pupils will be on the roll of the school.  There will be a focus on 
maximising inclusion with other pupils in the school, but the development of a 
cohort of pupils with a range of special educational needs and disabilities will 
ensure that pupils have access to a specific curriculum with their peers and 
appropriate to meet their needs.

The re-distribution of 10 part time EYESP places from Abbey Green Nursery School 
is to meet an emerging demand within the Midland Road Nursery School. It has 
been identified that it would be beneficial to the children and parents in the Midland 
Road area, if both Nursery Schools delivered EYESP places. 

The schools will offer individual timetables for pupils to learn specific skills and 
there will be regular opportunities to take part in learning outside classroom 
activities, specifically adapted for the pupils.  The accommodation will be staffed by 
fully trained and qualified teaching staff and teaching assistants with access to 
specialist support such as speech and language therapy where required.

These proposals will therefore lead to improved access to education and 
associated services, including the curriculum and wider school activities while 
providing improved facilities and equipment.

 Improved access to specialist staff, both education and other professionals, 
including external support and outreach services

Within the settings, the children and young people will enjoy the continued support 
of the full range of training and qualified specialist staff.  They will also have access 
to trained teaching assistants and health and therapy service providers, where 
necessary to meet individual needs. Improved information routes and advice and 
support will be provided by the District Achievement Partnership (DAP), RP-SL 
/SENDCO network meetings and schools will enable improved partnership working 
with professionals from other provisions.
The children will be able to access the curriculum according to their needs and 

Page 149



abilities where they will be taught by qualified teachers and trained support staff.  
The staff will work in close co-operation and collaboration.  Through economies of 
scale, the setting will also enable the pupils’ easier access to a wide range of 
professionals within one setting.

The proposals will therefore ensure that children and young people with a range of 
special educational needs will continue to have high-quality support from the full 
range of trained specialist staff.  Their access to fully qualified and experienced 
teachers, teaching assistants and other professionals will be improved.  Their 
opportunities will be further enhanced as the specialist staff will work more closely 
together, supporting each other and having access to targeted services.

 Improved access to suitable accommodation

The specialist accommodation for pupils with a range of special educational needs 
and disabilities, located at the various schools, will improve access to specialist 
accommodation and be fully fit for purpose, to ensure the needs of children and 
young people are met.

 Improved supply of suitable places

Bradford has a strategic commitment to the development of a range of specialist 
provision.  The purpose of these proposals is to move forward on delivering that 
commitment.  Children and young people with a range of special educational needs 
and disabilities, with Education Health and Care Plans (EHCP’s)/Statement of 
special educational need’s, will have access to a range of specialist educational 
offers, including, local mainstream schools, mainstream school/s with access to 
specialist support, resourced provision and specialist designated provision with 
access to mainstream as appropriate and special schools, including academies.
These proposals increase current provision by providing additional Special School 
places, new resourced provisions and a redistribution of EYESP places across the 
district’s maintained and academy schools.

At Beechcliffe Special School and the proposed split site - Ellar Carr, the children 
and young people will enjoy the continued support of the full range of training and 
qualified specialist staff.  They will also have access to trained teaching assistants 
and health and therapy service providers, where necessary to meet individual 
needs.

These proposals will create a district wide structure of specialist provision that 
potentially reduces the need for pupils to travel long distances across the city, will 
provide a distribution of specialist provision for additional learning needs, will enable 
pupils to access a differentiated curriculum maximising the opportunities for 
inclusion, maintain a support network and target multi agency support.

 Confirmation from the school that they are willing to receive additional pupils 
with a range of special educational needs

The development of the LA Maintained school proposals has been undertaken in 
consultation and partnership with all interested parties including Headteachers, 
Governing Bodies of the schools 

All school staff involved have had the chance to shape the proposals by way of 
participation in the pre-consultation and Statutory consultation phases.

Page 150



 Confirmation of specific transport arrangements

The current Local Authority Transport Policy for Special Educational Needs and 
disabilities will apply to all children and young people as it does currently.

 Confirmation of how the proposals will be funded and the planning for 
staffing arrangements put in place

All of the provisions will continue to be funded via the Place Plus Model, in 
accordance with the local determined funding formula for special educational needs 
pupils from the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).

The mainstream schools hosting an EYESP and Beechcliffe School will be 
responsible for the appointment of suitably qualified staff to meet the individual 
needs of children and young people placed on-roll at their school.

Funding of the proposed resourced provision Local Authority led (RP-LA) places will 
be funded in accordance with the local determined funding formula for special 
educational needs pupils. 

 Element 1 of the place funding will be delegated to the schools for an agreed 
number of places. 

 Element 2 & element 3 (additional funding will be paid in accordance with 
individual pupil needs – 7 range funding model) will be retained by the central 
service to pay for the staffing/resources in the proposed provisions.

 The Local Authority will maintain a service level agreement with each of the 
schools who host the proposed new resourced provisions.

The mainstream schools hosting a RP-LA will not be responsible for the 
appointment of suitably qualified staff, as this will be the responsibility of the council 
central service.

The children and young people placed in the Special School, RPs & EYESP’s will 
be on roll of the host schools.

Glossary

RP-SL = Resourced Provision school led
RP-LA = Resourced Provision Local Authority led 
EYESP= Early Years Enhanced Specialist Provision

Page 151



Appendix 4        Equality Impact Assessment Form 

Department Children’ s Services
Education and Learning

Version no V1.0

Assessed by Diane Cochrane Date created 01/05/2019

Approved by Emma Hamer Date approved 09/01/2020

Updated by Diane Cochrane Date updated 09/01/2020

Final approval Marium Haque Date signed off 10/01/2020

The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council to have due regard to the need to 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation;

 advance equality of opportunity between different groups; and

 foster good relations between different groups

Section 1: What is being assessed?

1.1 Name of proposal to be assessed.

Increasing Specialist Provision for children and young people with special educational needs and 
disabilities (SEND) by:

 Increasing the number of special school places available
 Developing and Increasing specialist places in Resourced Provision (Local Authority Led) 

in maintained schools and academies for children and young people with a range of SEND 
 Redistributing Early Years Enhanced Specialist Provision (EYESP) to meet parental 

demand

1.2 Describe the proposal under assessment and what change it would result in if 
implemented.

Developing specialist resourced provision places in mainstream school for children and young 
people with a range of SEND and the redistribution of EYESP places. 

 80 additional maintained special school places at Beechcliffe School, delivered on a split 
site

 12 new Resourced Provision places at Fagley Primary School 
 Re-distribute  10 EYESP places from Abbey Green Nursery School to Midland Road 

Nursery School

Page 152



Section 2: What the impact of the proposal is likely to be?

2.1 Will this proposal advance equality of opportunity for people who share a 
protected characteristic and/or foster good relations between people who 
share a protected characteristic and those that do not? If yes, please explain 
further.

These proposals will expand and develop further specialist provision to enhance the network of 
Special Schools, RPs, ARCs and Nursery Schools (EYESPs) which form part of:

 A coherent geographical spread of provision across the District
 A dynamic network
 A Flexible and responsive provision

These proposals are intended to advance the equality of opportunity and a range of improved 
outcomes for children and young people with a full range of Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) by creating additional specialist places:

The proposals will lead to additional places across the early years, primary and secondary sector.
 80 Special school places
 12 Resourced Provision places
 And an additional Nursery school being able to offer x10 part-time EYESP places 

The development of additional specialist places is based on the following principles:

 All children to be valued equally, regardless of their ability, behaviour, family 
circumstances, ethnic origin, gender and sexual orientation

 All children are to be provided with the best learning opportunities, environment and 
experience which maximises inclusion into mainstream classes where appropriate

 All children are entitled to a broad, balanced and relevant curriculum which is 
differentiated to meet individual needs

 Children’s diverse special educational needs require a range of flexible and varied 
provision

 All children are to be valued equally, regardless of their ability, behaviour, family 
circumstances, ethnic origin, gender and sexual orientation

 All children are to be provided with the best learning opportunities, environment and 
experience which maximises their learning

 All children are entitled to a broad, balanced and relevant curriculum which is 
differentiated to meet individual needs

 Children’s diverse special educational needs and disabilities require a range of flexible 
and varied provision

2.2 Will this proposal have a positive impact and help to eliminate discrimination 
and harassment against, or the victimisation of people who share a protected 
characteristic? If yes, please explain further.

Yes – by providing and expanding additional specialist places for children and young people with 
SEND alongside their mainstream peers were appropriate, this will help to eliminate discrimination 
and harassment by fostering a greater understanding of each other’s needs, and through early 
identification, assessment and intervention using specialists and high quality practitioners improve 
outcomes for all children with SEND. 

Page 153



2.3 Will this proposal potentially have a negative or disproportionate impact on 
people who share a protected characteristic?  If yes, please explain further. 

No - The equality impact assessment indicates that these proposals are likely to have no impact 
and that there is no disproportionate impact on any group who share protected characteristics.  
Children and Young People with SEND, including social emotional and mental health needs 
(SEMH) will be predominantly affected by these proposals. However the focus of the proposals will 
be on providing additional specialist places for children and young people with SEND, therefore 
any impact on protected characteristics will be minimal.

2.4 Please indicate the level of negative impact on each of the protected 
characteristics?
(Please indicate high (H), medium (M), low (L), no effect (N) for each) 

Protected Characteristics: Impact
(H, M, L, N)

Age N

Disability N

Gender reassignment N

Race N

Religion/Belief N

Pregnancy and maternity N

Sexual Orientation N

Sex N

Marriage and civil partnership N

Additional Consideration:

Low income/low wage N

2.5 How could the disproportionate negative impacts be mitigated or eliminated? 
(Note: Legislation and best practice require mitigations to be considered, but need only be 
put in place if it is possible.) 

The Local Authority and strategic partners have made significant efforts to mitigate against any 
negative impacts and will continue to promote the move to a school-led system; whilst continuing 
to use High Needs Block funding to intervene early and use it effectively to improve outcomes for 
Children and Young people with SEND. 

Council officers continue to play an important role to support the changes.
In order to manage any negative effects, the proposals will be implemented using a phased 
approach, so any risks can be identified.

We are carrying out extensive consultation with all interested parties, to ensure we capture all the 
identifiable risks.

We will further review the potential impact on protected characteristics as part of the development 
of the delivery programme.

Page 154



Section 3: Dependencies from other proposals 

3.1 Please consider which other services would need to know about your 
proposal and the impacts you have identified.  Identify below which services you 
have consulted, and any consequent additional equality impacts that have been 
identified. 

There has been considerable analysis undertaken to identify the need for increasing and 
developing specialist provision places for children and young people across the district. We have 
assessed the optimal location of the proposed provisions. Part of this work has been considering 
the need and also the availability of suitable accommodation, alongside schools with falling 
numbers and within Capital constraints.
  
A two week pre-consultation was undertaken on the specific proposals 5th- 18th November 2019. 
After analysis of the pre-consultation feedback a further 6 week consultation took place about the 
specific proposals between: 28th November 2019- 9th January 2020.

Analysis of all of the consultation responses received and information gathered from the public 
meetings, clearly supports the LA’s position in the creation of additional specialist places, 
especially for children and young people with ASD or SEMH needs. 

We have consulted with all interested parties, please see below:
 Parents/Carers
 School staff and Governors
 Bradford and Airedale Parents Forum
 Bradford and Airedale NHS Trusts/CCG’s 
 Elected members
 Local MPs
 Trade Unions
 Neighbouring Authorities
 SENDIASS - Barnado’s
 Parish & Mosque Councils
 Muslim Association
 CoE and Catholic Diocese for Bradford/Leeds 
 Relevant charities and voluntary organisations
 Any other interested parties

The additional SEND places have been agreed by the School’s Forum and will be funded from the 
High Needs Block.

Page 155



Section 4: What evidence you have used?

4.1 What evidence do you hold to back up this assessment? 

The proposals have all been informed by the extensive evidence and analysis from a range of 
sources:

 Bradford SEND Strategic Review 2016-2020
 Bradford SEND Needs Assessment 2015 (in depth report) and updated Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment (JSNA) SEND chapter (2019) and related documents 
 Reviewed SEND Sufficiency Assessment Sept 2019 
 Strategic aims and objectives set out in related strategies and plans and initiatives 

including the Education and School Improvement plan
 The Children and Families Act 2014 and the SEND 0-25 Code of Practice 2014
  Bradford District Education Organisational Plan
 Analysis of the number of children and young people going out of authority
 The commissioning of 360 additional places by Schools Forum
 The commissioning of 354 additional specialist places by the Schools Forum January 2019.
 Consultations from March, June and November 2019

Extensive evidence and data has been used including identifying the incidence of SEND across 
the district; by type, the number of referrals received, the type of referrals, the age of the children 
and young people, the type of special educational needs and disabilities, and the number and 
geographical spread of Education and Health Care Plan assessments.
To note:

 We have a growing population of children and young people in Bradford and proportionally 
have a growing population of children and young people with SEND;

 There is an urgent need for more specialist places in Bradford due to the increase in 
population

 The complexity of special needs in Bradford is increasing - as a result there is a need for 
more specialist places. 

 Bradford has a growing need for more specialist places to meet need and demand
 We are working in a challenging and changing landscape both financially and 

educationally.

These proposals will continue to make a range of specialist provision available across the District 
to ensure the needs of all children and young people in Bradford can be met.

4.2 Do you need further evidence?

Before the Local Authority can increase provision in maintained schools, there is a statutory 
process that we must follow. Whenever the Local Authority proposes to increase places or make 
changes to specialist provision, all interested parties who are likely to be affected by the Councils 
proposals must be consulted in the development of the proposals prior to publication of statutory 
notices. 

A further report will be presented to Director of Children’s Services following the publication of 
Statutory Notices and the consultation responses received from this period will be fully analysed.

Section 5: Consultation Feedback

5.1 Results from any previous consultations prior to the proposal development.

Page 156



Principles:
Children and Young People with a range of Special Educational Needs and Disabilities will 
continue to be well served in Bradford.  The council is looking at the best way to offer a full range 
of provision locally for all children.  We believe that a flexible district wide model will be able to 
respond effectively to local changes in demand.

The proposed changes will ensure the continued delivery of high quality and cost effective 
provision for the Children and Young People of Bradford.

The Council intend to have a District wide structure of Specialist Places across a number of 
settings that will:

 Provide local specialist places, reducing the need for pupils to travel long distances across 
the District

 Provide an equitable distribution of specialist places for children and young people with 
special educational needs and disabilities

 Provide increased access to the curriculum; both social and academic will be increased 
due to the staffing experience and capacity of the provisions.  It will be possible to 
individually differentiate and support the work and potential of each individual pupil

 Provide an increased level of available support to all pupils and will give the greatest 
opportunity to increase inclusion 

 Provide an improved support network, especially related to training that will support and 
develop the proposals

 Extend and target multi-agency support into the specialist provisions, especially from the 
health authority and more specifically speech and language therapy

 Provide a progression pathway from Primary phase to Secondary phase

Consultations

A two week pre-consultation was undertaken for the specific developments from the 5th-18th 
November. 

A 6 week consultation period commenced on the 28th November until the 9th January 2020 (this 
was an additional 2 weeks to allow for the holiday period) which received 173 responses. 

The overwhelming majority were in favour of all the developments See Appendix 2 for full analysis.

5.2 The departmental feedback you provided on the previous consultation (as at 
5.1).

Headteachers and school staff recognise the urgent need for more specialist places and the 
Schools Forum has agreed to fund the additional 354 places from the High Needs block.

5.3 Feedback from current consultation following the proposal development (e.g. 
following approval by Executive for budget consultation).

As a result of the initial and statutory consultation processes any changes required to the 
proposals will result in an updated EIA being produced if necessary.

5.4 Your departmental response to the feedback on the current consultation (as 
at 5.3) – include any changes made to the proposal as a result of the 
feedback.

Feedback from all interested parties will be used to refine the proposals.  However, in general the 

Page 157



feedback received to date has been very supportive of the proposals to increase and develop 
additional specialist places for children and young people with SEND.

We are committed to on-going dialogue with all interested parties on the delivery of the proposals.

Page 158



Appendix 5 Statutory proposal for a prescribed alteration

PROPOSALS TO: INCREASE THE NUMBER OF PLACES FOR PUPILS AT 
BEECHCLIFFE SPECIAL SCHOOL KEIGHLEY. THIS WILL INCLUDE AN EXPANSION 
OF THE TYPE OF SEN PROVISION AND THE EXPANSION OF THE SCHOOL ONTO 
AN ADDITIONAL SITE AT ELLAR CARR, PUPIL REFERRAL UNIT, BRADFORD

School and Local Authority details:

School: Beechcliffe School Greenhead Lane Keighley BD20 6ED

This is a maintained secondary special school. 

Local Authority: City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council, City Hall, Bradford BD1 
1HY

Description of alteration:

This proposal is to increase the number of pupils on the roll of Beechcliffe School from 144 
places to 224 places and expand the category of SEN provision by enlarging onto a 
satellite site and creating an annex at Ellar Carr Road Bradford from 24th February 2020. 

The Council intends to close Ellar Carr Pupil Referral Unit, Ellar Carr Road , Bradford 10 
0TD on 14th February 2020  and to deliver provision for children and young people with 
Social Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs from Ellar Carr Road as an additional 
site for Beechcliffe School with effect from 24th February 2020.

Over time more children and young people with an Education and Health Care Plan have 
been placed within Ellar Carr PRU, due to insufficient specialist places across the district. 
This has led to the PRU operating more like a special school for children and young 
people with Social Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs. 

All of the children and young people currently accessing the provision have an Education 
Health and Care Plan except for four, who are currently going through the assessment 
process.

In 2018 the Schools Forum requested that officers explore the viability of the re-
designation of Ellar Carr PRU as a special school. However due to the current legislation 
around opening new schools, this would have to be via the Free School presumption 
route.

The proposal is to develop a split site of Beechcliffe Special School, to deliver much 
needed additional places for secondary aged Children and Young people with Social, 
Emotional and Mental Health Needs (SEMH). This proposal will provide an additional 80 
specialist places and enable children and young people who are currently being educated 
at Ellar Carr PRU to be educated in a special school setting. 

Consultation:

The Local Authority pre - consulted with all interested parties. The initial 2 week 
consultation period commenced on 5th November 2019 and closed on 18th November 
2019.  A summary of the responses and the outcome of the pre - consultation is attached. 

Page 159



(Appendix 1 Pre- Consultation -pre-publication phase). 

We are currently entering into the Statutory Notice phase which runs from 5th December to 
9th January 2020. Normally this phase would be over four weeks, however in order to take 
into account the Christmas holiday period this has been extended. 

Objectives:

The objective of the proposal is for the Local Authority to increase specialist provision in 
the Bradford District for secondary aged boys and girls with social, emotional and mental 
health needs, including behaviour needs, by increasing the number of pupils on roll at 
Beechcliffe School from 144 to 224 places for pupils. 

When proposing changes to existing SEND Provision the Proposers have to meet the 
SEN Improvement Test and be able to demonstrate that the proposed arrangements are 
likely to lead to improvement in the standard, quality/and or range of educational provision 
for Children with special educational needs and disabilities. The rationale and expected 
benefits of the proposal are set out in the attached SEN Improvement Test 

The proposal will build on the good standards for teaching and learning already in place at 
the school and provide additional local places for local children with special educational 
needs without having any negative impact on other schools, academies and educational 
institutions in the area.  This would also increase parental choice in the area. 

Implementation and any proposed stages for implementation: 

The proposed implementation date is 24th February 2020. The admission of pupils will be 
managed by the special educational needs statutory assessment process. The proposal 
would ensure a successful outcome for the school and children and young people.

Project Costs:

Some changes of the existing Ellar Carr building are required to enable the proposed 
increase in places. The Local Authority has secured the amount of capital costs for the 
required improvements and refurbishments associated with the proposed increase in 
places at the school.

This would be phased in agreement with the school and Local Authority.

All specialist places at Beechcliffe School will continue to be funded from the High Needs 
Block part of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). In accordance with the Place Plus 
Model (the local determined funding formula for special educational needs pupils).  Place 
funding will be delegated to the school for an agreed number of places. Additional funding 
will be paid in accordance with individual pupil needs (within the established 7 range 
model).  The revenue funding required for the additional places is included in the DSG 
allocation and the additional commissioned places have been agreed by the Schools 
Forum.  

Evidence of demand:

All Local Authorities have a statutory duty to keep under review the specialist provision 

Page 160



they make for children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities 
(SEND). Whilst also ensuring there are sufficient specialist places available to meet the 
needs of the growing SEND population.

The Bradford District has experienced a significant increase in demand for Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) provision in the last 10 years. It is projected 
that the demand for SEND provision will continue to grow and additional specialist places 
for primary and secondary aged children and young people in the Bradford District will be 
required.
 
All of the available data shows that there will be an on-going need to provide specialist 
provision for early years, primary and secondary phase children and young people with a 
range of special educational needs and disabilities throughout the Bradford District.

In monitoring these trends, data and information it has confirmed that further specialist 
provision is required to meet the needs of its current and future population. 

Bradford has experienced a year on year increase of children and young people requiring 
an Educational, Health and Care Plan (EHCP). As at 1st November the Local Authority is 
maintaining 3860 Educational, Health and Care Plans. There are also 14,570 (13.8%) 
children and young people who receive SEN Support, compared to the national average of 
11.8%.

The projected population increases are applied to the current known special educational 
needs and disabilities population.  In addition, other local data such as the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment (JSNA) is considered such as the prevalence of complex health and 
disability in the local district.  The early identification of young children and the outcome of 
statutory assessments have identified an increase in numbers for some areas of need.

The Bradford District Education Organisation Plan takes into account different factors 
when predicting school demand including fertility and birth rates, housing growth and 
inward/outward migration.  Analysis of the Index of Deprivation and population estimates 
from the Office for National Statistics are also taken into account.  

There have been a number of influencing factors in relation to the demand for specialist in 
the Bradford District:

 Improvements in medical interventions which has significantly increased life 
expectancy for those children with life limiting conditions

 The overall increase in the pupil population since 2005, particularly within the south 
Asian community and economically deprived areas.

 An increase in the number of referrals received for statutory assessment
 Requests for statutory assessment have increased from 265 in 2015/16 to 842 in 

2018/19. Approximately 20% of these requests resulted in a change of provision. 
 An increase in the number of in-year admissions to special schools and the number 

of children and young people requiring a change in provision.  For place projection 
purposes it is anticipated that this number will continue at similar levels for the next 
three years.

 The capacity of our schools to meet the needs of children and young people with 

Page 161



special educational needs and disabilities.

Another influence could be parental preference for specialist provision but these changes 
could also be linked to the capacity of our schools to meet a range of learning needs 
balancing the needs of all children and the pressure to improve standards alongside the 
level of resources that are delegated directly to schools.

Social, Emotional and Mental Health Needs (SEMH) is the second largest primary need in 
Bradford. In primary school the numbers with an EHCP are lower 29% than that in 
Secondary 71%. The number of children and young people in secondary school having 
SEN support for SEMH has increased by 56% from 2014-2019.

The distribution of special educational needs and disabilities is widespread across the 
District.  

This provides an indication of the future demand for specialist places; it also shows that 
additional specialist places will be required to support children and young people with 
special educational needs and disabilities as we move forward.

Future Specialist Provision

The Bradford District has experienced a significant increase in demand for Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) provision in the last 10 years. It is projected 
that the demand for SEND provision will continue to grow and additional specialist places 
for primary and secondary aged children and young people in the Bradford District will be 
required.

In 2018 the Council Executive approved a number of proposals to increase and create 
additional specialist provision across the district.  The Regional Schools Commissioner 
also approved via the Headteacher Board a number of proposals relating to academy 
schools across Bradford. This led to a total increase of 360 additional specialist places, 
across the LA maintained and Academy sector.

It is projected that the demand for SEND provision will continue to grow across all sectors 
in the Bradford District. The Schools Forum agreed in January 2019 to commission an 
additional 354 specialist places, as presented as part of the draft outline plan.

 There is an urgent need for more specialist places in Bradford due to the increase 
in population 

 All children are to be valued equally, regardless of their ability, behaviour, family 
circumstances, ethnic origin, gender and sexual orientation 

 All children are to be provided with the best learning opportunities, environment and 
experience which maximises their learning 

 All children are entitled to a broad, balanced and relevant curriculum which is 
differentiated to meet individual needs 

 Children’s diverse special educational needs and disabilities require a range of 
flexible and varied provision 

The proposal will expand and develop further, the specialist provisions to enhance the 
network of Special Schools, EYESPs and RPs which form part of: 

Page 162



 A coherent geographical spread of provision across the District, minimising travel 
times 

 A dynamic network for sharing best practice and experience 
 Flexible and responsive provision to best meet the needs of Children and Young 

People with SEND

Children and Young People with a range of Special Educational Needs and Disabilities will 
continue to be well served in Bradford. The council is looking at the best way to offer a full 
range of provision locally for all children. We believe that a flexible district wide model will 
be able to respond effectively to local changes in demand.

The proposed change will ensure the continued delivery of high quality and cost effective 
provision for the children and Young People of Bradford. The Council intend to have a 
District wide structure of EYESPs, RPs and Special Schools that will:

 Provide local specialist provision, reducing the need for pupils to travel long 
distances across the District 

 Provide an equitable distribution of local specialist provision for children and young 
people with special educational needs and disabilities 

 Provide increased access to the curriculum; due to the staffing experience and 
capacity of the new RPs and Special schools. It will be possible to individually 
differentiate and support the work and potential of each individual pupil 

 Provide an increased level of available support to all pupils and will give the 
greatest opportunity to increase inclusion for Special school, EYESP and RP pupils 
who are otherwise very vulnerable 

 Provide an improved support network, especially related to training that will support 
and develop the proposals 

 Provide a progression pathway from Primary phase to Secondary phase. 

Objections and comments:

Any person or organisation may submit written objections or comments on the proposals 
by sending them to Diane Cochrane at the below address or email by 9 January 2020 (in 
support or objections) 

SEND Planning & Strategy Lead, Children’s Services, 7th Floor, Margaret McMillan 
Tower, Bradford, BD1 1NN or email 

SENDPlacesConsultation@bradford.gov.uk

Page 163

mailto:SENDPlacesConsultation@bradford.gov.uk


Appendix 6 Statutory Proposal for a Prescribed Alteration

Proposal to Establish a Resourced Provision Led by the Local Authority (RP-LA) 
at Fagley Primary School

School and Local Authority details:

School: Fagley Primary School, Falsgrave Ave, Bradford BD2 3PU 
This is a maintained primary school. 

Local Authority: City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council, City Hall, Bradford BD1 
1HY

Description of alteration:

The proposal is to establish a Resourced Provision - Local Authority Led (RP-LA) at 
Fagley Primary School with up to 12 places for primary aged boys and girls with 
communication and interaction needs including Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD). The 
proposed implementation date is 24th February 2020. The proposed provision is 
recognised by the Local Authority as reserved for children with special educational needs.    

The admission of pupils will be managed by the special educational needs statutory 
assessment process.  It is anticipated that the provision will grow over time.

No new or additional site is required to establish the proposed RP-LA. This will be 
achieved by using an area of the existing Children Centre building, which is on the school 
site. The Local Authority has secured the amount of capital costs for the required 
improvements and refurbishments associated with the proposed establishment of a 12 
place RP-LA at the school.

Consultation:

The Local Authority pre-consulted with all interested parties. The 2 week pre-consultation 
period commenced on 5th November 2019 and closed on 18th November 2019.  A 
summary of the responses and the outcome of the pre- consultation is attached. 
(Appendix 1 Pre-Consultation phase).  

We are currently entering into the Statutory Notice phase which runs from 28th November 
to 9th January 2020. Normally this phase would be over four weeks, however in order to 
take into account the Christmas holiday period this has been extended. 

Objectives:

The objective of the proposal is to establish a RP-LA at Fagley Primary School with up to 
12 places for primary aged boys and girls with communication and interaction needs 
including Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) to accommodate the increasing demand for 
specialist provision places across the District.

When proposing changes to existing SEND Provision the Proposers have to meet the 
SEN Improvement Test and be able to demonstrate that the proposed arrangements are 

Page 164



likely to lead to improvement in the standard, quality/and or range of educational provision 
for Children with special educational needs and disabilities. The rationale and expected 
benefits of the proposal are set out in the attached SEN Improvement Test.

The proposals will build on the good standards for teaching and learning already in place 
at the school and provide additional local places for local children with special educational 
needs without having any negative impact on other schools, academies and educational 
institutions in the area.  This would also increase parental choice in the area. 

Implementation and any proposed stages for implementation: 

The proposed implementation date is 24th February 2020. The admission of pupils will be 
managed by the special educational needs statutory assessment process.  It is anticipated 
that the provision will grow over time. The proposal would ensure a successful outcome for 
the school and children and young people.

Project Costs:

No new or additional site is required but using an area of the existing Children Centre 
building would be required to enable the proposed establishment of a RP-LA. The Local 
Authority has secured the amount of capital costs for the required improvements and 
refurbishments associated with the proposed establishment of a 12 place RP-LA at the 
school. This would be phased in agreement with the school and Local Authority.

The proposed new RP-LA places at Fagley Primary School will be funded from the High 
Needs Block part of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). In accordance with the local 
determined funding formula for special educational needs pupils. Element 1 of the place 
funding will be delegated to the school for an agreed number of places. Element 2 & 
element 3 (additional funding will be paid in accordance with individual pupil needs – 7 
range funding model) will be retained by the central council service to pay for the 
staffing/resources in the proposed provision. The Local Authority maintains a service level 
agreement with each of the schools who host specialist provisions.

Evidence of demand:

All Local Authorities have a statutory duty to keep under review the specialist provision 
they make for children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities 
(SEND). Whilst also ensuring there are sufficient specialist places available to meet the 
needs of the growing SEND population.

The Bradford District has experienced a significant increase in demand for Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) provision in the last 10 years. It is projected 
that the demand for SEND provision will continue to grow and additional specialist places 
for primary and secondary aged children and young people in the Bradford District will be 
required.

All of the available data shows that there will be an on-going need to provide specialist 
provision for early years, primary and secondary phase children and young people with a 
range of special educational needs and disabilities throughout the Bradford District.

In monitoring these trends, data and information, it has confirmed that further specialist 

Page 165



provision is required to meet the needs of its current and future population. 

In January 2005 the population in the Districts Schools and Nurseries was 79,589. In 
January 2015 the population was 90,292 which is an increase of 13.4%. The current 
population January 2019 is 100,778.

The projected population increases are applied to the current known special educational 
needs and disabilities population.  In addition, other local data such as the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment (JSNA) is considered such as the prevalence of complex health and 
disability in the local district.  The early identification of young children and the outcome of 
statutory assessments have identified an increase in numbers for some areas of need.

The Bradford District Education Organisation Plan takes into account different factors 
when predicting school demand including fertility and birth rates, housing growth and 
inward/outward migration.  Analysis of the Index of Deprivation and population estimates 
from the Office for National Statistics are also taken into account.  

There have been a number of influencing factors in relation to the demand for specialist in 
the Bradford District:

 Improvements in medical interventions which has significantly increased life 
expectancy for those children with life limiting conditions

 The overall increase in the pupil population since 2005, particularly within the south 
Asian community and economically deprived areas

 An increase in the number of referrals received for statutory assessment

 Requests for statutory assessment have increased from 265 in 2015/16 to 842 in 
2018/19. Approximately 20% of these requests resulted in a change of provision 

 An increase in the number of in-year admissions to special schools and the number 
of children and young people requiring a change in provision.  For place projection 
purposes it is anticipated that this number will continue at similar levels for the next 
three years

 The capacity of our schools to meet the needs of children and young people with 
special educational needs and disabilities

Another influence could be parental preference for specialist provision but these changes 
could also be linked to the capacity of our schools to meet a range of learning needs 
balancing the needs of all children and the pressure to improve standards alongside the 
level of resources that are delegated directly to schools.
The identification of Autism Spectrum Disorder continues to increase.  More clinics have 
been established to enable the diagnosis of ASD earlier. Support documents from the 
Joint Assessment Clinic show there is likely to be an increase in demand for autism 
provision.  Health professionals inform the Local Authority of young children with additional 
needs.  An analysis of these notifications shows that children and young people identified 
with speech language and communication needs are the largest cohort of notifications 
received.  A significant number of these are likely to receive a diagnosis of Autism.

Page 166



The distribution of special educational needs and disabilities is widespread across the 
District.  

This provides an indication of the future demand for specialist places; it also shows that 
additional specialist places will be required to support children and young people with 
special educational needs and disabilities as we move forward.

Future Specialist Provision

The Bradford District has experienced a significant increase in demand for Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) provision in the last 10 years. It is projected 
that the demand for SEND provision will continue to grow and additional specialist places 
for primary and secondary aged children and young people in the Bradford District will be 
required.

In 2018 the Council’s Executive approved a number of proposals to increase and create 
additional specialist provision across the district.  The Regional Schools Commissioner 
also approved via the Headteacher Board a number of proposals relating to academy 
schools across Bradford. This led to a total increase of 360 additional specialist places, 
across the LA maintained and Academy sector.

It is projected that the demand for SEND provision will continue to grow across all sectors 
in the Bradford District. The Schools Forum agreed in January 2019 to commission an 
additional 354 specialist places, as presented as part of the draft outline plan.

 There is an urgent need for more specialist places in Bradford due to the increase 
in population 

 All children are to be valued equally, regardless of their ability, behaviour, family 
circumstances, ethnic origin, gender and sexual orientation 

 All children are to be provided with the best learning opportunities, environment and 
experience which maximises their learning 

 All children are entitled to a broad, balanced and relevant curriculum which is 
differentiated to meet individual needs 

 Children’s diverse special educational needs and disabilities require a range of 
flexible and varied provision 

These proposals will expand and develop further, the specialist provisions to enhance the 
network of Special Schools, EYESPs and RP-LA’s which form part of: 

 A coherent geographical spread of provision across the District, minimising travel 
times 

 A dynamic network for sharing best practice and experience 
 Flexible and responsive provision to best meet the needs of Children and Young 

People with SEND

Children and Young People with a range of Special Educational Needs and Disabilities will 
continue to be well served in Bradford. The Council is looking at the best way to offer a full 
range of provision locally for all children. We believe that a flexible district wide model will 
be able to respond effectively to local changes in demand.

The proposed changes will ensure the continued delivery of high quality and cost effective 

Page 167



provision for the children and Young People of Bradford. The Council intend to have a 
District wide structure of EYESPs, RP-LAs School Led, RP-LAs Local Authority Led and 
Special Schools that will:

 Provide local specialist provision, reducing the need for pupils to travel long 
distances across the District 

 Provide an equitable distribution of local specialist provision for children and young 
people with special educational needs and disabilities 

 Provide increased access to the curriculum; due to the staffing experience and 
capacity of the new RP-LAs school led and increased capacity of RP-LAs Local 
Authority led and Special schools. It will be possible to individually differentiate and 
support the work and potential of each individual pupil 

 Provide an increased level of available support to all pupils and will give the 
greatest opportunity to increase inclusion for Special school, EYESP, and RP-LA 
pupils who are otherwise very vulnerable 

 Provide an improved support network, especially related to training that will support 
and develop the proposals 

 Provide a progression pathway from Primary phase to Secondary phase. 

Central to these proposals is the continuity of provision between early years, primary and 
secondary phases of education.

Objections and comments:

Any person or organisation may submit written objections or comments on the proposals 
by sending them to Diane Cochrane at the below address or email by 9th January 2020 (in 
support or objections) 

SEND Planning & Strategy Lead, Children’s Services, 7th Floor, Margaret McMillan 
Tower, Bradford, BD1 1NN or email 

SENDPlacesConsultation@bradford.gov.uk

Page 168

mailto:SENDPlacesConsultation@bradford.gov.uk


Appendix 7 Statutory Proposal for a Prescribed Alteration

Proposals to Alter Early Years Enhanced Specialist Provision (EYESP) at Abbey 
Green Nursery School 

Proposals to Establish Early Years Enhanced Specialist Provision (EYESP) at 
Midland Road Nursery School

School and Local Authority details:

Schools: Abbey Green Nursery School, Green Lane, Bradford BD8 8HH
                Midland Road Nursery School, Thorncliffe Rd, Bradford BD8 7DJ

Both provisions are maintained nursery schools. 

Local Authority: City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council, City Hall, Bradford BD1 
1HY

Description of alteration:

The proposals are to 

 Reduce the current number of EYESP places at Abbey Green Nursery School from 
20* to 10 places.

 Develop 10 new EYESP places at Midland Road Nursery School.

Since the opening of the 20* place Early Years Enhanced Specialist Provision (EYESP) 
for children aged 2 – 5 years with a range of special educational needs and disabilities at 
Abbey Green Nursery School, the setting has run with an under occupancy. 

Abbey Green Nursery School is part of a federation with Midland Road Nursery School 
and Strong Close Nursery School. All three nursery schools have an Executive Head who 
oversees all provisions. Both Abbey Green Nursery schools and Strong Close currently 
have EYESPs. It has been identified that it would be beneficial to the children and parents 
in the area, if Midland Road Nursery School delivered EYESP places. 

The proposed provision is recognised by the Local Authority as reserved for children with 
special educational needs.    

The admission of pupils will be managed by the special educational needs statutory 
assessment process.  It is anticipated that the new provision will grow over time.

No new or additional site is required to establish the proposed EYESP. This will be 
achieved by remodelling of the existing building on the school site. The Local Authority has 
secured the amount of capital costs for the required improvements and refurbishments 
associated with the proposed establishment of a 10* place EYESP at the school. 

The reduction of places at Abbey Green Nursery School will not require any changes to 
the Nursery School. * Part time places.

Consultation:

The Local Authority pre-consulted with all interested parties. The 2 week pre-consultation 
period commenced on 5th November 2019 and closed on 18th November 2019.  A 

Page 169



summary of the responses and the outcome of the pre- consultation is attached. 
(Appendix 1 Pre-Consultation phase).  

We are currently entering into the Statutory Notice phase which runs from 28th November 
to 9th January 2020. Normally this phase would be over four weeks, however in order to 
take into account the Christmas holiday period this has been extended. 

Objectives:

The objective of the proposal to establish an EYESP at Midland Road Nursery School is to 
have a wider geographical spread of EYESP places available for parents. The re-
distribution of Abbey Green Nursery Schools under used places is response to parent led 
demand for provision in the Midland Road area.

When proposing changes to existing SEND Provision the Proposers have to meet the 
SEN Improvement Test and be able to demonstrate that the proposed arrangements are 
likely to lead to improvement in the standard, quality/and or range of educational provision 
for Children with special educational needs and disabilities. The rationale and expected 
benefits of the proposal are set out in the attached SEN Improvement Test.

The proposals will build on the good standards for teaching and learning already in place 
at the school and provide additional local places for local children with special educational 
needs without having any negative impact on other schools, academies and educational 
institutions in the area.  This would also increase parental choice in the area. 

Implementation and any proposed stages for implementation: 

The proposed implementation date is 24th February 2020. The admission of pupils will be 
managed by the special educational needs statutory assessment process.  It is anticipated 
that the provision will grow over time. The proposal would ensure a successful outcome for 
the school and children and young people.

Project Costs:

No new or additional site is required but some remodelling of the existing building would 
be required to enable the proposed establishment of a new EYESP. The Local Authority 
has secured the amount of capital costs for the required improvements and refurbishments 
associated with the proposed establishment of a 10* place EYESP at the nursery school. 
This would be phased in agreement with the school and Local Authority.

The proposed new Early Years Enhanced Specialist Provision places at Midland Road 
Nursery School will be funded from the High Needs Block part of the Dedicated Schools 
Grant (DSG). The revenue funding required for the additional places is included in the 
DSG allocation and the additional commissioned places have been agreed by the Schools 
Forum.  
The Local Authority maintains a service level agreement with each of the schools who host 
specialist provisions.

Evidence of demand:

All Local Authorities have a statutory duty to keep under review the specialist provision 
they make for children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities 
(SEND). Whilst also ensuring there are sufficient specialist places available to meet the 
needs of the growing SEND population.

Page 170



The Bradford District has experienced a significant increase in demand for Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) provision in the last 10 years. It is projected 
that the demand for SEND provision will continue to grow and additional specialist places 
for primary and secondary aged children and young people in the Bradford District will be 
required.

All of the available data shows that there will be an on-going need to provide specialist 
provision for early years, primary and secondary phase children and young people with a 
range of special educational needs and disabilities throughout the Bradford District.

In monitoring these trends, data and information, it has confirmed that further specialist 
provision is required to meet the needs of its current and future population. 

In January 2005 the population in the Districts Schools and Nurseries was 79,589. In 
January 2015 the population was 90,292 which is an increase of 13.4%. The current 
population January 2019 is 100,778.

The projected population increases are applied to the current known special educational 
needs and disabilities population.  In addition, other local data such as the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment (JSNA) is considered such as the prevalence of complex health and 
disability in the local district.  The early identification of young children and the outcome of 
statutory assessments have identified an increase in numbers for some areas of need.

The Bradford District Education Organisation Plan takes into account different factors 
when predicting school demand including fertility and birth rates, housing growth and 
inward/outward migration.  Analysis of the Index of Deprivation and population estimates 
from the Office for National Statistics are also taken into account.  

There have been a number of influencing factors in relation to the demand for specialist in 
the Bradford District:

 Improvements in medical interventions which has significantly increased life 
expectancy for those children with life limiting conditions

The overall increase in the pupil population since 2005.

 An increase in the number of referrals received for statutory assessment

 Requests for statutory assessment have increased from 265 in 2015/16 to 842 in 
2018/19. Approximately 20% of these requests resulted in a change of provision

 An increase in the number of in-year admissions to special schools and the number 
of children and young people requiring a change in provision.  For place projection 
purposes it is anticipated that this number will continue at similar levels for the next 
three years

 The capacity of our schools to meet the needs of children and young people with 
special educational needs and disabilities

Another influence could be parental preference for specialist provision but these changes 
could also be linked to the capacity of our schools to meet a range of SEND needs 
balancing the needs of all children and the pressure to improve standards alongside the 
level of resources that are delegated directly to schools.

Page 171



The distribution of special educational needs and disabilities is widespread across the 
District.  

This provides an indication of the future demand for specialist places; it also shows that 
additional specialist places will be required to support children and young people with 
special educational needs and disabilities as we move forward.

Future Specialist Provision

The Bradford District has experienced a significant increase in demand for Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) provision in the last 10 years. It is projected 
that the demand for SEND provision will continue to grow and additional specialist places 
for primary and secondary aged children and young people in the Bradford District will be 
required.

In 2018 the Council’s Executive approved a number of proposals to increase and create 
additional specialist provision across the district.  The Regional Schools Commissioner 
also approved via the Headteacher Board a number of proposals relating to academy 
schools across Bradford. This led to a total increase of 360 additional specialist places, 
across the LA maintained and Academy sector.

It is projected that the demand for SEND provision will continue to grow across all sectors 
in the Bradford District. The Schools Forum agreed in January 2019 to commission an 
additional 354 specialist places, as presented as part of the draft outline plan.

 There is an urgent need for more specialist places in Bradford due to the increase 
in population 

 All children are to be valued equally, regardless of their ability, behaviour, family 
circumstances, ethnic origin, gender and sexual orientation 

 All children are to be provided with the best learning opportunities, environment and 
experience which maximises their learning 

 All children are entitled to a broad, balanced and relevant curriculum which is 
differentiated to meet individual needs 

 Children’s diverse special educational needs and disabilities require a range of 
flexible and varied provision 

These proposals will expand and develop further, the specialist provisions to enhance the 
network of Special Schools, EYESPs and RPs which form part of: 

 A coherent geographical spread of provision across the District, minimising travel 
times 

 A dynamic network for sharing best practice and experience 
 Flexible and responsive provision to best meet the needs of Children and Young 

People with SEND

Children and Young People with a range of Special Educational Needs and Disabilities will 
continue to be well served in Bradford. The Council is looking at the best way to offer a full 
range of provision locally for all children. We believe that a flexible district wide model will 
be able to respond effectively to local changes in demand.

The proposed changes will ensure the continued delivery of high quality and cost effective 
provision for the children and Young People of Bradford. The Council intend to have a 
District wide structure of RPs School Led, RPs Local Authority Led, EYESPs and Special 

Page 172



Schools that will:

 Provide local specialist provision, reducing the need for pupils to travel long 
distances across the District 

 Provide an equitable distribution of local specialist provision for children and young 
people with special educational needs and disabilities 

 Provide increased access to the curriculum; due to the staffing experience and 
capacity of the new EYESPs and increased capacity of RPs and Special Schools. It 
will be possible to individually differentiate and support the work and potential of 
each individual pupil 

 Provide an increased level of available support to all pupils and will give the 
greatest opportunity to increase inclusion for Special School, RP and EYESP pupils 
who are otherwise very vulnerable 

 Provide an improved support network, especially related to training that will support 
and develop the proposals 

 Provide a progression pathway from Primary phase to Secondary phase 

Central to these proposals is the continuity of provision between early years, primary and 
secondary phases of education.

Objections and comments:

Any person or organisation may submit written objections or comments on the proposals 
by sending them to Diane Cochrane at the below address or email by 9th January 2020 (in 
support or objections). 

SEND Planning & Strategy Lead, Children’s Services, 7th Floor, Margaret McMillan 
Tower, Bradford, BD1 1NN or email 

SENDPlacesConsultation@bradford.gov.uk

Page 173

mailto:SENDPlacesConsultation@bradford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Report of the Strategic Director of Children’s Services 
to the meeting of Executive Committee to be held on 4 
February 2020

Subject:  AW
Proposed Reduction of Published Admission Number at Carrwood and Low Ash 
Primary Schools

Summary statement:

This report asks the Executive to:

Approve the reduction of the published admission number at:
 Carrwood Primary School from 60 to 30 from 1 September 2021
 Low Ash Primary School from 90 to 60 from 1 September 2021

Mark Douglas
Strategic Director, Children’s Services

Portfolio:  

Education, Employment and Skills

Report Contact:  Marium Haque
Deputy Director, Children’s Services
Phone: (01274) 431078
E-mail: Marium.Haque@bradford.gov.uk

Overview & Scrutiny Area: 

Children’s Services

Page 175

Agenda Item 10/



1. SUMMARY

This report asks the Executive to:

Approve the reduction of the published admission number at:
 Carrwood Primary School from 60 to 30 from 1 September 2021
 Low Ash Primary School from 90 to 60 from 1 September 2021

2 BACKGROUND

2.1.1 When planning primary school places in Bradford, the District is split into 26 primary 
school planning areas.

2.1.2 The School Admissions Code requires that all admission authorities consult where 
they propose to reduce a Published Admission Number (PAN).

2.1.3 Whilst there are still small areas of population growth, overall across the Bradford 
District, there is a decrease in the number of younger children registered with the 
NHS. This has led to a high level of surplus places in some primary school planning 
areas. 

2.1.4 Recent information published by the Office of National Statistics (ONS) shows that 
the number of births in 2018 was the lowest recorded both nationally and in 
Bradford, since 2005.

2.2 Proposal to reduce the Published Admission Number at Carrwood Primary 
School:

2.2.1 Carrwood Primary School is situated in the South East 1 planning area. The 
population growth in Bradford over the last decade increased pressure on primary 
school places, resulting in a large-scale expansion programme to meet the growth 
in demand. Carrwood Primary School permanently increased Published Admission 
Number (PAN) in reception from 30 to 60 in September 2011. This moved up 
through the school each year until all year groups had a PAN of 60 in 2017. The net 
capacity for the building is 420, made up of 60 places in each year from reception to 
year 6.

2.2.2 Since 2016, Carrwood has admitted a significantly lower number of pupils into 
reception than the number of places available.

2.2.3 Funding received by schools is directly related to the number of pupils attending the 
school. Too many vacancies mean that schools do not receive the maximum 
possible revenue.

2.2.4 Data received from the NHS shows that the number of younger children living in 
this area who will require a school place in the coming years is lower than the 
number of school places available. Recent information published by the Office of 
National Statistics (ONS) shows that the number of births in 2018 was the lowest 
recorded both nationally and in Bradford since 2005.

Page 176



2.2.5 There are currently 470 reception places available in the South East 1 planning 
area. Forecasts show that the numbers of places required in the next four years 
are: 
2020/21: 380
2021/22: 388
2022/23: 369
2023/24: 369

2.2.6 A housing development of 270 dwellings is currently under construction across the 
border in the Leeds part of Tyersal, in very close proximity to Carrwood Primary 
School. As required by the Department for Education (DfE), a calculation has been 
made for the possible additional children who could come to live in this 
development and these additional children are included in the above forecast. 

2.3 Proposal to reduce the Published Admission Number at Low Ash Primary 
School:

2.3.1 Low Ash Primary School is situated in the Shipley 1 planning area. The population 
growth in Bradford over the last decade increased pressure on primary school 
places, resulting in a large-scale expansion programme to meet the growth in 
demand. Following consultation in autumn 2017, the Council’s Executive 
Committee agreed that the Published Admission Number (PAN) at Low Ash 
Primary School would increase from 60 to 90 from September 2019.

2.3.2 A main factor presented in that proposal, was the significant number of approved 
and proposed housing developments within a reasonable distance of Low Ash 
Primary School. These developments were expected to significantly increase the 
number of children requiring a school place. However, the proposed housing 
developments which were expected to increase the demand on school places have 
not yet begun construction and are not expected to be occupied for a number of 
years.

2.3.3 Forecasts showed that there were sufficient school places in the neighbouring 
planning areas to meet demand for reception places in September 2019, and it was 
recognised that to increase the PAN at Low Ash could be detrimental to other local 
primary schools.

2.3.4 A referral was sent to the Office of the Schools Adjudicator in April 2019 to request 
variation to the PAN from 90 to 60 for September 2019. However, this request was 
not approved as the Schools Adjudicator determined that the potential effect on 
other schools was “not sufficient reason to deny the parental preferences made” at 
that time.

2.3.5 A further referral was sent to the Office of the Schools Adjudicator in June 2019 to 
request a variation to the PAN from 90 to 60 for September 2020. This request was 
approved and therefore 60 pupils will be allocated to start at Low Ash Primary 
School in September 2020.

Page 177



2.3.6 The current published forecast for Shipley 1 planning area, based on the previously 
approved PAN for the area of 200, indicate that the number of places required for 
reception for the next four years will be below the PAN for the area, leaving surplus 
places in some schools:
2020/21: 181
2021/22: 173
2022/23: 162
2023/24: 162

2.3.7 The draft forecast for Shipley 1 planning area, based on the proposed planning 
area PAN of 170, also indicate that the number of places required for reception for 
the next four years will be below the PAN for the area, leaving a smaller number of 
surplus places in some schools:
2020/21: 160
2021/22: 151
2022/23: 149
2023/24: 149

2.3.8 The Council’s proposal to reduce the PAN at Low Ash should limit the number of 
available places in neighbouring schools and enable the schools to operate more 
efficiently and cost effectively.

2.3.9 Due to the lower numbers of younger children registered with the NHS who will 
require a school place in the coming years, the Council expects that there will be 
sufficient school places available for local children if the PAN at Low Ash is 
reduced. 

3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

3.1 Consultation to reduce the PAN at Carrwood Primary School:

3.1.1 In line with the School Admissions Code, consultation to reduce the PAN at 
Carrwood Primary School from 60 to 30 from 1 September 2021 was carried out 
between 21 November 2019 and 16 January 2020. A sample consultation letter can 
be seen in Appendix A.

3.1.2 The list of those consulted is shown in Appendix C. Details of the consultation were 
placed on the Council’s website and on Bradford Schools Online and the school 
website.

3.1.3 A total of 3 responses were received; see comments and summary in Appendix D. 
The respondents agree with the proposal to reduce the PAN at Carrwood. The 
forecasted number of places required in the South East 1 planning area is 
significantly lower than the number of places currently available at schools in this 
area. The forecast shows that even with a reduction of PAN at Carrwood Primary 
School, there will still be sufficient places available to meet demand. If however 
there is an increase in demand that cannot be met by other schools in the area, a 
bulge class may be admitted to Carrwood Primary School utilising existing space 
within the school building.

Page 178



3.2 Consultation to reduce the PAN at Low Ash Primary School:

3.2.1 In line with the School Admissions Code, consultation to reduce the PAN at Low 
Ash Primary School from 90 to 60 from 1 September 2021 was carried out between 
7 November 2019 and 17 December 2019. A sample consultation letter can be 
seen in Appendix B.

3.2.2 The list of those consulted is shown in Appendix C. Details of the consultation were 
placed on the Council’s website and on Bradford Schools Online and the school 
website.

3.2.3 A total of 3 responses were received; see comments and summary in Appendix E. 
the respondents agree with the proposal to reduce the PAN at Low Ash. One 
respondent agrees that by reducing the PAN at Low Ash this will allow the number 
of pupils at other local schools to remain at a more financially viable level, which is 
in the interest of future sustainability. 

4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

4.1 Schools receive funding through the Fair Funding Formula which allocates funding 
to schools based on the number of pupils attending the school. 

4.2 Bradford Council believes that reducing the PAN at Carrwood Primary School will 
assist the school to provide stability in their long-term planning and allow them to 
deliver high quality educational outcomes for the pupils currently on roll.

4.3 Bradford Council believes that reducing the PAN at Low Ash Primary School will 
assist local schools to provide stability in their long-term planning and allow them to 
deliver high quality educational outcomes for the pupils currently on roll.

5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

5.1 There are no significant risks with the reduction in PAN at Carrwood Primary 
School; there is still forecast to be enough schools places available within the South 
East 1 and neighbouring planning areas.

5.2 There are no significant risks with the reduction in Pan at Low Ash Primary School; 
there is still forecast to be enough school places available within the Shipley 1 and 
neighbouring planning areas.

6. LEGAL APPRAISAL

6.1 In accordance with the School Admissions Code 2014, when changes are proposed
to admission arrangements for entry in September 2021, the admissions authority
must consult on those arrangements. Consultation must be for a minimum of 6
weeks and must take place between 1 October and 31 January of the school year
before those arrangements are to apply. If no changes are made to admission
arrangements, they must be consulted on at least once every seven years.

Page 179



6.2 All Admission Authorities must consult in accordance with paragraph 1.42 of the 
School Admissions Code where they propose to lower a school’s PAN.

6.3 Under section 14 of the Education Act 1996, the Local Authority has a statutory
duty to provide sufficient school places for all pupils in its area.

7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS

7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY

Admission arrangements must not discriminate directly or indirectly against any 
group or individual.

Equality Impact Assessment completed 6 January 2020 see Appendix F

7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

There are no sustainability implications

7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

The proposals would not impact on greenhouse gas emissions.

7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

There are no community safety implications from this report.

7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

There are no direct Human Rights implications arising from this report. 

7.6 TRADE UNION

Trade Unions have been informed of the proposal to reduce the PAN at Carrwood 
and Low Ash Primary Schools. 

7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS

Ward Councillors have been consulted about the proposed change to the PAN at 
both Carrwood and Low Ash Primary Schools.

7.8 AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS
(for reports to Area Committees only)

N/A

Page 180



7.9 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

As required by the School Admissions Code, Looked After Children are given the 
highest priority when allocating school places. Therefore no implications arising 
from the proposed reduction of PAN for the provision of places for Looked After 
Children.

7.10 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT

General Data Protection Regulation principles relating to individuals’ data and rights 
under the Data Protection Act 2018 will be respected. Privacy implications arising 
from this proposal have been addressed by anonymising consultees’ personal 
information together with any information which may enable them to be identified 
from their responses and the summary of their responses.

8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

None

9. OPTIONS

Considering the results of the consultation, the Executive can decide to:

9.1 Carrwood Primary School

a) Approve the reduction of Published Admission Number (PAN) at Carrwood 
Primary School from 60 to 30 from 1 September 2021
or

b) Retain the existing PAN of 60 at Carrwood Primary School.

9.2 Carrwood Primary School

a) Approve the reduction of Published Admission Number (PAN) at Low Ash 
Primary School from 90 to 60 from 1 September 2021
or

b) Retain the existing PAN of 90 at Low AshPrimary School.

10. RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1 That the Executive approve the proposal to reduce the Published Admission 
Number (PAN) at Carrwood Primary School from 60 to 30 from 1 September 2021.

10.2 That the Executive approve the proposal to reduce the Published Admission 
Number (PAN) at Low Ash Primary School from 90 to 60 from 1 September 2021.

Page 181



11. APPENDICES

Appendix A: Sample consultation letter for reduction of PAN at Carrwood Primary School
Appendix B: Sample consultation letter for reduction of PAN at Low Ash Primary School
Appendix C: List of Consultees
Appendix D: Summary and all responses received for Carrwood consultation
Appendix E: Summary and all responses received for Low Ash consultation
Appendix F: Equality Impact Assessment Form

12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

School Admissions Code 2014

Page 182



Appendix A

Parents/Carers of Carrwood Primary School Pupils 

Department of Children’s Services
Intelligence & Sufficiency Service
Margaret McMillan Tower
Princes Way
Bradford 
BD1 1NN

Tel: (01274) 439207
Fax: (01274) 320003
Email: Claire.Marshall-Swales@bradford.gov.uk

Date:  21 November 2019
Dear Parents/Carers

Statutory consultation on the proposed reduction in Published Admission Number 
for Carrwood Primary School for the 2021/22 academic year

The current Published Admission Number (PAN) at Carrwood Primary School is 60. This means 
that the number of children admitted to the school in reception each year is a maximum of 60.

When planning primary school places in Bradford, the District is split into 26 primary school 
planning areas. Carrwood Primary School sits in the South East 1 planning area. 

The population growth in Bradford over the last decade increased pressure on primary school 
places, resulting in a large-scale expansion programme to meet the growth in demand. Due to the 
anticipated increase in demand in the South East 1 planning area, Carrwood Primary School 
permanently increased PAN in reception from 30 to 60 in September 2011. This moved up through 
the school each year until all year groups had a PAN of 60 in 2017. The net capacity for the 
building is 420, made up of 60 places in each year from reception to year 6. 

In addition to Carrwood, a number of PAN increases were implemented at schools in South East 1 
in 2011: 
Knowleswood increased from 45 to 60
Newhall Park increased from 45 to 60
Ryecroft increased from 30 to 60 
St Columba’s increased from 45 to 50

The overall PAN for the planning area increased from 375 to 470 in September 2011.

Since 2016, Carrwood has admitted a significantly lower number of pupils into reception than the 
number of spaces available. The numbers recorded in the schools January Census is shown 
below:

2016/17: 32
2017/18: 39
2018/19: 37

In September 2019, 41 children started reception at Carrwood. Across the South East 1 planning 
area, there were 470 reception places available with the total number of places allocated at 
National Offer Day being 382. 

Page 183



Whilst there are still small areas of population growth, overall across the Bradford District, there is 
a decrease in the number of younger children registered with the NHS. This has led to a high level 
of surplus places in some of the primary school planning areas including South East 1, where 
Carrwood Primary School is situated. Recent information published by the Office of National 
Statistics (ONS) shows that the number of births in 2018 was the lowest recorded both nationally 
and in Bradford, since 2005; therefore the Council does not anticipate that the numbers of children 
requiring school places in the South East 1 planning area will increase significantly in the near 
future.

Current published forecasts indicate that the number of reception places required for reception for 
the next four intake years are:

2020/21: 390
2021/22: 388
2022/23: 369
2023/24: 369

A housing development of 270 dwellings is currently under construction across the border in the 
Leeds part of Tyersal, in very close proximity to Carrwood Primary School. As required by the 
Department for Education (DfE), a calculation has been made for the possible additional children 
that could come to live in this development and these additional children have been included in 
this forecast.

The School Admissions Code requires that all admission authorities consult where they propose to 
reduce a PAN. Bradford Council, as the Admission Authority, is therefore seeking representations 
on the proposed change to the PAN for Carrwood Primary School in the South East 1 planning 
area.

In accordance with the School Admissions Code (2014), the Council is consulting with key 
stakeholders, including;

 Carrwood Primary School – Head/Governing Body/ Staff
 Parents/carers of current pupils and prospective parents of pupils
 All other Admission Authorities within the District
 Neighbouring Local Authorities
 Councillors and MPs
 Trade Unions
 Anyone else who has an interest in the proposed changes

A copy has been sent to the Schools Adjudicator
The school will be asked to publish the proposal on their website.
This consultation will run for six weeks from 21 November 2019 – 16 January 2020, after which 
time any representations received will be considered and a report taken to the Council’s Executive 
Committee for a decision to be made on the PAN for Carrwood Primary School.

Specific Proposal

Bradford Council proposes to reduce the PAN at Carrwood Primary School from 60 to 30 from 
September 2021. 

This means that the maximum number of pupils intended to be admitted in Reception in 2021, and 
all subsequent Reception cohorts, will be 30. For children who already have a place at the school 
in other year groups there will be no change. 

Page 184



Factors that have been considered by the Council when deciding to consult on this proposal 
include:

 A large portion of funding received by schools is directly related to the number of 
pupils attending the school. Too many vacancies mean that schools will not receive 
the maximum possible revenue. Therefore the Council is proposing to reduce the 
number of available places to enable the school to operate more efficiently and cost 
effectively.

 The school is located in South East 1 planning area where there continues to be a 
falling demand for primary school places, resulting in a significant surplus across 
the area. This has meant that the reception class has not filled in the last three 
years.

 The total number of pupils from reception to Year 6 recorded by the school on the 
October 2019 census is 379 and is well below the current PAN of 420

 Due to the lower numbers of younger children registered with the NHS who will 
require a school place in the coming years, the Council expects that there will be 
sufficient school places available for local children if the PAN is reduced. If agreed, 
the overall PAN for the South East 1 planning area will be 440 from 2021.

Carrwood Primary School Governors and Bradford Council believe that reducing the PAN will 
assist the school to provide stability in their long-term planning and allow them to deliver high 
quality educational outcomes for the pupils currently on roll. The reduction in PAN will ensure that 
an appropriate number of places are provided for future pupils, in line with forecasts.

Any representations should be made on the attached form and forwarded to Claire Marshall-
Swales at the above address, or by email to educationconsultation@bradford.gov.uk quoting 
Carrwood Primary School. Alternatively, representations can be made on the Bradford Council 
consultation website under current consultations.

Yours Sincerely

Claire Marshall-Swales
Senior Provision and Places Officer

Page 185

mailto:educationconsultation@bradford.gov.uk
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/consultations/current-consultations/consultation-and-engagement/


Appendix B

Response form

Please complete details and return to:

Claire Marshall-Swales
Senior Provision and Places Officer, Intelligence & Sufficiency Service,
7th Floor, Margaret McMillan Tower, Princes Way, Bradford BD1 1NN by 16 January 2020 at 
the very latest

Consultation on the reduction of the Published Admission Number of Carrwood Primary School

Name (optional)

Full postcode of your home address eg BD1 1NN

Please indicate in which capacity you are responding to this consultation:

 Parent/carer

 Member of school staff

 School Governor at Carrwood Primary

 School Governor at another school

 Local Councillor

 Member of the Local Community

 Parent of a younger child, not yet attending a primary school

 Other

If other please give details

Please indicate your response to this consultation below

 I agree with the proposal to reduce the admission number at Carrwood Primary School
from 60 to 30

 I disagree with the proposal and think the admission number should remain at 60

Please use this space to give reasons for your response

Department of Children’s Services
Intelligence & Sufficiency Service
Margaret McMillan Tower
Princes Way
Bradford 
BD1 1NN

Tel: (01274) 439207

Page 186



Appendix B

Parents/Carers of Low Ash Primary School Pupils Fax: (01274) 320003
Email: Claire.Marshall-Swales@bradford.gov.uk

Date:  7 November 2019

Dear Parents/Carers,

Statutory consultation on the proposed reduction in Published 
Admission Number for Low Ash Primary School for the 2021/22 
academic year

Background

The population growth in Bradford over the last decade increased pressure on primary 
school places, resulting in a large-scale expansion programme to meet the growth in 
demand. 
Following consultation which was held from 8 September 2017 to 20 October 2017, the 
Council’s Executive Committee agreed that the Published Admission Number (PAN) at 
Low Ash Primary School would increase from 60 to 90 from September 2019. A main 
factor presented in that proposal, was the significant number of approved and proposed 
housing developments within a reasonable distance of Low Ash Primary School. These 
developments were expected to significantly increase the number of children requiring a 
school place. The PAN of 90 at Low Ash was determined in March 2018 as part of the 
admission arrangements for 2019.

However, the proposed housing developments which were expected to increase the 
demand on school places have not yet begun construction and are not expected to be 
occupied for a number of years. Forecasts showed that there were sufficient school places 
in the neighbouring planning areas to meet demand for reception places in September 
2019, and it was recognised that to increase the PAN at Low Ash could be detrimental to 
other local primary schools.  

A referral was sent to the Office of the Schools Adjudicator in April 2019 to request a 
variation to the PAN from 90 to 60 for September 2019. However, this request was not 
approved as the Schools Adjudicator determined that the potential effect on other schools 
was “not sufficient reason to deny the parental preferences made” at that time. 

Whilst there are still small areas of population growth, overall across the Bradford District, 
there is a decrease in the number of younger children registered with the NHS. This has 
led to a high level of surplus places in some of the primary school planning areas. Recent 
information published by the Office of National Statistics (ONS) shows that the number of 
births in 2018 was the lowest recorded both nationally and in Bradford, since 2005; 
therefore the Council does not anticipate that the numbers of children requiring school 
places across the District will increase significantly in the near future.

A further referral was sent to the Office of the Schools Adjudicator in June 2019 to request 
a variation to the PAN from 90 to 60 for September 2020. This request was approved and 
therefore 60 pupils will be allocated to start at Low Ash Primary School in September 
2020. 

Page 187



Appendix B

When planning primary school places in Bradford, the District is split into 26 primary 
school planning areas. Low Ash Primary School sits in the Shipley 1 planning area, along 
with Christ Church CE Primary Academy, High Crags Primary Leadership Academy and 
St Anthony’s Catholic Primary School. The PAN for Shipley 1 for 2020 is 170. 

Current published forecasts based on the previously approved PAN of 200, indicate that 
the number of reception places required for reception for the next four intake years will be 
below the PAN for the area, leaving surplus places in some schools:

2020/21: 181
2021/22: 173
2022/23: 162
2023/24: 162

Draft forecast based on a PAN of 170 shows the following places will be required: 

2020/21: 160
2021/22: 151
2022/23: 149
2023/24: 149

These figures indicate that even with a PAN reduction at Low Ash Primary school there 
will be surplus places in reception in the coming years.

The School Admissions Code requires that all admission authorities consult where they 
propose to reduce a PAN. Bradford Council, as the Admission Authority, is therefore 
seeking representations on the proposed change to the PAN for Low Ash Primary School 
in the Shipley 1 planning area.
In accordance with the School Admissions Code (2014), the Council is consulting with key 
stakeholders, including;

 Low Ash Primary School – Head/Governing Body/ Staff
 Parents/carers of current pupils and prospective parents of pupils
 All other Admission Authorities within the District
 Neighbouring Local Authorities
 Councillors and MPs
 Trade Unions
 Anyone else who has an interest in the proposed changes

A copy has been sent to the Schools Adjudicator.

The school has been asked to publish the proposal on their website and include details in 
their newsletter.

This consultation will run for six weeks from Tuesday 5 November 2019 to Tuesday 17 
December 2019, after which time any representations received will be considered and a 
report taken to the Council’s Executive Committee for a decision to be made on the PAN 
for Low Ash Primary School.

Specific Proposal

Page 188



Appendix B

Bradford Council proposes to reduce the PAN at Low Ash Primary School from 90 to 60 
from September 2021. 

This means that the maximum number of pupils intended to be admitted in Reception in 
2021, and subsequent Reception cohorts, will be 60. For children who already have a 
place at the school in other year groups there will be no change. 

Factors that have been considered by the Council when deciding to consult on this 
proposal include:

 A large portion of funding received by schools is directly related to the number of 
pupils attending the school. Too many vacancies mean that schools will not receive 
the maximum possible revenue. The Council’s proposal to reduce the PAN at Low 
Ash should limit the number of available places in neighbouring schools to enable 
the school to operate more efficiently and cost effectively.

 Due to the lower numbers of younger children registered with the NHS who will 
require a school place in the coming years, the Council expects that there will be 
sufficient school places available for local children if the PAN is reduced. If agreed, 
the overall PAN for the Shipley 1 planning area will be 170 from 2021.

Bradford Council believes that reducing the PAN will assist local schools to provide 
stability in their long-term planning and allow them to deliver high quality educational 
outcomes for the pupils currently on roll. The reduction in PAN will ensure that an 
appropriate number of places are provided for future pupils, in line with forecasts.

Any representations should be made on the attached response form and forwarded to 
Claire Marshall-Swales at the address listed, or by email to 
educationconsultation@bradford.gov.uk quoting Low Ash Primary School: PAN reduction 
consultation. Alternatively, representations can be made on the Bradford Council 
consultation website under current consultations.

Yours sincerely,

Claire Marshall-Swales
Senior Provision and Places Officer
Intelligence & Sufficiency Service

Page 189

mailto:educationconsultation@bradford.gov.uk?subject=Low%20Ash%20Primary%20School:%20PAN%20reduction%20consultation
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/consultations/current-consultations/consultation-and-engagement/


Appendix B

Response form

Please complete details and return to:

Claire Marshall-Swales
Senior Provision and Places Officer, Intelligence & Sufficiency Service,
7th Floor, Margaret McMillan Tower, Princes Way, Bradford BD1 1NN by 17 
December 2019 at the very latest

Consultation on the reduction of the Published Admission Number of Low Ash Primary 
School

Name (optional)

Full postcode of your home address eg BD1 1NN

Please indicate in which capacity you are responding to this consultation: 

 Parent/carer

 Member of school staff

 School Governor at Low Ash Primary School

 School Governor at another school

 Local Councillor

 Member of the Local Community

 Parent of a younger child, not yet attending a primary school

 Other (please give details below):

Please indicate your response to this consultation below

 
I agree with the proposal to reduce the admission number at Low Ash Primary 
School from 90 to 60

 I disagree with the proposal and think the admission number should remain at 90

Please use this space to give reasons for your response

Page 190



Appendix C

List of Consultees

Director/ADs Children's Services
All Councillors
All Neighbourhood Forums
All Schools
Education and Learning (Formerly Bradford Achievement Service)
Bradford Youth Service
Catholic Diocese
CE Diocese
Children's Services Managers
Council for Mosques
Head / Chair of Governors
Media
MPs
Muslim Association
Parents/Carers
Parish Councils
Playgroups and other Early Years providers
Private/Independent schools
School Staff
Unions
Wider public audience: Bradford Schools Online (BSO), Bradford 
Council Website, School Website

Page 191



Appendix D

Summary and all responses to consultation on reducing PAN at Carrwood Primary 
School

Consultation was open between 21 November 2019 and 16 January 2020. 

A total of 3 responses were received.

Breakdown of responses:

Group Agree Disagree Other Total
Parent / Carer
Staff member 2 2
Carrwood Primary School Governor
Other School Governor
Local Councillor
Member of Local Community
Parent of younger child 1 1
Other/Unknown
Total 3 0 0 3

Responses agreeing with the proposal to reduce the PAN:

 With fewer children in each class teachers should be able to spend more 1-1 time 
with each child. 

Responses disagreeing with the proposal to reduce the PAN:

None received

Page 192



Appendix E

Summary and all responses to consultation on reducing PAN at Low Ash Primary 
School

Consultation was open between 5 November 2019 and 17 December 2019. 

A total of 3 responses were received.

Breakdown of responses:

Group Agree Disagree Other Total
Parent / Carer
Staff member 1 1
Low Ash Primary School Governor
Other School Governor
Local Councillor
Member of Local Community
Parent of younger child
Other/Unknown 2 2
Total 3 0 0 3

Responses agreeing with the proposal to reduce the PAN:

 I agree with the reduction of PAN to 60 based on statistical information provided. I 
believe this reduction will also allow numbers of other local schools to remain at a 
more financially viable level in the interests of future sustainability.

 I can confirm that Leeds City Council have no objection to this proposal.

Responses disagreeing with the proposal to reduce the PAN:

None received

Page 193



Appendix F

Equality Impact Assessment Form Reference – 
 

Department Intelligence & Sufficiency Service Version no 1
Assessed by Claire Marshall-Swales Date created 06/01/2020
Approved by Marium Haque Date approved
Updated by Date updated
Final approval Date signed off

The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council to have due regard to the need to 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation;

 advance equality of opportunity between different groups; and

 foster good relations between different groups

1 Section 1: What is being assessed?

1.1 Name of proposal to be assessed.

Proposed Reduction for Published Admission Number at Low Ash and Carrwood 
Primary Schools

1.2 Describe the proposal under assessment and what change it would result in if 
implemented.

1.2.1 Low Ash 
Consultation has been carried out to seek views on the proposal to reduce the 
Published Admission Number (PAN) at Low Ash Primary School from 90 to 60 from 
1 September 2021.

1.2.2 Carrwood
Consultation has been carried out to seek views on the proposal to reduce the 
Published Admission Number (PAN) at Carrwood Primary School from 90 to 60 
from 1 September 2021.

Page 194



Appendix F

2 Section 2: What the impact of the proposal is likely to be

2.1 Will this proposal advance equality of opportunity for people who share a 
protected characteristic and/or foster good relations between people who 
share a protected characteristic and those that do not? If yes, please explain 
further.

N/A

2.2 Will this proposal have a positive impact and help to eliminate discrimination 
and harassment against, or the victimisation of people who share a protected 
characteristic? If yes, please explain further.

N/A

2.3 Will this proposal potentially have a negative or disproportionate impact on 
people who share a protected characteristic?  If yes, please explain further. 

N/A

2.4 Please indicate the level of negative impact on each of the protected 
characteristics?
(Please indicate high (H), medium (M), low (L), no effect (N) for each) 

Protected Characteristics: Impact
(H, M, L, N)

Age N

Disability N

Gender reassignment N

Race N

Religion/Belief N

Pregnancy and maternity N

Sexual Orientation N

Sex N

Marriage and civil partnership N

Additional Consideration:

Low income/low wage N

2.5 How could the disproportionate negative impacts be mitigated or eliminated? 
(Note: Legislation and best practice require mitigations to be considered, but need only be 
put in place if it is possible.) 

N/A

Page 195



Appendix F

3 Section 3: Dependencies from other proposals 

3.1 Please consider which other services would need to know about your 
proposal and the impacts you have identified.  Identify below which services you 
have consulted, and any consequent additional equality impacts that have been 
identified. 

N/A

4 Section 4: What evidence you have used?

4.1 What evidence do you hold to back up this assessment? 

Admission arrangements must not discriminate directly or indirectly against any `
group or individual.

4.2 Do you need further evidence?

No

5 Section 5: Consultation Feedback

5.1 Results from any previous consultations prior to the proposal development.

None

5.2 The departmental feedback you provided on the previous consultation (as at 
5.1).

N/A

5.3 Feedback from current consultation following the proposal development (e.g. 
following approval by Executive for budget consultation).

N/A

5.4 Your departmental response to the feedback on the current consultation (as 
at 5.3) – include any changes made to the proposal as a result of the 
feedback.

N/A

Page 196



Report of the Strategic Director of Place to the meeting 
of the Executive to be held on 7 January 2020

AX
Subject:  

Homes and Neighbourhoods Design Guide

Summary statement:

This report seeks Executive approval to formally adopt the Homes and Neighbourhoods 
Design Guide as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for use in the determination 
of planning applications.

The purpose of the Guide will be to achieve a step change in the quality of new housing 
development in the District in support of policies in the current adopted Local Plan Core 
Strategy. It sets a vision for “green, safe, inclusive and distinctive neighbourhoods that 
create healthy communities for all.”

At the 11th June 2019 Meeting of the Executive it was resolved that the Draft version of the 
Homes and Neighbourhoods Design Guide be approved for public consultation for a 
period of 8 weeks. It was also resolved that the outcome of the consultation, including any 
suggested amendments, be reported back to the Executive as soon as possible with a 
view to seeking approval to adopt the Guide as a Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD).  

The public consultation period ran from 30th July to 24th September 2019. This report 
details the key issues which have arisen from the consultation and the subsequent 
changes which are proposed to the Guide as a result. 

Steve Hartley
Strategic Director of Place

Portfolio:  

Regeneration, Planning & Transport

Report Contact:  Andrew Marshall
Phone: (01274) 434050
E-mail: andrew.marshall@bradford.gov.uk

 Overview & Scrutiny Area: 

Regeneration & Environment

Page 197

Agenda Item 11/



1. SUMMARY

1.1 This report seeks Executive approval to formally adopt the Homes and 
Neighbourhoods Design Guide as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for 
use in the determination of planning applications.

1.2 The purpose of the Guide will be to achieve a step change in the quality of new 
housing development in the District in support of policies in the current adopted 
Local Plan Core Strategy.  

1.3 At the 11th June 2019 Meeting of the Executive it was resolved that the Draft 
version of the Homes and Neighbourhoods Design Guide be approved for public 
consultation for a period of 8 weeks. It was also resolved that the outcome of the 
consultation, including any suggested amendments, be reported back to the 
Executive as soon as possible with a view to seeking approval to adopt the Guide 
as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).

1.4 The public consultation period ran from 30th July to 24th September 2019. This 
report details the key issues which have arisen from the consultation and the 
subsequent changes which are proposed to the Guide as a result.  

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 The Guide  

2.1.1 The Homes & Neighbourhoods Design Guide will be a Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) in support of policies in the Local Plan Core Strategy, (in 
particular policies HO9 and DS1 – DS5). It will apply to all scales of housing 
development from an individual dwelling to a whole new neighbourhood.

2.1.2 The Guide sets a vision for “green, safe, inclusive and distinctive neighbourhoods 
that create healthy communities for all.” It identifies the following eight priorities for 
new development in the District:

1. Choice – a broad range of adaptable and efficient homes that are affordable to 
build, buy, rent and run.
2. Green – green streets and spaces.
3. Inclusive – accessible places with clear pedestrian routes.
4. Healthy – healthy and connected neighbourhoods that promote wellbeing and 
community life.
5. Distinctive – neighbourhoods with identity reflecting the District’s varied 
character.
6. Slopes – opening up views and designing to make the most of the topography 
and ground.

Page 198



7. Efficient – designing to make efficient use of resources.
8. Process – making design and planning processes work together.

2.2 Preparation of the Guide

2.2.1 The Guide is part of a wider ‘Design Quality’ programme for Bradford funded by the 
Government’s Planning Delivery Fund which has also included a Masterplan for the 
City Village scheme and a Design Skills Training Programme for staff and 
members. 

2.2.2 In September 2018 a team of consultants, comprising of Tibbalds and Urban 
Design Skills, were commissioned to prepare a draft Homes & Neighbourhoods 
Design Guide ready for public consultation. 

2.2.3 During the preparation of the Guide the consultants led workshops with 
representatives of Departments from across the Council (including Place, Health & 
Wellbeing, Corporate Resources and the Office of the Chief Executive) and also 
with a number of key stakeholders (including Born in Bradford, Bradford Property 
Forum, Bradford Civic Society, Disabled and Older People Groups, and house 
builders active in the District).

2.2.4 This has helped to create a guide which is specific to Bradford and responsive to 
the challenges and opportunities in the District. The consultants completed their 
final draft in May 2019 and this was the document which was presented to 
Executive at the meeting on June 11th 2019 where it was given approval to consult. 

2.3 Public Consultation

2.3.1 The formal 8 week consultation period took place between 30th July and 24th 
September 2019 and allowed members of the wider public and other organisations 
to have input into the content of the Guide.

2.3.2 Written representations were received from a variety of different perspectives and 
raised a number of different issues. There was a lot of general support for the 
Guide along with many comments and suggestions on specific matters where it 
could be improved.

2.3.3 The comments and suggestions have been incorporated into the document as far 
as possible. A ‘Statement of Consultation’ has been produced (in accordance with 
the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement) detailing the consultation that 
has taken place. This includes both the engagement with key stakeholders during 
the preparation of the Guide and the comments received during the formal public 
consultation period.

Page 199



2.3.4 The Statement of Consultation sets out the issues raised and explains how the 
representations received have been addressed. The statement is attached as 
Appendix 1 to this report.

2.4 Summary of key changes

2.4.1 A full schedule of the recommended changes to the Guide is set out in the 
Statement of Consultation – see Appendix 1. Below is a summary of where key 
changes are proposed. For reference the Consultation Draft version of the Homes 
and Neighbourhoods Design Guide is attached at Appendix 2 – the sections of text 
which are subject to change are highlighted in yellow.

2.4.2 Climate emergency 
2.4.3 Various respondents commented that the guide needs to do more to address the 

climate emergency and to meet the Leeds City Region’s Climate Coalition target of 
net zero carbon by 2038. This includes requests for the Guide to set energy 
efficiency targets for new homes higher than current standards.

2.4.4 In response as a supporting document, an SPD, the Guide can’t set energy 
efficiency requirements for new homes higher than current Building Regulations. 
The Government’s guidance is clear that this must be done through policies in the 
local plan. However, a range of additional guidance is proposed to be added to the 
Guide based on the suggestions made to make it more responsive to the climate 
emergency (particularly under Topics 1.5 and 3.9). This includes:

 Referring to the climate emergency and the need for climate resilient 
development.

 A requirement for developers to submit evidence to show how they have 
considered the low carbon solutions outlined in the Guide.

 More detail on how the zero carbon target and uplifting the energy efficiency of 
homes can be achieved including further guidance on Passive House 
principles and Modular Homes.

 Identifying solutions to renewable energy which developers must consider 
such as connecting to district heating networks, solar panels, ground source 
heat pumps, direct electric and hydrogen ready systems.

 Highlighting that reusing an existing building conserves much more energy 
than building a new one.  

2.4.5 Trees & Green Infrastructure 
2.4.6 Changes are proposed to place much more emphasis on retaining existing mature 

trees and planting new ones and providing significant levels of green infrastructure 
as part of new developments given the many benefits this can bring in terms of 
climate change, air quality, health and biodiversity (Priority 2 and Topics 2.6 & 2.8).

Page 200



2.4.7 Sustainable Transport/Cycling 
2.4.8 Comments have been received calling for more radical solutions to transport in the 

District. Much of this lies outside the scope of this document but changes are 
proposed to provide extra emphasis that residential streets should be designed to 
give cyclists priority over motor vehicles (Topic 2.3). Further detailed guidance on 
this will be set out in the forthcoming Bradford Street Design Guide (see paragraph 
3.2 below) 

2.4.9 Accessible Housing Standards 
2.4.10 The draft Guide included a requirement for 10% of new homes to be built to the 

Wheelchair Accessible Dwellings standard and the remaining 90% to be built to 
Accessible & Adaptable Dwellings standards (see topic 2.17). A respondent has 
noted that it is not the place of the design guide, an SPD, to set such standards – 
they are policy requirements that have financial implications and they have not 
undergone independent examination. 

2.4.11 This has been considered, and it is noted that current national policy and guidance 
does not make provision for standards like these to be included within 
supplementary planning documents such as the Guide. 

2.4.12 However, the wording in the adopted Core Strategy under Policy HO9 states that 
the Council will set out the proportion of new homes to be built to these standards in 
the Design Guide, and further work has subsequently been undertaken on the need 
and viability of introducing the standards. 

2.4.13 Therefore it is considered important to still include the standards in the final version 
of the Guide. However it is proposed, in order to comply with national policy and 
legislation, that the wording is changed to note that the Council will seek (rather 
than require) these standards subject to viability and other considerations. This will 
clearly identify the intended direction of travel in advance of the outcome of the 
Partial Review of the Core Strategy which will formally address this issue through 
planning policy.  

3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

3.1 Core Strategy Partial Review (CSPR) 
3.1.1 A Partial Review of the Core Strategy is currently underway. The Preferred Options 

Report was published for consultation concurrently with the Homes and 
Neighbourhoods Design Guide and it is important that the two documents have a 
close relationship with each other.  

3.1.2 Of particular relevance is Core Strategy Policy HO9 ‘Housing Quality’ which is 
currently under review and deals with accessibility, space and sustainability 
standards for new homes. Additional references to Policy HO9 have been added to 

Page 201



the final version of the Homes & Neighbourhoods Design Guide under topics 2.17 
and 3.2 to make clear that these sections should be read in conjunction with both 
the current policy and any subsequent future alterations to it

3.2 Bradford Street Design Guide 
3.2.1 The Council is also planning to produce another Supplementary Planning 

Document – a Bradford Street Design Guide which will be closely linked to the 
Homes & Neighbourhoods Design Guide.

3.2.2 The Homes & Neighbourhoods Design Guide will set the overall agenda and 
principles for the design of residential streets with the Street Design Guide 
providing the detailed technical guidance which sits alongside this. References are 
made to the forthcoming Street Design Guide in relevant sections of the Homes and 
Neighbourhoods Guide to ensure that there will be read across between the two 
documents. 

4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

4.1 The costs of preparing the guide have been funded via an award of £100,000 from 
the Government’s Planning Delivery Fund. 

5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

5.1 It is not foreseen that any legal, financial, reputation or other risks will arise if 
options 1 or 2 (see section 9 below) are selected by Members and the 
recommendation of this report is accepted. If option 3 is selected there are 
potentially some financial and reputation risks, as outlined under this option in 
section 9. 

6. LEGAL APPRAISAL

6.1 The preparation of the draft Homes & Neighbourhoods Design Guide and the public 
consultation period have been in compliance with relevant legislation and guidance 
regarding supplementary planning documents including Regulations 11 to 16 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) Regulations 2012 and 
the government’s Planning Practice Guidance (revised 15 March 2019). The 
adoption of the Guide would also be carried out in accordance with the Regulations.  

7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS

7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY

7.1.1 A number of workshops have taken place to inform the preparation of the Guide 
involving representatives from Born in Bradford, Disabled and Older People 

Page 202



Groups, Incommunities and Council officers from Public Health, Housing and the 
Chief Executive’s department.

7.1.2 This has enabled an insight into housing issues affecting different age groups 
(children and older people), a range of disabilities (including wheelchair users, 
visual impairment, mental health and dementia), and low income households and 
BME communities.

7.1.3 In response to this Priority 1 of the Guide is to provide a ‘choice’ of housing to meet 
the needs of people in the District, Priority 3 is for ‘inclusive’ and accessible homes 
and places, and Priority 4 is for ‘healthy’ neighbourhoods (see pages 10-11 of the 
Guide).

7.1.4 This is supported by specific guidance including designing streets which limit traffic 
speeds to 20mph and that give priority to pedestrians and cyclists, whilst also 
providing pavements that are free of clutter, cars and bins, with regular places for 
people to rest and sit down on main walking routes (Topics 2.3, 2.4, 2.17). 

7.1.5 It requires that open spaces are included and designed to be accessible to 
everyone and that opportunities for ‘doorstep play’ for young children and toddlers 
are provided close to homes on residential streets (Topics 2.6, 2.10, 2.17).

7.1.6 Guidance is provided on how homes can be designed for multi-generational living 
(Topic 2.11) and the Guide seeks new homes to be accessible with 10% built to 
wheelchair accessible standards and the remaining 90% to the accessible and 
adaptable standard (Topic 2.17).

7.1.7 A change is proposed to the Guide to include reference to the importance of 
providing high speed digital connectivity for all new homes (Topic 2.17).

7.1.8 An ‘Equalities Impact Assessment Scoping Report’ of the Guide was published at 
public consultation stage and concluded that the document had positive 
implications for equality and diversity. It can help to advance equality of opportunity 
for people who have a protected characteristic, and also to foster good relations 
between those who have a protected characteristic and those who do not.   

7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

7.2.1 The preparation of the Guide has included input from officers in Environmental 
Health, Energy and the Countryside Service amongst others. It is considered that it 
will have positive implications in terms of sustainability through guidance including 
the following examples:

o Green Streets (Topic 2.4) – requires streets to be designed to be greener 
which could include more street trees, swales, and planting/hedgerows for 

Page 203



garden boundaries.

o Water (Topic 2.7) – requires that priority is given to sustainable drainage 
processes and that a drainage strategy should help to shape the design of 
the open space, landscape and streets.

o Biodiversity (Topic 2.9) – identifies how development can provide a net gain 
in biodiversity by including design features at the scales of neighbourhood, 
street and individual house.

o Air Quality (Topics 1.5, 2.3-2.6, 2.8, 2.15) – the issue of air quality is 
addressed throughout the document through requiring that developments:
- Prioritise active travel (walking and cycling) and public transport.
- Incorporate street trees, planting, open spaces and landscape.
- Include EV charging points for vehicles.

o Cycling (Topic 2.5) –includes design guidance on how to meet the Core 
Strategy’s cycle parking requirements for different types of homes.

o Energy Efficiency (Topics 1.5, 3.9) – whilst it is not possible to set energy 
efficiency standards in an SPD document such as this the guide does 
provide guidance on how homes can be designed to be more energy 
efficient through their layout, details and materials, including taking a fabric 
first approach.

7.2.2 The above is further supported by proposed changes to address the climate 
emergency, taking on board comments received during the consultation from the 
Environment Agency, WYCA and local community organisations and residents – 
see section 2.4 above.

7.2.3 A Sustainability Assessment Scoping Report was published at public consultation 
stage and concluded that the Homes & Neighbourhoods Design Guide would have 
positive implications in terms of Sustainability.

7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

7.3.1 The Guide should help to reduce greenhouse gas emission impacts through 
prioritising active travel and public transport over the car, making developments 
greener with more trees and landscape, requiring the provision of electric vehicle 
charging points and delivering better energy efficiency in homes. See also sections 
2.4 and 7.2 above.

7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

7.4.1 West Yorkshire Police’s Architectural Liaison Officer has been involved in 
workshops throughout the preparation of the draft guide and has helped to 
influence its content. A priority of the guide is to create safe communities. It has 

Page 204



been developed in accordance with ‘Secure by Design’ principles and includes 
guidance on making inclusive places for people with safe streets and spaces and 
secure properties. 

7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

7.5.1 Members of the public have had an opportunity to comment on the draft version of 
the guide within an 8 week consultation period, and the comments received have 
been taken into account and fully documented.  No conflict with the Human Rights 
Act is foreseen.  

7.6 TRADE UNION

7.6.1 There are no Trade Union implications.  

7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS

7.7.1 If adopted, the Homes & Neighbourhoods Design Guide SPD will influence 
applications for housing development throughout the entire Bradford District.

7.8 AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS  

7.8.1 As stated above, the Homes & Neighbourhoods Design Guide SPD, if adopted, will 
influence applications for housing development throughout the entire Bradford 
District.

7.9 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

7.9.1 There are no implications for corporate parenting.

7.10 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT

7.10.1 With regard to the public consultation the General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) principles relating to individuals’ data and rights under the Data Protection 
Act 2018 are being respected.

8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

8.1 None.

Page 205



9. OPTIONS

9.1 Option 1 (Recommended)
9.1.1 Adopt the Homes and Neighbourhoods Design Guide with the changes as 

recommended as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) to be used in the 
determination of planning applications.

9.1.2 The selection of this option will allow the Guide to progress to adoption 
immediately.

9.2 Option 2
9.2.1 Subject to further changes beyond those proposed, adopt the Homes & 

Neighbourhoods Design Guide as an SPD to be used in the determination of 
planning applications.

9.2.2 The selection of this option will allow Members to shape and influence the content 
of the final guide prior to adoption. However, it may cause some delay, depending 
on the scope of the proposed amendments and whether or not the Executive, an 
alternative Committee or individual Members wish to be re-consulted prior to formal 
adoption. Any fundamental changes to the SPD may require further public 
consultation before it could be considered for adoption.

9.3 Option 3
9.3.1 Refuse permission to adopt the Homes & Neighbourhoods Design Guide as an 

SPD.

9.3.2 Should Members be deeply unsatisfied with the document or the principle of 
adopting a Homes & Neighbourhoods Design Guide SPD then selection of this 
option will allow them to halt or put an end to the progression of the document.

9.3.3 It should be noted that the Council’s adopted Core Strategy states that an SPD will 
be prepared to support the implementation of the design and housing policies. The 
Council has received an award from the Government’s Planning Delivery Fund for 
the purpose of preparing and progressing a Design Guide towards SPD status. 
Selection of this option would effectively put an end to this work and could 
potentially negatively impact on any future funding bids to the Government.

9.3.4 Also a number of Council departments, other organisations and community groups 
have provided input into the preparation of the guide and selection of this option 
may prevent their aspirations from being met.

Page 206



10. RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1 That the Homes and Neighbourhoods Design Guide with the changes as 
recommended, attached in Appendix 1,  be adopted as a Supplementary 
Planning Document.

10.2 That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director Place in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder to carry out any minor amendments of a drafting or 
similar nature necessary, prior to the formal publication of the adopted 
Homes and Neighbourhoods Design Guide SPD. 

11. APPENDICES

11.1 Appendix 1. Statement of Consultation (including Schedule of Recommended 
Changes) 

11.2 Appendix 2. Homes and Neighbourhoods Design Guide Supplementary Planning 
Document, Consultation Draft June 2019.

 
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

12.1 A number of background documents have been used to inform the writing of this 
report. All are published and readily available to the public.

Page 207



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Statement of Consultation 
(including Recommended Changes)
For Homes and Neighbourhoods: A Guide to Designing in 
Bradford (Supplementary Planning Document)

January 2020

Contents

Part One. The Statement of Consultation………………………..page 02

Part Two. List of Respondents……………………………........... page 05

Part Three. Summary of Responses & Changes………………… page 07

General issues…………………………………………. page 08

Part A issues…………………………………………… page 13

Part B issues…………………………………………… page 20

Page 209



2

Part One. 
The Statement of Consultation

Introduction
This Statement of Consultation has been prepared for the following document:

‘Homes and Neighbourhoods: A Guide to Designing in Bradford’ SPD 

It is intended that the Homes and Neighbourhoods Guide will be adopted as a 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). Its purpose will be to achieve a step 
change in the quality of new housing development in the District in support of 
policies in the Local Plan Core Strategy.

The Town and Country Planning Regulations and the Council’s Statement of 
Community Involvement (SCI) require that before adopting an SPD Local Planning 
Authorities must allow anyone to make representations on the document for a period 
of not less than 4 weeks, and that they must prepare a statement setting out:

 The people who were consulted
 A summary of the main issues raised
 How those issues have been addressed in the SPD

The consultation process took place in two stages. The first stage involved early 
engagement with key stakeholders and groups. The second stage involved a formal 
eight-week consultation period on the draft guide. These are detailed below.

Stage 1 – Early Engagement
The following organisations and groups were involved throughout the early stages of 
preparing the guide:

 Born in Bradford: one of the world’s largest research studies, it is tracking 
the lives of over 30,000 Bradfordians to find out what influences the health 
and well-being of families.

 Older and Disabled People Group: this brought together people from 
various groups across the District representing a range of interests. They 
include those with mobility problems, older people, visually impaired people, 
dementia sufferers and people with learning difficulties.

 Bradford Civic Society: a society that champions Bradford’s heritage and 
built environment, and encourages higher standards of design and 
architecture in new development.

 Bradford Property Forum: a network of local property professionals, 
including architects, planners, developers and surveyors.

 House builders: the main developers of housing in the District.

Page 210



3

Engagement in the form of workshops and structured discussions with these 
stakeholders took place as follows:

 18th October 2018 (Project Inception) – Born in Bradford
 14th/15th November 2018 – Bradford Property Forum, Older and Disabled 

People Group, Bradford Civic Society, Born in Bradford, Incommunities.
 16th/17th January 2019 – Bradford Property Forum, Bradford Civic Society, 

Older and Disabled People Group
 13th February 2019 – House builders
 20th March 2019 – Bradford Property Forum and House builders 

The comments and viewpoints shared at the workshops fed into the preparation of 
the guide and electronic copies of the emerging draft document were also circulated 
to attendees for further comment. Workshops also took place with officers from 
departments across the Council in October, November, January and March.

To help raise interest in the guide a public photo competition ‘Streets of Bradford’ 
was held in partnership with Bradford Civic Society during March 2019 utilising the 
Society’s Instagram page. The selected winning images were used in the guide.

The input received during this early stage of engagement really helped to shape the 
document and make it specific to Bradford and responsive to important local issues,  
reflected in the vision for “green, safe, inclusive and distinctive neighbourhoods that 
create healthy communities for all.” 

Following this engagement stage a consultation draft document was produced in 
May 2019 and was given approval to consult at the 11th June Meeting of the 
Executive.

Stage 2 Formal consultation
In line with the Planning Regulations an extended eight-week public consultation 
period took place on the guide between 30th July and 24th September 2019.

The following documents were made available for public comment:

 Homes and Neighbourhoods: A guide to designing in Bradford – Consultation 
Draft

 Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) – Initial Screening Statement
 Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) – Initial Screening Statement
 Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) – Initial Screening Statement

An electronic version of the consultation documents (along with a formal ‘Regulation 
18’ Notice) were put on the Council’s website with a link on the homepage. Printed 
copies were placed for people to view at the following locations.  

 Council Contact Centre at Britannia House, Hall Ings, Bradford
 Council one stop shop at Keighley Town Hall 

Page 211



4

 The main local libraries in Bradford City Centre, Bingley, Keighley, Shipley, 
Ilkley and Bradford Local Studies

Notifications of the consultation and details on where to view the document were 
given in a consultation letter/E-mail, in the Local Plan e-newsletter and website.

The consultation e-mail was sent out on 30th July 2019 to the following:

 Individuals who have signed up to the Council’s online Stay Connected 
system

 89 Statutory consultees (including 5 MPs)
 90 Councillors

A press release was issued to media company Newsquest Group who produce the 
newspapers covering the Bradford District in the run up to the consultation and the 
Meeting of the Executive. Articles appeared in the Telegraph and Argus on 3rd and 
12th June 2019.

Representations were received during the consultation from a range of individuals, 
community groups, business interests and other organisations (a full list is provided 
in Part Two of this document). There was a lot of general support for the guide along 
with specific suggestions on a variety of matters of how it could be improved.

The comments received from the public consultation have been incorporated into the 
document as far as possible. A number of changes have been made including in 
relation to key issues such as the climate emergency, cycling and housing 
standards.

A summary of the issues raised, the Council’s response to them and the 
recommended changes is set out in Part Three of this document.

Page 212



5

Part Two. 
List of respondents

The table below lists the respondents along with their own individual reference 
number and the relevant pages of the guide which they made comments on. This 
can be cross-referenced with the summary of responses and the recommended 
changes in Part Three.

ID ref. Name / Organisation (where applicable) Relevant sections

01 Antonia Woosnam-Savage / Lower 
Wharfedale Ramblers

General (a) 
Part B – 1.2, 2.3 
Appendix 1

02 Laura Hobbs / Yorkshire Wildlife Trust Part B – 2.9

03 Millie Brown / Centre for Ageing Better Part B – 2.17

04 Jenny Jowle / Better Start Bradford Part B – 2.6, 2.10

05 Richard Fordham / Sport England Part A – Priority 4, Policy 
and Guidance

06 Christopher Moore Part B – 2.3, 2.4, 2.15

07 Melanie Lindsley / The Coal Authority Part A – Priority 6

08 Shaun Armitage-Morris / Bradford Mobility 
Planning Group 

Part B – 2.15, 2.17

09 Alan Reiss / West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority

General (a, b, f) 
Part A – Priority 7, Policy 
and Guidance 
Part B – 1.5, 2.2, 2.3, 2.8, 
2.11, 2.15, 2.17, 3.9
Further Reading

10 Dr George Holmes / University of Leeds Part B – 2.3, 2.15

11 David Blackburn / Ilkley Civic Society General (a, c, f, g, h) 
Part A – Introduction, 
Priority 5, Policy and 
Guidance, Process, Pre-
App Meetings, Design & 

Page 213



6

Access Statements, 
Part B – 1.2, 1.3, 1.5, 2.2, 
2.3, 2.4, 2.5, 2.7, 2.11, 
2.17, 3.8, 3.9
Appendix 1   

12 Rick Battarbee / Addingham Civic Society 
Environment Group

General (a, f, g)
Part A – How to Use the 
Design Guidance, Priority 
7, 
Part B – 1.5, 2.9

13 Mark Johnson / Johnson Mowat Part B – 2.17, 3.2
Appendix 1

14 Jeff McQuillan General (j)
Part B – 3.2

15 James Craig General (a, c, d, f)  
Part B – 1.5, 2.3, 2.15

16 Anthony Plumbe / Campaign for Better 
Transport West & North Yorkshire

General (d, e, f) 
Part A – Priorities 4 & 7 
Part B – 1.5, 2.2, 2.3, 2.7, 
2.11, 2.15

17 Fraser Tomlinson / Environment Agency Part B – 1.5, 2.7, 3.9

18 Gail Denham / Wilsden Parish Council Part A – Policy and 
Guidance, Engagement 
and Consultation

19 Will Cartwright / Heritage Planning Design 
(HPD)

Part B – 3.6

20 Christina McGill / Habinteg Housing 
Association

Part B – 2.11, 2.17, 3.2

21 Susan Spink / CBMDC Waste Services Part B – 2.16

22 Angela Hutton / CBMDC Public Health General (a, e, f, i)
Part A – Priorities 2, 3 & 
4, Site & Context Analysis
Part B – 1.5, 2.6

 

Page 214



7

Part Three. 
Summary of Responses & 
Recommended Changes

This section provides a summary of the comments received from the public 
consultation period along with the Council’s response to them and the recommended 
changes.

It starts by addressing those comments which are general to the guide as a whole 
before moving onto more specific comments in page order. 

Where changes are proposed they are shown in a box using the format shown 
below.

Text Changes
New text is shown in bold italics like this.
Deleted text is shown with a strikethrough like this.
Existing, unchanged text is shown in grey like this.

Other changes such as changes to images, graphics etc are shown in a grey box like this.

The changes relate specifically to the sections of the Consultation Draft shown 
highlighted in yellow in Appendix 2.

Page 215



8

Front Cover (Page 1)

Recommended Changes:
CONSULTATION DRAFT JULY 2019 ADOPTED FEBRUARY 2020

GENERAL ISSUES

General (a) – support for the guide
Respondent ID: 01, 02, 05, 08, 09, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 17, 18, 19, 20, 22

Summary of responses: A number of comments were made broadly supporting the 
content, format and objectives of the guide and its relevance to current issues in 
Bradford District, particularly regarding matters such as health, play, biodiversity, 
active travel and connectivity. Comments of support were also received in relation to 
specific issues and these are included under the relevant sections below.

Recommended Changes: None

General (b) – Length of the guide
Respondent ID: 09

Summary of responses: Concern was expressed that at 120 pages long the 
document would be a long read. Suggestions were made to streamline it including 
cutting out content and detail on pages 18, 20, 26, 27 and 40.

Council Response: The Council is mindful that this is a long document but there are 
so many aspects which go into making a successful neighbourhood that it is difficult 
to select anything which could be left out. The advice for residents and communities 
(p27) for instance has been included in response to suggestions from the workshops 
as has the process diagram (p18, 20, 26) which is intended to be a thread running 
through the document. As the respondent notes the graphic design, layout and visual 
nature of the document hopefully mean that it is easy to use and doesn’t feel like a 
long read. 

Recommended Changes: None

General (c) – Consultation on the guide
Respondent ID: 11, 15

Summary of responses: Comments were made regarding that the stakeholder 
involvement was light on the wider involvement of community groups and was city 
centre biased. And that reference should be made to the outcomes from various 
consultations that have already happened, e.g. ‘Shipley Reimagined’ and Trident. 
These highlighted that people would like pleasant, pollution-free areas where cycling 

Page 216



9

and walking are convenient for people of all ages, trips to the local shops and 
schools are easy, and the roads are not congested, motorists are not choking 
everyone and everything up in the neighbourhood. 

Council Response:  The stakeholder engagement undertaken on the guide has gone 
well beyond what would normally be expected or required for a document of this 
type, though it is noted that the representation could have been wider. From the 
engagement that has taken place similar messages have been raised regarding the 
type of places where people would like to live and the Guide aims to reflect this with 
its vision for ‘Green, Safe, Inclusive and Distinctive Neighbourhoods that create 
Healthy Communities for all.’

Recommended Changes: None

General (d) – Strategic transport issues
Respondent ID: 15, 16

Summary of responses: Comments were made in relation to strategic transport 
issues in relation to:

i. New road building/widening (e.g. Canal Road) and the consequences this will 
have in terms of more traffic, more pollution, more congestion etc and how 
this will not help move forward the agenda for clean, healthy living and carbon 
reduction. A more radical stance is needed including more provision for 
sustainable transport - cycling and walking, cheaper buses and trains and 
radical fare structures to encourage more people onto public transport.

ii. There is a need to develop regional delivery centres for building materials to 
development sites, as well as parcel delivery centres at the entry to 
neighbourhoods for to which internet orders can be delivered and collected.

Council Response:  It is noted that these are very important issues but decisions on 
building new roads, setting bus/train fares and where to locate delivery centres are 
outside the remit of this document which is focused on the design of new housing 
development. It seeks to ensure that neighbourhoods are designed to prioritise and 
encourage sustainable modes of travel. Further changes are made to section 2.3 
(pages 56-57) to emphasise priority for pedestrians and cyclists and well connected 
networks of routes. 

Recommended Changes: See changes to section 2.3 (pages 56-57).

General (e) – Avoiding car dependent development
Respondent ID: 16, 22

Summary of responses: The comments highlight that new house building has proved 
unsustainable in terms of generating substantial car-based travel, despite mostly 
according with planning norms of being within 300/400m of a bus stop and 1km of a 
rail station. Instead a composite guideline distance averaging no more than 400m 
across a range of common destinations like employment locations, retail locations 

Page 217



10

(like supermarkets), educational establishments, and leisure centres needs to be 
adopted.  Reference is made to the checklist developed by ‘Transport for Homes’.

Also comments request that the ‘well-connected’ message is strengthened in the 
guide as this will be one of the most crucial adaptations to climate change and will 
also contribute to improving air quality, reducing carbon and other emissions.

Council Response: As a Supplementary Planning Document the role of the guide is 
to support policy in the Local Plan Core Strategy. Appendix 3 of that document sets 
out accessibility standards (walking distances) for new residential development to 
public transport and local services. A reference will be made to these in the guide.  
They are broadly consistent with the Transport for Homes checklist. 

The guide very much seeks to ensure that development is designed to reduce car 
dependency. It is agreed that locating new homes in well-connected places within 
easy walking distance of a range of public transport and local facilities has many 
benefits and to emphasise the importance of this issue changes are proposed to a 
number of sections in the guide.

Recommended Changes:  See changes to Priorities 3 and 4 (page 11), 1.2 (pages 
36-37) and 1.5 (pages 48-49).

General (f) – Addressing the Climate Emergency
Respondent ID:  09, 11, 12, 15, 16, 17, 22

Summary of responses:  Various respondents have commented that the guide needs 
to do more to address the climate emergency including the Leeds City Region’s 
Climate Coalition target of net zero carbon by 2038, and the Committee on Climate 
Change recommendations, specifically with regard to

i. ‘Sustainability principles’ and the importance of a zero-carbon approach 
should be stressed throughout the document.

ii. More emphasis on encouraging all development to be ‘climate resilient’.
iii. Embedding climate change adaptation in the SPD e.g. by encouraging 

significant rather than token levels of green infrastructure
iv. Mentioning the ‘embodied energy’ in existing buildings
v. Reducing the need to travel by ensuring local proximity of services (health 

centres, schools, community centres, basic retail) and by permitting more 
mixed use in neighbourhoods should figure more prominently in the SPD.

Council Response:  It is acknowledged that this is a crucial issue. In response to the 
comments changes have been made to a number of sections, giving greater 
emphasis to addressing the climate emergency, the need for climate resilient 
development, providing significant green infrastructure, reducing the need to travel 
and the importance of reusing existing buildings.

Recommended Changes:  see changes to pages 10, 13, 16, 48-49, 65, 68-69, 110-
111

Page 218



11

General (g) – The existing built environment
Respondent ID:  11, 12

Summary of responses:  The guide is biased more to the natural environment when 
content on the built environment should have equal standing. Also the emphasis is 
on new build development with very little content on conversions. To be a truly 
sustainable document the same principles and guidance should be applied not just 
to new homes and neighbourhoods but to alterations/additions/refurbishment of the 
existing built environment, for example retrofitting SuDs and improving energy 
efficiency when houses are extended etc. 

Council Response:  The Design Guide will be a supplementary planning document 
(SPD) to be used in the determination of planning applications. It will apply to all 
scales of new housing development from an individual house to large sites, including 
the conversion of existing buildings to residential where they require planning 
permission. The guide has also fed into the process of updating the Housing 
Strategy for the District which takes a holistic overview of housing issues including 
the existing stock. 

Additional references will be made in the guide to prioritising the reuse of existing 
buildings and encouraging the application of the principles to the 
retrofit/refurbishment of existing housing. 

Recommended Changes:  see changes to pages 13, 16, 48-49, 110-111 

General (h) – Modular Homes
Respondent ID:  11

Summary of responses:  Missing from the vision is the future use of modular 
housing, on which we note Wakefield MDC has included a whole section in its 
Design Guide.

Council Response:  a new case study on modular homes will be added to section 
3.9.

Recommended Changes:  see changes to pages 110-111 (section 3.9)

General (i) – More visual examples
Respondent ID:  22

Summary of responses:  There could still be more visual demonstration of some of 
the hardest to achieve shifts e.g. more sample design layouts that prioritise active 
travel.

Council Response:  see below.

Recommended Changes: subject to available space and copyright issues additional 
images will be included in the final version of the guide.  

Page 219



12

General (j) – Design Process
Respondent ID: 14

Summary of responses: 

i. The impression given by the efforts of the private building industry is about 
building to maximise profits. The industry has failed to be creative and failed 
to listen to the needs of the modern family. Why should housing developers 
pay for good design when they can get away with ‘bog-standard’ layouts and  
house types, some unsuited to the characteristics of the housing site. 

ii. Planners should take a much bolder approach with prospective applicants and 
encourage dialogue before submission of planning applications. The quality of 
housing estates is extremely poor and often is car-dominated with little or no 
opportunity for children’s’ play spaces or other communal public areas.

iii. The other tool that planners used was the Planning Brief that set out the 
principles for how a particular housing site should be designed and built. This 
could provide an opportunity for Bradford Council to involve other disciplines 
like landscape architects so that sites fit well into the existing fabric of 
settlements with maximising opportunities for connectivity.

iv. We need better quality of homes and places where people live. Bradford 
Planners should lead a conversation about how to achieve more aspirational 
homes/areas that do not necessarily cost more. They should be assisted by a 
Local Design Forum that comprises members passionate for a better quality 
of living and more sustainable living through cycling and walking.

Council Response:  

The Guide sets out a process for applicants to follow when developing their schemes 
(p18-19). This starts by analysing the site and its context and defining the brief and 
meeting with Council Officers to agree the design concept before moving on to 
developing the design details. 

Priority is given to early discussions with planners and communities starting at pre-
application stage and continuing throughout the process (p20-23). The applicant’s 
Design & Access Statement should be developed from this process and set out why 
the design decisions have been taken (p24-25). It is hoped that getting the process 
right from the outset will lead to better quality housing developments.

The Guide also includes guidance (p26-27) for developers on balancing cost and 
quality, and for residents and communities who wish to get involved in the process.

The proposition of a Local Design Forum is noted but would be something for the 
Council to explore outside of the remit of this document.

The guide includes principles with regard to improving the car domination of streets, 
children’s play spaces and communal public areas (see Topics 2.4, 2.6, 2.10, 2.15).

Recommended Changes: None

Page 220



13

PART A

Introduction (Page 7) 
Respondent ID:  11

Summary of responses:  It’s surprising that the council is not attempting to require 
the types of houses ‘needed’ but appears to be relying on houses that suit the 
developers ‘Target market’. A much wider range of opinions need to be sought as to 
housing needs as the market will fail to include social and practical needs of 
residents.

Council Response:  Priority 1 in the guide ‘Choice’ is all about delivering a range of 
types of homes to meet the needs of people in the District. The guide also seeks to 
provide certainty for developers in terms of what is expected whilst ensuring that 
schemes remain economically viable. A recent review of the Bradford Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) included a large survey of residents in the 
District to get a clear, up to date picture of local housing needs.   

Recommended Changes:  None

Vision (Page 9) 
Respondent ID:  11

Summary of responses:  surprised so see no mention of ‘heritage’ that adds so much 
to the value of Bradford in all senses

Council Response:  It is agreed that heritage is a very valuable asset of the District. 
The vision includes the term ‘distinctive’ and Priority 5 ‘Distinctive’ on page 12 
explains more about the importance of the character of the District. An additional 
reference to highlight the value of heritage will be included under Priority 5.

Recommended Changes: see changes to page 12 (Priority 5).  

Priority 2 Green (Page 10) 
Council Response:  changes made in response to comments under General Issues 
(f) – Addressing the Climate Emergency.

Recommended Changes: 

(1)

Green streets and spaces, and connected networks of green infrastructure

(2)

Green corridors, and blue and green infrastructure, should connect areas, helping 

Page 221



14

people and wildlife get about and to sustain biodiversity and create climate 
resilient places.

Priorities 3 Healthy and 4 Inclusive (Page 11) 
Respondent ID:  05

Summary of responses:  The principle of improving health and wellbeing in the 
layout of housing developments is welcomed. It provides the opportunity to 
incorporate the principles of Active Design into new developments. Sport England in 
partnership with Public Health England, have produced the Active Design Guidance 
of 10 Principles building on the objectives of improving accessibility, enhancing 
amenity and increasing awareness.

Council Response:  Supporting comments. 

Recommended Changes:  References to Active Design are added elsewhere in the 
guide – see comments under pages 14-15 (Policy and Guidance).

The following changes are in response to comments under General Issues (e) – 
Avoiding car dependent development. 

3 INCLUSIVE

Development should contribute to making walkable, well connected 
neighbourhoods where homes are close to community amenities, shops, green 
space and workplace; and where footpaths give priority to pedestrians, wheelchair 
users, buggies and people with impairments.

4 HEALTHY

The design of a healthy, well connected neighbourhood must be made to work at 
every scale. It will start with locating development in places where residents will 
not be condemned to using a car or being stuck at home.

Priorities 5 Distinctive and 6 Slopes (Page 12) 
Respondent ID:  07

Summary of responses:  pleased to see that Priority 6 ‘Slopes’ makes reference to 
good development being based on understanding the ground conditions, including 
stability issues and history of past mining activity.

Council Response:  Supporting comments.

Recommended Changes:   No change except the following in response to comments 
under page 9 (Vision).

5 DISTINCTIVE

Neighbourhoods with identity reflecting the district’s varied character and heritage

Page 222



15

Priority 7 Efficient (Page 13) 
Respondent ID: 09, 11, 12, 15, 16, 17, 22
Summary of Comments: Various respondents have commented that the guide needs 
to do more to address the climate emergency including the Leeds City Region’s 
Climate Coalition target of net zero carbon by 2038, and the Committee on Climate 
Change recommendations, specifically with regard to:

i. ‘Sustainability principles’ and the importance of a zero-carbon approach 
should be stressed throughout the document.

ii. ‘sustainable’ would be a better term for one of the priorities rather than just 
‘efficient’ use of resources

iii. more emphasis on encouraging all development to be ‘climate resilient’.
iv. embedding climate change adaptation in the SPD
v. mention ‘embodied energy’ in existing buildings
vi. Reducing the need to travel by ensuring local proximity of services (health 

centres, schools, community centres, basic retail) and by permitting more 
mixed use in neighbourhoods such that nearby employment opportunities are 
enabled, should figure more prominently in the SPD.

Also see comments under Priority 2 and sections 1.5 and 3.9.
Council Response: References have been added to the climate emergency, the 
need for climate resilient development and the importance of reusing existing 
buildings.

Renaming this priority as ‘Sustainable’ or ‘Resilient’ has been considered however it 
is felt that many of the other priorities also play a part in sustainability and climate 
resilience, particularly ‘2 Green’, ‘3 Inclusive’ and ‘4 Healthy’ and that this priority 
deals specifically with the key objective of using resources efficiently.
Recommended Changes:

(1)

7 EFFICIENT
Efficient use of resources Using resources efficiently to achieve climate 
resilient development

(2)

New development must be designed to use resources efficiently to 
contribute to the District’s efforts to address the climate emergency. A 
development’s location, density and all aspects of transport must be carefully 
planned, particularly to minimise the use of cars. Sustainable drainage will make 
good use of water and reduce the risk of flooding. The effects of sun and wind 
must be considered in such matters as passive solar gain, shading, and the 
microclimate of public spaces. The energy demand for heating, lighting, hot water 
and cooling should be minimised, and low-carbon energy solutions used. 
Designing for waste should include arrangements to collect separated waste 
streams and minimise the impact of the waste collection system on the public 
realm. C carefully considered construction processes can themselves help to 
minimise waste and the use of energy. Priority should be given to reusing of 

Page 223



16

existing buildings as this is inherently more sustainable than demolition and 
building anew.
Badly designed homes and neighbourhoods waste resources, and lock in 
undesirable patterns of consumption and living for years to come.

(3)

KEY RELATED PRINCIPLES
1.5 Prioritise the environment
2.2 Density and scale
2.3 Movement
2.7 Water and Drainage
2.16 Waste
3.4 Light and ventilation
3.8 Materials and details
3.9 Energy efficiency

Policy and Guidance (Pages 14-15) 
Respondent ID:  05, 09, 11, 18

Summary of responses:  

i. The SPD could include reference to new development meeting the principles 
of Active Design and that in any planning application, the applicant should 
submit a statement setting out how the design and layout of the development 
meets the principles of Active Design.

ii. The guide refers to Building for Life but stops short of requiring 12 greens – 
this is something that could be considered as it should be achieved if the 
principles in the guidance are followed.

iii. A major omission is the listing of all current and in preparation SPDs and of 
externally produced documents referred to in the text.

iv. There are no references to Neighbourhood Plans. As Planning Policy 
Guidance makes clear a neighbourhood plan is also an important part of the 
Local Plan for specific areas and this must be referenced in this section.

Council Response:  Changes are proposed to this section to reference Active 
Design, Building for Life 12, other SPDs and Neighbourhood Plans, as well as the 
new National Design Guide.

This stops short of requiring schemes to achieve 12 ‘greens’ under Building for Life, 
based on advice on the Design Council’s own website which explicitly recommends 
to avoid using it in this way. Nor does it require applicants to submit evidence 
showing how they have addressed the Active Design principles. 

Page 224



17

However a number of changes are made to signpost to specific principles under 
relevant sections in Part B of the document to firmly embed the objectives of BfL12 
and Active Design as follows:

Active Design – references added to sections 1.4, 2.3, 2.4, 2.5, 2.6, 2.10, 2.15, 2.17, 
3.3, 3.5.

Building for Life12 – references added to sections 1.3, 1.4, 2.3, 2.4, 2.5, 2.6, 2.8, 
2.11, 2.13, 2.14, 2.15, 2.16, and 3.8.      

Recommended Changes: 

(1)

NATIONAL POLICY 

The NPPF is supplemented by the government’s National Planning Practice 
Guidance (NPPG), a useful guide to making the most of the planning process in 
raising standards of design. NPPG provides more detail about the importance of 
design, the tools available to achieve it and particular considerations to bear in 
mind for certain types of development, including housing design as well as other 
government produced or endorsed guidance such as the National Design 
Guide, Manual for Streets and Building for Life 12. In Part B of this guide the 
principles are cross-referenced to the relevant national policy and guidance, 
as well as other useful references (e.g. the Sport England and Public Health 
England produced Active Design Guidance). 

(2)

DISTRICT POLICY

Bradford’s Core Strategy (2017) is the adopted local plan for the district. 
Consultation on the Bradford Core Strategy Partial Review was completed in early 
2019. A Partial Review of some of the policies in the Core Strategy is 
currently underway including Policy HO9 Housing Quality.  

(3)

Other relevant local policy is also cross-referenced within Part B. It includes 
Shipley and Canal Road Corridor Area Action Plan, and Bradford City Centre Area 
Action Plan.
This guide should also be read in conjunction with any Neighbourhood Plan 
which covers the area of the proposed development as these will form part 
of the Local Plan. There is currently one adopted Neighbourhood Plan in the 
District at Burley-in-Wharfedale and a number of others are currently 
planned or are in preparation for towns and villages within Airedale, 
Wharfedale and the South Pennines. 
The Council has produced a number of other Supplementary Planning 
Documents (SPDs) which provide detailed guidance on specific topics 
relevant to the design of homes and neighbourhoods. These include:

 Bradford City Centre Design Guide SPD
 Householder SPD
 Landscape Character SPD

Page 225



18

 Menston Sites SPD
 Planning for Crime Prevention SPD
 Sustainable Design Guide SPD
 The forthcoming Bradford Street Design Guide SPD – this will be a 

sister document to the Homes and Neighbourhoods Guide and will 
provide detailed guidance on the design of residential streets.

The Council has also published Conservation Area Assessments and 
Appraisals which include character specific design guidance for each of the 
59 conservation areas in the District.  

Other changes: Remove images of the Area Action Plans for Bradford City Centre and 
Shipley and Canal Road Corridor on page 15 to make space for additional text.

How to use the Design Guidance (Page 16) 
Council Response:  change made in response to comments under General Issues 
(g) – Existing built environment.

Recommended Changes: 

… small schemes should still reference the headline Principles, as summarised at 
the start of the chapter to ensure that high-quality is delivered.
The Council will also encourage the principles in this guide to be applied to 
the retrofit, refurbishment, reuse and extension of existing homes and 
buildings in the District, particularly in terms of making them more 
sustainable and energy efficient.

Process (Page 18) 
Respondent ID:  11

Summary of responses: ‘residents, business and landowners‘ – community groups in 
the widest sense appear missing.

Council Response:  add reference to community groups.

Recommended Changes: 

It also needs to reach out to local stakeholders, using consultation and 
engagement that may include residents, community groups, business-owners 
and landowners.

Pre-Application Meetings (Page 20) 
Respondent ID:  11

Summary of responses:  

Page 226



19

i. Pre-App advice suggests tree and biodiversity officers but not built heritage 
officers?

ii. Under MAF applications the document suggests ‘Design review ‘which we 
certainly support but why does Bradford not have its own design review panel 
as many cities do? 

iii. There is no mention of design charrettes or community design initiatives at an 
early stage of the planning process.

iv. Site analysis – a major omission we believe is that the council already has an 
excellent SPD on Sustainable Design that includes site analysis but this is not 
referred to?

Council Response: 

- Add reference to built heritage officers.
- The comments on a design review panel for Bradford are noted but would be 

something for the Council to explore outside the scope of this document.
- Guidance with regard to involving communities is set out in the Engagement 

and Consultation section (pP22-23).
- A reference to other SPDs including the Sustainable Design Guide is added in 

Policy and Guidance section (p14-15).

Recommended Changes: 

The planning authority will advise the applicant which specialist Council officers, 
such as the built heritage, tree and biodiversity officers, will need to be consulted 
as part of an application process.

Engagement and Consultation (Page 23) 
Respondent ID:  18

Summary of responses:  The section on consultation and pre-application meetings 
makes no reference to engagement with local councils in areas that are parished.

Council Response:  a reference is added to parish and town councils in a new 
definitions box on stakeholders – see below.

Recommended Changes: 

Definitions
Stakeholders Refers to anyone who has an interest in a project and can influence its 
success. Stakeholders can include local residents and businesses, community groups, 
parish and town councils, special interest groups and statutory authorities and service 
providers. 

The Design and Access Statement (Page 25) 
Respondent ID:  11

Page 227



20

Summary of responses:  it is strange that no reference to heritage statements 
appears.

Council Response:  add reference to heritage statements.

Recommended Changes: 

For larger, complex or more sensitive applications, further information may be 
required, such as a landscape townscape and visual impact assessment, or a 
heritage statement.

PART B

Consistency of format
Respondent ID:  09

Summary of responses:  Throughout Part B – mainly in sections 2.0 and 3.0, the 
document would benefit from more consistency. Some sections have a clear ‘how to 
get there’ section, which is beneficial, but others don’t break down as clearly. It might 
also be useful where possible to break down for small, medium and large sites, to 
make this easier to follow.

Council Response:  ‘How should this be done?’ titles will be added to the majority of 
sections which didn’t previously have it. The exceptions include sections like 2.15 
Parking and 2.16 Waste which take slightly different formats in response to the 
specific issues they cover.

Recommended Changes:

Add ‘How should this be done?’  title to sections 2.5-2.13, 3.1-3.5, 3.7-3.9.

1.2  Site and Context Analysis (Pages 36-37) 
Respondent ID:  01, 11, 16, 22

Summary of responses:

i. The Checklist on page 37 has two different references to Public Rights of 
Way. They could be combined to say : ‘(including existing designated Public 
Rights of Way, and routes that that are on the PROW improvement plan).  Or 
routes for which a Designation Application has been made.’

ii. The Checklist refers to ‘listed and heritage buildings. Should this not be ‘listed 
buildings and heritage assets’? This should include reference to conservation 
areas and key unlisted buildings.

iii. The Checklist (Access section) starts with vehicle access when throughout 
the document it says that development should prioritise active travel 

Page 228



21

infrastructure/access over vehicle-oriented layouts. They should be switched 
round to put the principle into practice.  

Council Response: Changes are made to the checklist on page 37 to address these 
comments. The checklist is intended to give a broad overview of all the issues to 
consider and doesn’t refer to specific items in detail (e.g. PROW Improvement Plan), 
but relevant sources of information (e.g. the Bradford Map of Plans) will be added in 
the policies/refs box. 

Recommended Changes: 

SITE AND CONTEXT ANALYSIS CHECKLIST

ACCESS
o Vehicular movement network (e.g. primary, secondary)
o Pedestrian movement network (including existing Public Rights of Ways and 

other locally identified routes)
o Cycle movement network (incl. National Cycle Routes)
o Bridle-path network (e.g. designated public rights of way)
o Key access points
o Public transport facilities (including frequency of service)
o Vehicular movement network (e.g. primary, secondary)
o Proximity to communal open space
o Local destinations/services including convenience store, nursery, café, 

small business hub, community centre etc.
o Desire lines 

o Listed buildings and heritage buildings assets

POLICIES/REFS – add: 
Bradford Cycling Strategy
Bradford Map of Paths
Bradford Local Cycling & Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP)
Landscape Character SPD
Conservation Area Assessments/Appraisals

Remove the word “Approximate” from the plan key at the bottom of page 36 in relation to 
location of trees.

1.3 Responding to Character (Pages 39-45) 
Respondent ID:  11

Summary of responses:

i. Under definitions – would this be an appropriate place to refer to the Council’s 
SPD on Sustainable Design?

ii. The first of a number of incorrect descriptions of the Leeds and Liverpool 
Canal in para 2 of the waterways section (p39) 

Page 229



22

iii. Town & village centres bullet points (p43) suggests promoting the use of 
‘colour’ this could be taken to mean any colour, anywhere which would be in 
contradiction of the Council’s own conservation policies. Suggest it’s changed 
to ‘appropriate colour’.

iv. Urban terraces – the difficult issue of location of bins, whilst we support the 
need for new developments including bin stores, if at the front of houses this 
means potentially smelly bins near the front door. Also if kitchens are at the 
rear this is less convenient for the resident. Should this not be looked at on a 
case by case basis?

Council Response:  

- A reference to the Sustainable Design SPD has been added to the Policy and 
Guidance section (p14-15).

- Corrections in relation to the Leeds and Liverpool Canal have been made to 
pages 39, 66, 78.

- Change made re ‘appropriate colour’ on p43
- Re: Bins. The approach set out in the Guide favours locating bins to the front 

of properties on urban terraces. It is considered this will be more convenient 
for residents (the Guide encourages kitchens to be located to the front of 
properties – Topic 3.2) as well as for waste collection, and it avoids security 
issues with shared rear pathways. Designed well bin stores can help support 
the character of the scheme.

Recommended Changes: 

(1)

WATERWAYS
Bradford’s waterways are a unique feature of the district’s landscape and built 
heritage. From the Leeds and Liverpool canal, the Rivers Aire and Worth, and the 
multitude of becks (streams), there is an opportunity for waterways to contribute 
even more to the district’s built character. 

(2)

o promote the use of appropriate colour and planting to ensure a vibrant and 
inviting atmosphere

POLICIES/REFS – add: 
Building for Life 12: 5

1.4 Making Places for People (Page 47) 
Respondent ID:  09, 11

Summary of responses:  

Digital connectivity – Communication systems for the 21st century appear not to be 
included. While it isn’t a major design consideration, it would be helpful if the guide 
highlighted the importance of broadband as a utility and the need to plan for its 

Page 230



23

installation in the application and development phases. Superfast broadband (30 
Mpbs) is likely to be minimum requirement for many households.

Council Response:  Add reference to digital connectivity in topic 1.4.

Recommended Changes:

Add the following paragraph at the end of the main body of text:

Consideration should also be given to digital connectivity at planning stage 
to ensure that all new homes have access to high-speed internet 
connections. This could have many advantages, particularly for older and 
disabled people, with advances in telecare and smart technologies that 
could enable them to stay in their own home for longer in the future. It can 
also enable people to stay connected and involved in their communities and 
to participate in local activities and lifelong learning.

POLICIES/REFS – add:
Active Design: principles 2, 4

Building for Life 12: 2

1.5 Prioritise the Environment (Pages 48-49) 

1.5(a) – Climate Emergency

Respondent ID:  09, 11, 12, 15, 16, 17, 22

Summary of responses:  

Various respondents have commented that the Guide needs to do more to address 
the climate emergency including the Leeds City Region’s Climate Coalition target of 
net zero carbon by 2038, and the Committee on Climate Change recommendations, 
specifically in relation to principle 1.5 with regard to:

i. More encouragement for renewables, e.g. ground-source heat pumps or solar 
panels.

ii. Developers should submit evidence to show that their proposals prioritise the 
environment and are capable of achieving net zero carbon emissions by 
2038, reducing by 75% by 2030.

iii. requiring that ‘applicants must consider’ the recommended solutions in 
section 1.5.

iv. include more about passive house building principles and how these should 
be applied, along with a commitment from the local authority to 
provide/signpost support.

v. include a mention of zero-carbon heating, and the implications of the Future 
Homes Standard 2025 which precludes fossil-fuel heating in new 
development.

vi. A range of solutions should be considered i.e. district heating connections in 
urban centres, solar thermal, electric (particularly for off-gas locations), hybrid 
and hydrogen ready systems.

Page 231



24

vii. All neighbourhoods should be self-supporting in electricity generation through 
local solar and wind generation. All housing should have solar panelling 
installed as standard.

viii. mention ‘embodied energy’ in existing buildings and minimise the use of 
newly manufactured materials.

Council Response: A number of changes are made to address the comments in 
relation to the climate emergency.

- A requirement for developers to submit evidence to show how they have 
considered the low carbon solutions outlined in the Guide.

- More detail on how the zero carbon target and uplifting the energy efficiency 
of homes can be achieved including further guidance on Passive House 
principles.

- Identifying solutions to renewable energy which developers must consider 
such as connecting to district heating networks, solar panels, ground source 
heat pumps, direct electric and hydrogen ready systems.

- Highlighting that reusing an existing building conserves much more energy 
than building a new one.

- Signposting that applicants can seek further advice from the Council’s 
Sustainability Housing Officer.

1.5(b) – Air Quality
Respondent ID: 16
Summary of responses:

i. More attention needs to be paid to vehicle emissions as these are proving 
least susceptible to reduction across all the polluting sectors, and so vehicle 
generated trips associated with housing and neighbourhood layouts and 
developments need particular attention.

ii. No housing within 50m of a trunk road should be adopted to lessen exposure 
of residents to road traffic related emissions.

iii. The rather restrictive current constraint on declaring Air Quality Management 
Areas to where humans in residences are considered to be the only locations 
at which exceedances of emissions occur should be widened to include 
locations where humans work or shop or conduct leisure activities.

iv. Reducing the need to travel by ensuring local proximity of services (health 
centres, schools, community centres, basic retail) and by permitting more 
mixed use in neighbourhoods such that nearby employment opportunities are 
enabled, should figure more prominently in the SPD.

v. It’s important that new developments are well-connected to help reduce car 
dependency.

Council Response:
- Section 1.5 sets out the approach to reducing vehicle emissions. This 

includes prioritising public transport and active travel, integrating trees and 
planting within streets and open spaces, incorporating infrastructure to 
support ultra-low emission vehicles (including EV charging), and ensuring 
everyday amenities and services are within reasonable walking distance for 

Page 232



25

residents. This is supported by sections 2.3 Movement, 2.4 Green Streets and 
2.15 Parking.

- The guide does not set exclusion zones for new housing development (e.g. 
within 50m of a trunk road). It does require an air quality survey for proposed 
schemes to provide clear information on the extent of air quality issues, the 
suitability of the site for development, and whether extensive mitigation is 
needed.

- Defining locations for Air Quality Management Areas is beyond the scope of 
the Design Guide SPD.

- It is noted that the SPD could go further in encouraging more mixed-use, well-
connected neighbourhoods with easy access to everyday services – changes 
are proposed to address this.

1.5(c) – Scope of Topic 
Respondent ID: 11, 12
Summary of responses:

i. This section relates to the natural environment in the main and should be 
about the entire environment including the built environment.

ii. air quality and low-carbon development are extremely important priorities but 
water management and biodiversity should be highlighted as equally 
important, and advocate the following rewording:
“Applicants must demonstrate how their proposal is prioritising the 
environment, with a particular focus on air quality, low-carbon development, 
biodiversity gain and sustainable water management as part of the scheme 
objectives”

Council Response:  

It is agreed that there are other also very important issues when it comes to 
prioritising the environment. However, it is felt important that this section of the Guide 
should deal specifically with air quality and low carbon development issues in order 
to properly address them. Cross-reference is made on page 48 to other related 
sections.

Recommended Changes to topic 1.5: 

(1)

New development provides the opportunity to make a positive impact on the site, 
the immediate context, and residents. Bradford District Council has committed to 
the Leeds City Region’s net zero carbon target by 2038 and to improving air 
quality and addressing climate change by prioritising low carbon development, (as 
set out in Air Quality & Emissions: Technical Planning Guidance and West 
Yorkshire Low Emissions Strategy 2016 to 2021). Applicants must therefore 
demonstrate how their proposal supports these strategies and guidance.

(2) 
o Ensure that new developments are well connected and that everyday 

amenities and services, e.g. a convenience store, schools, nursery, public 
open spaces, all age play space, health and community facilities, and 

Page 233



26

local employment opportunities are located within reasonable walking 
distance for all residents. 

Appendix 3 of the Core Strategy sets the recommended walking distances to 
local facilities.

(3)

For example, applicants should also consider: Applicants should submit 
evidence to show how their proposals prioritise the environment and how 
they have considered and incorporated low carbon solutions such as:

o Modular and/or off-site construction methods
o Opportunities for re-using existing buildings on the site 
o Opportunities for re-use of any existing site materials, as well as generally 

minimising construction waste
o Employing local labour and using local materials to minimise travel
o Connecting to District Heating Networks in urban centres
o Alternatives to gas central heating including ground source heat 

pumps, solar thermal, direct electric, hybrid and hydrogen ready 
systems

o Energy efficiency of building fabric (see also Topic 3.9 and Passive 
House case study below)

o Opportunities for on-site renewable energy production e.g. solar panels

The Council’s Environmental Health and Sustainability Housing officers can 
provide further advice on air quality and low carbon development.

Case Study – add more detail on Passive House principles

POLICIES/REFS – add: 
Core Strategy: SC2, TR1, TR3, TR5, HO9, EN8, Appendix 3

Page 52
Respondent ID:  09

Summary of responses: the case study photographs could show more schemes from 
Bradford, the city region or even the North. Some of the images that there are of 
Bradford (Greengates p28, Haworth p52, Manningham p80) could also perhaps be 
replaced with better examples.

Council Response: Some images are from a public photo competition run in 
partnership with Bradford Civic Society and it is felt important to retain these within 
the document. However this does not include the photo of Haworth on page 52 
which will be replaced by a more relevant image.

The Council is looking into including images from exemplar schemes in the wider 
region in the final published version of the guide.

Recommended Changes:

Page 234



27

Replace photograph of Haworth on p52 with a more relevant image. 

2.2 Density and Scale (Page 54) 
Respondent ID:  09, 11, 16

Summary of responses:  

i. Higher density development should be sought around public transport hubs.
ii. Should the council not be providing guidance on specific densities?
iii. Re: large developments making contributions for community facilities – it 

should read ‘will’ be required rather than ‘may’ be required. 

Council Response:  Changes are made to address the points about public transport 
hubs and community facility contributions. 

With regard to providing guidance on specific densities this was considered but it 
was felt that to do it in a meaningful way would require a much wider 
restructuring/expansion of the document. The Essex Design Guide provides a good 
example. It has different sections for different densities with specific rules and 
guidelines for each. The Bradford guide has taken a different approach, it focuses 
very much on the process of design along with a series of principles to consider, of 
which density is one, to help find the best solution on a site by site basis. It is felt on 
balance that this is the best approach given the diverse nature of the District in terms 
of its density, character, communities and market areas. 

Recommended Changes: 

(1)

PRINCIPLE 2.2
Proposals should be at an appropriate scale and density in relation to the local and 
wider area, and to national and local policy requirements aimed at increasing 
densities at sites around public transport hubs/routes and local facilities 
where public transport and facilities can accommodate them.

(2)

Large developments of higher density may be required will be expected to 
provide or contribute towards community facilities to support the increased 
population.  

2.3 Movement (Pages 56-57) 

2.3(a) – Cycling issues

Respondent ID:  06, 10, 15, 16 17

Summary of responses: 

Page 235



28

There is support for the general aims regarding cycling but many respondents 
thought the guide should go further in relation to:

i. Segregated cycle paths from roads and pedestrian paths. 
ii. Cycle infrastructure should be commensurable with the high quality found 

elsewhere in continental Europe (e.g. Copenhagen), with enforceable 
minimum standards.

iii. Cycle infrastructure should be prioritised over infrastructure for motor vehicles. 
For example, cycle paths should take priority over space allocated to on-street 
parking for motor vehicles. At road junctions, the safety and convenience of 
cyclists should take priority over that of motor vehicles. 

iv. Introduction of shorter cuts for cyclists (and walkers) only;
v. Cycle parking at all likely destinations including local shops, schools and 

workplaces;
vi. Cycle signage;
vii. Developing a coherent interconnected network of cycle routes;
viii. Cycle storage to be conveniently provided inside all new dwellings
ix. No mention is made of the increasingly popular electric bike.

Council Response:  
- For higher trafficked connecting streets the Council will seek segregated cycle 

lanes but for more local residential streets the intention is that the street space 
will be shared but with a requirement of making safe, people and cycle 
friendly streets which limit speeds to 20mph.

- The guide does seek to prioritise cycling over motor vehicles. Further wording 
will be added to emphasise this.

- The guide does require the provision of cycle parking for each new dwelling 
(see sections 2.15 and 3.3) but as it is principally concerned with the design of 
homes it does not make similar provision for other destinations e.g. shops, 
schools, workplaces. The Local Plan Core Strategy sets cycle parking 
standards for these types of destination.

- Similarly it is beyond the scope of this document to set out the local network 
of cycle routes (that is the role of other documents such as the Bradford Cycle 
Strategy and the Bradford Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan) but 
it does seek to ensure that new routes are interconnected.

- No special provision is made in the guide for electric bikes. The guidance on 
cycle routes and cycle parking applies equally to all types of bikes.

- Further detailed guidance on the design of cycle paths and infrastructure will 
be set out in the forthcoming Bradford Street Design Guide.

2.3(b) – public transport issues

Respondent ID: 16, 09 

Summary of responses – public transport:
i. Much greater attention is required to enabling access and passage through 

housing areas for bus or rail or mass transit services on routes restricted to 
their exclusive use and the total restriction of obstacles such as on-street 

Page 236



29

vehicle parking. Public transport finds it uneconomic and infeasible to serve 
cul-de-sac type developments even when they are well over 200 dwelling 
units. 

ii. The guide could reference recent guidance publications on public transport by 
the Chartered Institution of Highways & Transportation (CIHT).

Council response:

The Guide seeks to encourage public transport use by creating connected places 
and avoiding cul-de-sac style layouts.

With regard to linking public transport with new developments two other forthcoming 
documents are also relevant:

- Bradford Street Design Guide – this will set out detailed guidance for the 
design of different types of streets including ‘connector streets’ capable of 
accommodating buses.

- Bradford Allocations Development Plan Document – this will make the link 
between proposed locations for new residential development and 
existing/future public transport provision to ensure integrated, sustainable 
development.

References to the CIHT documents will be added in the Further Reading section of 
the guide.

2.3(c) – transport interchanges
Respondent  ID: 16
Summary of responses:

i. The layout and design of housing, mixed use and neighbourhoods needs to 
encourage the use of active travel modes (walking and cycling) for local 
journeys of under 3km, and the interchange to public transport (bus, light rail 
transit, heavy rail) at the earliest opportunity for longer (>3km) journeys. This 
requires secure cycle parking at bus stops and bus/rail stations. Have a look 
at any Japanese railway station to see what is feasible! 

ii. Secure shelters at all bus stops and bus/rail stations are required. 
iii. It requires provision of real-time travel information at all bus stops and bus/rail 

stations and inside all new dwelling developments, and the mandatory 
provision of such information at local shopping and service centres, however 
small. 

iv. Substantial vehicle parking may be required close to some bus/rail stations 
where such stations are beyond normal walking distances (1km to rail 
stations) and always for the mobility impaired.

Council response:
The focus of the guide is the design of new housing development and how this can 
contribute to creating successful neighbourhoods. This includes designing layouts to 
encourage walking and cycling for local journeys and requiring space to store bikes 
for all new homes. 

Page 237



30

It is beyond the scope of this document to provide detailed guidance/requirements 
on public transport provision and station design however further wording is proposed 
to highlight the importance of considering through the design process of how 
residents will be able to access public transport.

2.3(d) - Vehicles
Respondent  ID: 10, 11
Summary of responses – vehicles:

i. There should be a policy of reducing road deaths, air pollution and congestion 
through reducing the number of motor vehicles on the road.

ii. Good to see reference to ‘Manual for Streets’
iii. The section on ‘Vehicles’ refers to 20mph restriction in new residential areas 

which we would support but not just in the City Centre and for new 
developments it should extend to other communities as well.

Council response: 
As a supplementary planning document the Design Guide can’t set policies (e.g. 
reducing number of vehicles on the road) but it does include principles which seek to 
address these issues, through for instance creating safe streets with 20mph speed 
limits, reducing air pollution through greenspace and landscape, and including 
measures to prioritise walking and cycling.
The 20mph speed restriction applies to all new housing development across the 
District.

Recommended Changes to Topic 2.3: 

(1)

 integrate with existing adjoining streets and paths, or link with the layout of 
any neighbouring site that is being developed

(2)

The case study on Banbury Bradbury Place on page 89…

(3)

Encourage cycling Cycling should be given priority by ensuring that cycle routes 
are designed into the movement strategy from the start. They should be linked to 
the existing network of cycling routes and seek to enhance it. Segregated cycle 
lanes will be sought on main connector streets, whilst local residential 
streets should be designed to give cyclists priority over motor vehicles. This 
can be achieved by introducing direct, connecting routes for cyclists (and 
pedestrians) only, and also by designing junctions based on the ease of 
movement and comfort of cyclists and pedestrians rather than the needs of 
the car. Cycle parking and storage must be provided (see Topic 2.15 Parking and 
3.3 Storage).
Public transport access or extension New residential and mixed-use 
developments should be designed so that direct pedestrian access is provided 

Page 238



31

from the development to existing bus or rail stops, which should be no more than 
400m or 800m respectively between dwelling and stop.
Consideration should be given at an early stage to how features such as new 
bus shelters can successfully be integrated on developments as well as how 
residents will be able to conveniently access existing or planned 
bus/rail/mass transit stops by foot or cycle. For larger developments, the 
potential to extend public transport routes should be included where possible. This 
should be discussed with planning officers to determine how it will be delivered.

(4)

…and the forthcoming Bradford Street Design Guide.

POLICIES/REFS – rewrite as follows:

Bradford Core Strategy: TR1, TR3, TR5, DS3/4

City Centre AAP: M1, M3-4

Shipley AAP: ST1- ST6

The forthcoming Bradford Street Design Guide
Bradford Map of Paths / LCWIP
NPPF: paras 104, 127

Active Design: 2, 3

Building for Life 12: 1, 3

Add an additional image illustrating active travel (subject to sufficient space being 
available)

2.4 Green Streets (Page 59) 
Respondent ID:  06, 11

Summary of responses:  

i. Comments are generally in support – Green Streets is very positive statement 
– ‘streets not roads’.

ii. Designs should avoid planting of inappropriate shrubs/trees close to 
pedestrian and cycle paths to avoid intrusive and restrictive vegetation and 
maintenance costs as the place matures. Could there be some guidance on 
species to be avoided re blocking sight lines and narrowing paths?

Council Response:  It is agreed that a balance needs to be struck between greening 
streets with trees and all the benefits they bring but not to the detriment of other 
street functions and the movement/safety of pedestrians and cyclists.

The Council’s Landscape Architects provide advice on schemes on a site by site 
basis and further detailed guidance on street trees will be set out in the Council’s 
forthcoming Street Design Guide.

Recommended Changes:

Page 239



32

(1)

…and local guidance, such as Bradford’s forthcoming street design guide.

(2)

Proposals will range from planting mature trees in primary streets to including 
shrubs and planters in private front gardens in residential areas. The Council’s 
Landscape Architects can provide advice on this.

POLICIES/REFS – rewrite as follows:

Bradford Core Strategy: TR1, TR3, TR5, DS3/4

City Centre AAP: M1, M3-4

Shipley AAP: ST1- ST6

The forthcoming Bradford Street Design Guide
TfL’s Healthy Streets
NPPF: paras 104, 127, and 181

Active Design: princ. 5, 6

Building for Life 12: Q9

2.5 Safe and Characterful Streets (Page 63) 
Respondent ID:  11

Summary of responses:  positive to see ‘Secured by Design’ mentioned, and good to 
see some prominence to ‘boundary treatments’ so often ignored in developments. 
‘Character’ needs to emphasise the value of heritage

Council Response:  Section 2.5 ‘Safe and Characterful Streets’ is more about 
creating pleasant, attractive streets that are well defined and animated by the 
buildings and that clearly distinguish between private and public areas.

Other sections (particularly 1.3 ‘Responding to Character’) specifically address the 
importance of responding to the rich and diverse built heritage of the District.

Recommended Changes: 

POLICIES/REFS – rewrite as follows:
Core Strategy: DS2-DS5

The forthcoming Bradford Street Design Guide
TfL’s Healthy Streets
Secured by Design
NPPF: paras 91,108, 110, 127

Active Design: princ 3, 6

Building for Life 12: 7, 11

Page 240



33

2.6 Open Space (Page 65) 
Respondent ID:  04

Summary of responses:  Great to see green spaces featured in this.

Council Response:  Supporting comment so no change but a reference to green 
infrastructure is added in response to comments under General Issues (f) – 
Addressing the Climate Emergency.

Recommended Changes: 

o form part of a wider network of open spaces, green infrastructure and streets

POLICIES/REFS – add:
Active Design: principles 5, 6

Building for Life 12: 11

2.7 Water and Drainage (Pages 66-67) 

2.7(a) – flooding issues

Respondent ID:  11, 17

Summary of responses: 

i. A much wider view on infrastructure is needed, flooding only receiving one 
general reference. Other infrastructure is not covered.

ii. There is mention in the SPD regarding the use of SUDs and Drainage, 
however there is no obvious mention of fluvial mitigation.
This is an Ideal opportunity for Bradford to install some locally agreed 
mitigation principles into either a design guide such as this or as a 
supplementary document that can be linked to both the Design Guide and the 
SFRA.
Leeds have adopted and implemented such a document and Bradford could 
consider adopting something similar. Such a document sets out the principle 
we would expect to be followed by developers on developments at flood risk 
and covers both surface water (from the LPA) and Fluvial (from the EA). 

Council Response:  

It is not proposed to include technical mitigation principles within the document as 
principally this is a design guide but text will be added (see below) to make further 
reference to all types of flooding and the need for early engagement with the 
Environment Agency.

2.7(b) – water management issues

Page 241



34

Respondent ID:  16, 11

Summary of responses:

i. The management of water requires provision in all housing and 
neighbourhood developments firstly for water recycling within the dwellings 
(eg of grey water as done in many water-scarce areas around the world), and 
secondly for local infiltration into the adjacent land rather than run-off into 
watercourses.

ii. the pictures are misleading as it could infer the L & L canal is available as a 
drainage channel. 

Council Response:  

The Guide includes a section on Water and Drainage (2.7) which requires 
sustainable drainage schemes including the conservation of water and minimising 
potable water consumption through rainwater collection for garden irrigation and 
installing efficient toilets and appliances.

Section 2.7 deals both with the importance of sustainable drainage and with using 
watercourses as a focus for amenity promoting health and active travel. The pictures 
show examples of each. However, the comments about the canal picture are noted 
and it is intended to replace it with a more relevant image in the final publication 
version.

Recommended Changes to Topic 2.7: 

Add the following text on p67 before ‘Water and Amenity’:

Suitable flood mitigation measures will be required for all developments that 
are at risk from any/all sources of flooding. These should be considered as 
an integral element in shaping the design and early engagement is strongly 
encouraged with both the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) and the 
Environment Agency at pre-application stage to establish principles. 

Replace photograph on p66 of the Leeds and Liverpool Canal with a more relevant image.

2.8 Landscape (Pages 68-69) 
Respondent ID:  09

Summary of responses:  The guide could be stronger on the importance of 
protecting mature trees on the site. Newly planted trees take decades to have the 
same benefit in terms of carbon and particulate absorption. The replacement rate is 
given as 2 for 1, which is lower than Leeds’ requirement of 3 for 1. If removing trees 
is absolutely unavoidable then 3 for 1 should be considered.

Council Response:  These comments have been taken on board and with input from 
the Council’s Trees Team a number of changes are made to Principle 2.8 to better 
address the issue of trees on developments. These includes changes to the wording 
of the principle and the supporting text, and replacing the case study.

Page 242



35

Recommended Changes: 

(1)

PRINCIPLE 2.8
A landscape strategy must be set out for every housing development 
proposal. The strategy should include a variety of landscape features, 
including trees, with a clear plan for both the private and public realms, and 
a supporting management and maintenance strategy. 

(2)

3. Retain existing mature landscape features.
Development proposals and the open spaces within them should be designed 
around the existing high quality landscape features on the site, particularly the 
areas that support existing biodiversity, wildlife habitats and protected species. 
See Topic 2.9, Biodiversity.
Existing mature trees on the site should be retained and integrated within 
public areas on the development. Proper consideration should be given to 
engineering and tree protection at design stage to ensure solutions which 
are deliverable and workable.
4. Increase the number of trees
New trees should be planted on all new developments in both public and private 
areas. They should have the space to mature and contribute to the development of 
local wildlife habitats in the future. When assessing the green credentials of a 
scheme the Council will place much more emphasis on trees planted in 
public areas as generally they are more successful in achieving long term 
benefits than those in private amenity spaces. If tree felling is necessary or 
appropriate, replacements must be planted and maintained in their place, 
providing at least one new tree for every tree lost. If young trees replace mature 
trees, they should be planted at a ratio of two trees for every tree lost. Where 
existing trees have been identified as suitable for removal at pre-application 
stage, or where they have been pre-emptively felled for development, then 
replacements should be planted within public areas of the development at a 
ratio of three new trees for every tree lost.
Trees should be discussed with the Council’s tree officer and technical guidance 
sought for design details such as tree pits. Trees should be discussed with the 
Council’s Tree Officers at an early stage in the planning process.

Delete and replace case study box on page 66

POLICIES/REFS – add: Building for Life 12: Q6

2.9 Biodiversity (Page 71) 
Respondent ID:  02, 11, 12

Summary of responses:  All the comments support the emphasis on biodiversity in 
the document – the reasons include:

Page 243



36

i. the requirement for protection of and implementation of net gain for 
biodiversity in new developments

ii. the encouragement to implement green roofs and living walls, green boundary 
treatments, open space and tree planting and precautions for species such as 
hedgehogs, bats and amphibians.

iii. The consideration of how design should meet more than just its functional 
target and also provide areas for biodiversity gain and amenity.

iv. the consideration of habitat networks and the recognition of the importance of 
this connectivity across the city.

v. the guidance will bring obvious benefits to wildlife as well as encouraging 
residents to become interested in their local flora and fauna. 

vi. the importance of maintenance and management following the initial 
implementation being stressed in the guide to ensure that the original good 
intentions will not be lost.

Recommended Changes: None, except for a change to the cartoon quote on page 
71 as it is no longer appropriate following the changes made to section 2 regarding 
trees.

Cartoon quote (p71):
“THEY SEEM TO HAVE PLANTED AT LEAST TWO NEW TREES FOR EVERY ONE 
THEY HAD TO TAKE OUT” “IT’S SO RELAXING SITTING OUT IN THE GARDEN, 
THERE’S SO MUCH NATURE HERE”

2.10 Play (Page 73) 
Respondent ID:  04

Summary of responses:  Great to see play featured in this.

Council Response:  Supporting comment.

Recommended Changes: 

POLICIES/REFS – add:
Active Design: principles 1 and 5

2.11 Housing Mix (Page 75) 
Respondent ID:  09, 11, 16, 20

Summary of responses:  

i. The document could be more explicit about affordable housing being 
integrated, to avoid segregation S106 properties from owner occupied homes.

ii. Housing Mix – refers to ‘meeting local policy’ without referring specifically to 
which policy.

iii. Higher proportions of affordable housing (up to 60%) of total developments 
should be sought in areas closer to bus and light rail transit and heavy rail 

Page 244



37

station stops. The affordable housing proportion in all homes and 
neighbourhood developments needs to be set overall at much higher levels 
than currently in the CBMDC area.

iv. Supporting comment – The principle of adaptability expressed in Topic 2.11 
Housing mix and later at 3.2 internal layouts is vital.

Council Response:  changes are made in response to i and ii (see below). With 
regard to iii, as a supplementary planning document the design guide cannot set 
requirements for proportions of affordable housing – this is dealt with in the statutory 
development plan – the Core Strategy (Policy HO8) – in accordance with 
government policy.  

Recommended Changes:

(1)

The mix and tenure of new homes should meet local policy Core Strategy Policy 
HO8 and support the Council in providing a mix of affordable housing.

(2)

Affordable homes: schemes that include a mix of housing tenures should ensure 
that the scheme is designed to be tenure blind and that affordable homes are 
integrated and not segregated from the rest of the development. This must 
include giving residents of affordable homes equal access to public spaces, 
children’s play areas, local facilities, amenities and infrastructure.

POLICIES/REFS – add:
Building for Life 12: Q4

2.12 Topography and Ground Conditions (Page 77) 
Recommended Changes (to address typing error):

POLICIES/REFS – amend:

CIRA CIRIA

2.13 Roofs and Building Forms (Pages 78-79) 
Respondent ID:  09, 11

Recommended Changes (in response to comments raised under pages 14 and 39):

Repeated roof forms in Apperley Green Bridge give the development character 
and an interesting frontage to the Leeds and Liverpool Canal 

POLICIES/REFS – add:
Building for Life 12: Q5

Page 245



38

2.14 Key Buildings and Corners (Page 81) 
Recommended Changes:

POLICIES/REFS – add:
Building for Life 12: Q7 and 8

2.15 Parking (Pages 82-83) 

2.15(a) – amount and type of parking

Respondent ID:  06, 08, 10, 15, 16

Summary of responses: 

i. The amount of parking spaces is quoted but not size. There is an increasing 
problem with occupational ‘white van’ parking leading to clutter of streets and 
compromising access. Some provision could be made perhaps subject to 
charge.

ii. Concern with the number of parking spaces that are proposed per dwelling 
being set at 1.5; It is felt this is insufficient for Bradford where with a young 
population the rite of passage seems to be for most people to get a car at the 
earliest opportunity and with a house being built to last a lifetime the typical 
family with 2 teenage children may have 4 cars for a number of years and with 
only 1.5 spaces provided one has to wonder where the other 2.5 cars are to 
go.

iii. On-street parking for motor vehicles should not be included as a necessity 
within town/city centre planning.

iv. Why not be truly radical, and actively discouraging car driving by reducing 
considerably, the number of parking places in residential areas?

v. A whole battery of parking policies need to be adopted in the SPD including 
reduction of parking space provision, area-wide 24-hour all days bans on on-
street parking, tight restrictions on long-stay parking provision and costly 
charges for its use, resident permit parking schemes that are enforced with no 
renting of permits permitted, and off-street provision of parking for delivery 
and larger vehicles.

Council Response:  

It is acknowledged that the issue of parking is one of the biggest challenges facing 
housing design today. The SPD does set out a number of solutions to ensure that 
parking is accommodated for adequately in ways that support the street scene rather 
than clutter it. The guide also includes a number of measures aimed at getting 
people out of their cars by making walking, cycling and public transport more 
attractive options.

Page 246



39

Introducing additional requirements such as charging specific types of vehicles to 
park or introducing bans is beyond the scope of a design guide document such as 
this. 

The guide quotes the parking standards (1.5 spaces per dwelling) from the Core 
Strategy. Again it is beyond the remit of this document to change this but the issue of 
parking standards is being currently being considered as part of a Partial Review of 
the Core Strategy.

Studies (e.g. Space to Park) have shown that just reducing parking spaces where 
people live tends to be counter productive and leads to problems with cars parking 
where they shouldn’t e.g. on pavements. The SPD aims to ensure that schemes are 
designed so that parking areas can be used for other purposes when not in use or if 
car use reduces in the future.  

With regard to (iii) and city centre parking the Council sets no minimum standard and 
seeks to minimise the number of spaces in the city and town centres. The guide 
advocates basement parking for new city centre schemes.

2.15(b) – designing for car parking

Respondent ID:  09

Summary of responses:  

i. The promotion of unallocated parking spaces, the ideas about parking spaces 
doubling up for other uses when not in use or in the future, and the 
discouragement of ‘inappropriate’ parking is positive. 

ii. It would be beneficial to have a couple of diagrammatic plans showing how 
inappropriate parking can be designed out – for instance using street furniture 
or landscaping to block parking on pavements, or having inset parking bays 
parallel to the street so that drivers are less likely to mount the pavement to 
protect their car from passing vehicles.

iii. The advice on parking for narrow terraced houses needs to be more detailed 
with some caveats to avoid an unattractive frontage – for instance, not directly 
abutting the house but with a landscaped buffer of at least 800mm, and no 
more than 4 spaces in a row. Building for Life asks for 50:50 ratio of soft:hard 
landscaping: ‘Where parking is positioned to the front of the property, ensure 
that at least an equal amount of the frontage is allocated to an enclosed, 
landscaped front garden as it is for parking to reduce vehicle domination’

Council Response:  New wording is added to address point iii, and in response to ii 
reference is made to the axonometric sketch drawing on page 50 which shows a 
range of parking types.

2.15(c) – EV charging

Respondent ID:  09

Page 247



40

Summary of responses:  Parking standards refer to the required number of charging 
points. However there’s no information on integration, electrical connection and 
specification – best practice suggests 32A 7kW charger on a spate electrical spur.

Council Response:  A separate guide ‘Air Quality & Emissions: Technical Planning 
Guidance for West Yorkshire’ (referred to in section 1.5) includes an Appendix which 
sets out the specification for electric vehicle charging.

Recommended Changes to Topic 2.15 Parking:

(1)

PRINCIPLE 2.15
Provide cycle and car parking that is safe and functional, and that neither 
constrains pedestrian movement nor dominates the street scene. 
Parking must be successfully integrated within the dwelling curtilage and/or the 
public realm, adhering to the any technical requirements set out in the Bradford 
Street Design Guide.
The table opposite provides a summary of the different types of parking required 
for new homes and neighbourhood schemes, based on the Core Strategy 
requirements and additional guidelines in this section. This principle must be read 
in conjunction with the forthcoming Bradford Street Design Guide, which will 
provides additional technical requirements.

(2)

o avoid locating parking spaces and garages in prominent locations such as 
street corners or where they terminate vistas down streets

o For car parking in front of the house ensure a buffer is included so 
that parked vehicles don’t directly abut the house, avoid having more 
than 4 frontage spaces in a row, and allow for at least an equal amount 
of the frontage to be allocated for an enclosed, landscaped front 
garden to help reduce vehicle domination (as recommended in 
Building for Life 12).

o Using appropriate street furniture, landscape and boundary 
treatments to prevent cars from parking on pavements and grassed 
areas. 

o Allowing enough street width to accommodate inset parking bays 
parallel to the street.

The drawing on page 50 shows how a range of parking types can be 
accommodated within a development.
As the future of transport is continuously evolving, designing parking areas to be 
attractive and flexible will ensure their ability to adapt and to serve resident’s 
needs.

POLICIES/REFS – add:
The forthcoming Bradford Street Design Guide SPD
Building for Life 12: Q10
Active Design: principle 7

Page 248



41

(if there is room to do so)

2.16 Waste (Page 86) 
Respondent ID:  21

Summary of responses:  p86 states that householders have an option for a 240L bin 
for Garden Waste which is a chargeable service, could just add “which is an annual 
subscription service” to reflect this.

Council Response:  Change made.

Recommended Change:

As set out in Bradford’s waste and recycling policy, each household should have 
two 240-litre bins, one for general waste and one for recycling. There is also an 
option for households to have a third 240-litre bin for garden waste (which is an 
annual subscription service).

POLICIES/REFS – add:
Building for Life 12: Q12

2.17 Making Inclusive Places (Pages 88-89) 

2.17(a) – accessible housing standards

Respondent ID:  03, 08, 13, 20 

Summary of responses:            

A number of comments have been made in relation to the inclusion of Accessible 
housing standards of 90% Category M4(2) (Accessible & Adaptable Dwellings) and 
10% Category M4(3) (Wheelchair User Accessible Dwellings) in the guide. 

Supporting comments: 

i. Strongly advocate the guidance on principle 2.17, in particular to require 90% 
of new homes to be built to the standard set out in Building Regulations M4(2) 
Category 2, accessible and adaptable homes, and the remaining 10% to 
M4(3) Category 3, Wheelchair user dwellings.

ii. Provision of accessible homes can transform the lives of people helping them 
to stay safe, healthy, active and independent. It can help reduce pressure on 
public services and also help to address the significant deficit of suitable 
accessible housing available.

iii. The wording of the principle could be stronger though with a greater emphasis 
on Part M as being the minimum standard acceptable. It should be a 
requirement for the applicant to show in their Design and Access Statement 
how they intend to meet these requirements.

Objecting comments:

Page 249



42

iv. These are policy requirements that have financial implications yet to be tested 
via the Local Plan process and as such can carry no weight. 

v. An SPD (as defined in the NPPF) is a supporting document which should not 
repeat policy requirements yet to undergo examination.

Council Response:  

Policy HO9 in the adopted Core Strategy states that new development should 
provide a proportion of accessible homes but it does not define what this proportion 
should be. The supporting text to Policy HO9 (in paragraph 5.3.150) states the 
Council’s intention to undertake further detailed work to inform this and that “The 
Housing Design Guide will take account of this work and provide further guidance in 
relation to the proportion of accessible, adaptable and wheelchair user dwellings 
required in advance of any adopted policy in the Local Plan.”

In accordance with this the Council has commissioned further detailed work (a 
Housing Needs & Viability Study by David Lock Associates) which recommends the 
requirements of 90% M4(2) & 10% M4(3). 

Therefore it is considered that the Council is justified in referencing these proportions 
in the guide.  However the Council is also aware of recent case law relevant to this 
issue, (e.g. William Davis & others v Charnwood BC (2018)), which support the view 
that policy requirements such as these should not be included in an SPD. 

In response it is proposed to amend the wording so that the guide still provides 
guidance on the recommended proportion of accessible homes but without making it 
a requirement. This will identify the intended direction of travel of policy in advance of 
the outcome of the Partial Review of the Core Strategy which will formally address 
this issue through planning policy. 

2.17(b) – local evidence for accessible homes

Respondent ID:  03, 13

Summary of responses: 

i. Bradford Council are urged to undertake a similar piece of work to the 
Housing Standards Viability Study commissioned by the GLA to inform policy 
in the London Plan. 

ii. The requirement for 10% of new dwellings to be built to wheelchair accessible 
standards. is contrary to the Council’s own evidence, the Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment  (SHMA, 2019), which recommends a 4% requirement. 

iii. Viability evidence is not available.

Council Response:  

The Council commissioned a research study by David Lock Associates (DLA) in 
2016 looking into the local need and viability of applying accessible housing 
standards in the District in accordance with national planning policy and guidance. 

The study recommends that there is a need in the District for 90% of new homes to 
be built to Cat M4(2) and 10% to Cat M4(3). It finds that in the majority of cases this 

Page 250



43

would be viable and identifies the instances where viability would be a problem (in 
terms of market areas and types of housing).

The DLA study has informed the requirements set out in both the SPD and in the 
Core Strategy Partial Review (CSPR) which was published concurrently. The study 
forms part of the evidence base for the CSPR but it appears that it was not published 
with the rest of the evidence base documents – it will now be made available for 
review and comment.

The SHMA 2019 was published in draft form and is based mainly on demographic 
data. The recommendations in the 2016 DLA Study took reference from a wider 
range of locally specific evidence particular to this issue and concluded that there 
was a need for 10% of new homes to be built to wheelchair accessible standards 
and that this was viable in the majority of cases.

2.17(c) – other inclusive place issues

Respondent ID: 08, 09, 11

Summary of responses: 

i. Surprised and encouraged that a number of matters that the Mobility Planning 
Group members suggested to the consultants at the stakeholder events have 
made their way into the final draft of the document, an example being the 
introduction of benches and seating along the pavement to ease those of us 
whom need or want to take a break whilst walking.

ii. It would be good to see more of a definition of the word “access” as from 
experience as a member of Bradford’s Planning, Highways, Access Forum 
(PHAF) applicants tend to use this word to mean specifically getting on to a 
site whereas the PHAF membership use the word “access” more globally to 
mean not only access to the site but also moving around the site and getting 
into and then around any building on the site.

iii. The concept of inclusive places should thread through the whole document 
and it might be worth considering whether the text from this section is should 
be distributed throughout

iv. It would be beneficial to mention lighting in the section on inclusive places, to 
help more vulnerable people feel safer after dark. 

v. Should include mention of younger people and affordable housing residents, 
especially bearing in mind the recent segregated play areas issue in a London 
development.

vi. The case study photo doesn’t demonstrate the scheme well. It’s not clear that 
the featured building is the one in the background and not the older ones in 
the foreground, which are quite mediocre and not well-lit. Also, the name is 
wrong – it’s Bradbury, not Banbury

vii. Inclusive places refers correctly to the need not to create ‘Street clutter’. Can 
Bradford expect the developer to achieve a standard when it has no policy on 
for its own departments?

Council Response:  

Page 251



44

- A definition of ‘access’ and also ‘inclusive’ will be added to the guide (see 
below).

- An earlier version of the guide did not have a separate inclusive places 
section but following the workshops it was decided that this was a key issue 
which warranted its own section.

- Wording is added in relation to lighting and safety.
- Wording has been added elsewhere in the document addressing the 

comments on affordable housing and segregated play areas – see section 
2.11.

- The comments regarding the photo are noted . This image is also referred to 
in section 2.3 (page 56) with regard to movement issues. The Council will 
explore whether a better, alternative image of the scheme exists for inclusion 
in the final version of the guide, and the name of the street will be corrected.

- The Council is developing a Bradford Street Design Guide which will provide 
more detailed guidance on the provision of street furniture and avoidance of 
street clutter.

Recommended Changes to Topic 2.17:

(1)

Ten per cent of proposed homes should be designed to meet the standards of 
Building Regulations M4(3): Category 3, Wheelchair user dwellings.
The remaining 90 per cent should be designed to meet the standards of Building 
Regulations M4(2): Category 2, Accessible and adaptable dwellings. It is 
acknowledged that it is not always viable to achieve level access to all homes, so 
in this case all elements of Category 2 should be achieved except that one.
Policy HO9 in the Core Strategy requires that larger sites should include a 
proportion of new homes which are designed to be accessible and 
adaptable, including for older and disabled people. It states that further 
guidance on the proportion of accessible, adaptable and wheelchair user 
dwellings will be provided in this design guide.
The Council has undertaken further research which recommends that 10% of 
new homes are designed to meet Building Regulations M4(3) Category 3: 
‘Wheelchair user dwellings’, and that the remaining 90% are designed to 
meet Building Regulations M4(2) Category 2: ‘Accessible and adaptable 
dwellings’.
This sets out the intended direction of travel of policy in advance of the 
outcome of the review of the Core Strategy which will formally address this 
issue through planning policy.
In accordance with Policy HO9 applicants should submit information 
identifying which dwellings on site will meet categories M4(2) and M4(3).

(2)

 …is an important part of life for those who are less able.

 Good quality street lighting should be provided on key walking routes to 

Page 252



45

help vulnerable people feel safer after dark.

Insert a definitions box on p89 with the following:

Inclusive places Places which are designed to work better for everyone whether a 
building, a street, a public space or a transport route. They respond to the diversity of 
people who want to use them and are welcoming, easy and convenient to use regardless 
of age, ability, gender or community.  

Access How everyone can get to and move through a place on equal terms. This includes 
consideration of access points, routes, road layouts and public transport provision.

Case Study: Banbury Bradbury Place, Andover

POLICIES/REFS – add:

Active Design: principles 1, 5, 8

3.2 Internal Layout (Page 94) 

3.2(a) – Parker Morris standards

Respondent ID:  14

Summary of responses:  

The current legacy of new homes leaves much to be desired with obsolescence 
already built-in before they are occupied because of minimum internal spaces and 
no space for storage. Extensions to dwellings should not be needed if well designed 
for their intended purpose.

As a former town planner, I remember the days of Parker Morris standards when 
applied to new Council houses. They set high standards of internal space when 
compared to the product built today by private housebuilders.

Council Response:  

The modern day equivalent of the Parker Morris standards is the government’s 
Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS) published in 2015. These are 
optional for Council’s to use dependent on local need and viability. The Guide makes 
reference to the NDSS in section 3.2.

3.2(b) – Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS)

Respondent ID:  13

Summary of responses:  

Objection to the requirement for new homes to meet the Nationally Described Space 
Standard (NDSS). It is not adopted Council policy. It is currently draft in the Core 
Strategy Partial Review (CSPR) Preferred Options document and has not undergone 
viability testing or been examined and found to be a sound policy. An SPD (as 

Page 253



46

defined in the NPPF) is a supporting document which should not repeat policy 
requirements yet to undergo examination.

Council Response:  

The supporting text to Policy HO9 in the adopted Core Strategy states that the 
Council will apply the NDSS as a benchmark for assessing the suitability of new 
homes, and that where viable new homes should meet at least the minimum internal 
floor areas and that the onus will be on the applicant to demonstrate why this can’t 
be achieved. 

It also states that the Council intend to undertake further detailed work in regards to 
adopting the national space standard in the District in advance of any policy 
requirement in the Local Plan.

The reference to the NDSS in the SPD is broadly consistent with the approach set 
out in the adopted Core Strategy and further detailed work (the DLA study – see 
above) has now been undertaken. 

Some amendments are made to the text to ensure the wording is in conformity with 
Policy HO9, both the current adopted and any subsequent future amendments to the 
policy.

2.17(c) - adaptability

Respondent ID: 20

Summary of responses:  

The principle of adaptability expressed in Topic 3.2 internal layouts and at 2.11 
Housing mix is vital.

Council Response:  Supporting comment.

Recommended Changes to Topic 2.17:

PRINCIPLE 3.2
Internal layouts must meet should use the Nationally Described Space Standards 
as a benchmark and demonstrate:
1. Functionality
2. Adaptability
3. Safety and security
4. Liveability
The Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS) provide best practice 
guidance on gross internal floor areas, based on the number of bedrooms and 
bedspaces. All new homes in Bradford should comply with this. The Council will 
use the NDSS to assess the suitability of internal space of proposed new 
homes.  Applicants should provide a schedule setting out the internal floor 
areas for each type of home. In the event that any home falls below the 

Page 254



47

standards the applicant should provide a justification of why they cannot be 
met.  
The Building Regulations Approved Document M ‘Access to and use of buildings’ 
also sets out standard dimensions required for accessible and adaptable dwellings 
(M4(2) Category 2) and wheelchair user dwellings (M4(3) Category 3). The 
Council recommends Nnew schemes should provide 10 per cent M4(3) 
dwellings and 90 per cent M4(2), see Topic 2.17 Making inclusive places.

3.3 Storage (Page 99) 
Recommended Changes:

POLICIES/REFS – add:
Active Design: principles 7, 8

3.5 Outdoor Space (Page 103) 
Recommended Changes:

POLICIES/REFS – add:
Active Design: principles 7, 8

3.6 Privacy (Page 104) 
Respondent ID:  19

Summary of responses:  

Broad support for the document but concern that the amenity standard of 21m 
between habitable room windows may conflict with the Core Strategy Partial Review 
(CSPR) requirement for 35 dwellings per Ha. Rigorous testing of this should be 
undertaken. Consultation should also be undertaken with the Development 
Management team at CBMDC who for many years worked to a distance of 18 m 
(before adoption of the Householder SPD that reduced the distance to 17m) as they 
routinely accepted 30 dwellings per ha was not compatible with 21m facing 
distances.

Council Response:  

Research studies have been undertaken on this matter on behalf of organisations 
such as the GLA, HCA (now Homes England) and the CPRE. These suggest that it 
is possible to achieve 35dpha (and more) whilst still providing good sized family 
homes (including detached homes) with gardens, and appropriate space between 
dwellings as well as meeting urban design objectives and other requirements (e.g. 
parking). Therefore whilst it may well be a challenge requiring skilled design input it 
is considered that achieving both density and providing adequate privacy should be 
possible.

Page 255



48

The guide does acknowledge however that achieving typical separation distances 
may not always be possible in a district such as ours with its topography and often 
constrained sites. It sets out a range of ways on pages 104-105 in which creative 
design can help to mitigate this.   

The Council’s Development Management team have been involved throughout the 
preparation of the document, including on this issue. The 21m distance is greater 
than that set out in the Householder SPD to allow flexibility for future extensions and 
adaptations.

Recommended Changes:  None

3.8 Materials and Details (Page 109) 
Respondent ID:  11

Summary of responses:  Makes no mention of ‘embodied energy’ in existing 
buildings and minimisation of the use of newly manufactured materials

Council Response:  These matters are addressed in changes to 1.5 Prioritising the 
Environment (pages 48-49) and 3.9 Energy Efficiency (page 110).

Recommended Changes:

POLICIES/REFS – add:
Building for Life 12: Q5

3.9 Energy Efficient (Pages 110-11) 
Respondent ID:  09, 11, 17

Summary of responses:  

i. Some specific Energy Efficiency targets are needed. The Planning and 
Energy Act allows for higher energy efficiency standards. This should be 
higher than building regulations (currently under review), must consider 
passive house standards and minimise space heating requirement, and avoid 
future zero carbon retrofit costs and alleviate poverty.

ii. The UK climate change committee 2019: states “From 2025 at the latest, no 
new homes should be connected to the gas grid. They should instead be:

- Heated through low carbon sources
- Have ultra-high levels of energy efficiency alongside appropriate 

ventilation
- Where possible be timber framed”

iii. Include a mention of, and the implications of the Future Homes Standard 
2025 which precludes fossil-fuel heating in new development.

iv. The SPD fails to differentiate between dealing with modern construction and 
the conversion of traditional solid wall buildings in terms of ‘air tightness’ for 
the former and ‘ventilation’ for the latter. 

v. This is a good opportunity to make sure new development is ‘future proofed’

Page 256



49

vi. The UK Green Building Council have produced a resource pack that is 
designed to help enable local authorities increase the sustainability of new 
homes.

Council Response:  

The government has recently clarified its position regarding energy efficiency 
standards. An update of the national Planning Practice Guidance (March 2019) 
states local authorities can set energy performance targets higher than current 
Building Regulations (up to Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes) in their 
development plan policies. 

This provision exists only until Section 43 of the Deregulation Act 2015 is enacted 
and the government has signalled their intention to deal with this issue through their 
new ‘Future Homes Standard’ currently out to consultation (until 7 February 2020). 
The standard proposes uplifting mandatory energy efficiency standards for new 
homes through the Building Regulations Part L up to Code Level 4 and beyond. 

In any event as an SPD the Homes and Neighbourhoods Design Guide can’t set 
policies. The purpose of an SPD, as defined in the NPPF, is to add further detail to 
the policies in the development plan namely SC2 and HO9 in the Core Strategy 
which support and encourage new homes to achieve high sustainable design 
standards.

However, in response to the comments, additional guidance will be provided in the 
SPD on how higher performance can be achieved. This will draw on guidance by the 
UK Green Building Council and includes: 

- A case study (the Dominion scheme at Doncaster of modular homes which 
achieve Code level 4 and have been designed to enable upgrading to zero-
carbon – identified as good practice by the UKGBC).

- Referring to the government’s new ‘Future Homes’ Standard particularly with 
regard to insulation, ventilation and heating from low carbon sources.

- Considering energy efficiency principles in the reuse/retrofit of existing buildings.
- Signposting applicants to further support/advice from the Council’s Sustainability 

Housing Officer.
Recommended Changes:

Add following text on p110:

Applicants should think long term and consider how new homes can be 
designed to be energy efficient and avoid expensive future zero carbon 
retrofit costs. The government’s forthcoming Future Homes standard 
proposes a clear direction of travel with mandatory standards potentially 
being introduced in 2020 for new homes. The standard will require ultra-high 
levels of insulation alongside appropriate ventilation, with heating to be 
provided from low carbon sources and no new homes to be connected to the 
gas grid. 
Applicants should also consider the reuse of existing buildings and the 
reuse/recycling of existing materials on the site as this is much more energy 
efficient than new construction and the manufacture and transportation of 

Page 257



50

new materials.
Where existing buildings are being reused or retrofitted consideration 
should be given to the difference between dealing with modern construction 
and the conversion of traditional solid wall buildings in terms of ‘air 
tightness’ for the former and ‘ventilation’ for the latter.
The Council’s Sustainability Housing Officer can provide further advice on 
achieving energy efficient homes.
WHY?
By designing energy-efficient developments that optimise the use of natural 
resources, applicants align their proposals with the Council’s strategic objectives, 
increasing the likelihood of a planning application succeeding.
Improving energy efficiency in our homes and in how we travel is an important 
means of addressing the climate emergency and improving air quality in the 
district.

Add case study of new modular homes at Dominion, Doncaster which achieve Code Level 
4 and have been designed to easily enable future upgrades and retrofits of renewable 
technologies to meet the zero-carbon target (identified as good practice by the UKGBC).

Add a reference to ultra-high levels of insulation to the diagram on page 111.

POLICIES/REFS – add:
MHCLG Future Homes Standard 
UK Green Building Council resource pack

Appendix 1. Linking to Policy (Pages 113-115)
Respondent ID:  01, 11, 13

Summary of responses:  

i. In the Appendix 1 Linking to Policy table on pages 114 to 115 DS4 on page 
115 talks about paths should mention PROWs and there is an opportunity to 
include here the web links to your on-line PROW map.

ii. It’s surprising that a major omission of this section is the listing of all current 
and in preparation SPD’s and of externally produced documents referred to in 
the text with publisher details.

iii. Whilst the guidance within the SPD includes emerging draft CSPR policy 
requirements the Appendix 1 ‘Linking to Policy’ includes a table of Core 
Strategy policies which do not include any emerging draft CSPR 
requirements.

Council Response:  

In response to (i) the Appendix sets out existing adopted policies and it is not 
possible to make additions to them through this document but an additional 
reference is proposed in section 2.3 to the Bradford Map of Paths.

Page 258



51

In response to (ii) changes are made to the section on Policy and Guidance (pages 
14-15) to refer to relevant SPDs and other documents. Also it is intended to include a 
fuller list of referred to documents in the ‘Further Reading’ section in the final version 
of the guide.

In response to (iii) the SPD supports existing adopted local plan policy – the key 
policies are listed in the appendix. One of these, Policy HO9, is currently subject to 
the Core Strategy Partial Review and reference is made in relevant sections of the 
document (namely 2.17 and 3.2) to highlight that the guidance should be read in 
conjunction with any future updates to that policy.

Recommended Changes: None.

Further Reading (Page 116) 
Respondent ID:  09

Summary of responses: With reference to public transport, it may be worth 
signposting within the document to recent guidance from the Chartered Institution of 
Highways & Transportation (CIHT). 

Council Response:  References to the suggested CIHT docs are added in the 
Further Reading section.

Recommended Changes: 
Add the following under ‘Creating a Neighbourhood’: 

Better Planning, better transport, better places, CIHT 
https://www.ciht.org.uk/media/10218/ciht-better-planning-a4_updated_linked_.pdf 

Buses in Urban Developments, CIHT 
https://www.ciht.org.uk/media/4459/buses_ua_tp_full_version_v5.pdf

Page 259

https://www.ciht.org.uk/media/10218/ciht-better-planning-a4_updated_linked_.pdf
https://www.ciht.org.uk/media/4459/buses_ua_tp_full_version_v5.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



HOMES AND 
NEIGHBOURHOODS:  

A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

CONSULTATION DRAFT
JULY 2019

Page 261

Broadbents
Highlight

broadbents
Typewriter
Note: The parts of this document which are subject to change are highlighted in yellow. For full details on the proposed changes refer to Appendix 1.

broadbents_1
Typewriter
Appendix 2



“THIS IS ABOUT US.  
IT’S ABOUT WHAT WE WILL DO TO CREATE AS 
GOOD A QUALITY OF LIFE AS POSSIBLE FOR THE 
PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES OF THE BRADFORD 
DISTRICT.” 

Kersten England, Chief Executive
Bradford Council Plan 2016-2020

Planning & Transport Strategy

City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council 
4th Floor 
Britannia House 
Bradford 
BD1 1HX

Phone: 01274 433679 
E-mail: planning.policy@bradford.gov.uk Prepared by 

Copyright © 2019 City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council.

Page 262



3HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

CONTENTS

CONTENTS
PART A:  
INTRODUCING THE GUIDE 5

Introduction 6
Bradford’s vision and priorities                   8
Policy and guidance 14
How to use the design guidance             16
Process 18
Pre-application meetings 20
Engagement and consultation                22
The design and access statement         24
Balancing cost and quality 26
Guidance for residents and 
communities                   27

The Principles: summary 30

1.0  DEFINING A BRIEF 33

1.1   Establish a project brief 35
1.2   Site and context analysis  36
1.3   Responding to character 38
1.4   Making places for people 47
1.5   Prioritise the environment 48

2.0 CREATING A NEIGHBOURHOOD 51

2.1   Define a concept 53
2.2   Density and scale 54
2.3   Movement 56
2.4   Green streets 59
2.5   Safe and characterful streets 62
2.6   Open space 64
2.7   Water and drainage 66
2.8   Landscape 68
2.9   Biodiversity 70
2.10 Play 72
2.11 Housing mix  75
2.12 Topography and ground conditions  76
2.13 Roofs and building forms 78
2.14 Key buildings and corners 81
2.15 Parking 82
2.16 Waste 86
2.17 Making inclusive places 88

3.0 MAKING A HOME 91

3.1   Flats and apartments 92
3.2   Internal layout 94
3.3   Storage 99
3.4   Light and ventilation 101
3.5   Outdoor space 103
3.6   Privacy 104
3.7   Elevations 107
3.8   Materials and details 109
3.9   Energy efficient 110

APPENDIX 1 - LINKING TO POLICY 113

FURTHER READING 116

IMAGE CREDITS 117

PART B: THE DESIGN GUIDANCEPART A: INTRODUCING THE GUIDE

Page 263



4 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Wrose Brow, Shipley

Page 264



5HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PART A:  
INTRODUCING THE GUIDE

PART A

Page 265



6 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Bradford District has a population of 
over half a million, and with over 124,000 
people under the age of 16 it is the 
youngest city in the country. It is also 
a fast-growing city, with an increasing 
number of older people. A significant 
number of new homes will be required to 
meet the district’s needs by 2035. 

The district is facing significant health 
challenges, including some of the highest 
rates of childhood illness in the UK and 
serious concerns over air quality in 
certain areas. And Bradford is the 11th 
most deprived district in England. 

There is overwhelming evidence that 
the environment in which we live affects 
our health and well-being. The Council 
is seeking to tackle these issues to 
resolve the underlying causes of illness, 
inequality and short life expectancy. The 
requirement for such significant amounts 
of new housing provides an opportunity 
to set a benchmark for the quality of 
housing and the environment in the 
district.  

This document, Homes and 
Neighbourhoods: A Guide to Designing 
in Bradford, will help plan for places 
where people can flourish: not just in 
housing schemes, but in successful 
neighbourhoods. These must be inspired 
by the best places that have developed 
though the district’s history, and make 
the most of its varied settings and 
landscape.  

This guide has been created by 
collaborating with several key 
stakeholders in the district to ensure 
that it responds to Bradford’s underlying 
issues, and that it is supported by the 
companies and individuals who will 
deliver the housing.

These stakeholders have included:

• Born in Bradford: one of the world’s 
largest research studies, it is tracking 
the lives of over 30,000 Bradfordians 
to find out what influences the health 
and well-being of families.

• Older and Disabled People Group: 
a network of established groups 
across the city representing a range 
of interests. They include those with 
mobility problems, older people, 
visually impaired people, dementia 
sufferers and people with learning 
difficulties.

• Bradford Civic Society: a society that 
champions Bradford’s heritage and 
built environment, and encourages 
higher standards of design and 
architecture in new development.

• Bradford Property Forum: a network of 
local property professionals, including 
architects, planners, developers and 
surveyors.

• Housebuilders and housing 
associations, the main developers of 
housing in the city.

• All relevant departments within 
the Council, covering public health, 
architecture, housing, accessibility, 
drainage, engineering, planning, and 
urban design, among other matters.

As a supplementary planning document, 
these guidelines support the local plan 
policies and advance the government’s 
agenda by putting high-quality design, 
healthy and happy communities, 
and inclusive design principles at 
the forefront of market-appropriate 
and financially viable new housing in 
Bradford.

INTRODUCTION

Page 266



7HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

HOW WILL THIS DOCUMENT 
BENEFIT DIFFERENT USERS? 
This guide aims to ensure that new 
housing will create healthy communities 
in Bradford. It is also designed to ensure 
that everyone involved in delivering 
housing will benefit too.

Housebuilders and developers want 
to build the best that is economically 
viable for their target market, and they 
want their progress through the planning 
system to be as quick and certain as 
possible. 

The Council wants to encourage the best 
housebuilders and developers to see 
the district as a place where they can 

PART A:  
 INTRODUCTION 

make a reputation for creating homes 
and neighbourhoods that people really 
appreciate.

Community groups and residents can 
make a positive impact on developments 
through the consultation process to 
ensure that schemes are tailored to local 
needs.

The guide is intended for developers, 
housebuilders, self-builders, local 
communities, politicians, planners, 
architects, designers and the full range 
of built environment professionals. It 
explains the Council’s aspirations for 
housing design, and it sets out its view of 
how the planning and design process can 
work together to help achieve them. 

Map of Bradford District’s main urban areas and open spaces

Page 267



8 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

BRADFORD’S VISION 
AND PRIORITIES

Page 268



9HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

OUR VISION IS FOR 
GREEN, SAFE, INCLUSIVE 
AND DISTINCTIVE 
NEIGHBOURHOODS 
THAT CREATE HEALTHY 
COMMUNITIES FOR ALL

PART A:  
BRADFORD’S VISION 

A broad variety of adaptable 
and efficient homes that are 
affordable to build and run

CHOICE

GREEN

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

PROCESS

Green streets and spaces 

Accessible places with clear 
and legible pedestrian routes

Healthy and connected 
neighbourhoods that promote 
wellbeing and community life

Opening up views and 
designing to make the most 
of the topography and ground

Efficient use of resources

Making design and planning 
processes work together

Neighbourhoods with 
identity, reflecting the 
district’s varied character

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

This design guide sets out eight priorities 
for homes and neighbourhoods in 
Bradford District. These target the key 
issues that were identified through 
consultation with a wide range of 
stakeholders who have an involvement 
or interest in design and development 
quality in Bradford (as set out on page 
6). The vision and priorities are locally 
based, reflecting what is important in 
Bradford District. 

The design guidance is based on the 
vision and priorities, addressing specific 
local aspirations, issues and concerns, as 
well as promoting good practice. These 
are set out in the 31 design principles 
in Part B of this document. The key 
principles that relate to each of the 
priorities are also set out overleaf.

As a supplementary planning document, 
this guide’s role is to support the district’s 
Core Strategy, and to provide more detail 
on how to interpret and assess it. This 
means that the guide must be consistent 
with planning policy at both national and 
district levels. 

Housebuilders, other developers, and 
their architects and/or designers can 
use these eight priorities as headings to 
structure any stage of the planning and 
design process, including pre-application 
discussions, masterplans or design and 
access statements.

The following pages explain the eight 
priorities and why each has been 
identified.

Page 269



10 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

A broad range of adaptable 
and efficient homes that are 
affordable to build, buy, rent 
and run

CHOICE

GREEN
Green streets and spaces 

1

2

A range of home types and sizes must be delivered to 
meet the needs of people in the district. The design 
of homes must make good use of space, daylight 
and sunlight; provide good insulation, ventilation, 
storage and privacy; and give careful consideration 
to appearance, noise, outdoor space and amenities. 

Every new development should be seen as an 
opportunity to plant trees and shrubs, and to create 
attractive landscapes. Careful design of matters 
such as overlooking, lighting, security, seating and 
boundaries, and consideration of the development’s 
impact on the microclimate, will contribute to making 

Homes must be easy to live in and efficient to run, and have the 
potential to adapt to new circumstances.

A particular challenge in Bradford District is to build homes that are 
well designed and of high quality, without being beyond the means 
of the people who need them. The district’s diverse population 
needs these homes to be of a wide variety of sizes and types. 

a public realm that works well and is enjoyable to be in. Green 
corridors, and blue and green infrastructure, should connect areas, 
helping people and wildlife get about and to sustain biodiversity.

Successful neighbourhoods have green streets and pleasant 
spaces. The benefits will be that people’s health will be improved 
as they are inspired to spend time outdoors; homes will have an 
attractive outlook; and air pollution will be reduced. 

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

KEY RELATED PRINCIPLES

2.11 Housing mix
3.1 Flats and apartments
3.2 Internal layout
3.3 Storage
3.4 Light and ventilation
3.5 Outdoor space
3.6 Privacy
3.9 Energy efficient

KEY RELATED PRINCIPLES

2.4 Green streets
2.6 Open space
2.7 Water and drainage
2.8 Landscape
2.9 Biodiversity
3.5 Outdoor space

Page 270

Broadbents_1
Highlight

Broadbents_2
Highlight



11HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

Accessible, inclusive and 
connected places with 
clear pedestrian routes

Healthy and connected 
neighbourhoods that 
promote well-being and 
community life

3

4

Development should contribute to making 
walkable neighbourhoods where homes are close 
to community amenities, shops, green space and 
workplace; and where footpaths give priority to 
pedestrians, wheelchair users, buggies and people 

The design of a healthy neighbourhood must be 
made to work at every scale. It will start with locating 
development in places where residents will not be 
condemned to using a car or being stuck at home. It 
must ensure that the space outside each home will be 
used and enjoyed, and that traffic will be calmed to make the street 
safe. It must take account of existing uses, avoiding such problems 
as noise and fumes from roads and commercial premises.  

with impairments. Parking, for cycles as well as cars, must be 
convenient, without obstructing people on foot and in wheelchairs.

Access needs to work well at every level, from inclusive access 
inside homes to streets that encourage active travel (on foot, cycle 
and other self-propelled ways of getting around), and good access 
to public transport. This will help residents and visitors alike to 
feel equal, welcome, and able to find their way around easily and 
comfortably. 

The design of homes and neighbourhoods must promote the health 
of the people who live there. Good connections alongside high-
quality green and blue infrastructure will encourage people to walk 
and cycle, to play and exercise outside, to meet and interact with 
other people locally, and to access the countryside.

PART A: BRADFORD’S 
PRIORITIES 

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

KEY RELATED PRINCIPLES

2.3 Movement
2.15 Parking
2.17 Making inclusive places
3.2 Internal layout

KEY RELATED PRINCIPLES

1.4 Making places for people
2.6 Open space
2.10 Play
2.17 Making inclusive places
3.4 Light and ventilation
3.5 Outdoor space
3.6 Privacy

Page 271

Broadbents_3
Highlight

Broadbents_4
Highlight

Broadbents_5
Highlight



12 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Neighbourhoods with 
identity, reflecting the 
district’s varied character

Opening up views and 
designing to make the 
most of the topography and 
ground.

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

5

6

Development must be inspired by the best places 
that have developed through the district’s history, 
making the most of their enormously varied settings 
and landscape. This will depend on carefully 
appraising the site and its wider context at the 
start of the project, and designing thoughtfully in 
response to this.

The district’s dramatic and varied landscape and 
topography create valuable opportunities to open up 
views from developments towards built landmarks 
and the countryside, and to views of new housing 
in its setting. Successful development depends on 

Development should be inspired by and enhance the district’s 
highly varied architecture, townscape and landscape, which has 
been shaped by geology, topography and the aspirations of past 
generations. This will help to make the district’s new and improved 
neighbourhoods places with real character 

understanding not only this, but also the ground’s stability, any 
contamination, and any history of mining and other uses.   

The attractiveness of some of the district’s best historic places 
derives particularly from how development is fitted to sloping sites. 
Today the hilly topography presents many similar opportunities for 
thoughtful design. 

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

KEY RELATED PRINCIPLES

1.2 Site and context analysis
1.3 Responding to character
2.1 Define a concept
2.2 Density and scale
2.5 Safe and characterful streets
2.13 Roofs and building forms
2.14 Key buildings and corners
3.7 Elevations
3.8 Materials and details

KEY RELATED PRINCIPLES

2.12 Topography and ground 
conditions 

2.13 Roofs and buildings forms

3.2 Internal layout

Page 272

Broadbents_6
Highlight



13HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Efficient use of resources

EFFICIENT7 A development’s location, density and all aspects of 
transport must be carefully planned, particularly to 
minimise the use of cars. Sustainable drainage will 
make good use of water and reduce the risk of flooding. 
The effects of sun and wind must be considered in 

Making design and planning 
processes work together

PROCESS8 The planning system can guide the development 
of healthy, green, well-connected housing and 
neighbourhoods, achieving public policy, while 
giving housebuilders and developers certainty and 
avoiding delays. Housebuilders and developers must 

PART A: BRADFORD’S 
PRIORITIES 

such matters as passive solar gain, shading, and the microclimate 
of public spaces. The energy demand for heating, lighting, hot 
water and cooling should be minimised, and low-carbon energy 
solutions used. Designing for waste should include arrangements 
to collect separated waste streams and minimise the impact of the 
waste collection system on the public realm. Carefully considered 
construction processes can themselves help to minimise waste and 
the use of energy. 

Badly designed homes and neighbourhoods waste resources, and 
lock in undesirable patterns of consumption and living for years to 
come. 

consult and collaborate effectively with interested parties in all new 
developments, and take part in supportive early discussions with 
the planning authority. 

An open and collaborative planning and design process can achieve 
the best outcomes for everyone. It will ensure that housebuilders, 
developers, designers, the Council and local communities are all 
part of achieving our vision of greener, safer, more accessible and 
distinctive neighbourhoods that create healthy communities for all.

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

KEY RELATED PRINCIPLES

1.5 Prioritise the environment
2.16 Waste
3.9 Energy efficient

KEY RELATED PRINCIPLES

1.1 Establish a project brief
2.1 Define a concept

Page 273

Broadbents_7
Highlight

Broadbents_8
Highlight

Broadbents_9
Highlight

Broadbents_10
Highlight

Broadbents_11
Highlight



14 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

POLICY AND GUIDANCE

As a supplementary planning document 
(SPD), this design guide supports and 
elaborates on local planning policy as set 
out in the Bradford Core Strategy (2017). 

It is consistent with planning policy at 
national and district level.   

NATIONAL POLICY
The government’s planning policies 
for England are set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 
2018). Section 12 says: ‘The creation 
of high quality buildings and places is 
fundamental to what the planning and 
development process should achieve’ 
(paragraph 124). Local authorities are 
encouraged to use the wide range of 
tools available to achieve this, including 
design guides like this one.

The NPPF explains that success 
depends on ‘effective engagement 
between applicants, communities, 
local planning authorities and other 
interests throughout the process’ 
(paragraph 124). Part B of this document 
provides guidance on consultation and 
engagement in Bradford.

The NPPF states clearly: ‘Permission 
should be refused for development 
of poor design that fails to take the 
opportunities available for improving the 
character and quality of an area and the 
way it functions, taking into account any 
local design standards or style guides 
in plans or supplementary planning 
documents’ (paragraph 130). Bradford 
District Council is committed to testing 
all development against that benchmark. 
This design guide helps to clarify what 
local guidance is most relevant to 
Bradford.

The NPPF is supplemented by the 
government’s National Planning 
Practice Guidance (NPPG), a useful 
guide to making the most of the planning 
process in raising standards of design. 
NPPG provides more detail about 
the importance of design, the tools 
available to achieve it and particular 
considerations to bear in mind for certain 
types of development, including housing 
design. 

The NPPF says that well-designed or 
changing places should:

• be functional

• support mixed uses and tenures

• include successful public spaces

• be adaptable and resilient

• have a distinctive character

• be attractive

• encourage ease of movement.

DISTRICT POLICY
Bradford’s Core Strategy (2017) is the 
adopted local plan for the district. 
Consultation on the Bradford Core 
Strategy Partial Review was completed in 
early 2019. Appendix 1 summarises how 
the vision and priorities in this design 
guide relate back to key policies in the 
adopted local plan. 

Bradford’s Core Strategy (2017) is based 
on the following themes:

• Planning for Prosperity (economy and 
jobs, transport and movement),

• Planning for People (housing), 

• Planning for Places (environment, 
minerals, waste and design),

Page 274

Broadbents_12
Highlight

Broadbents_13
Highlight



15HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

This design guide refers to specific 
policies within all three themes, 
illustrating the broad view required 
to design successful homes and 
neighbourhoods. The policies most 
relevant to this guide are:

• DS1: Achieving Good Design, which 
emphasises collaborative design and 
a holistic view of placemaking, based 
on a good understanding of context.

• DS2: Working with the Landscape, 
which emphasises sensitivity towards 
existing landscape and providing 
high-quality new landscape and open 
spaces.  

• DS3: Urban Character, which 
requires new development to create a 
distinctive character, with appropriate 
levels of sensitivity to context, or 
creating new identity through creative 
design. 

• DS4: Streets and Movement, which 
identifies the importance of connected 

networks of routes for all modes, 
particularly promoting cycling and 
walking. 

• DS5: Safe and Inclusive Places, which 
emphasises accessibility for all, 
safety, and social interaction.

• HO9: Housing Quality, which sets 
out qualitative requirements for new 
homes.

In Part B of this guide, Design Guidance, 
each principle is cross-referenced to the 
relevant local plan policies. 

Where specific principles also relate to 
other local policies, these have also been 
highlighted in the panel on each topic 
page.

Other relevant local policy is also cross-
referenced within Part B. It includes 
Shipley and Canal Road Corridor Area 
Action Plan, and Bradford City Centre 
Action Plan.

Local Plan for the Bradford District: Core 
Strategy Development Plan Document

Local Plan for the Bradford District: 
Bradford City Centre Area Action Plan

Local Plan for the Bradford District: Shipley 
and Canal Road Corridor Area Action Plan

Local Plan for the Bradford District

Core Strategy
Development Plan
Document

www.bradford.gov.uk/planning Adopted July 2017

Bradford City Centre 
Area Action Plan

Adopted December 2017

December 2015

Local Plan for the Bradford District Local Plan for the Bradford District

Shipley and Canal Road Corridor 
Area Action Plan

Adopted December 2017

PART A:  
POLICY 

Page 275

Broadbents_14
Highlight



16 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

HOW TO USE THE 
DESIGN GUIDANCE

DESIGN TOPICS
All design guidance chapters are laid 
out on the page in a similar format (see 
opposite), with a reference bar along the 
right-hand side of the page. This provides 
the key information that the chapter 
relates to e.g. design principle, relevant 
policy/guidance and the Bradford 
priority(s). A quote from a local character 
is provided as a reminder of some of the 
health and well-being benefits that each 
design topic is aiming to promote.

TYPE OF PLANNING APPLICATION
All planning applications, whether 
outline or detailed, will need to respond 
to all of Section 1, Defining a Brief. The 
scale, location and type of project will 
determine which topics from Section 2, 
Creating a Neighbourhood and Section 
3, Making a Home must be referenced for 
each project. These should be discussed 
and agreed with a Planning Officer early 
on in the project.

SCALE OF DEVELOPMENT
It is acknowledged that different scales 
of development will need to determine 
different levels of detail within the design 
of their planning application.

Bradford Council splits its applications 
into Minor (1-9 units) and Major (10+ 
units) applications.  Therefore, for the 
purpose of this design guide, different 
scales of development are defined as:

• Small: 0-9 units,

• Medium: 10-99 units,

• Large: 100+ units. 

Medium and Large developments are 
likely to include some sort of public 
realm or interaction with it, so they are 
likely to need to reference all the Design 
Principles in the guidance.

Small developments may not need to 
respond to all of the design guidance in 
Section 2: Creating a Neighbourhood, 
as this section generally refers to the 
establishment of larger-scale urban 
design strategies. However, small 
schemes should still reference the 
headline Principles, as summarised at 
the start of the chapter to ensure that 
high-quality is delivered.

 

Page 276

Broadbents_15
Highlight



17HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

65HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

64 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

OPEN SPACE

PRINCIPLE 2.6
High-quality and green public open 
spaces must be provided as part of 
residential developments. They must be 
safe and well-overlooked, and provide a 
variety of activities and uses for all ages 
and abilities. They must be supported by 
a robust maintenance strategy. 
 
HOW?

Public open space must be provided 
as part of all proposed residential 
developments and as set out in the Core 
Strategy, EN1 Open Space, Sports and 
Recreation. These must be in the form 
of newly created spaces or enhanced 
existing spaces. Should neither of these 
options be possible on smaller sites, a 
financial contribution to an open space 
nearby may be required. This should be 
discussed with planning officers when 
agreeing the design principles and 
frameworks.

There must be a variety of spaces 
that cater for all ages and abilities of 
residents. Developments within the city 
centre or the Shipley and Canal Road 
Corridor must meet the requirements and 
strategies defined in the associated area 
action plans.

Where blocks of flats are provided that 
give residents a small private outdoor 
space, such as a balcony or terrace, a 
communal garden must be provided if 
the building does not face directly over a 
public open space. These gardens must 
be high-quality, green spaces that look 
attractive and enhance local biodiversity. 
Communal gardens must be managed 
and maintained by the company that 
runs the block of flats.

Open spaces must be integral to 
development proposals. To achieve this, 
an open space strategy must be devised 
when establishing the design principles 
and frameworks for a scheme. This must 
be agreed with Council officers before 
developing the scheme further. 

2.6

PRINCIPLE  2.6

High-quality and green 
public open spaces must 
be provided as part of 
residential developments. 
They must be safe and 
well-overlooked, and 
provide a variety of 
activities and uses for all 
ages and abilities. They 
must be supported by 
a robust maintenance 
strategy.

Bradford Core Strategy: 
EN1

City Centre AAP: M6

Shipley AAP: SCRC/
HSC2

Fields in Trust guidance

NPPF: paragraphs 91, 96, 
171, and 127

“THERE’S A SLIDE AND 
SWINGS IN THE PARK 
BUT I LIKE CLIMBING ON 
THE TREE-TRUNK BRIDGE 
BEST”

2.6

OPEN SPACE AND 
LANDSCAPE

THE FUNCTION OF THE SPACE IN 
RELATION TO SURROUNDING HOUSING

The Fields in Trust guide Planning and 
Design for Outdoor Sport and Play should 
be followed to ensure an adequate mix 
and design of open spaces. The type of 
open space must be relevant to the type 
of housing provided close by, to ensure 
that it will be used and enjoyed.

Medium to large open spaces should 
be designed as multi-use green spaces 
with a mix of facilities for a wide range of 
uses.

LOCATION AND ORIENTATION

To ensure that it is used and enjoyed, an 
open space must:

• form part of a wider network of open 
spaces and streets

• create a safe, focal point, located 
so that the space appeals to a wide 
range of potential users and is well 
overlooked by home frontages

• be well located so that it is easy and 
safe to access from the dwellings it 
are intended to serve, in both existing 
and new communities

• be positioned to receive direct 
sunlight

• be located for its benefit to the 
community, not on left-over areas that 
are hard to develop.

INTEGRATING SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
DRAINAGE FEATURES 
Open spaces must contribute to the 
blue infrastructure of the local area 
and, where suitable, include attractive 
drainage features such as ponds and 
soakaways. Such features must be 
designed to enrich the landscape and 
ecology of the space, for example by 
introducing wetland habitats, rather 
than simply being functional landscape 
drainage features. (See Water and 
drainage strategy, Topic 2.7).

WHY?
The Council is giving high priority to 
dealing with issues relating to poor 
air quality and poor health, both of 
which can be targeted by improving 
the amount, quality and access to open 
space, and through significant greening 
of urban areas.

Research by Born in Bradford shows 
that parks with high levels of amenities, 
such as seating, picnic tables, drinking 
fountains and bins, provide the greatest 
level of satisfaction. Other factors that 
encourage the use of open spaces are 
natural green features, water features, 
activities for children, places for 
social interactions, and spaces that 
are enjoyable for adults and children. 
Open spaces have been found to be 
most successful when designed in 
collaboration with the local community. 
(See Play, Topic 2.10).

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Case study: Coin Street Community Builders

Coin Street  Community Builders’ cooperative housing scheme in London offers affordable 
rents for individuals and families in housing need. The flats have been designed around a 
communal garden which all residents can access. The cooperative delivery and management 
model means that tenants manage and maintain the development and grounds. 

A central green with a variety of 
uses including play facilities, SuDS 

features, tree planting, seating, open 
play space, food growing planters 

and natural play. All overlooked 
by neighbouring homes and well 

connected in a central location

Sample page from design guidance with 
explanation of the page structure

PART A: 
HOW TO USE THE 

DESIGN GUIDANCE

KEY 

1. Principle number.

2. Bradford Priority reference.

3. Design Principle.

4. Policy or guidance document 
references.

5. People - how this guidance benefits 
people in Bradford - with a particular 
focus on health and well-being.

6. Page number.

7. Case study or example.

8. Design Topic heading and Principle.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Page 277



18 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Pre-application 
meetings

Key link 

Link for complex/ 
sensitive  
projects only  

See the following pages 
for further information

Consultation 
events

Key

Successful design depends on getting 
the process right. To help achieve that, 
this design guide is set out in a way that 
follows the process of designing new 
homes and neighbourhoods. This will 
allow the user, whether a housebuilder, 
architect, planning officer or local 
resident, to know what is expected at 
each stage of the design journey.

A communication strategy supporting 
the complex process of designing 
homes and neighbourhoods needs 
to link into the planning process, with 
clear communication with the planning 
authority. It also needs to reach out to 
local stakeholders, using consultation 
and engagement that may include 
residents, business-owners and 
landowners. 

The Design and Access Statement (DAS), 
which must be submitted as part of most 
planning applications, is another tool 
for communicating to planning officers, 
members and local residents, so it is 
important that it explains the thinking 
and process behind the proposal.

The table opposite summarises the three 
stages of design from setting the brief, 
to creating a design concept, through to 

PROCESS

carrying out detailed design. This is how 
the design guidance in Part B is set out.

Within these three stages, or sections of 
the guide, a guidance summary is set out, 
with the following information:

• The key output for the stage of work.

• A list of the design topics included in 
the section (as set out in Part B).

• Appropriate content to include within 
pre-app meetings.

• Appropriate content to include in 
public consultation.

• The equivalent RIBA stage that the 
section relates to.

In order for applicants to deliver the 
best housing possible, we encourage all 
applicants to use this table to discuss 
the preferred process, outputs, content, 
consultation, pre-application strategy 
and any challenging design issues 
with the planning authority to agree a 
preferred approach as early as possible.

The indicative timeline below illustrates 
how the design outputs will be informed 
by well-planned consultation with local 
people and regular pre-application 
meetings with the planning authority.

C

P

PROJECT 
START

SUBMIT 
PLANNING 
APPLICATION

C C CP P P

321

Design 
brief

Detailed 
drawings

Design and 
Access 

Statement 
(DAS)

Scheme 
concept / 

masterplan

Communication 
(pre-apps and 
consultation)

Output  
(Evolving design 
content for DAS) 

Design outcome 
informed by process

Defining a 
BRIEF

Making a 
HOME

Creating a 
NEIGHBOURHOOD

Page 278

Broadbents_16
Highlight



19HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

RIBA stage Stage 1: Preparation and brief Stage 2: Concept design Stage 3: Developed design

1 2 3
Analysing the site and 
creating a project brief

defining a 
BRIEF

Design 
guidance 
(as set out 
in Part B)

Pre-app 
meetings

Public 
consultation: 
suggested 
issues to 
address

Summary 
of the 
section’s 
purpose

Key output

Creating a neighbourhood 
layout with a clear concept

Working up the dwelling 
design detail

Making a 
HOME

This section sets out a 
method of thorough site 
and context analysis. This 
is critical to understanding  
opportunities and 
constraints, such as local 
character, identity and 
topography, before moving 
on to design. It also sets out 
the key ingredients to make a 
sustainable place for people 
to thrive.

Design brief Scheme concept / masterplan Detailed drawings

If a site is particularly 
sensitive (e.g. complex 
ground conditions or 
topography) or is within a 
conservation area or place 
of environmental or cultural 
significance, an early pre-
app meeting should be 
organised to discuss with the 
Council the best approach to 
the scheme.

Good questions to ask local 
residents at this stage include 
what works and doesn’t 
work about the site and 
local area. Local knowledge 
could unlock issues such as 
what they value in character 
terms, preferred walking 
routes, areas that need better 
surveillance and open spaces 
that are important to the 
community.

Presenting and getting 
feedback on the proposed key 
design principles, such as the 
location of open space and 
main access points, allows 
consultees to be part of the 
evolving design process. 
They can see how their initial 
input has helped to develop 
the scheme design.

At this stage it is important 
to discuss with local 
residents the developing 
scheme designs. This is 
a good time to get more 
focused input on the design 
of an area that they can 
really influence, such as 
a community hall or the 
layout of homes.

Applicants should have a 
pre-app meeting as soon 
as a scheme concept, 
design principles and a 
draft masterplan have been 
created. At this meeting the 
number of further meetings 
should be agreed, based on 
the complexity and size of the 
scheme.

The Council will now 
have an understanding 
of the scheme principles, 
so this stage will allow 
for discussions of detail 
design elements. Again, 
the number of meetings 
needed will depend on the 
complexity and size of the 
scheme.

Using the brief created in 
Section 1, this section shows 
how to define the strategies for 
a robust and justified scheme 
concept and a masterplan. 
It focuses on the layout or 
macro neighbourhood scale, 
encouraging applicants to 
resolve the design issues 
here, before moving on to the 
detailed design of homes in 
Section 3.

This guidance sets out the 
detailed design guidance 
for homes. It should 
respond to the design brief 
created in Section 1, and 
develop from the scheme 
concept, masterplan and 
neighbourhood design in 
Section 2.

C

P

PART A:  
PROCESS

creating a 
NEIGHBOURHOOD

Page 279



20 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRE-APPLICATION MEETINGS

A positive and informative pre-
application process will enable a 
smoother process for applicants, and 
better homes and neighbourhoods for 
the district. We encourage applicants to 
get in touch and organise pre-application 
meetings early in the design process.

Bradford Council splits its applications 
into Minor (1-9 units) and Major (10+ 
units) applications.  

MINOR APPLICATIONS (SMALL-SCALE 
DEVELOPMENT)
Applicants submitting minor applications 
can receive written feedback for their 
scheme design prior to submission. 
Further information is provided on the 
Bradford Council website (see link in box).

MAJOR APPLICATIONS (MEDIUM- AND 
LARGE-SCALE DEVELOPMENT)
Before an outline or detailed planning 
permission is submitted, a housebuilder 
or developer should have site- and 
project-specific discussions with 
the Council about their initial site 
assessment, proposed site layout and 
plans/drawings for the development. 
Such discussions should work to the 
benefit of both the applicant and the 
Council, improving the quality of the 
planning application and the likelihood 
of its success. The planning authority 
will advise the applicant which specialist 
Council officers, such as the tree and 
biodiversity officers, will need to be 
consulted as part of an application 
process.

The aims of pre-application discussions 
are to:

• Help the applicant understand 
relevant planning policies and other 
material considerations. 

• Ensure that all interested parties 
identify the main issues that need to 
be resolved.

• Discuss how to mitigate the impact of 
the proposed development by design 
and/or planning conditions.

• Identify what information should 
accompany the planning application, 
reducing the risk of delays at 
validation stage. 

For larger, more complex or contentious 
schemes, the Council will suggest taking 
the scheme design to a design review 
panel, such as the Yorkshire Design 
Review Service, to get expert, external 
guidance from professionals.

Most of the material prepared for 
pre-application meetings should be 
incorporated into the design and access 
statement for a planning application. 

For further  
information see:  

www.bradford.gov.uk/
planning-and-building-

control/planning-
application-and-building-

regulations-advice/
pre-application-advice-

for-residential-
and-commercial-

developments/

P

The design process should be collaborative

Page 280

http://www.bradford.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-application-and-building-regulations-advice/pre-application-advice-for-residential-and-commercial-developments/
http://www.bradford.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-application-and-building-regulations-advice/pre-application-advice-for-residential-and-commercial-developments/
http://www.bradford.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-application-and-building-regulations-advice/pre-application-advice-for-residential-and-commercial-developments/
http://www.bradford.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-application-and-building-regulations-advice/pre-application-advice-for-residential-and-commercial-developments/
http://www.bradford.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-application-and-building-regulations-advice/pre-application-advice-for-residential-and-commercial-developments/
http://www.bradford.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-application-and-building-regulations-advice/pre-application-advice-for-residential-and-commercial-developments/
http://www.bradford.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-application-and-building-regulations-advice/pre-application-advice-for-residential-and-commercial-developments/
http://www.bradford.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-application-and-building-regulations-advice/pre-application-advice-for-residential-and-commercial-developments/
http://www.bradford.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-application-and-building-regulations-advice/pre-application-advice-for-residential-and-commercial-developments/
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-application-and-building-regulations-advice/pre-application-advice-for-residential-and-commercial-developments/
Broadbents_17
Highlight

Broadbents_18
Highlight



21HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

THE APPLICANT
• For Medium and Large schemes, 

applicants should organise an initial 
meeting early in the process, when the 
site analysis is complete, the brief is 
set, and the early scheme concept and 
design frameworks are set out. If it is 
a complex or sensitive project, meet 
with officers as part of the brief setting 
stage.

• Applicants should refer to this design 
guide and to local policies at the pre-
app meetings and when submitting 
documents to indicate at an early 
stage how the Council’s priorities are 
being supported.

• Applicants should be open to working 
in a collaborative and positive way 
with the Council to achieve the best 
outcomes for the project, and to meet 
the priorities for Bradford’s homes and 
neighbourhoods.

• Where the site is a sloping one, 
applicants should start designing in 

three dimensions at the beginning of 
the design process, and bring images 
showing the three dimensions to 
illustrate the proposals in a way that is 
appropriate to the stage in the design 
process. This will enable potential 
issues such as cost and accessibility 
to be addressed at an early stage.

BRADFORD COUNCIL 
As the planning authority, Bradford 
Council is passionate about supporting 
the city’s housebuilders in delivering the 
homes that are needed, and in creating 
the best neighbourhoods possible. We 
understand that to get the best out of the 
pre-app process, the Council needs to:

• Provide a coordinated response from 
the different departments, such as 
highways and trees.

• Be open to discussion and negotiation 
on complex issues.

• Provide a reasonably prompt response 
to allow the scheme to maintain 
momentum and for the design to 
progress.

PART A:  
PRE-APPLICATION 

MEETINGS

Page 281



22 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

ENGAGEMENT AND 
CONSULTATION
Bradford Council is committed to giving 
residents a say in shaping the future of 
the District.  

The design and development of 
every housing and neighbourhood 
development will affect some 
people directly and others indirectly. 
Applicants must take responsibility 
for communicating with those who 
may be affected to make sure that they 
are informed about the project and, 
where possible, have the opportunity to 
contribute to shaping the development.

This section looks at the expectations for 
community and stakeholder engagement 
during the design process and before the 
planning application is submitted.

THE APPLICANT’S EXPECTATIONS
The design and planning process 
achieves the best results when it is open 
and collaborative, allowing informed 
decisions to be made at every stage. 
Engagement should enable the best 
outcome to be achieved for all if both the 
applicant and the consultee are able to be 
clear about their goals and priorities for 
development.

With small developments that are unlikely 
to impact a large number of people 
significantly, public engagement will be 
expected to be proportional.

For Medium and Large developments, 
consultation with the local community 
and stakeholders is highly encouraged. 
When stakeholders and community 
members are involved positively at an 
early stage, they will be able to offer local 
knowledge and to identify issues that the 
development may help to resolve.

THE BENEFITS
The benefits of effective public 
consultation for housebuilders and 
developers include:

• An opportunity to save money 
in the long term by identifying, 
understanding and addressing issues 
early, and to deliver development that 
is well suited to its place and market. 
This will enable housebuilders to get it 
right first time.

• Creating greater certainty in the 
planning application process by 
fostering a positive relationship with 
community members, who are likely 
to have the chance to make comments 
during the formal consultation period.

• In some cases being involved in 
the planning process may lead to 
community organisations themselves 
carrying out some aspects of the care 
and maintenance of a place, to the 
advantage of both themselves and the 
quality of the place.

C

Engagement should be specific to the local community and involve everyone

Page 282



23HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

CONSULTATION: HOW MUCH AND WHEN?
The extent of community and stakeholder 
engagement should be agreed at the 
first pre-application meeting with the 
local authority. It will depend on the 
size, complexity and significance of the 
development and its likely impact.

Early engagement is likely to benefit all 
sides. From the start it can define what 
is fixed by policy and what is not; and 
what is open to negotiation and what is 
not. It can focus everyone’s attention on 
planning and design principles before 
getting caught up with details. It can 
ensure that consultees will feel able 
to have their say if they are presented 
with detailed proposals and computer-
generated images.

Every project is different, but a typical 
Medium or Large development would 
benefit from an engagement event at 
each of the stages identified in this 
guidance:

1. Assessing the site and context to 
create a project brief: applicants 
should view the early consultation 
process as a way to find out what 
people want in their communities, 
what is currently lacking, and what 
could be improved.  

2. Defining the design principles and 
framework: here applicants could 
show how the early engagement 
has helped to shape the project 
brief. The initial elements of the 
scheme’s design should be discussed 
before detailed design takes place. 
Consultees might be offered 
opportunities to steer the design, 
such as influencing the location of a 
community park or facility.

3. Working up the design detail: a 
presentation of the developed 
scheme with a final opportunity for 
comments before the application is 
submitted. Computer-generated or 
three-dimensional images will help 
consultees to understand what is 
being proposed.

WHAT SORT AND WHO FOR?
The process of engagement with the 
public and stakeholders needs to be 
carefully planned itself, taking account of 
the scale of the proposed development. 
Those organising the process need 
to reach out to a diverse audience of 
people in Bradford District with a wide 
range of abilities and interests, including 
wheelchair users, people with sight 
or hearing impairments, and younger 
people. Young people need particular 
encouragement to engage: they may 
find some of the newly developed 
participation apps fun to use. 

The language used to communicate 
must be free of unnecessary jargon, 
recognising that many people who will 
have a great deal to contribute will be 
unfamiliar with some of the technical and 
professional terms.   

Genuine questions should be asked 
of consultees, giving them a real 
opportunity to shape the design of the 
scheme. The Council recommends a 
‘you said,we did’ approach, in which 
applicants will carefully communicate 
and document what they have done to 
address the issues raised by consultees, 
or explain why it is not practicable or 
possible to address them.

PART A:  
ENGAGEMENT AND 

CONSULTATIONS

Page 283



24 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

THE DESIGN AND  
ACCESS STATEMENT
This design guide sets out the topics that 
must be addressed in the design process 
for new homes and neighbourhoods 
in Bradford District. All of these topics 
(where relevant) should be included in a 
design and access statement. The list in 
the box (opposite) suggests a typical way 
to order the information.

Design and access statements (DAS) 
are required in Bradford District for most 
development proposals where:

• The proposed development is major 
development (for the purposes of 
this guide, this will principally mean 
residential development with 10 or 
more houses, or a site greater than 
0.5ha).

• Where any part of the development 
is in a designated area (such as a 
conservation area) and the proposed 
development consists of either the 
provision of one or more dwelling 
houses; or the provision of a building 
(including an extension to an existing 
building) or buildings where the floor 
space created by the development is 
100 m2 or more.

• The application is for listed building 
consent.

The DAS should be developed as a result 
of the design process, explaining and 
supporting an application for planning 
permission or listed building consent. 

A good DAS will:

• be concise.

• be proportionate to the scale and 
complexity of the proposal.

• be specific to the application.

• outline clearly the factors shaping the 
design.

• include accurate and informative 
illustrations to explain the scheme.

The DAS should set out how the project 
has evolved from an analysis of the 
site and its context, through to the 
final scheme. It should explain all the 
elements of a proposal and justify either 
how the development will fit into the 
local context, or how it creates its own 
appropriate character. The DAS should 
also cover issues of access and inclusive 
design.

Preparing the DAS should form an 
integral part of the design process, 
used by the design team to record the 
decisions that inform the evolving 
proposals. It should explain and justify 
the proposal, and identify its benefits.

It should include diagrams, plans and 
photographs that explain an analysis of 
the site, the overarching development 
principles and the design concept. These 
should be accompanied by a concise 
written commentary.

The DAS should set out how consultation 
and pre-application meetings were 
undertaken and how they influenced the 
design.

Applicants should demonstrate how 
they have used the principles set out in 
this design guide and how these have 
informed their approach.

For outline planning applications, 
the Council will require illustrative 
material to demonstrate that a high 
quality of design can be achieved in line 
with the application. Where possible, 
design codes or specifications for the 
detail design should be provided. As 
a minimum the design and access 
statement accompanying an outline 
application should set out the scheme 
principles and parameters as well as 
information to set out the future quality 
of development  and should include an 
illustrative layout and elevations or street 
drawings, accurately drawn to scale.

The Ministry of 
Housing, Communities 
and Local Government 
specifies, 
‘a design and access 
statement is a concise 
report accompanying 
certain applications for 
planning permission and 
applications for listed 
building consent. They 
provide a framework for 
applicants to explain 
how the proposed 
development is a suitable 
response to the site 
and its setting, and 
demonstrate that it can be 
adequately accessed by 
prospective users. Design 
and access statements 
can aid decision-making 
by enabling local 
planning authorities and 
third parties to better 
understand the analysis 
that has underpinned the 
design of a development 
proposal. The level of 
detail in a design and 
access statement should 
be proportionate to 
the complexity of the 
application, but should not 
be long.’

(www.gov.uk/
guidance/making-an-
application#Design-and-
Access-Statement)

Page 284



25HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PART A:  
THE DESIGN AND  

ACCESS STATEMENT

Introduction / Executive summary

Defining the brief:

1.1 The project brief

1.2 Site and context analysis 

1.3 Responding to character

1.4 Making places for people

1.5 Prioritise the environment

Creating a neighbourhood:

2.1 Scheme concept

2.2 Density and scale

2.3 Movement 

2.4 Green streets

2.5 Safe and characterful street 

2.6 Open space 

2.7 Water and drainage 

2.8 Landscape

2.9 Biodiversity

2.10 Play 

2.11 Housing mix

2.12 Topography and ground conditions

2.13 Roofs and building forms

2.14 Key buildings and corners

2.15 Parking 

2.16 Waste 

2.17 Making inclusive places

Making a home:

3.1 Flats and apartments

3.2 Internal layout

3.3 Storage

3.4 Light and ventilation

3.5 Outdoor space

3.6 Privacy 

3.7 Elevations

3.8 Materials and details

3.9 Energy efficient 

Technical summaries (as appropriate)

 - Energy strategy

 - Structural strategy

 - Maintenance and management 
arrangements

DESIGN AND ACCESS STATEMENTS: CONTENTS 

The following suggested contents list 
follows the contents of this design 
guidance.

For larger, complex or more sensitive 
applications, further information may be 
required, such as a townscape and visual 
impact assessment. 

Planning Officers can provide further 
support on agreeing the appropriate 
DAS contents for each project and this 
should be discussed as part of the pre-
application process.

Page 285

Broadbents_19
Highlight



26 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

BALANCING COST AND QUALITY

Similar to many other places there 
can be challenges to building viable 
developments in some parts of the 
District. In some areas house values can 
be low and Bradford’s topography means 
that building can be more expensive.  The 
design guidance in this document should 

not increase the cost of building new 
homes, but instead focus priorities on 
certain design issues. 

The following table gives some 
suggestions for how to manage costs 
and give priority to design quality  in the 
design process.

1 2 3
Carry out thorough site analysis 
Fully understanding a site and its 
constraints is the first important 
step in managing costs. It means 
that unexpected issues should be 
minimised. Responding carefully 
to Section 1of the design guidance 
will help you to carry out a full 
assessment of the site before 
beginning to design.

Make sure that you quantify any 
constraints such as challenging 
ground conditions, servicing or 
drainage by working with a viability 
consultant early on.

Look out for central government 
grants that may be available to deal 
with certain costs. Examples have 
included support for dealing with 
contaminated land on brownfields 
sites.

Topography and ground conditions 
(see Section  2.12) Bradford’s 
hilly topography is an attractive 
characteristic of the district. 
Opening up views to look out over the 
dales and the district should be an 
important design principle wherever 
this is possible. But the costs of 
matters relating to ground conditions 
and topography need to considered. 

We recommend talking early in the 
process to:

• Council land and pollution officers 
to discuss ways to manage 
topography and ground condition 
issues.

• Council highways officers to 
discuss the most effective street 
and infrastructure options for 
each site, so that a practical 
and successful solution can be 
identified. 

It is important to design in three 
dimensions from the start, so that 
a full picture of the topography is 
understood, allowing retaining walls 
and land cut to be minimised.

Minimise unit types We encourage 
applicants to create a range of 
well-designed flexible unit types. A 
smaller number that work well rather 
than a large range of unit types tends 
to save costs in the long run.

Priorities Give priority to detailing 
where it counts most. For all projects, 
design detailing and high-quality 
materials should be focused 
particularly on the ground-floor 
treatment, especially where the 
homes meet the front gardens and 
streets.

Attention to detail on building 
materials, front doors, windows 
and bin storage, and sensitive front 
garden treatments, will significantly 
improve the overall quality of the 
home and street.

Building envelopes have a major 
impact on cost. Simple layouts and 
forms will not only minimise cost, 
but they also will tend to reflect 
Bradford’s building vernacular. 
However, window detailing and roof 
forms must be carefully considered.

defining a 
BRIEF

Making a 
HOME

creating a 
NEIGHBOURHOOD

Page 286



27HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PART A:  
BALANCING COST 

AND QUALITY

GUIDANCE FOR RESIDENTS 
AND COMMUNITIES

The Council is committed to building 
tens of thousands of new homes by 2030 
to meet central government targets 
to provide enough housing for our 
growing population. We have identified 
sites in the district that are well suited 
to creating homes, and we will also 
welcome proposals from housebuilders 
on other sites that might be appropriate. 
Understanding that this will require 
change and adjustment, we have created 
this design guidance to ensure that all 
new homes will improve the quality of our 
district, to the benefit of both new and 
existing neighbourhoods.

The Council encourages local 
communities to get involved in the 
process of designing new housing where 
possible. Local residents often know 
their neighbourhood the best. It could 
be the stories or memories which make 
it unique, knowing what people like best 
about the area, or how they would like 
to see it improved. When coordinated 
in a positive way, this input can provide 
invaluable local knowledge for designers 
of new neighbourhoods, ensuring that 
the best outcomes are achieved for 
everyone.

Bradford District Council welcomes 
the role of parishes, town councils and 
neighbourhood forums in becoming 

involved in neighbourhood planning. 
This process can help to give local 
communities a real influence on the 
planning and design of housing and other 
development in their area.

The local planning authority is required 
to undertake a formal period of public 
consultation prior to deciding a planning 
application. As the government’s 
National Planning Practice Guidance 
says, ‘It is important that local planning 
authorities identify and consider all 
relevant planning issues associated with 
a proposed development. Consultees 
may be able to offer particular insights 
or detailed information which is relevant 
to the consideration of the application’ – 
and the earlier the better.

For further information and guidance, 
please see the Council website:

https://www.bradford.gov.uk/planning-
and-building-control/planning-policy/
statement-of-community-involvement/

Page 287

https://www.bradford.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/statement-of-community-involvement/
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/statement-of-community-involvement/
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/statement-of-community-involvement/
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/statement-of-community-involvement/


HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD28

Apperley Green, Greengates

Page 288



29HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PART B:
THE DESIGN GUIDANCE
This design guide is intended to be 
used in chronological order, taking the 
applicant through the design process, 
starting with brief-setting and gradually 
increasing the level of detail that is 
incorporated into the scheme, from 
neighbourhood to the home. 

This chapter of the document sets 
out the design principles and their 
accompanying guidance.

1.1   Establish a project brief

1.2   Site and context analysis 

1.3   Responding to character

1.4   Making places for people

1.5   Prioritise the environment

2.1   Define a concept

2.2   Density and scale

2.3   Movement

2.4   Green streets

2.5   Safe and characterful streets

2.6   Open space

2.7   Water and drainage

2.8   Landscape

2.9   Biodiversity

2.10 Play

2.11 Housing mix 

2.12 Topography and ground 
conditions

2.13 Roofs and building forms

2.14 Key buildings and corners

2.15 Parking

2.16 Waste

2.17 Making inclusive places

3.1   Flats and apartments

3.2   Internal layout

3.3   Storage

3.4   Light and ventilation

3.5   Outdoor space

3.6   Privacy

3.7   Elevations

3.8   Materials and details

3.9   Energy efficient

What 
design 
topics 
does it 
contain?

Summary 
of the 
section’s 
contents

This section sets out a method 
for thorough site and context 
analysis. This is critical to 
understanding key opportunities 
and constraints, such as 
local character, identity and 
topography, before moving on 
to design. It also sets out the 
key ingredients that make a 
successful place for people.

Using the brief created in 
Section 1, this section explains 
how to define the strategies for 
a robust and justified concept, 
masterplan and neighbourhood. 
This section considers the 
macro scale, encouraging 
applicants to resolve the issues 
here, before designing the home 
in Section 3.

This guidance sets out the 
detail design guidance for 
homes. The design should 
respond clearly to the design 
brief created in Section 1, and 
develop from the scheme 
concept, masterplan and 
neighbourhood principles in 
Section 2.

PART B:  
INTRODUCTION

The chapter is split into three parts: 
starting with a brief, establishing a high-
quality and healthy neighbourhood and, 
finally, creating attractive, functional and 
long-lasting homes. 

A summary of the purpose, outputs and 
contents of the three parts is set out 
below.

1 2 3Defining a 
BRIEF

Making a 
HOME

creating a 
NEIGHBOURHOOD

Design 
guidance 
section

Page 289



HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD30

THE PRINCIPLES: SUMMARY

A robust and well-justified project brief must be set out for every scheme, based on 
the information gathered in Section 1 of this guide. A plan for engagement and pre-
application meetings must be agreed with officers.

Every development proposal should illustrate a concept which clearly responds to the 
Stage 1 project brief, including the site and context analysis and character review. The 
concept should clearly integrate the site into its wider area.

A development proposal must demonstrate that a comprehensive site and context 
analysis has been undertaken (using the checklist provided), identifying the site’s 
constraints and opportunities at the start of the project.

Proposals should be at an appropriate scale and density in relation to the local 
and wider area, and to national and local policy requirements aimed at increasing 
densities at sites where public transport and facilities can accommodate them. 
Higher-density schemes should be of notably high quality, meeting the other 
principles in this guidance.

All development proposals must respond to any positive local character. This 
response should be shown in detailed analysis provided in the design and access 
statement, demonstrating how the proposal relates to and reinforces the distinctive 
characteristics of the site’s local context.
All proposals must also demonstrate how guidance provided within the Landscape 
Character Supplementary Planning Document and any conservation area appraisal 
documents have been taken into account.

Proposals must demonstrate how existing and future communities have been 
considered. This should include designing around local focal points where people 
can meet. Engagement with local communities should support the development of 
designing places for people. 

Applicants must demonstrate how their proposal is prioritising the environment, with 
a particular focus on air quality and low-carbon development as part of the scheme 
objectives.

ESTABLISH A 
PROJECT BRIEF

DEFINE A CONCEPT

SITE AND 
CONTEXT 
ANALYSIS

DENSITY AND 
SCALE

RESPONDING TO 
CHARACTER

MAKING PLACES 
FOR PEOPLE

PRIORITISE THE 
ENVIRONMENT

1.1

2.1

1.2

2.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1 DEFINING A BRIEF

2 CREATING A 
NEIGHBOURHOOD

Page 290



31HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PART B:  
THE PRINCIPLES 

With a focus on greening, all streets should be designed according to their function, 
as set out in the movement strategy. They should become a high-quality part of the 
public realm for social and environmental benefit.

1. There should be a clear distinction between public and private areas.
2. New dwelling frontages must define the street space with a coherent building 
line that relates to existing building lines. This should contribute to an appropriate 
character that relates to the local street scene, referencing elements such as scale, 
building rhythm, proportion, height, materials and colour.
3. Boundary treatments should be designed to contribute positively to the character 
of the area and to the quality of the public realm. They should support Topic 2.4 in 
creating green streets.

Local blue infrastructure should be extended and integrated into new residential 
developments, improving outdoor amenity, enhancing biodiversity, providing urban 
cooling, and supporting a sustainable drainage system for the scheme.

A landscape strategy must be set out for every housing development proposal. The 
strategy should include a variety of landscape features with a clear plan for both the 
private and public realms, and a supporting management and maintenance strategy.

High-quality and green public open spaces must be provided as part of residential 
developments. They must be safe and well-overlooked, and provide a variety of 
activities and uses for all ages and abilities. They must be supported by a robust 
maintenance strategy.

For large and medium developments, the street network should define:
1. A clear structure of connected streets and routes.
2. An integrated network of routes for all modes of transport, giving priority to active 
travel.
3. A clear hierarchy of routes, where each type of route has a specific character and 
function.

GREEN STREETS

SAFE AND 
CHARACTERFUL 
STREETS

WATER AND 
DRAINAGE

LANDSCAPE

OPEN SPACE

MOVEMENT

2.4

2.5

2.7
2.8

2.6

2.3

All proposals must provide a net gain for biodiversity. This should be done by 
considering and enhancing biodiversity at the levels of neighbourhood, street and 
household.

For sites with varying topography, development proposals must work with the natural 
slopes as much as possible to take advantage of the site’s unique characteristics 
(which will become a part of the development’s identity) and minimise the cost of 
groundworks.

BIODIVERSITY

TOPOGRAPHY AND  
GROUND 
CONDITIONS

2.9

2.12

Housing developments should provide children and young people of all ages and 
abilities with a variety of safe and accessible play spaces and facilities which are soft, 
green, inspiring and educational.

Proposals must demonstrate how the building and roof form have responded to the 
local character and context of the site, and how they work with each other in the new 
development.

Residential development must create a housing mix that meets local policy and suits 
the full range of needs of the local area’s residents. The design of the housing, in 
terms of its form and layout, should reflect the type of housing being provided.  

Development proposals should use particular buildings as focal points within a 
neighbourhood, located on key corners, facing on to an open space, or at the end of a 
view corridor. 
All corner building plots should provide continued frontage to the street edge.

Provide cycle and car parking that is safe and functional, and that neither constrains 
pedestrian movement nor dominates the street scene.  
Parking must be successfully integrated within the dwelling curtilage and/or the 
public realm, adhering to the technical requirements set out in the Bradford Street 
Design Guide.

Proposals should provide solutions where household waste is stored neatly and 
safely in a location that is easy to use and easy to collect from. Such storage should 
improve rather than detract from the streetscape, complementing the style and 
character of the building and landscape.

All homes and neighbourhoods must be designed to be inclusive and accessible 
for all. They must allow all of their residents to participate equally, confidently and 
independently in everyday activities.

PLAY

ROOFS AND 
BUILDING FORMS

HOUSING MIX

KEY BUILDINGS 
AND CORNERS

PARKING

WASTE

MAKING INCLUSIVE 
PLACES

2.10

2.13

2.11

2.14

2.15

2.16

2.17

Page 291



HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD32

Proposals must demonstrate how access and circulation, views and aspect, 
and shared facilities have been designed to create attractive and secure flats 
and apartment buildings, with access to private or communal outdoor space 
for all.

Development proposals must demonstrate how homes are designed to 
be energy efficient and to optimise the use of natural resources, reducing 
residents’ utility bills and the environmental impact of building.

Internal layouts must meet Nationally Described Space Standards and 
demonstrate: 
1. Functionality
2. Adaptability
3. Safety and security
4. Liveability

Homes must include integrated internal and external storage for necessary 
household items, including a vacuum cleaner, luggage, bicycles and bins. 

Homes should be dual aspect, with generous floor to ceiling heights and 
designed to optimise natural light inside the dwelling. Homes must have 
direct sunlight into at least one living, kitchen or dining space.

FLATS AND 
APARTMENTS

ENERGY 
EFFICIENT

INTERNAL 
LAYOUT

STORAGE

LIGHT AND 
VENTILATION

3.1

3.9

3.2

3.3

3.4

3 MAKING A HOME

All homes must have direct access to private outdoor space. Development 
proposals must demonstrate that outdoor space is sized appropriately, and 
has the potential to introduce planting, seating and storage, if these are not 
already part of an integrated design.

Layouts must ensure that the siting of homes provides adequate privacy. 
Development proposals must also ensure that houses do not impact 
negatively on existing nearby properties with respect to light, outlook and 
scale.

OUTDOOR SPACE

PRIVACY

3.5

3.6

Proposals must demonstrate that elevations have good proportions; a 
balance between privacy and optimising internal natural light; a considered 
level of detail; and suitable materials for texture and depth. Streets can 
benefit from consistency of some of these elements to create a strong 
identity. 

Building materials must be selected for their appropriateness to local 
character, performance ability, environmental qualities and aesthetic value. 
Reinforced by high-quality, robust detailing, development proposals must 
employ a fabric-first approach which will allow homes to last longer and 
perform more efficiently.

ELEVATIONS

MATERIALS AND 
DETAILS

3.7

3.8

Page 292



33HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

 
1.0 
DEFINING A BRIEF

1.1 ESTABLISH A PROJECT BRIEF

1.2 SITE AND CONTEXT ANALYSIS 

1.3 RESPONDING TO CHARACTER

1.4 MAKING PLACES FOR PEOPLE

1.5 PRIORITISE THE ENVIRONMENT

Page 293



HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD34

K1 Co-housing, Marmalade Lane, 
North Cambridge.

A project with a unique brief, 
based on a co-housing typology 
with a mix of unit types for an 
established community group.

Page 294



35HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

PRINCIPLE 1.1 
A robust and well-justified project brief 
must be set out for every scheme, based 
on the information gathered in Section 1 
of this guide. A plan for engagement and 
pre-application meetings must be agreed 
with officers.

The first stage of the design process is to 
set out a clear project brief. 

The brief will be defined by background 
research, including: 

• conducting a thorough site and 
context analysis (refer to Topic 1.2)

• understanding the local character 
(refer to Topic 1.3)

• considering how to make a place that 
will be focused on people (refer to 
Topic 1.4)

• considering how the development can 
give priority to the environment (refer 
to Topic 1.5)

Carrying out this research at an early 
stage and using its findings to inform the 
project brief will ensure that the design 
can be readily justified throughout the 
design and planning process (in pre-
application meetings; in consultation; 
and in the design and access statement).

It will help to minimise the risk of 
discovering important details late in the 
design process. For medium and large-
scale projects, or schemes on sensitive 
or complex sites, a pre-application 
meeting with Council officers is highly 
recommended during this stage.

1.1

ESTABLISH A PROJECT BRIEF

PRINCIPLE 1.1
A robust and well-
justified project brief 
must be set out for every 
scheme, based on the 
information gathered in 
Section 1 of this guide. A 
plan for engagement and 
pre-application meetings 
must be agreed with 
officers.

“THIS PLACE LOOKS LIKE 
IT HAS BEEN DESIGNED, 
RATHER THAN BEING A 
BUNCH OF STANDARD 
HOUSE TYPES THROWN 
TOGETHER”

Core Strategy: SC1, SC3

1.1 

ESTABLISH A 
PROJECT PLAN

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Page 295



HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD36

PRINCIPLE 1.2 
A development proposal must 
demonstrate that a comprehensive 
site and context analysis has been 
undertaken (using the checklist 
provided), identifying the site’s 
constraints and opportunities at the start 
of the project.

Designing successful housing 
and neighbourhoods depends on 
understanding the site and its context, 
and responding positively – and 
creatively – to the existing features 
and conditions. A comprehensive site 
and context analysis will identify the 
site’s constraints and opportunities, 
informing the project brief and ensuring 
that the design process is influenced by 
a clear understanding of the site and its 
surroundings.

The extent of the area to be surveyed and 
what needs to be assessed will depend 
on the scale and location of the proposed 
development. The table on the following 
page provides a checklist to help prompt 
what analysis may be required, and 
what may inform the future design. For 
example, site layout should be clearly 
influenced by access, existing landscape 
and ecology, Topography and ground 
conditions.

The extent of analysis required should be 
agreed with a planning officer at the start 
of the project, and should be illustrated 
by diagrams and photos. This must be 
discussed with officers during the pre-
application process and be presented 
in the initial chapters of the design 
and access statement for the planning 
application.

A contour plan will be required for any site 
that has varying topography.

1.2

SITE AND CONTEXT ANALYSIS 

Example of a wider context analysis which identifies the applicant site in 
relation to different uses, key access and movement routes and areas of key 
open space and amenity

Constraints Plan

Roads with heavy traffic 

Site boundary

Broad location of boundary for acceptable level of noise for residential 

development (minor mitigation required within buildings)

Railway line

Great Crested Newts

Electricity sub station

Listed building

Garden wall

Gas pipe

Existing low spot

Approximate easement areas for overhead cables, 

gas pipe and electricity sub station.

132KV overhead cables

GCN receptor area

1m Contours lines

Area of brickearth extraction

Approximate location of trees on site

Trees and hedges

KEY

Example of an opportunities and constraints plan which highlights key features 
which may constrain development

Site boundary

Roads with heavy traffic

Railway line

Great Crested Newts

Electricity sub station

Listed building

Garden wall

Gas pipe

Existing low spot

132KV overhead cables

GCN receptor area

1m Contours lines
Area of brickearth extraction

Trees and hedges

Approximate location of trees on site

Approximate easement areas for 
overhead cables, gas pipe and 
electricity sub station

Broad location of boundary for 
acceptable level of noise for residential 
development (minor mitigation 
required within buildings)

Page 296

Broadbents_20
Highlight



37HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

ACCESS
 � Vehicular movement network (e.g. 

primary, secondary)

 � Pedestrian movement network 
(including existing Public Right of Ways)

 � Cycle movement network (incl. National 
Cycle Routes)

 � Bridle-path network (e.g. designated 
public rights of way)

 � Key access points

 � Public transport facilities (including 
frequency of service)

 � Proximity to communal open space

 � Local destinations

 � Desire lines

TOPOGRAPHY & GROUND CONDITION
 � Site topography and contour plan

 � Land-use history - on site and 
neighbouring (brownfield or greenfield 
site and implications)

 � Land quality/contamination

 � Geology

 � Local mining history

 � Ground stability

 � Archaeology

BIODIVERSITY & ECOLOGY
 � Ecological context (important features 

on site and in the surrounding area)

 � Existing records of species and habitats 
(including green/blue infrastructure)

LANDSCAPE 
 � Landscape character

 � Existing trees and hedgerows

 � Blue infrastructure, e.g. waterbodies, 
watercourses

 � Communal open spaces, e.g. parks and 
greens

ENVIRONMENTAL
 � Noise pollution

 � Air quality

 � Flood risk (flood zone levels)

SERVICES
 � Existing underground services (e.g. 

water, waste water, comms, gas, etc)

 � Existing overground services (e.g. 
electricity, comms, etc)

PLANNING
 � Known planning applications (lodged/

consented/etc)

BUILT ENVIRONMENT & AMENITIES
 � Landmarks, key buildings and spaces

 � Key views

 � Frontages

 � Surrounding residential density 

 � Surrounding buildings heights

 � Surrounding uses (e.g. residential, 
retail, commercial/office)

 � Listed and heritage buildings

 � Conservation areas

 � Play and leisure facilities

 � Sports facilities

 � Healthcare facilities

 � Schools and community facilities

CHARACTER
 � Dwellings sizes and types

 � Materials

 � Roof types and pitches

 � Elevations

 � Boundary treatments

 � Street furniture

SITE AND CONTEXT ANALYSIS CHECKLIST

“USING THE OLD 
HEDGEROWS HAS BEEN A 
CLEVER WAY OF DIVIDING 
UP THE SITE”

Core Strategy: CS2, DS3

1.2 

SITE AND CONTEXT 
ANALYSIS

PRINCIPLE 1.2
A development proposal 
must demonstrate that 
a comprehensive site 
and context analysis 
has been undertaken 
(using the checklist 
provided), identifying 
the site’s constraints and 
opportunities at the start 
of the project.

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Page 297

Broadbents_21
Highlight

Broadbents_22
Highlight



HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD38

RESPONDING TO CHARACTER

1.3

PRINCIPLE 1.3
All development proposals must respond 
to any positive local character. This 
response should be shown in detailed 
analysis provided in the design and 
access statement, demonstrating how 
the proposal relates to and reinforces the 
distinctive characteristics of the site’s 
local context.

All proposals must also demonstrate how 
guidance provided within the Landscape 
Character Supplementary Planning 
Document and any conservation area 
appraisal documents have been taken 
into account.

Character is the sum of all the elements 
that make up a place, including the 
physical elements of streets, buildings 
and landscapes, and softer elements 
such as views, sense of enclosure, land 
use and function, smells, sounds and 
colours. The elements that are important 
to the character of a place depend on 
the scale that it is seen at – from distant 
views as well as from within the streets 
themselves. 

A place’s distinctive character is 
generally made up of:

• the qualities that are typical, such as 
the type, form and pattern of housing 

• the special elements: unique, 
distinctive features such as a church 
in its churchyard, a village green, or a 
landmark such as Salts Mill. 

Bradford District has a combined set 
of unique characteristics that make it a 
special place to live and visit.

For further information, the Core 
Strategy outlines in detail the spatial 
and economic characteristics and 
objectives of Bradford District under the 
four sub-areas: City of Bradford, Airedale, 

Wharfedale, and the South Pennine 
Towns and Villages. A brief summary is 
provided on page 40; applicants should 
read the Core Strategy for more detail.

BUILT HERITAGE
The rich and diverse built heritage of 
Bradford District is represented by over 
5,000 individual listed buildings. This 
can be attributed mostly to Bradford’s 
former status as one of the wealthiest 
cities in the world due to its booming 
textile manufacturing industry. The 
heritage includes large mill buildings 
with towering chimneys; smaller-scale 
workers’ accommodation; large private 
mansions; and ornate Victorian buildings 
within the city centre. 

By acknowledging this heritage, an 
interesting and genuine character can 
be considered so that history becomes 
embedded into the new built fabric. 
Modern interpretations are widely 
encouraged, while random assemblages 
of previous styles are to be avoided (see  
Case Study). 

Definitions

Landscape Character Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD): Bradford District has identified 10 landscape character 
areas that have been documented in separate chapters 
to explain the distinctive attributes and features of each, 
including which are desirable to preserve and enhance. Each 
assessment details the condition of the landscape and its 
sensitivity to change, and provides a set of policy guidelines for 
development.

Conservation area appraisal or assessment:  There are 59 
designated conservation areas within Bradford District. 
All of them have accompanying appraisal and assessment 
documents which highlight key characteristics, strengths, 
weaknesses, opportunities and threats, and provide maps 
which identify the important features in each area.

Page 298



39HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

“THE DESIGNERS HAVE 
NOTICED THAT THE BEST 
THING ABOUT THIS 
PLACE IS THAT THE DALES 
ARE ON OUR DOORSTEP”

Landscape Character 
Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD)
Conservation Area 
Assessments and 
Appraisals
Core Strategy: P1, BD1, 
AD1, WD1, PN1, DS3
NPPF: paragraphs 127 
and 185

Any conservation area appraisal or 
assessment (see the definitions box) 
must be taken into account.

COUNTRYSIDE AND LANDSCAPE
The countryside and close proximity 
of attractive landscape to urban areas 
is one aspect of living in Bradford 
District that everyone agrees is a unique 
advantage. Proximity to the district’s 
moorlands, uplands, woodlands and 
wetlands will have an impact on the scale 
and orientation of new development. The 
design must be informed by guidance 
provided in the Landscape Character SPD 
(see definition).  

Views and access must be preserved 
and/or enhanced, and integrated as part 
of both the movement and the green-
blue infrastructure strategies. This will 
ensure that there is a strong, positive  
relationship between new development 
and the landscape.

VARIED TOPOGRAPHY
The topography of the district varies 
across the metropolitan area, with 
its distinctive valleys and rolling 
landscapes. It needs to be understood 
in relation to both the site and the wider 
context. An undulating or sloping site 
provides the opportunity to create a 
distinct character by exploring how 
buildings and streets relate to a site’s 

contours. Understanding how a new 
development will be viewed within the 
context of its landscape and built context 
from surrounding high and low points 
can help to inform the structure set out 
in the masterplan, and the form and 
appearance of the buildings. (See also 
Topic 2.13 Roofs and building forms, 
and Topic 2.12 Topography and ground 
conditions).

WATERWAYS
Bradford’s waterways are a unique 
feature of the district’s landscape and 
built heritage. From the Leeds-Liverpool 
canal, the Rivers Aire and Worth, and the 
multitude of becks (streams), there is an 
opportunity for waterways to contribute 
even more to the district’s built character.

Currently, the district’s waterways as not 
as well integrated to the settlements as 
they could be. Many waterways are faced 
by backyard fences, lined with high or low 
solid walls, and any footpaths tend to be 
narrow. Despite there being a vast and 
extensive network, many waterways are 
often only noticeable due to the presence 
of a bridge. They should be celebrated 
more. 

Where a development site is adjacent to 
an existing waterway, or contains part of 
one, it should relate positively to it and 
be an important element of the scheme’s 
concept.

PRINCIPLE 1.3
All development proposals 
must respond to positive 
local character. Detailed 
analysis should be provided 
in the DAS, demonstrating 
how the proposal relates to 
and reinforces the distinctive 
characteristics of the site’s 
local context.
All proposals must also 
demonstrate how guidance 
provided within the Landscape 
Character Supplementary 
Planning Document and any 
conservation area appraisal 
documents have been taken 
into account.

1.3

RESPONDING  
TO CHARACTER

Case study: Northumberland Street, Liverpool
Sixteen affordable, eco-friendly homes are designed with a contemporary take on the 
terraced house type, using traditional materials to compliment the local character. 
 

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Page 299

Broadbents_23
Highlight

Broadbents_24
Highlight



HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD40

The City of Bradford (including Shipley) 
covers the main urban area of the district, 
encompassing areas with a large variety of built 
characters, including urban and town centres, 
suburban intensification and greenfield growth. 
The rich architectural heritage in the city centre 
is enlivened by the district’s uniquely young, 
growing and international population, with many 
university students attending the University 
of Bradford and Bradford College in the city’s 
vibrant Learning Quarter.

Shipley Town Centre and the Canal Road Corridor 
are identified as a key growth area and location 
for sustainable housing growth, connecting 
Bradford City Centre to Shipley by a linear park 
and the Canal Road Greenway (part of the 
Sustrans National Cycle Network).

Saltaire Village, west of Shipley, has become 
a major tourism and leisure destination due to 
its status as a Unesco world heritage site. Its 
Victorian terrace houses and overall masterplan 
structure have clearly influenced many other 
housing areas across the district. Today 
Saltaire faces modern problems such as how to 
accommodate parking and bins.

North-west of the City of Bradford area, the 
Airedale corridor includes Bingley, Keighley, 
Silsden and Steeton with Eastburn. These 
industrial towns developed in the broad 
floodplain of the River Aire, and have since 
spread out on to the often steep, surrounding 
valley sides. 

While many areas appear heavily developed, 
Airedale maintains a delicate balance between 
industry, settlement, woodland cover and 
pastoral land uses, creating dramatic contrasts 

across the landscape. The areas of distinct 
built character include town and village centres, 
suburban intensification and greenfield growth. 
Some areas are clearly influenced by Saltaire.

Wharfedale represents the valley to the north 
of Airedale, including Ilkley, Menston, Burley 
in Wharfedale, and Addingham. Wharfedale’s 
principal town, Ilkley, is located just north of 
Rombald’s Moor, an area of moorland between 
the Airedale and Wharfedale valleys. It is a 
popular tourist destination due to its proximity to 
the moorlands and the Yorkshire Dales National 
Park.

As with Airedale, the town and village centres are 
sited on the valley floor, but strong edges and the 
distance between them enables them to retain 
their traditional characters, despite a great deal 
of greenfield growth. Many areas enjoy dramatic 
views of the surrounding landscape due to the 
variations of topography.

The South Pennine Towns and Villages include 
Queensbury, Thornton, Wilsden, Haworth, 
Oakworth, and Oxenhope. These settlements are 
generally much smaller in scale than the other 
sub-areas, with only few larger non-residential 
buildings, such as schools. Town and village 
centres are integrated into residential-scale 
buildings and are typically based around a high 
street.

A large part of the area sits within the Pennine 
Uplands landscape character area, and has very 
little settlement other than isolated farmsteads. 
The moorlands and settlements in this area, 
such as Haworth and Thornton, have historical 
significance particularly due to their literary 
connections with the Bronte Sisters.

Core Strategy sub-areas

CORE STRATEGY  
SUB-AREAS 

The Local Plan’s Core 
Strategy DPD characterises 
the district as four sub-
areas: City of Bradford 
(including Shipley), 
Wharfedale, Airedale and 
the South Pennine Towns 
and Villages. It outlines 
specific spatial visions and 
policies for each sub-area, 
and provides useful insight 
into the Council’s priorities 
for each area.

Page 300



41HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

BUILT CHARACTER AREAS
Bradford District can be generally 
characterised into a range of typical built 
character area types. It is likely that most 
new housing in Bradford will be focused 
on the following four settlement types:

• Urban city centre (i.e. Bradford City 
Centre)

• Town and village centres

• Urban terraces 

• Suburban

While these categories will not cover the 
full spectrum of built character and their 
detailed nuances within Bradford District, 
the following guidance will provide an 
introduction to the typical character 
areas related to residential areas. It will 
also help to provide a starting point 
for assessing the local character of a 
development site.  

All applicants will be expected to carry 
out their own detailed assessment and 
this should be summarised into a chapter 
of the Design and Access Statement.

Map of Bradford District’s main urban areas and open spaces

1.3

RESPONDING  
TO CHARACTER

Page 301



HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD42

Figure ground: Bradford city centre, showing large urban-scale blocks

Bradford city centre

URBAN CITY CENTRE
This built character area refers almost 
exclusively to Bradford City Centre as the 
only location in the district where there 
are:

• well-defined, mixed-use, dense urban 
blocks

• buildings with large-scale footprints, 
and/or four or more storeys high

• continuous, adjoining frontage at back 
of pavement

• pedestrian-only streets in important 
central locations

• a mix of building styles, but generally 
dominated by historic buildings from 
the industrial revolution

• landmark buildings, particularly in 
front of public open spaces or on 
corners

• views from streets orientated out to 
the city, hillsides  and countryside 
beyond

• active building uses on the ground 
floor

• varied roof forms

• discreet parking, including multi-
storey and roof parking

There are small areas in the centre of 
Shipley and Keighley that have similar 
characteristics.

The figure-ground plan here 
illustrates part of Bradford city centre, 
demonstrating some of the features 
listed above. It will be important to 
maintain these qualities, and the function 
of urban centres as thriving commercial 
hubs where people are attracted to live, 
study, visit and work in. 

For example, the city centre must:

• maintain a mix of commercial, cultural 
and civic uses 

• give priority to uses on the ground 
floor that have an active frontage

• promote contemporary building styles 
that complement the surrounding built 
heritage, creating a vibrant, modern 
environment

• ensure safe, convenient and well-lit 
pedestrian and cycle routes, allowing 

residents and visitors to move easily 
between different city centre uses

• include indoor and outdoor places, 
such as community centres or public 
squares and public greens for people 
to gather, meet and spend time in

• be well-maintained and managed, 
with high-quality street furniture, to 
promote civic pride.

Further information 
on character can 
be found in the 
Bradford City 
Centre Design 
Guide SPD

Page 302



43HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

TOWN AND VILLAGE CENTRES
While there is a great deal of variation 
between the town and village centres in 
Bradford District, many have similar basic 
characteristics. For example, they are 
typically:

• based around a linear high street (of 
varying lengths, depending on the 
scale of the town or village) 

• with some landmark civic buildings 
(such as a church or community hall) 

• residential in scale, and no more than 
two to three storeys high

• well defined by adjoining buildings 
located on the back of pavement

• on medium-to-fine grain building 
footprints and streets

• mixed-use, with occasionally 
residential above and/or between 
shops and businesses

• vibrant in colour from the painted 
shop-fronts, shop displays, signage, 
some awnings, and occasionally some 
planting

• designed with areas of public open 
space, squares or enlarged pavements 
with seating

• designed to have a mix of on-street 
parking and larger parking areas on 
the periphery of the town or village 
centre.

Larger town centres, such as Shipley, 
Keighley and Ilkley, have larger 
commercial areas and may contain some 
four-storey buildings.

The figure-ground plan opposite 
illustrates part of Ilkley town centre, 
which demonstrates some of the features 
listed above.

Similar to urban city centres, town and 
village centres must also be designed to 
function as thriving commercial hubs. 
They must be viable and self-sustaining, 
and they should cater to a wide variety of 
residents. For people to be attracted to 
live in these areas, it will be important to:

• maintain a mix of commercial, social 
and civic uses, particularly those with 
a community focus, within a compact 
and pedestrian-friendly environment

• ensure that ground-floor uses have 
active frontages and that they are 
overlooked from residential uses 
above

• maintain an appropriate scale for 
areas of open space to allow them to 
host community events

• promote the use of colour and planting 
to ensure a vibrant and inviting 
atmosphere

• ensure safe, convenient and well-lit 
pedestrian and cycle routes to allow 
residents and visitors to move around 
confidently at all hours

• be well-maintained and managed, 
with opportunities for community 
involvement, to promote civic and 
community pride.

Figure ground: Ilkley town centre

Church Street, Ilkley town centre

1.3

RESPONDING  
TO CHARACTER

Page 303

Broadbents_25
Highlight



HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD44

URBAN TERRACES
Brownfield and greenfield development 
can be suitable for denser residential 
schemes. There are several ways to 
achieve this density. The choice of layout 
and building form will have a significant 
impact on the overall character. 

A historic example of creating 
medium-to-high density suburban 
neighbourhoods is Saltaire (see image 
and diagram opposite). There are urban 
terraces of two storeys, with taller 
three-storey elements used to bookend, 
corner or break-up the terrace. This is a 
layout style that is still used in housing 
developments today. Terraced housing 
has evolved to have clear public fronts 
and private backs, gardens, parking and 
effective bin stores.

This more contemporary version of 
terraced housing is encouraged in 
Bradford. The following important 
characteristics should be considered:

• a rectilinear and gridded street 
structure, with a mix of long and 
shorter blocks 

• primarily made up of terraces that are 
two to three storeys in height, with 
changes in height or roof style to mark 
ends or corners

• streets designed and orientated 
towards open space, views or trees

• clearly marked and carefully designed 
individual front doors to homes

• front gardens to provide a threshold 
between the street and home, and 
to allow for bin and bike stores and 
planting

• private back gardens bordering other 
private gardens for good security

• set out around streets with a clear 
hierarchy of primary and secondary 
routes

• clear distinction in the character of 
streets running in different directions

Figure ground: Saltaire village, a UNESCO World Heritage Site

Saltaire village

Page 304



45HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

SUBURBAN
Certain parts of greenfield development 
can be more suited to medium-to-lower 
density residential schemes. There are 
several ways to achieve this, and the 
choice of layout and building form will 
have a significant impact on the overall 
character. 

These locations will need a careful 
consideration of how to create a more 
open and rural character within the 
residential development, including the 
following features:

• based around a street pattern that 
responds to features such as contours 
and landscape elements, with roads 
that align to features such as contours 
and hedges

• urban blocks primarily made up of 
semi-detached and detached housing, 
with short runs of terrace housing 
in isolated areas or located along 
primary streets. The balance of green 
space between homes will have a 
significant impact on the overall 
character

• two to three storeys high

• typically served by on-plot parking, 
including driveways, and attached and 
detached garages

• wider streets, created with house 
frontages set back from the pavement

• a mix of architectural styles and 
building forms. (Similar styles 
are usually grouped together in 
recognisable neighbourhoods).

Other important features to consider 
include:

• avoiding a layout based on cul-de-
sacs, due to the lack of connectivity 
that they provide for pedestrians and 
cyclists

• development should front onto 
countryside rather than turn its back

• the structure of landscape should 
contribute to character, in terms of the 
backdrop, street scene and long views.

Figure ground: Burley in Wharfedale

Worth Valley, South Pennine

• a mix of parking solutions should be 
used within neighbourhoods to help 
prevent streets being dominated by 
cars parked in front of the building 
line, whether on-plot or on-street. (See 
also Topic 2.15 Parking).

The figure ground plan and image above 
illustrate how greenfield growth has been 
positively achieved in Burley, Wharfedale.

1.3

RESPONDING  
TO CHARACTER

Page 305



HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD46

Caudale on Varndell Street, Camden

Page 306



47HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

MAKING PLACES FOR PEOPLE

1.4

PRINCIPLE 1.4
Proposals must demonstrate how 
existing and future communities have 
been considered. This should include 
designing around local focal points 
where people can meet. Engagement 
with local communities should support 
the development of designing places for 
people. 

The success of new developments can be 
judged by whether residents (both new 
and existing) feel that they are part of a 
community. A larger development, where 
a new neighbourhood is being developed, 
may be of a size that enables it to be more 
self-sufficient. But the area’s existing 
residents should still feel that their needs 
have been taken into account.

Proposals should connect to existing 
local features that bring people together, 
such as local shops, a community 
hall, communal open space and all-
age play space. In large developments 
the provision of new facilities may be 
required.

Creating these features will help to 
support a lively, healthy community by 
providing places for residents to meet, 
gather and get to know each other. 
Located at focal points in the masterplan, 
they should become recognisable 
elements that are used to identify the 
area.

At the smaller scale, details that enable 
interaction should be included. This 
might include providing benches at bus 
stops or locating post boxes at junctions 
or near other facilities.

The processes of site and context 
analysis, and understanding local 
character, will inform the nature, location 
and form of these features. In many 
cases, creating clear links to existing 
facilities will enable new developments 
to integrate new residents into an 
existing community.  

Engagement with stakeholders and local 
residents will provide useful insight into 
this. Involving residents in the design 
and management of these spaces can 
create a sense of ownership, and where 
possible should be initiated at an early 
stage. These community focal points will 
be developed and illustrated as part of 
the scheme concept.

“I KEEP BUMPING INTO 
PEOPLE I KNOW. IT’S 
ALMOST AS IF IT HAD 
BEEN PLANNED!” 

Core Strategy: SC3, SC9, 
DS1, DS3, ID7

NPPF: paragraphs 92, 
127, and 128

PRINCIPLE 1.4
Proposals must 
demonstrate how 
existing and future 
communities have 
been considered. This 
should include designing 
around local focal points 
where people can meet. 
Engagement with local 
communities should 
support the development 
of designing places for 
people. 

1.4

MAKING PLACES 
FOR PEOPLE

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Page 307

Broadbents_26
Highlight



HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD48

PRIORITISE THE ENVIRONMENT

1.5

PRINCIPLE 1.5
Applicants must demonstrate how their 
proposal is prioritising the environment, 
with a particular focus on air quality and 
low-carbon development as part of the 
scheme objectives.

New development provides the 
opportunity to make a positive impact 
on the site, the immediate context, 
and residents.  Bradford District has 
committed to improving air quality and 
addressing climate change by prioritising 
low carbon development, as set out 
in Air Quality & Emissions: Technical 
Planning Guidance and West Yorkshire 
Low Emissions Strategy 2016 to 2021. 
Applicants must therefore demonstrate 
how their proposal supports these 
strategies and guidance.

Other topics in Part 2 of this design guide 
also have a focus on prioritising the 
environment. They include:

• Topic 2.7 Water and drainage, 

• Topic 2.8 Landscape, 

• Topic 2.9 Biodiversity,

• Topic 2.12 Topography and ground 
conditions,

• Topic 3.9 Energy efficient.

AIR QUALITY
Studies have proven the detrimental 
health effects associated with poor air 
quality and currently 1 in 20 deaths in 
West Yorkshire are caused by exposure to 
particulate air pollution. While improving 
air quality can not be solved simply, there 
are various ways that new development 
can help to mitigate its impact and 
improve outcomes.  Proposals must:

• Prioritise public transport and active 
travel (e.g. walking, cycling, etc) 
so that they are highly accessible, 
attractive and safe, making these 
modes the best choice to travel, 
particularly for short journeys (refer 
Topic 2.3 Movement)

• Integrate trees and planting within 
streets and open spaces to help clean 
the air, and to create inviting places 
to encourage physical activity and 
minimise car use  (refer Topic 2.4 
Green streets)

• Incorporate electric vehicle charging 
points, and other infrastructure which 
supports ultra-low emissions vehicles 
(refer Topic 2.15 Parking)

• Ensure that everyday amenities and 
services, e.g. a convenience store and 
schools, are located within reasonable 
walking distances for all residents

An air quality survey, as part of the site 
and context analysis (refer Topic 1.2 Site 
and context analysis), will provide clear 
information on the extent of air quality 
issues for each site and whether the 
detail design of a scheme will need more 
extensive mitigation for poor air quality. 

Dust from construction (and demolition) 
must also be mitigated.

Page 308

Broadbents_27
Highlight

Broadbents_28
Highlight



49HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS
Core Strategy: SC2, TR1, 
TR3, TR5, EN8
Air Quality & Emissions: 
Technical Planning 
Guidance for West 
Yorkshire
West Yorkshire Low 
Emissions Strategy 2016 
to 2021
NPPF: paragraph 150

“MY NAN LOVES 
WATCHING THE BIRDS. I 
WANT THEM STILL TO BE 
AROUND WHEN I‘M HER 
AGE”

LOW CARBON DEVELOPMENT
There are a multitude of ways to help 
lower the amount of carbon emissions 
produced by new development, and 
much of the guidance provided in this 
SPD promotes a robust, low-impact and 
efficient design approach. However, at 
this early stage in the design process, 
there is an opportunity to integrate and 
embed low carbon strategies which may 
be more difficult and expensive to do 
later on.  For example, applicants should 
also consider:

• Modular and/or off-site construction 
methods

• Opportunities for re-use of any 
existing site materials, as well as 
generally minimising construction 
waste

• Employing local labour and using local 
materials to minimise travel 

• Opportunities for on-site renewable 
energy production

Case study: Passive House Terrace, Scotland’s Housing Expo, Inverness
This development of three family homes demonstrates an 80% reduction in energy 
consumption, negating the need for conventional heating. Orientation, a compact form, 
off-site construction processes and highly-performing components (e.g. windows) were 
all incorporated to reach the Passive House standards.

1.5

PRIORITISING THE 
ENVIRONMENT

PRINCIPLE 1.5
Applicants must 
demonstrate how their 
proposal is prioritising 
the environment, with a 
particular focus on air 
quality and low-carbon 
development as part of 
the scheme objectives.

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Page 309

Broadbents_29
Highlight

Broadbents_30
Highlight

Broadbents_31
Highlight

Broadbents_32
Highlight



50 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

A 4-storey apartment block 
with ground floor community 
centre marks a key corner 
and provides active frontage 
along a primary road and 
open space (Topic 2.14 & 3.1)

Communal roof space 
provides semi-private 
outdoor space for 
apartment residents 
(Topics 2.2, 3.1 & 3.5)

Integrated waste 
bin storage 
reduces clutter 
on streets (Topics 
2.14, 2.17 & 3.3)

A SuDS attenuation 
basin is integrated 
into the open 
space providing 
opportunity for play 
and potential for 
biodiversity (Topics 
2.6, 2.7, 2.8, 2.9 & 
2.10)

Different forms of 
play, from formal to 
informal, create an 
inviting open space 
(Topics 2.6 & 2.10)

Tree-lined streets 
create an attractive, 
green neighbourhood, 
encouraging people to 
walk and cycle around 
(Topics 2.3, 2.4 & 2.6)

Simple yet interesting 
roof forms help to 
create a strong identity 
for a neighbourhood 
(Topic 2.13)

A 3-storey detached house 
marks a key corner within 
the neighbourhood and adds 
diversity to the housing mix 
(Topics 2.11, 2.13 & 2.14)

Cycle parking is located 
in key areas within the 
public realm, for example, 
near open space and non-
residential uses (Topics 
2.3, 2.6 & 2.15)

The connector street 
includes dedicated foot and 
cycleways, a swale (on one 
side), parallel parking, and 
trees/rain gardens between 
parking zones (Topics 2.3, 
2.4, 2.7, 2.15 & 2.17)

A change of material 
at a key intersection 
creates a visual cue 
to drivers to watch 
for pedestrians and 
cyclists (Topics 2.3 & 
2.15) 

Raised planter beds 
create a place for 
the community to 
take part in greening 
their neighbourhood 
(Topics 2.8 & 2.9)

A continuous line of trees planted 
within open space defines and 
greens the street whilst providing 
the opportunity for biodiversity 
(Topics 2.4, 2.6, 2.8 & 2.9)

Parking types vary 
between tandem side-
of-house and integral 
within curtilage, as well as 
parallel and perpendicular 
on-street, so that parking 
is integrated and therefore 
does not dominate the 
streetscape; trees and 
planting between on-
street parking also helps 
to break up parking areas 
(Topics 2.4, 2.8 & 2.15)

Inset balconies 
provide amenity and 
a sense of shelter 
(Topics 3.1, 3.5 & 3.6)

Indicative neighbourhood diagram to illustrate various Section 2.0 design guide topics
Page 310



51HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

2.0
CREATING A NEIGHBOURHOOD

2.1 DEFINE A CONCEPT

2.2 DENSITY AND SCALE

2.3 MOVEMENT 

2.4 GREEN STREETS

2.5 SAFE AND CHARACTERFUL STREETS

2.6 OPEN SPACE 

2.7 WATER AND DRAINAGE 

2.8 LANDSCAPE

2.9 BIODIVERSITY

2.10 PLAY 

2.11 HOUSING MIX

2.12 TOPOGRAPHY AND GROUND CONDITIONS 

2.13 ROOFS AND BUILDING FORMS

2.14 KEY BUILDINGS AND CORNERS

2.15 PARKING 

2.16 WASTE 

2.17 MAKING INCLUSIVE PLACES

Page 311



52 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Haworth, Bradford

Page 312



53HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

A strong rationale for design is the key 
to providing a high-quality and robust 
masterplan or proposal for a scheme. 
This will clearly illustrate how the site 
and context analysis (Topic 1.2) have 
effectively and meaningfully interpreted 
the opportunities and constraints of the 
site and local area.

This concept, illustrated as a diagram, 
should act as the backbone to the 
design as it develops and becomes more 
detailed.

The concept will be different for each 
site. It should highlight the main 
elements of the proposal, which will 
be based on aspects of the site such 
as historic layout and buildings, wider 
links, connections with open spaces, 
topography, and the location of 
community facilities.

The masterplan concept will be useful for 
several reasons:

• to get buy-in to your scheme 
design from Bradford Council and 
stakeholders, helping them to 
understand why your masterplan is 
designed the way it is.

DEFINE A CONCEPT

PRINCIPLE 2.1
Every development proposal should 
illustrate a concept which clearly 
responds to the Stage 1 project brief, 
including the site and context analysis 
and character review. The concept 
should clearly integrate the site into its 
wider area.

Definition

Concept The key ideas on which a 
development will be based.

PRINCIPLE 2.1
Every development 
proposal should illustrate 
a concept which clearly 
responds to the Stage 1 
project brief, including the 
site and context analysis 
and character review. The 
concept should clearly 
integrate the site into its 
wider area.

2.1

DEFINE A CONCEPT  

Local Plan: DS1, DS2, 
DS3, DS4

NPPF: Section 12, 
paragraph 125

“THE GREAT THING IS THAT 
IT FEELS LIKE PART OF THE 
TOWN, NOT AN ISOLATED 
ESTATE”

• when designing to a budget, as it 
keeps a focus on the aspects of the 
masterplan that will really make a 
difference

• to lock in character, identity and 
design quality from the start.

2.1

Case study
Concept 
diagrams take 
many forms. 
Here is an 
example from an 
urban extension 
of 450 homes 
where the key 
design principle 
is to respond to 
and integrate 
with the existing 
village in the 
west and the 
countryside in 
the east.

GREEN 
CORRIDORS

GREEN 
‘MOMENTS’

EX
IS

TI
N

G 
VI

LL
AG

E

GREEN 
GRADUATIONS

URBAN 
FABRIC 
EXTENSION

NEIGHBOUR- 
HOOD AVENUE

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Page 313



54 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

DENSITY AND SCALE

PRINCIPLE 2.2
Proposals should be at an appropriate 
scale and density in relation to the local 
and wider area, and to national and local 
policy requirements aimed at increasing 
densities at sites where public transport 
and facilities can accommodate them. 
Higher-density schemes should be of 
notably high quality, meeting the other 
principles in this guidance.

DETERMINING AN APPROPRIATE SCALE 
AND DENSITY
As part of the context appraisal, an 
assessment of appropriate density 
should be carried out by balancing 
character, local context, economic 
requirements and the capacity of the 
local area to accommodate any increase. 
The assessment should respond to the 
location of the site, such as whether it 
is in a central, urban, suburban or rural 
location.

Sites within or near to Bradford city 
centre and the Canal Road Corridor 
and central areas of Shipley, Bingley 
and Keighley may be well suited to 
densification. For sites located in a part 
of the district that has an area action 
plan, the density and scale should adhere 
to the guidelines set out in that plan.

Sensitive areas such as conservation 
areas and sites near listed buildings 

Definitions

Density The number of homes in 
relation to an area of land.

Scale The size of a building in 
relation to its surroundings.

2.2

should be treated carefully so that the 
proposed scale and density will preserve 
or enhance the character of these areas. 
It will be important to maintain views out 
as well as views to significant buildings.

Infill development should usually relate 
sensitively to the scale of neighbouring 
development.

WHAT ARE THE IMPLICATIONS OF 
INCREASING DENSITY?
1. Where policy is not specific on 

density, full justification for an 
increase in density should be provided 
to the Council.

2. Higher-density developments will 
increase the requirements for car and 
bicycle parking (Topic 2.15) and open 
space (Topic 2.6). 

3. The requirements for all these issues 
must be balanced and met when 
designing a scheme. There will also be 
additional demand for local facilities 
such as schools and shops. In this 
case, a conversation should be had 
with the Council to determine and 
agree the appropriate requirements. 
Large developments of higher 
density may be required to provide 
or contribute towards community 
facilities to support the increased 
population. 

4. Higher-density proposals will be 
considered only if the scheme is 
notably well designed and meets 
the other principles identified in this 
guidance. They should also have the 
right unit types to create a positive 
form of development.

Page 314

Broadbents_33
Highlight

Broadbents_34
Highlight



55HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

TALL BUILDINGS
If tall buildings are proposed, they 
should respond to the core strategy 
policy DS3:H: ‘Ensure that tall buildings 
are appropriate to their location, are of 
high quality design and that they do not 
detract from key views or heritage assets 
or create unacceptable local environmental 
conditions.’

All proposals for tall buildings must 
be of the highest quality, contributing 
positively to the character of the 
townscape and play a role in urban 
design terms. They should meet the 
advice set out in Historic England’s 
Guidance on Tall Buildings.

The principles for the design of tall 
buildings for each site should be 
discussed with the planning authority as 
part of the pre-application process. It is 

likely that a townscape and visual impact 
assessment will be required as part of 
the planning application.

WHY?
Increasing densities in appropriate areas 
in Bradford will reduce the need for the 
district’s residents to travel by car and 
connect them effectively into their local 
community. 

Scale and density can also be used to 
help define an appropriate character 
for the site, for example in designing 
gateways, landmarks and enclosing 
space.

PRINCIPLE 2.2
Proposals should 
be at an appropriate 
scale and density in 
relation to the local 
and wider area, and to 
national and local policy 
requirements aimed at 
increasing densities 
at sites where public 
transport and facilities 
can accommodate them. 
Higher-density schemes 
should be of notably 
high quality, meeting the 
other principles in this 
guidance.

Local Plan: H05, DS3
Area Action Plan: City 
Centre - CL1 
Shipley & Canal Rd - SCRC/
H1
Historic England Advice 
Note 4: Tall Buildings
Bradford City Centre 
Design Guide SPD
NPPF: paragraphs 118, 123

“I WOULD RATHER LIVE 
HERE, IN A PLACE WITH A 
buzz ABOUT IT, THAN IN A 
SUBURB WHERE NOTHING 
HAPPENS”

2.2

DENSITY AND 
SCALE  

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

South Lambeth Estate: Getting the 
density and scale right in relation 

to the surrounding context and the 
project brief

Page 315

Broadbents_35
Highlight



56 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

MOVEMENT

PRINCIPLE 2.3
For large and medium developments, the 
street network should define:

1. A clear structure of connected streets 
and routes.

2. An integrated network of routes for 
all modes of transport, giving priority to 
active travel.

3. A clear hierarchy of routes, where each 
type of route has a specific character and 
function.

The design of a movement strategy 
should be an important part of any 
masterplan. The strategy should 
ensure that there is a clear character 
and technical brief for street design, 
providing effective movement options 
with a successful public realm.

If only one or two streets are proposed 
in a small or medium-sized development, 
the street design should still follow these 
principles, fitting into and responding to 
the existing surrounding streets.

Once a movement strategy is devised, 
the streets should be designed to be 
green and of high quality, as set out in 
Topic 2.4, Green streets.

HOW SHOULD THIS BE DONE?
1. A clear structure of connected streets 
and routes

The layout of the streets and other routes 
should be simple and clear. The streets 
and routes should:

• integrate with existing adjoining 
streets, or link with the layout of 
any neighbouring site that is being 
developed

• provide connections to existing 
local amenities that are direct, well 
overlooked, lit and attractive

• relate well to access points and open 
spaces 

• respond practically to sloping sites, 
and help to open up views

• provide a framework for well-sized 
urban blocks and open spaces that 
suit the character of the area.

The design of a small or infill 
development should also enhance 
connectivity with the existing 
neighbourhood. The case study on 
Banbury Place on page 89 gives an 
example of how a scheme of eight flats 
enhanced movement in the local area by 
providing a new pedestrian link through 
the site to existing homes beyond. 

2.An integrated network of routes for 
all modes of transport, giving priority to 
active travel.

Pedestrian-focused New residential and 
mixed-use development should give 
priority to pedestrian and wheelchair 
users. There should be direct and 
designated footpaths to local amenities 
and public transport, to make this the 
easiest and preferred method of getting 
around. These routes should be central, 

Separate cycle lanes, split from the road using planting and parking, create 
safe and easy-to-use cycle routes.

2.3

Page 316

Broadbents_36
Highlight

Broadbents_37
Highlight



57HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

accessible, safe, along active routes and 
well overlooked by dwelling frontages.

Encourage cycling Cycling should be 
given priority by ensuring that cycle 
routes are designed into the movement 
strategy from the start. They should be 
linked to the existing network of cycling 
routes and seek to enhance it. Cycle 
parking and storage must be provided 
(see Topic 2.15, Parking).  

Public transport access or extension 
New residential and mixed-use 
developments should be designed so 
that direct pedestrian access is provided 
from the development to existing bus 
or rail stops, which should be no more 
than 400m between dwelling and stop. 
For larger developments, the potential 
to extend public transport routes should 
be included where possible. This should 
be discussed with planning officers to 
determine how it will be delivered.

Vehicles Routes for vehicles should be 
safe and designed to limit speeds to 
20mph which will be the default speed 
limit for residential areas, and to accord 
with the technical requirements set out 
in Manual for Streets and the Bradford 
Street Design Guide.

Service vehicles As well as providing 
high quality street environments, the 
requirements for turning areas must 
be designed to comply with Building 
Regulations H and B so that refuse and 
fire vehicles can easily and safely access 
all homes.

3. A clear hierarchy of routes, where each 
type of route has a specific character and 
function.

In masterplans for large sites, different 
streets should vary in terms of their 
widths, layout, planting and materials 

to reflect the various types of street 
and conditions. The access should 
help to open up the site, ensuring that 
development is outward facing and well 
linked to existing streets.

A clear hierarchy of routes will enable 
development to create varied street 
character that reinforces the character, 
providing a framework for creating 
buildings of appropriate density and 
scale.

WHY?
Research carried out in Bradford has 
shown that poor air quality in the city 
is causing the respiratory health of 
residents to suffer and is contributing 
to other health problems such as heart 
attacks, low birth weights and delayed 
neurodevelopment in children. Born in 
Bradford’s research has also made a 
link between children’s health and the 
accessibility of open space to where they 
live. 

Improving options for active travel to 
reduce car use and link people to local 
amenities is a key priority for the Council.

PRINCIPLE 2.3
For large and medium 
developments, the street 
network should define:

1. A clear structure of 
connected streets and 
routes.

2. An integrated network 
of routes for all modes of 
transport, giving priority 
to active travel.

3. A clear hierarchy of 
routes, where each type 
of route has a specific 
character and function.

Bradford Core Strategy: 
TR1, TR3, TR5, DS3/4 
City Centre AAP: M1, M3, 
M4 
Shipley AAP: ST1, ST2, 
ST3, ST4, ST5, ST6 
Bradford Street Design 
Guide 
TfL’s Healthy Streets

NPPF: paragraphs 104, 127

“NOW THAT MY KIDS CAN 
CYCLE TO SCHOOL I’VE 
NOTICED THEM GETTING 
FITTER”

2.3

MOVEMENT  

Making the right links to effectively connect a 
development site into the existing road network

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Page 317

Broadbents_38
Highlight

Broadbents_39
Highlight

Broadbents_40
Highlight

Broadbents_41
Highlight



58 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Case study: Myatt’s Fields, Lambeth, London

As part of the regeneration of this estate in South London, a key part of determining the future masterplan was to set out 
the principles of pedestrian, cycle and vehicular movement. This sought to repair connections and improve desire lines to 
key local facilities and provide a robust framework from which to develop the building and open space proposals.

Pedestrian and cycle 
movement strategy

The access and movement 
objectives in relation to 
pedestrians and cyclists 
are identified as:

- Identifying a clear role 
and purpose for each open 
space and route

- All routes to be well lit 
and overlooked

- A main pedestrian 
route across the park 
connecting two high 
streets

- Incorporation of street 
trees to form avenues on 
key routes

- Promotion of a new green 
link between the existing 
parks

- Direct connections to 
local destinations and 
public transport routes

- On-street cycle parking

Vehicular movement 
strategy

The access and movement 
objectives in relation 
vehicles are identified as:

- Creation of a network 
of more traditional 
streets that connect local 
destinations and optimise 
the use of available 
access points

- Integration of the estate 
into the wider area, but 
avoiding rat runs

- On-street car parking

- Good refuse, recycling 
and servicing facilities

37

54 to 62

Ambulance Station

58
52

50

13

1

12

24

2

25

2

12
24

3444

56

49

37

43 to 59 HANDFORTH ROAD

41

36

484.7m

Surgery
Works

56

66

38

BM 5.75m 39

RO
M

AN
 R

O
AD

5.2m

4.0m

CRANMER ROAD

60
a

60

5.5m

5.2m

34
to
38

40 50

6

32 22 12
10

28
to

32
166

2
12

MINERVA CLOSE

BO
W

H
ILL C

LO
SE

Cranmer House Salisbury
House

Worcester
House

Winchester
House

12

7

11

Play
Area

LISTOWEL CLOSE

Swift House

198

27
6

35
4

10
 to

 12

25
26
27 32

31 37
38

21
1920

1
1aHereford

House3
5 7 9 11 13 15

17

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

CR

Tank 8

42

45
30

51 to 57

Grimsel
Path

21 to 26

Primary School
C of E

St John the DivinePlayground

School
House

25

20

33

38
37

197

45 to 50

LAXLEY CLOSE

1

2

52

53

34
 to

 41

1 t
o 7

Day
Centre

14132

BM 5.05m

3.8m82

33 to 38

3

9

13

a
92

92

90

1
2

Shelter

15 to 20

37
to

35
40

to
38

41 to 431 2

3 4

9 to 13

7 8

15
14

18

11 to 15
2

1
10

9

17
16

27
26 WYNNE ROAD

LB

TCB
BM 9.02m

32
0

31
6

31
4

37 to 64

1 to 36

O
VER

TO
N

 R
O

AD

Lidcote Gardens

13 1

40
11

46
17

51
2252

23
53

24

30
2

7.2m

7.3m

El Sub Sta

45

Shelter

26

29

1

CROWHURST CLOSE

Denchworth House

FIVEW
AYS R

O
AD

CRO
W

HURST CLO
SE

10
39

34
5

30
0

30
4

30
6

30
8 to 31
2

28to30
15 to 13

227
45

24 7
23
22

8 9 21
10

18
13

17 14
1516

7.5m

Leys
Court

30
1

3 to 1

Neighbourhood

Office

Havelock Court
Nursing Home

33

45

11

13 to 17
19

21

M
AR

C
ELLA R

O
AD

49

43to47

33to37
17

7
9

11
13

6 14

FERREY MEWS

16
to
22

15
17

2
4

1
to
5

29

FIR GROVE ROAD

21
to
25

1
to
75 to 15

TORREY DRIVE

1 3

42

1
3

15

6

5755

46
52

2 4

D
O

R
A W

AY

2
102

MORRISON ROAD

4 to 14
16

24
28

1 to 4

2 8 12
14

16

1 
to

 4

D
O

R
A W

AY

BENNETT ROAD

26

16 17

19

9 
to

 2
5

1 
to

 8

BM 10.01m

9 
to

 2
0

1 
to

 8

113

1
22
43

M
INET RO

AD

2 3
1

19

16
18

44 to 47 48
49

74

93

10
5

10
5

a

107

9

1

Sub Sta
El

8.9m

35
37

45
43

54
52

17 to 34

13 to 16

1 to 4

44

El Sub Sta

40

SPICER CLOSE

5 to 11

21 to 27

29 to 35
81

57
5345 to 51

77

65
61

87
83

105
101

69

62
72

80

25

EL
AM

 S
TR

EE
T 82

94

BM 10.23m

REDAN TERRACE

71

12
26

50

106

9.8m

96

12

13

28 to 31

15

20 to 23

17

24

S Br

Games Courts

5
26
47

4
25
46

Loughborough
Infants School

32

Schoolkeepers

60

6

117

38

22

1 to 161

LO
UG

HBO
RO

UG
H RO

AD

Newark House

21
 to

 3
2

School Treatm
ent

Centre

105

32 to 35

66

Surgery

ROAD

FIVEWAYS

Loughborough

Junior School

5 to 8

9 to 12

75

55
59

73

63

89
85

103
99

119
115

House

24

Iveagh House

Horle Walk

38
36

46
44

53
51

37 to 43
79

71
67

121
117

Vi
ad

uc
t

9.4m

Community
Centre

Playground

FB

LB

1
13

2

Hart House

4

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

CR

1

4

HILDA LOCKERT  WALK

15
8

16
9

18
11

10
8 t

o 1
18

El
Sub Sta

Loughborough

Hall

19 to 221 to 4

9.4m

Myatts Fields 
Park

Urban street

Access to new development

Proposed connector road

Proposed Home Zone

Courtyard

New access points

Key street in the surrounding area

Site boundary

Downgrade 
Akerman Road to 

single carriageway 
creating urban 

character

Reconsider one way 
system of Patmos 
Road within the 

existing  circulation 
in the area 

Reconsider junction 
to discourage fast 

movements, reduce 
impact of traffic and 
provide more space 
for pedestrians with 

high quality landscape

Reconsider junction 
to discourage fast 
movements and 

provide new access to 
development

Single sided road with 
parallel parking only 

and gaps for trees

Myatts Fields Park

Minimise the impact 
of cars around the 

square 

Existing junction to be reconfigured

Park

Street downgraded 
and re-landscaped 

to form a home zone 
high quality edge park

Br
ix

to
n 

Ro
ad

Patm
os Road

Ak
er

m
an

 R
oa

d

Mostyn Road

Vassal Road

Co
w

le
y 

Ro
ad

Cancel Road

Normandy Road

Cromwell Road

37

54 to 62

Ambulance Station

58
52

50

13

1

12

24

2

25

2

12
24

3444

56

49

37

43 to 59 HANDFORTH ROAD

41

36

484.7m

Surgery
Works

56

66

38

BM 5.75m 39

RO
M

AN
 R

O
AD

5.2m

4.0m

CRANMER ROAD

60
a

60

5.5m

5.2m

34
to
38

40 50

6

32 22 12
10

28
to

32
166

2
12

MINERVA CLOSE

BO
W

H
ILL C

LO
SE

Cranmer House Salisbury
House

Worcester
House

Winchester
House

12

7

11

Play
Area

LISTOWEL CLOSE

Swift House

198

27
6

35
4

10
 to

 12

25
26
27 32

31 37
38

21
1920

1
1aHereford

House3
5 7 9 11 13 15

17

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

CR

Tank 8

42

45
30

51 to 57

Grimsel
Path

21 to 26

Primary School
C of E

St John the DivinePlayground

School
House

25

20

33

38
37

197

45 to 50

LAXLEY CLOSE

1

2

52

53

34
 to

 41

1 t
o 7

Day
Centre

14132

BM 5.05m

3.8m82

33 to 38

3

9

13

a
92

92

90

1
2

Shelter

15 to 20

37
to

35
40

to
38

41 to 431 2

3 4

9 to 13

7 8

15
14

18

11 to 15
2

1
10

9

17
16

27
26 WYNNE ROAD

LB

TCB
BM 9.02m

32
0

31
6

31
4

37 to 64

1 to 36

O
VER

TO
N

 R
O

AD

Lidcote Gardens

13 1

40
11

46
17

51
2252

23
53

24

30
2

7.2m

7.3m

El Sub Sta

45

Shelter

26

29

1

CROWHURST CLOSE

Denchworth House

FIVEW
AYS R

O
AD

CRO
W

HURST CLO
SE

10
39

34
5

30
0

30
4

30
6

30
8 to 31
2

28to30
15 to 13

227
45

24 7
23
22

8 9 21
10

18
13

17 14
1516

7.5m

Leys
Court

30
1

3 to 1

Neighbourhood

Office

Havelock Court
Nursing Home

33

45

11

13 to 17
19

21

M
AR

C
ELLA R

O
AD

49

43to47

33to37
17

7
9

11
13

6 14

FERREY MEWS

16
to
22

15
17

2
4

1
to
5

29

FIR GROVE ROAD

21
to
25

1
to
75 to 15

TORREY DRIVE

1 3

42

1
3

15

6

5755

46
52

2 4

D
O

R
A W

AY

2
102

MORRISON ROAD

4 to 14
16

24
28

1 to 4

2 8 12
14

16

1 
to

 4

D
O

R
A W

AY

BENNETT ROAD

26

16 17

19

9 
to

 2
5

1 
to

 8

BM 10.01m

9 
to

 2
0

1 
to

 8

113

1
22
43

M
INET RO

AD

2 3
1

19

16
18

44 to 47 48
49

74

93

10
5

10
5

a

107

9

1

Sub Sta
El

8.9m

35
37

45
43

54
52

17 to 34

13 to 16

1 to 4

44

El Sub Sta

40

SPICER CLOSE

5 to 11

21 to 27

29 to 35
81

57
5345 to 51

77

65
61

87
83

105
101

69

62
72

80

25

EL
AM

 S
TR

EE
T 82

94

BM 10.23m

REDAN TERRACE

71

12
26

50

106

9.8m

96

12

13

28 to 31

15

20 to 23

17

24

S Br

Games Courts

5
26
47

4
25
46

Loughborough
Infants School

32

Schoolkeepers

60

6

117

38

22

1 to 161

LO
UG

HBO
RO

UG
H RO

AD

Newark House

21
 to

 3
2

School Treatm
ent

Centre

105

32 to 35

66

Surgery

ROAD

FIVEWAYS

Loughborough

Junior School

5 to 8

9 to 12

75

55
59

73

63

89
85

103
99

119
115

House

24

Iveagh House

Horle Walk

38
36

46
44

53
51

37 to 43
79

71
67

121
117

Vi
ad

uc
t

9.4m

Community
Centre

Playground

FB

LB

1
13

2

Hart House

4

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

CR

1

4

HILDA LOCKERT  WALK

15
8

16
9

18
11

10
8 t

o 1
18

El
Sub Sta

Loughborough

Hall

19 to 221 to 4

9.4m

Key park route

Myatts Fields 
Park

Urban street 

Main pedestrian movement

Key destination/Myatts Fields Park

Desired pedestrian link to Myatts 
Fields Park

Proposed Home Zone 

Indicative pedestrian crossing location

Site boundary

Key street surrounding the area

Park frontage route

Main activity focus

Park link

Key destination/Public transport corridor 

Key nodal point

Br
ix

to
n 

Ro
ad

Patm
os Road

Ak
er

m
an

 R
oa

d

Mostyn Road

Vassal Road

Co
w

le
y 

Ro
ad

Cancel Road

Normandy Road

Key pedestrian link 
through the park 
should be well lit 

and overlooked by 
development

As a pedestrian focus 
Cromwell Road should 

be well lit and re 
landscaped maximising 

the overlooking from 
development 

Cromwell Road

The key nodal point 
should perform 

as bookend of the 
pedestrian focus with 
featured buildings at 

both ends

A proposed pedestrian 
route overlooked by low 
rise development should 

physically connect the 
new development with 

Myatts Fields Park

Page 318



59HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

GREEN STREETS

PRINCIPLE 2.4
With a focus on greening, all streets 
should be designed according to their 
function, as set out in the movement 
strategy. They should become a high-
quality part of the public realm for social 
and environmental benefit.

Bradford Council wants to ensure that 
the district is made up of streets, not 
roads. A road is mainly a route for transit; 
a street is a place for people to move in, 
interact in, play in and occupy.

We are also committed to ensuring that 
the green quality of the moors and dales, 
and the views of these natural amenities, 
is reflected in the design of Bradford’s 
streets and other public spaces.

Streets must be designed to limit speeds 
to 20mph which will be the default speed 
limit for residential areas, and to comply 
with national requirements and guidance, 
including Building Regulations and 
Manual for Streets, and local guidance, 
such as Bradford’s street design guide.

As well as satisfying these technical 
requirements, street design should 
contribute to creating highly-vegetated, 
well-structured spaces that are 
attractive, that enhance biodiversity, and 
that encourage people to occupy them 
and interact with other people.

Solutions for greening a street will vary, 
depending on the street’s location and 
intended character. Proposals will range 
from planting mature trees in primary 
streets to including shrubs and planters 
in private front gardens in residential 
areas.

HOW SHOULD THIS BE DONE?
To achieve this:

• identify larger, primary routes for 
mature tree-planting 

• identify break-out spaces or small 
squares for play, seating and planting

• include doorstep play facilities on 
residential streets. These need to be 
well-lit and overlooked (see Topic 2.10, 
Play)

• ensure that robust, high-quality street 
furniture is proposed and well located

• open up views out to the countryside 
or to landmarks

• make boundaries green, where 
possible, by means such as dense 
planting, small hedgerows, or railings 
with planting next to them

• integrate parking with these green 
features so that parked cars do not 
dominate the street scene (see Topic 
2.15, Parking)

• ensure that pedestrians have a level 
and clear route for travel

• integrate street design with the SuDS 
strategy by incorporating street 
swales where appropriate

• set out a clear maintenance and 
management strategy for all planting 
(see Topic 2.8, Landscape and 2.9, 
Biodiversity )

• green streets will be most successful 
when they are designed in conjunction 
with a series of well-devised open 
spaces (Topic 2.6), an effective 
landscape and biodiversity strategy 
(Topics 2.8 and 2.9), and with private 
front gardens (Topic 3.5).

WHY? 
Many local organisations are committed 
to improving the well-being of the 
district’s people. Research by Born in 
Bradford has shown the links between 
green space and good health. These links 
result in, among other things, healthier 
birth weights, reduced risk of depression 
in pregnant women and better mental 
well-being in children.

PRINCIPLE 2.4
With a focus on greening, 
all streets should be 
designed according to 
their function, as set 
out in the movement 
strategy. They should 
become a high-quality 
part of the public 
realm for social and 
environmental benefit.

“THERE ARE BENCHES 
WHERE I CAN HANG OUT 
WITH MY MATES. WHO 
WANTS TO BE STUCK WITH 
THEIR PARENTS ALL THE 
TIME?”

2.4 

GREEN STREETS

Bradford Core Strategy: 
TR1, TR3, TR5, DS3/4 
City Centre AAP: M1, M3, 
M4 
Shipley AAP: ST1, ST2, 
ST3, ST4, ST5, ST6 
Bradford Street Design 
Guide 
NPPF: paragraphs 104, 
127, and 181

2.4

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Page 319

Broadbents_42
Highlight

Broadbents_43
Highlight

Broadbents_44
Highlight

Broadbents_45
Highlight



60 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

1.

2.

3.

Case study: Illustrating a variety of green streets
When designing green streets, there are 
many ways to illustrate the street layout 
(such as plans, 3D aerial views and 
computer-generated images). Different 
techniques should be used to show various 
levels of detail. 

At the design principles stage, and to 
support an outline planning application, 
street sections (below) will show how the 
street works, and how it will be activated 
and greened. The street sections show 
examples of three different street types and 
how front gardens, pedestrians, cyclists, 
cars, planting and lighting can all work 
together. 

1. A connector street: The main streets that 
provide structure in a residential area, with a 
separate cycle lane. 

2. A residential street: General streets in 
residential areas that carry a wide range of 
movement types. 

3. A home zone: Residential streets where 
the road space can be shared between 
drivers and other road users.

Refer to the 
Bradford Street 

Design Guide for 
more technical 

information.

Page 320



61HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

2.4

GREEN STREETSCase study: Further examples of ways to green streets

Paintworks, Bristol

Robust planting in large planters 
softens this otherwise hard-
landscaped mews street. It 
helps to provide a buffer in 
front of individual homes and 
extends to become seating. 
The walkways remain clear and 
uncluttered.

Ninewells, Cambridge

Robust and attractive planting 
separates and breaks up parking 
in front of houses.

Grangetown, Cardiff

Improvements to the streets 
in Grangetown included soft 
landscaping and the integration 
of SuDS features in the form 
of green ‘islands’ that separate 
parking spaces and act as 
traffic calming devices.

Derwenthorpe, York

Although homes face directly on 
to the street, the shrub planting at 
ground level creates a successful 
buffer or threshold between the 
private dwelling and the public 
street. Young street trees are 
positioned opposite front doors, 
which each household will identify 
as demarcating their home. 
This may help to give a sense of 
responsibility and pride as the trees 
mature.

Page 321



62 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

SAFE AND CHARACTERFUL STREETS

PRINCIPLE 2.5
1. There should be a clear distinction 
between public and private areas.

2. New dwelling frontages must define 
the street space with a coherent building 
line that relates to existing building lines. 
This should contribute to an appropriate 
character that relates to the local street 
scene, referencing elements such as 
scale, building rhythm, proportion, 
height, materials and colour.

3. Boundary treatments should be 
designed to contribute positively to the 
character of the area and to the quality 
of the public realm. They should support 
Topic 2.4 in creating green streets.

The design of safe and characterful 
streets must embed the principles above 
with those in the Green Streets topic. The 
guidelines set out in Secured by Design 
guidance should also be referenced.

1. PUBLIC VS PRIVATE
Residential development should be 
based on the design principle embodied 
in perimeter blocks, where the public 
fronts of buildings should relate to the 
network of streets, and private areas 
should be at the back of buildings.

Where such an approach is not possible, 
designers must demonstrate why their 
design solution is appropriate, and that 
it achieves a satisfactory distinction 
between public and private.

Access and servicing at the rear of 
dwellings reduces the level of privacy 
and potentially the security of properties. 
For these reasons, rear parking 
courtyards should be introduced only 
where other parking solutions can not be 
achieved or would erode local character. 
The security and surveillance of these 
areas will need careful consideration.

2. COHERENT BUILDING LINE

House layouts in Burley, Wharfedale illustrate 
the perimeter block principle.

2.5

The building lines of new residential 
developments should be appropriate to 
the local context and should define the 
street space appropriately. Designers 
should consider whether the existing 
local pattern should be continued, or if 
new housing can add richness to the 
character of an area in some other way.

The more continuous a building frontage 
is, the more urban in character it is likely 
to feel. Hence a street of terraced houses 
will feel more urban than a street of 
detached houses. The more consistent 
a building line is, the more ordered and 
formal the character of the street will 
feel.

Generally, more continuous or formal 
building lines are associated with places 
such as centres or primary routes. 
Less continuous or less formal building 
lines are associated with the edges of 
settlements or rural areas.

The gaps between buildings can make an 
important contribution to local character, 
particularly where they occur regularly, 
such as between semi-detached houses.

Page 322



63HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

Low boundary walls between the garden and 
street so homes overlook the street. Trowse 
Hopkins Homes.

It is particularly important for small 
developments and infill schemes to 
reflect the existing pattern of building 
lines where this creates a positive street 
character.

In designing a street scene with 
a distinctive character in a larger 
development, it is desirable to balance 
the degree of consistency and variety. 

Generally, it is good to create:

• a degree of consistency within a 
street, so that it has an identifiable 
character and identity

• variation between different streets so 
that people can recognise one from 
another

3. BOUNDARY TREATMENTS
Boundaries to the public realm should 
relate to the character of the local and 
district area. They should be clearly 
delineated, robust and of high quality, so 
that they last over time. 

Different boundary treatments have 
a variety of characteristics and are 
suitable in different locations. Generally, 
low boundary walls or hedges provide 
separation between public and private 
spaces, ensuring passive overlooking 
of the street and an appropriate level 
of privacy for residents at the front of 
properties. 

Priority should be given to creating green 
boundaries where possible, particularly 
for front gardens, so that the boundary 
treatment will contribute towards the 
creation of a green street (see Topic 2.4). 
This can be in the form of low planting, 
hedges or planting next to low walls or 
railings.

Stretches of blank walls, garden 
fences, garage doors and other hard, 
impermeable boundary treatments 
facing on to streets must be avoided.

Local Plan: DS2, DS3, 
DS4, DS5

Bradford Street Design 
Guide 
 
TfL’s Healthy Streets

Secured by Design

NPPF: paragraphs 91,108, 
110, and 127

“I NEVER USED TO BE 
INTO GARDENING, BUT 
EVERYONE ELSE TAKES 
SUCH GOOD CARE OF 
THEIR FRONT GARDENS I 
THOUGHT I’D JOIN IN”

2.5

SAFE AND 
CHARACTERFUL 

STREETS

PRINCIPLE 2.5
1.  There should be a clear 
distinction between public 
and private areas.

2.  New dwelling frontages 
must define the street space 
with a coherent building 
line that relates to existing 
building lines. 

3.  Boundary treatments 
should be designed to 
contribute positively to the 
character of the area.

Top: Informal lane, with varied building line and 
varied development form. Bottom: Formal street, 
with consistent building line and generally 
consistent set back

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Page 323

Broadbents_46
Highlight

Broadbents_47
Highlight

Broadbents_48
Highlight



64 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

OPEN SPACE

PRINCIPLE 2.6
High-quality and green public open 
spaces must be provided as part of 
residential developments. They must be 
safe and well-overlooked, and provide a 
variety of activities and uses for all ages 
and abilities. They must be supported by 
a robust maintenance strategy. 
 
HOW?

Public open space must be provided 
as part of all proposed residential 
developments and as set out in the Core 
Strategy, EN1 Open Space, Sports and 
Recreation. These must be in the form 
of newly created spaces or enhanced 
existing spaces. Should neither of these 
options be possible on smaller sites, a 
financial contribution to an open space 
nearby may be required. This should be 
discussed with planning officers when 
agreeing the design principles and 
frameworks.

There must be a variety of spaces 
that cater for all ages and abilities of 
residents. Developments within the city 
centre or the Shipley and Canal Road 
Corridor must meet the requirements and 
strategies defined in the associated area 
action plans.

Where blocks of flats are provided that 
give residents a small private outdoor 
space, such as a balcony or terrace, a 
communal garden must be provided if 
the building does not face directly over a 
public open space. These gardens must 
be high-quality, green spaces that look 
attractive and enhance local biodiversity. 
Communal gardens must be managed 
and maintained by the company that 
runs the block of flats.

Open spaces must be integral to 
development proposals. To achieve this, 
an open space strategy must be devised 
when establishing the design principles 
and frameworks for a scheme. This must 
be agreed with Council officers before 
developing the scheme further. 

2.6

A central green with a variety of 
uses including play facilities, SuDS 

features, tree planting, seating, open 
play space, food growing planters 

and natural play. All overlooked 
by neighbouring homes and well 

connected in a central location

Page 324



65HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

PRINCIPLE  2.6

High-quality and green 
public open spaces must 
be provided as part of 
residential developments. 
They must be safe and 
well-overlooked, and 
provide a variety of 
activities and uses for all 
ages and abilities. They 
must be supported by 
a robust maintenance 
strategy.

Bradford Core Strategy: 
EN1

City Centre AAP: M6

Shipley AAP: SCRC/
HSC2

Fields in Trust guidance

NPPF: paragraphs 91, 96, 
171, and 127

“THERE’S A SLIDE AND 
SWINGS IN THE PARK 
BUT I LIKE CLIMBING ON 
THE TREE-TRUNK BRIDGE 
BEST”

2.6

OPEN SPACE

THE FUNCTION OF THE SPACE IN 
RELATION TO SURROUNDING HOUSING

The Fields in Trust guide Planning and 
Design for Outdoor Sport and Play should 
be followed to ensure an adequate mix 
and design of open spaces. The type of 
open space must be relevant to the type 
of housing provided close by, to ensure 
that it will be used and enjoyed.

Medium to large open spaces should 
be designed as multi-use green spaces 
with a mix of facilities for a wide range of 
uses.

LOCATION AND ORIENTATION

To ensure that it is used and enjoyed, an 
open space must:

• form part of a wider network of open 
spaces and streets

• create a safe, focal point, located 
so that the space appeals to a wide 
range of potential users and is well 
overlooked by home frontages

• be well located so that it is easy and 
safe to access from the dwellings it 
are intended to serve, in both existing 
and new communities

• be positioned to receive direct 
sunlight

• be located for its benefit to the 
community, not on left-over areas that 
are hard to develop.

INTEGRATING SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
DRAINAGE FEATURES 
Open spaces must contribute to the 
blue infrastructure of the local area 
and, where suitable, include attractive 
drainage features such as ponds and 
soakaways. Such features must be 
designed to enrich the landscape and 
ecology of the space, for example by 
introducing wetland habitats, rather 
than simply being functional landscape 
drainage features. (See Water and 
drainage strategy, Topic 2.7).

WHY?
The Council is giving high priority to 
dealing with issues relating to poor 
air quality and poor health, both of 
which can be targeted by improving 
the amount, quality and access to open 
space, and through significant greening 
of urban areas.

Research by Born in Bradford shows 
that parks with high levels of amenities, 
such as seating, picnic tables, drinking 
fountains and bins, provide the greatest 
level of satisfaction. Other factors that 
encourage the use of open spaces are 
natural green features, water features, 
activities for children, places for 
social interactions, and spaces that 
are enjoyable for adults and children. 
Open spaces have been found to be 
most successful when designed in 
collaboration with the local community. 
(See Play, Topic 2.10).

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Case study: Coin Street Community Builders

Coin Street  Community Builders’ cooperative housing scheme in London offers affordable 
rents for individuals and families in housing need. The flats have been designed around a 
communal garden which all residents can access. The cooperative delivery and management 
model means that tenants manage and maintain the development and grounds. 

Page 325

Broadbents_49
Highlight



66 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRINCIPLE 2.7
Local blue infrastructure should be 
extended and integrated into new 
residential developments, improving 
outdoor amenity, enhancing biodiversity, 
providing urban cooling, and supporting 
a sustainable drainage system for the 
scheme.

Applicants should refer to the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority SuDS 
Guidance and the CIRIA SuDS Manual for 
full information on the expectations of 
drainage proposals for new homes and 
neighbourhoods in Bradford. The Council 
encourages applicants to discuss 
drainage strategies with an officer early 
in the design process. It should be noted 
that while a flood risk assessment 
is needed only for certain sites and 
applications, a drainage strategy must be 
carried out in all cases.

The consideration of a drainage strategy 
may seem like a technical and standard 
element of residential development 
design, but for Bradford it should be 
considered as one of the main elements 
shaping the design of a scheme’s open 
space, landscaping and street design.

Proposals should set out a strategy for 
robust, attractive and well-managed 
drainage that will help to create a 
resilient, sustainable and highly-valued 
place to live.

Sustainable drainage schemes should:

• be introduced early in the process

• integrate sensitively with the local 
existing water network

• give priority to sustainable 
drainage processes rather than 
large underground water-storage 
arrangements

• have a clear management and 
maintenance plan

• provide positive elements that 
contribute to the variety of character in 
open space for people to enjoy

• include recreational routes for 
walking, cycling and playing, and any 
associated facilities that encourage 
interaction and play, where possible

• promote and enhance native 
biodiversity

• be well linked to movement, open 
space, play, landscape and biodiversity 
strategies

• conserve water resources. Potable 
water consumption should be 
minimised where possible through 
measures such as rainwater collection 
for garden irrigation or use within 
the home, and installing toilets and 
appliances that use relatively little 
water

• take account of issues associated with 
land contamination on sites where 
remediation is taking place.

WATER AND DRAINAGE

2.7

Using the canal for leisure and travel - Saltaire on the Leeds Liverpool Canal 

Page 326

Broadbents_50
Highlight



67HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

Definitions

Sustainable drainage system 
(SuDS) Physical structures built 
to receive surface water run-off, 
including constructed wetlands, 
detention basins, infiltration devices, 
permeable surfaces, retention ponds, 
green roofs and swales. SuDS are 
designed to reduce pollution and 
flood risk in watercourses and 
wetlands, and to improve biodiversity 
in urban areas.

Blue-green infrastructure A natural 
water system cycle that contributes 
to the amenity of a place, including 
such features as canals, rivers, 
ponds, SuDs, hedgerows, woodlands 
and parks.

PRINCIPLE 2.7
Local blue infrastructure 
should be extended 
and integrated into new 
residential developments, 
improving outdoor 
amenity, enhancing 
biodiversity, providing 
urban cooling, and 
supporting a sustainable 
drainage system for the 
scheme.

“I USED TO TRY TO STOP 
MY DOG JUMPING IN THE 
PONDS, BUT IT’S HER 
IDEA OF FUN”

Core Strategy: EN7, DS2

City Centre AAP: M6 
Shipley AAP: CC1, NBE2, 
NBE3

West Yorkshire SuDS 
Guidance 

CIRIA SuDS Manual

NPPF: paragraphs 163, 165, 
and 170

WATER AND AMENITY
Much of Bradford’s history and success 
is based on the role of the Leeds and 
Liverpool canal, the River Aire and 
Bradford Beck for transport, power 
and communication. These waterways 
serviced wool and textile manufacturing, 
both in homes and mills, in the industrial 
revolution. This legacy has led to the 
watercourses not being as attractive 
or accessible as they could be. New 
development provides an opportunity to 
improve the quality of these waterfronts. 

This would deliver significant 
environmental, social and economic 
benefits for the district. 

Development on waterfront sites must 
include the following features:

• positive building frontages and roof 
forms

• larger windows

• balconies

• places to sit out

• public access with paths and spaces 

• enhancement of wildlife habitats 

• careful consideration of materials and 
boundary treatments.

WHY?
The Council wants to use water to help 
to provide solutions for some of the 
district’s challenges. These include 
improving the air quality and the health 
and well-being of its residents. Making 
good use of water bodies in new 
developments will also help to provide 
urban cooling, especially in more built-up 
areas. 

2.7

WATER AND 
DRAINAGE 

Case study: Greener Grangetown, Cardiff

At Greener Grangetown, the urban realm was redesigned to include soft landscaping and the 
creation of SuDS, such as rain gardens, so that water could be absorbed by vegetation or 
gradually through the ground, reducing the amount entering the drains. This frees the network 
up for wider area flood management, resulting in greener and more attractive streets. 

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Page 327



68 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

LANDSCAPE

PRINCIPLE 2.8
A landscape strategy must be set out for 
every housing development proposal. 
The strategy should include a variety 
of landscape features with a clear plan 
for both the private and public realms, 
and a supporting management and 
maintenance strategy.

The landscape strategy should be closely 
linked with the Open space, Biodiversity 
and Play strategies (Topics 2.6, 2.9 and 
2.10).

Every opportunity should be taken to 
integrate well-designed landscape with 
a rich and native biodiversity into new 
housing development.

Medium and large developments will 
need the input of a landscape architect 
to design a diverse and robust landscape 
proposal.

HOW?
The landscape proposal should:

1. Provide a mixture of landscape 
features that are appropriate to the 
needs of local residents. 

These may include natural play features, 
allotments for growing food, floral 
gardens for older people to sit in or wild 
planted areas to provide habitats for 
local species.

2. Propose landscape in both public and 
private areas. 

Communal and public open spaces will 
include landscape proposals to meet 
Bradford’s priorities, encouraging people 
to spend time outside, walking, playing 
and interacting with other people. 
Landscaping features should also be 
designed into private gardens. There 
should be a clear strategy for front and 

2.8

Case study: Brentford Lock, Brentford, Greater London

A variety of landscaped spaces is provided in this mixed tenure residential scheme next to the River Brent, in the form of 
courtyards, roof gardens, terraces, balconies and parts of the public realm.

Page 328

Broadbents_51
Highlight



69HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

PRINCIPLE 2.8
A landscape strategy 
must be set out for every 
housing development 
proposal. The strategy 
should include a variety 
of landscape features 
with a clear plan for both 
the private and public 
realms, and a supporting 
management and 
maintenance strategy.

Local Plan: EN2, EN4, 
EN5

City Centre AAP: M5

Shipley & Canal Rd AAP: 
SCRC/NBE1, SCRC/NBE2, 
SCRC/NBE4

NPPF: paragraphs 127, 
150, 170, and 181

“THE BEST THING? 
CYCLING TO WORK ALONG 
THE CANAL”

2.8

LANDSCAPE

back gardens; for example, the front 
garden may support the development of 
green streets (Topic 2.4)  and the back 
garden enhance a green corridor and 
its associated biodiversity, and provide 
space for play (Topic 2.10).

3. Retain existing mature landscape 
features.  

Development proposals and the 
open spaces within them should be 
designed around the existing high-
quality landscape features on the site, 
particularly the areas that support 
existing biodiversity, wildlife habitats 
and protected species. See Topic 2.9, 
Biodiversity.

4. Increase the number of trees. 

New trees should be planted on all 
new developments in both public and 
private areas. They should have the 
space to mature and contribute to the 
development of local wildlife habitats 
in the future. If tree felling is necessary 
or appropriate, replacements must be 
planted and maintained in their place, 
providing at least one new tree for every 
tree lost. If young trees replace mature 
trees, they should be planted at a ratio of 
two trees for every tree lost.

Trees should be discussed with the 
Council’s tree officer and technical 
guidance sought for design details such 
as tree pits.

5. Be sensitive to character.

The type of landscape should relate 
to the unique context of the site. For 
example, landscaping next to a rural area 

should be more natural and informal, 
responding to the type of countryside 
that surrounds it. Central or urban areas 
should be more formal and consistent.

6. Include a robust management and 
maintenance strategy.

Such a strategy should clearly identify 
whose responsibility it will be to keep the 
landscaping in good order and maturing 
over time, and to programme how this 
will be done. A more innovative approach 
to this could be to harness community 
support and ownership for the scheme, 
which could then be managed and 
looked after by a community group. 

WHY?

Bradford Council is committed to 
significantly improving the district’s poor 
air quality, which is damaging the health 
and lives of many of its inhabitants. 
Creating biodiverse landscapes can help 
in several ways:

• creating a carbon sink to manage car 
and industry emissions

• encouraging people to walk or cycle 
rather than using a car by improving 
open spaces and streets 

• providing shade and urban cooling

• helping to mitigate flooding by 
absorbing water run-off

• improving the quality of open spaces 
and streets for the benefit of local 
people.

Community 
Centre

Key

Tree survey
N

Category C - 
removed 

Category B - 
removed 

Area where tree removal 
could be considered 
subject to detail design

Trees 
retained

New trees 

Community 
Centre

Key

Tree survey
N

Category C - 
removed 

Category B - 
removed 

Area where tree removal 
could be considered 
subject to detail design

Trees 
retained

New trees 

Community 
Centre

Key

Tree survey
N

Category C - 
removed 

Category B - 
removed 

Area where tree removal 
could be considered 
subject to detail design

Trees 
retained

New trees 

Case study: Tree strategies

Tree surveys should be carried out, 
which will identify the category of 
trees on the sites. 

Wherever possible, Category A and B 
trees should be retained.

Where trees have to be removed 
and the layout and proposal clearly 
justifies this, replacement trees 
should be proposed (see paragraph 4 
on this page).

Landscape proposals should be 
designed to enhance existing clusters 
of trees and other existing mature 
landscape features.

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Page 329

Broadbents_52
Highlight

Broadbents_53
Highlight

Broadbents_54
Highlight

Broadbents_55
Highlight

Broadbents_56
Highlight

Broadbents_57
Highlight

Broadbents_58
Highlight

Broadbents_59
Highlight

Broadbents_60
Highlight

Broadbents_61
Highlight



70 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

BIODIVERSITY

2.9

PRINCIPLE 2.9
All proposals must provide a net gain 
for biodiversity. This should be done by 
considering and enhancing biodiversity 
at the levels of neighbourhood, street 
and household.

lines, diverse grass verges, hedges 
and water features so that species 
can move through the development. 
This also contributes to climate 
change resilience.

5. Provide  meaningful open spaces with 
areas for people and areas for wildlife. 

STREET

6. Include areas of wildlife habitats 
wherever possible, such as trees, 
diverse grass verges, native shrub 
areas and linkages.

7. Ensure that wildlife can pass through 
street environments by creating 
badger underpasses and hedgehog 
passes between gardens.  

8. Avoid grated drains, which can be 
lethal for amphibians.

INDIVIDUAL HOUSE

9. Incorporate swift ledges, bat tiles and 
bricks, and bird features into the fabric 
of new homes.

10. Plant each garden with a fruit tree.

11. Avoid solid fences and walls between 
gardens wherever possible. Instead 
use shrubs, hedges and open-rail 
fences so that animals can move 
freely through green spaces.

As set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), all new housing 
schemes should provide a demonstrable 
net gain for biodiversity. Incorporating 
biodiversity into new development 
should be considered at the start of the 
design process in order to fully optimise 
the existing features and habitats on the 
site and to ensure that the needs of local 
wildlife is given priority alongside the 
needs of people.  

The Council supports the Wildlife 
Trusts’ publication Homes for people 
and wildlife, which provides valuable 
guidance.

The following scales of biodiversity 
should be considered and proposed: 

NEIGHBOURHOOD

1. Incorporate SuDs that include 
features which support wildlife 
habitats. Examples include green 
roofs and walls, wetland swathes, soft 
landscaping, tree planting and ponds.

2. Ensure that planting is dominated by 
native species of local provenance, 
to maximise the value for wildlife. For 
advice and a full list of appropriate 
native species, contact the Council’s 
biodiversity officer.

3. Include nectar and pollen species, and 
berry- and seed-producing species for 
bees, butterflies and birds.

4. Provide and enhance connectivity 
habitats and corridors such as tree Hedgehog haven at Kingsbrook, Aylesbury

Page 330



71HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

Medium and large developments will 
need the input of an ecologist to support 
diverse and robust biodiversity. 

 
MAINTENANCE

To ensure a successful long-term net 
gain in biodiversity, applicants must 
provide a strategy for the maintenance 
and management of biodiversity 
features, integrated with the open space 
and landscape strategies. This will be 
enhanced by providing information 
leaflets to residents about wildlife 
features within the development to 
improve the connection, pride and sense 
of responsibility between people and 
their local wildlife habitats.

Case study: Oakfield Village, Kingsbrook, Aylesbury

The RSPB is working with Barratt Developments, Aylesbury Vale District and AVDC 
Ecologists as part of the Kingsbrook development of 2,450 homes to create a wildlife-
friendly neighbourhood. It includes features such as bat and swift boxes, the retention of 
mature green space, the planting of orchards and the creation of hedgehog highways. The 
research has shown that homes designed to give priority to natural habitats are good not 
only for wildlife, but also for human health and well-being.

WHY?

The Council’s statutory duty under 
the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006 to conserve 
biodiversity is further reinforced by 
the NPPF. The conservation and 
enhancement of biodiversity and green 
spaces is widely acknowledged to be of 
paramount importance to people’s health 
and well-being. This was referenced by 
the key stakeholders Born in Bradford 
and the Older and Disabled People’s 
Group when developing this guide.

PRINCIPLE 2.9
All proposals must 
provide a net gain for 
biodiversity. This should 
be done by considering 
and enhancing 
biodiversity at the levels 
of neighbourhood, street 
and household.

Local Plan: EN2, EN4, 
EN5

City Centre AAP: M5

Shipley & Canal Rd AAP: 
SCRC/NBE1, SCRC/NBE2, 
SCRC/NBE4

NPPF: paragraphs 127, 
150, 170, and 181

2.9

BIODIVERSITY

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

“THEY SEEM TO HAVE 
PLANTED AT LEAST TWO 
NEW TREES FOR EVERY 
ONE THEY HAD TO TAKE 
OUT”

Page 331

Broadbents_62
Highlight



72 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Definitions

Doorstep play Small spaces near housing specifically designed 
for play, which may or may not have some small items of 
equipment, or other features for toddlers and seating for adults 
(Play England)

PLAY

PRINCIPLE 2.10
Housing developments should provide 
children and young people of all ages 
and abilities with a variety of safe and 
accessible play spaces and facilities 
which are soft, green, inspiring and 
educational.

All residential and neighbourhood 
development should provide a range of 
opportunities for children and young 
people of all ages and abilities to play. 
This should either be as new features, 
or the enhancement of existing. Such 
opportunities should be considered from 
the small scale in the home and street, 
to the medium scale in local parks, and 
through to providing direct and safe 
access to large play areas, pitches and 
the countryside beyond.

The play strategy should indicate how all 
ages of children and young people have 
been catered for. A robust management 
and maintenance plan should be 
included.

The following guidelines set out 
examples of how play proposals should 
be identified at each of these scales.

HOME
Homes with two or more bedrooms 
should have a well-sized outdoor space 
(a balcony, terrace or garden) that is 
private, enclosed, usable (balconies 
at least 1.5m deep) and with minimal 
overlooking by neighbours, where young 
children will be safe to play outside. 
The space should be connected to the 
living room or kitchen so that parents 
can easily watch over their children. See 
Topic 3.5 Outdoor space.

DOORSTEP PLAY
Residential streets should include some 
doorstep play (see definition in the 
box). Such spaces should be positioned 
so that they are overlooked by the 
neighbouring homes (such as by living 
room windows and front doors facing the 
street). They should be integrated with 
the street so that movement, planting, 
parking, servicing and play all work safely 
and attractively together.

Small open spaces on streets should be 
used for formal or informal play, and as 
places to sit. They should enhance the 
character and quality of the street, and 
be located on circulation routes so that 
they are well overlooked.

Play can happen without designated equipment

2.10

Page 332



73HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

SAFE CIRCULATION ROUTES WITH 
INCIDENTAL PLAY
Play should be considered alongside the 
Movement strategy (Topic 2.3) so that 
there are safe, low-trafficked routes for 
children and young people to play along. 
Informal play features along these routes 
should provide interesting and attractive 
recreational features.

LOCAL PARKS AND SPORTS PITCHES
Appropriate larger open spaces 
should be included in all large-scale 
developments. Local parks and greens 
should provide a mix of amenities for all 
ages and genders. These might include 
sports pitches, skate parks, shelters, 
play equipment, dog-walking areas, 
seating and planted areas. Such areas 
should be designed in collaboration with 
the local community. They should be 
easily accessible and well overlooked 
by housing. All equipment and facilities 
should meet Fields in Trust standards.

ACCESS TO THE COUNTRYSIDE
As well as enhancing views out to the 
local countryside, new homes and 
neighbourhoods should enable easy 
access out to it, where location allows. 
This should be done by using well-lit 
paths, clear signage and routes that 
connect with public rights of way. Linking 
up with local community groups to 
promote the benefits of getting outdoors 
will also help to increase and protect the 
use of the local countryside.

PRINCIPLE 2.10 
Housing developments 
should provide children 
and young people of all 
ages and abilities with 
a variety of safe and 
accessible play spaces 
and facilities which are 
soft, green, inspiring and 
educational.

Local plan: EN1 
Shipley & Canal Rd AAP: 
SCRC/HSC2

Fields in Trust guidance

NPPF: paragraphs 91, 96, 
110, and 127 

“MY DAD TAKES ME 
TO THE PARK ON MY 
SCOOTER. HE CAN’T KEEP 
UP WITH ME!”

2.10

PLAY  

WHY?
The benefits of outdoor play to children’s 
health, well-being and emotional and 
social development are well-researched 
by Born in Bradford. By creating 
welcoming, stimulating and enjoyable 
places for play, good parks and play 
spaces can make a real difference 
to children’s lives. They also help to 
support families and build more cohesive 
communities. 

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Case study: Cornwell Park, Paragon, Cambridge

This play facility provides a mixture of formal equipment, natural features, open grass space 
and circulation routes that will interest a wide age group. The area is well-overlooked by 
local housing.

‘When playing, children choose 
what to do, how to do it and who to 

do it with. Play takes many forms: 
doing nothing in particular; doing 

lots; being boisterous; showing off; 
being contemplative; being alone; 

being social; being challenged; 
being thwarted; overcoming 

difficulties. Through play, children 
explore the world and learn to take 

responsibility for their own choices.’  
Design for Play: a guide to creating 

successful play spaces, Shackell  
et al (2008).

Page 333

Broadbents_63
Highlight



74 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Water and drainage - Shipley Wharf 
on the Leeds and Liverpool Canal 

Page 334



75HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

PRINCIPLE 2.11
Residential development must create 
a housing mix that meets local policy 
and suits the full range of needs of the 
local area’s residents. The design of the 
housing, in terms of its form and layout, 
should reflect the type of housing being 
provided.  

HOW?
The mix and tenure of new homes should 
meet local policy and support the Council 
in providing a mix of affordable housing. 
All housing should support the creation 
of inclusive communities, with the right 
balance of privacy and integration for all 
residents.  As set out in Topic 3.2 Internal 
layouts, all house types must have the 
potential to be adaptable as residents’ 
needs change.

Sites that are located close to 
neighbourhood centres, community 
facilities and transport hubs are likely 
to be suitable to house more vulnerable 
residents, including older and disabled 
people.

Applicants should consider the 
implications on the design of buildings 
for different housing types. Such 
considerations include:

• Older people’s housing: this works well 
when it is low-rise, with front doors 
facing around a communal area which 
includes gardens and parking. The 
case study of Canary Drive on page 
77 is an example of older people’s 
housing.

• Blocks of flats: here residents need 
clear definition of private space, in 
terms of layout, views out and sound 
separation. Communal entrances 
and shared gardens or courtyards 
should be generous, to help to provide 

HOUSING MIX 

PRINCIPLE 2.11
Residential development 
must create a housing 
mix that meets local 
policy and suits the full 
range of needs of the 
local area’s residents. The 
design of the housing, 
in terms of its form and 
layout, should reflect the 
type of housing being 
provided.  

Local Plan: H08, H09

NPPF: paragraphs 61, 
and  62

“ME AND MY NEIGHBOURS 
ARE ALL GETTING OLDER 
AND WE’RE NOT THAT 
MOBILE, BUT WE LOOK OUT 
FOR EACH OTHER”

2.11

HOUSING MIX

additional usable space and bring 
people together.

• Multi-generational homes: the case 
study on page 96 gives an example of 
how a multi-generational home can 
work well as an end-of-terrace unit. 
This provides two street-level access 
points, and the building layout can 
allow two generations of a family to 
live independently, but connected. 
It is also a way of providing active 
frontages on a corner plot.

• Accessible homes: the design of 
homes for disabled people needs care 
and attention as the residents often 
feel vulnerable and are dependent on 
others. Valued features include large 
windows, providing plenty of natural 
light; a front door close to an allocated 
parking bay; being located next to 
‘standard’ house types; and units on 
the ground floor.

• Affordable homes: schemes that 
include a mix of housing tenures 
should ensure that the scheme is 
designed to be tenure blind. This must 
include giving residents of affordable 
homes equal access to local facilities, 
amenities and infrastructure.

WHY?
Bradford has a large proportion of old 
homes, including many built before 1919. 
With 124,000 people under the age of 
16, it is the youngest city in the country, 
and it also has an increasing ageing 
population. Many of its accessible 
homes are adapted from old stock, and 
do not meet current standards. 

To meet these needs, Bradford requires 
new housing types and appropriate 
mixes that are well-designed and of high 
quality, and which provide aspirational 
and interesting places to live.

2.11

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Page 335

Broadbents_64
Highlight

Broadbents_65
Highlight

Broadbents_66
Highlight



76 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

TOPOGRAPHY AND GROUND 
CONDITIONS

PRINCIPLE 2.12
For sites with varying topography, 
development proposals must work with 
the natural slopes as much as possible 
to take advantage of the site’s unique 
characteristics (which will become a 
part of the development’s identity) and 
minimise the cost of groundworks.

Bradford District’s natural topography is 
a distinctive characteristic of the region, 
so working with the natural topography in 
the design process creates opportunities 
for opening up views, integrating parking, 
designing interesting house types, and 
providing good access to natural light.

This unique topography means that there 
are many challenging ground conditions 
that are likely to have an impact on the 
potential of any new development. As 
set out in Topic 1.2, the condition of the 
Topography and ground conditions will 
have been reviewed at the site analysis 
stage, so the extent of constraints and 
costs will have been accounted for. 

The issues include:

• Gradient

• Land use history

• Land quality (including 
contamination)

• Geology

• Mining history of the area 

• Ground stability
The issues of mining, ground stability 
and contamination will have the 
greatest impact on the viability and 
deliverability of a scheme, so they must 
be given priority for detailed analysis 
before design of the development gets 
underway.

The required extent (and cost) of any 
cut-and-fill is also important to establish 
early in the project.

On sloping ground, scheme layouts 
often work best when set out along 
the contours of the site. The location 
of open spaces and the orientation of 
streets should be considered as a way of 
opening up long-distance views across 
the valley. 

There are precedents for building 
footprints to be stepped along the street 
frontage, or for homes to be designed 
with split levels, with access points from 
different sides of the building (see case 
study opposite). In such cases it may be 
possible to give living rooms additional 
floor-to-ceiling heights.

For flats and apartment buildings, it may 
be possible for parking to be integrated 
into a semi-basement accessed from a 
lower level than the entrance lobby.

Top: The roofline and built form of a row of terraced houses mirrors the slope. 
(Stanley Street, Bingley). Bottom: Terraced homes step down the street to 
accommodate the gradient.

2.12

Page 336



77HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

PRINCIPLE  2.12
For sites with varying 
topography, development 
proposals must work 
with the natural slopes as 
much as possible to take 
advantage of the site’s 
unique characteristics 
(which will become a part 
of the development’s 
identity) and minimise 
the cost of groundworks.

Local Plan: DS1, DS2, DS3

Building for Life: Q5, Q6, 
Q9

CIRA: A guide to small 
brownfield sites and land 
contamination (RR15)

“MUM DOESN’T LIKE US 
SKATING DOWN THE HILL, 
BUT WE CAN GO REALLY 
FAST!”

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

2.12

TOPOGRAPHY 
& GROUND 

CONDITIONS

Case study: Canary Drive, Gilstead

This 36-unit development for older people 
was designed to meet the Lifetime Homes 
criteria. It was important that all homes 
had level access, which was provided on 
the sloping site using an over-and-under 
arrangement. Here, the top flat is accessed 
from a street on a higher level, and the 
bottom flat from a lower level.

The homes were arranged around two 
mews courts to enhance opportunities for 
interaction, and to maximise the benefit of 
light and heat from the southerly aspect.

While accessibility can be a challenge 
on hilly sites, homes designed to be 
adaptable and/or accessible (Building 
Regulations Part M, M4 (2) and (3) unit 
types) should be located on flatter 
areas of the site, where residents can 
easily access local amenities and public 
transport without encountering difficult 
gradients. Places to rest should be 
provided along steeper pedestrian routes 
(see Topic 2.17, Making inclusive places).

WHY?
Designing new homes to work with 
the existing topography as much as 
possible helps to minimise the cost of 
groundworks, and it will help to deliver 
this guide’s Priority 5 and 6, creating 
distinctive identity in neighbourhoods 
and opening up views.

Page 337

Broadbents_67
Highlight



78 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

ROOFS AND BUILDING FORMS

2.13

PRINCIPLE 2.13
Proposals must demonstrate how the 
building and roof form have responded 
to the local character and context of the 
site, and how they work with each other in 
the new development.

The physical form of new buildings 
contributes greatly to a neighbourhood’s 
identity and character. By applying an 
understanding of local roof forms, a 
new development can relate easily and 
positively to its surrounding context to 
reinforce the distinctive local character. 

Important aspects to consider are:

• roof type, scale and pitch

• orientation relative to the street or 
main frontage

• building scale and proportions

• projecting elements, such as 
dormer windows, bays, porches and 
chimneys.

Among the most common building types 
in Bradford are terraced housing and 
large mill buildings, often located next 
to each other. This sets a precedent for 
considering the building form for large 
blocks of flats and clusters of houses. 
This does not mean that roof and building 
forms should be copied or replicated 
from these historic precedents in all 
cases. Some sites will suit a similar form 
and layout, while others will benefit from 
a different arrangement.

Homes in Bradford should be designed 
to give human scale. For larger buildings, 
such as blocks of flats or maisonettes, 
this can sometimes be done by 
ensuring that the building form is well-
proportioned and the elevation is broken 
down, especially at ground level.

As Bradford is known for its varying 
topography, consideration should be 
given to the overall appearance of roofs 
when seen from afar, particularly when 
houses are positioned along a slope or 
over undulating ground.  Depending on 
the pitch, scale and orientation of roofs, 
they can become a prominent visual 
feature of a new neighbourhood for 
people moving around the streets and 
surrounding area.

The design of roofs and buildings need 
not to be complicated. The repetition of 
simple forms can be successful.

Repeated roof forms in Apperley Green give 
the development character and an interesting 
frontage to the Leeds Liverpool Canal

Page 338

Broadbents_68
Highlight



79HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS
Local Plan: DS3

NPPF: paragraph 127

“THE HOUSES REMIND 
ME OF SOME OF THE 
TRADITIONAL BUILDINGS 
ROUND HERE”

2.13

ROOFS AND 
BUILDING FORMS

PRINCIPLE 2.13
Proposals must 
demonstrate how the 
building and roof form 
have responded to the 
local character and 
context of the site, and 
how they work with 
each other in the new 
development.

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS
Case study: Lister Mill, Bradford

Contemporary curving pods on top of Lister Mill provide an unusual,human-scale response 
to the geometric, formal and large-scale original mill building.

 

Case study: Chain Street, Bradford

The new homes in the Chain Street development, facing older buildings, are sensitively 
designed using a similar stone for the ground-floor elevation and a series of gable ends 
under pitched roofs with gable ends that create a regular rhythm along the street. 

Page 339

Broadbents_69
Highlight



80 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

St Paul’s Road, Manningham - a key building 
provides the view at the end of the road

Page 340



81HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

KEY BUILDINGS AND CORNERS

PRINCIPLE 2.14
Development proposals should use 
particular buildings as focal points within 
a neighbourhood, located on key corners, 
facing on to an open space, or at the end 
of a view corridor. 

All corner building plots should provide 
continued frontage to the street edge.

KEY BUILDINGS
Key buildings should help with 
wayfinding, and should contribute 
to creating a positive and distinctive 
character, drawn from an understanding 
of the surrounding context.

Their location should be identified during 
the masterplan design process as they 
are important in creating an interesting 
and characterful place that people can 
navigate with ease. Supported by a 
well-connected street network, such 
buildings will be positioned in visually 
prominent locations, be distinct from 
other buildings nearby, and help to 
define streets and spaces.  

This may be achieved by:

• additional height

• additional volume (a larger home, for 
example)

• different materials

• a varied approach to the architectural 
detail, such as the form of the roof, or 
the design of the entrance or windows.  

Depending on the prominence of the key 
building, it may achieve one, two, three 
or all of these means of differentiation. 
In any case, these design features 
should be meaningful and related to the 
building or masterplan concept rather 
than being an arbitrary way of creating 
difference.

Although key buildings are identified 
here for their location, rather than their 
use, these landmark buildings will be 
well suited for non-residential uses, 
such as community halls, or alternative 
residential types, such as a block of flats 
in an area dominated by houses. 

Vistas  along streets should be 
terminated positively by buildings or a 
long view, e.g. of countryside beyond, 
and not by parking spaces, garages or 
garden fences.

CORNERS
Building layout, elevation and use must 
be carefully considered on the corners of 
streets. Traditional terrace housing often 
has blank gable ends facing a street, but 
a development is likely to work better 
if the building is designed to turn the 
corner and maintain its frontage.

This can be done in the following ways:

• specific house types that have a dual 
frontage and create a private back 
garden in an innovative way (see the 
multi-generation housing case study 
on page 96).

• using flats to turn the corner. This can 
help to make a gateway into the street, 
provide dual frontages, give variety 
to the street-scene, and provide a 
dwelling type that does not require a 
back garden (which is often difficult 
to achieve on a corner plot), with 
balconies being provided instead.

PRINCIPLE 2.14
Development proposals 
should use particular 
buildings as focal points 
within a neighbourhood, 
located on key corners, 
facing on to an open 
space, or at the end of a 
view corridor. 

All corner building plots 
should provide continued 
frontage to the street 
edge.

Local Plan: DS4

NPPF: paragraphs 127, 
185, and 194

“THERE’S A TALL BUILDING 
NEXT TO THE PARK. WHEN 
I SEE THE TABLES AND 
CHAIRS ON THE BALCONIES 
I KNOW WE’RE NEARLY 
THERE”

2.14

KEY BUILDINGS  
AND CORNERS

2.14

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Page 341

Broadbents_70
Highlight



82 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

What Core strategy 
requirements

Other key requirements as 
part of this SPD

Car parking: 
Non city/
town centre

1.5 spaces per dwelling 
average

To be designed using the 
guidance set out in this 
section

Car parking: 
city/town 
centre

Assessed based on 
proximity to public 
transport and local 
amenities and housing 
mix (Council seeking to 
minimise the number of 
spaces provided on site)

To be designed using the 
guidance set out in this 
section

Disabled car 
parking

No requirements Spaces should be located 
next to the associated 
dwelling, with clear, direct and 
step-free route between car 
and front door 

Electric Encourages the use of 
alternative fuels e.g. 
electric vehicle (EV) 
charging points (Policy 
TR1)

1 charging point per unit 
(dwelling with dedicated 
parking) or 1 charging point 
per 10 spaces (unallocated 
parking)

Car club Support for alternative 
models of vehicle 
ownership to improve 
environmental impact 
(Policy TR5)

Medium-large sized 
developments should identify 
appropriate locations for car 
club vehicles that are easy 
and safe to access

Cycle 1 secure stand per unit for 
long-stay parking. 1 stand 
per unit for short-stay

To de designed using 
standards set out on in this 
section

PARKING

PRINCIPLE 2.15
Provide cycle and car parking that is 
safe and functional, and that neither 
constrains pedestrian movement nor 
dominates the street scene.  

Parking must be successfully integrated 
within the dwelling curtilage and/or the 
public realm, adhering to the technical 
requirements set out in the Bradford 
Street Design Guide.

The table opposite provides a summary 
of the different types of parking required 
for new homes and neighbourhood 
schemes, based on the Core Strategy 
requirements and additional guidelines in 
this section. This principle must be read 
in conjunction with the Bradford Street 
Design Guide, which provides additional 
technical requirements.

CAR PARKING
‘It is important that parking is located 
within new developments so that it 
supports the overall quality of the area and 
does not detract away from the character 
and quality of street scenes.’ Para 5.2.27 
of the Core Strategy.

While Bradford District’s wider strategy 
aims to influence a shift towards 
sustainable travel modes (refer Topic 
1.5 Prioritising the environment), 
providing adequate parking is essential 
for all developments. When parking is 
integrated, well-designed, and provided 
in the right locations, cars are less likely 
to be parked inappropriately, which 
improves the quality of the street scene 
and minimises resident stress and 
tensions between neighbours. It also 
allows footpaths to be used safely and 
easily by pedestrians, wheelchair users, 
people with visual impairments, and 
parents with buggies.

2.15

Longcross North, Chertsey. Integral garage with parking in front of house is 
softened by landscaping.

Table to summarise parking that must be provided for all new homes and 
neighbourhood schemes

Page 342

Broadbents_71
Highlight



83HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

HOW TO INTEGRATE HIGH-QUALITY CAR 
PARKING

Streets across the District are known 
to be dominated by the appearance of 
parked cars.  This creates unattractive 
environments and discourages active 
movement, impacting on the health and 
wellbeing of residents. To ensure that 
new developments do not produce the 
same outcomes, the following must 
be considered in order to successfully 
integrate parking:

• use of an appropriate variety of 
parking types (see ‘Car parking types’ 
below) to prevent a monotonous look 
and feel of the street scene (this has 
also proved to increase capacity)

• well-overlooked with active 
ground floor frontage and natural 
surveillance, e.g. from large windows 
and balconies placed above ground 
level, particularly when using integral 
parking or narrow house types

• use of trees and planting to soften 
the effect of parked cars against hard 
surface materials, particularly within 
the street to create an inviting and 
attractive environment despite the 
presence of parked cars

• limiting the use of tarmac and white 
lines for parking areas to avoid a 
typical ‘highways’ appearance; 
permeable solutions are encouraged 
to prevent pooling and flooding

• designing parking to be part of a 
public space, so when cars are not 

PRINCIPLE  2.15
Provide cycle and car 
parking that is safe 
and functional, and 
that neither constrains 
pedestrian movement 
nor dominates the street 
scene.  
Parking must be 
successfully integrated 
within the dwelling 
curtilage and/or the 
public realm, adhering 
to the technical 
requirements set out in 
the Bradford Street Design 
Guide.

Core Strategy: DS4, TR1, 
TR2, TR3, TR5, Appendix 4
AAP: City Centre - M1, M3 
SCRC - ST5, ST7
Bradford Street Design 
Guide SPD
Car parking: What works 
where
NPPF: paragraphs 102, 
104, 110,, and127

“ONE THING THAT DRIVES 
ME MAD IS PEOPLE 
PARKING ON PAVEMENTS. 
IT DOESN’T HAPPEN TOO 
MUCH HERE”

2.15

PARKING

present it appears as an attractive 
outdoor space

• providing for a higher percentage of 
unallocated parking to accommodate 
visitors as well as for residents who 
may own an additional vehicle, while 
others may own less

• avoid locating parking spaces and 
garages in prominent locations 
such as street corners or where they 
terminate vistas down streets

As the future of transport is continuously 
evolving, designing parking areas to be 
attractive and flexible will ensure their 
ability to adapt and to serve resident’s 
needs. 

CAR PARKING TYPES
Parking types vary from on-plot, to off-
plot and on-street. Each tends to be more 
suited to particular building types, street 
types and topographical conditions. For 
example: 

• Detached/semi-detached: ‘tandem’ 
car parking to the side of dwellings;

• Narrow terraced houses: on plot, in 
front of the house, carefully designed 
with planting and bin stores;

• Apartment/city living schemes: 
basement or under a podium deck 
(although blank edges on the street 
must be avoided)

• Sloping site: semi-basement parking 
could minimise excavation. 

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Case study: The Acres, Addingham

A variety of parking types are used together along the same street including under-croft, 
side of house, and garages, with some low-level planting in-between which prevents the 
street from being dominated by the appearance of parked cars.

Page 343

Broadbents_72
Highlight

Broadbents_73
Highlight

Broadbents_74
Highlight

Broadbents_75
Highlight

Broadbents_76
Highlight



84 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

A well-lit internal communal bike store provides ample bicycle storage for residents of this apartment building. Spaces 
for a mix of bike types, including children’s bikes and cargo bikes and the open plan layout makes this future proof and it 
is also a place for social interaction with neighbours.

Front courtyard parking has been integrated into a well-overlooked green open space, with hedging sheltering the cars 
from the view of passers-by.

Page 344



85HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

CYCLE PARKING
Homes and neighbourhoods should be 
designed to encourage cycling by people 
of all ages and abilities. Well-located 
cycle parking facilities must therefore 
form part of the overall parking strategy, 
to reinforce the idea of cycling as a 
convenient, attractive and sustainable 
means of transport. 

All homes within Bradford District are 
required to provide secure cycle storage, 
as set out in the Core Strategy and the 
table on page 82. Family homes will be 
expected to provide the opportunity for 
additional cycle storage space, e.g. free-
standing sheds, if not designed as part of 
an integrated solution.

For houses with garages, these must 
be designed to a sufficient width (i.e. 
4.5m for a single garage) if intended to 
accommodate cycles, parked cars and 
access to both. For other house types, 
secure cycle storage can be provided 
within the dwelling’s curtilage, ideally 
close to the front door, avoiding the need 
to bring cycles through the house. (Also 
refer 3.3 Storage)

Where this is not possible (e.g. for 
terraced houses), cycle parking should be 
provided nearby on the street in a secure 
lockable enclosure under cover and in an 
overlooked and well-lit location.

APARTMENTS
Long-stay secure cycle parking should 
be provided for apartments indoors and 
within convenient access of the entrance 
lobby.  Stands should be provided 
to ensure cycles can be stored and 
accessed safely and easily.

Short-stay cycle parking should be 
covered, well-lit, and in areas with high 
visibility and footfall, for example near 
the building entrance.

2.15

PARKING STRATEGY

PUBLIC AREAS
Within public areas, cycle stands should 
be located at or nearby key amenities, 
including non-residential uses, e.g. 
schools and shops, and public open 
spaces, e.g. village squares or parks.  
Public cycle stands should be sturdy, 
highly visible, well-maintained, and 
under cover where they may be used 
for longer periods.  They must not 
obstruct pedestrian routes and where 
cycle stands are located on the footway, 
the use of textured surfaces, such as 
granite setts, should be provided to warn 
visually impaired people.

As public realm furniture, cycle 
stands have the opportunity to 
provide interesting features within the 
streetscape.  They can help to reinforce 
character or become functional public 
art.

WHY?
Parking can have a significant impact 
on a street and neighbourhood.  When 
designed without considering simple 
functionality and the combined 
appearance, results can be negative.  
However, when parking is integrated 
within the overall public realm strategy, 
a cohesive, yet functional and attractive 
environment can be created for all, 
whether travelling by car, cycle or foot.

Further technical 
guidance on parking 
design can be found 
within the Bradford 
Street Design Guide 
SPD.

Page 345



86 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

WASTE

PRINCIPLE 2.16
Proposals should provide solutions 
where household waste is stored neatly 
and safely in a location that is easy to use 
and easy to collect from. Such storage 
should improve rather than detract from 
the streetscape, complementing the 
style and character of the building and 
landscape.

As set out in Bradford’s waste and 
recycling policy, each household should 
have two 240-litre bins, one for general 
waste and one for recycling. There is also 
an option for households to have a third 
240-litre bin for garden waste.

All proposals should have a clear 
strategy for integrating three 240-litre 
bins per household in a location that is 
directly accessible from the street. 

Bins must not be allowed to dominate 
or clutter streets. Instead integrated, 
functional and attractive solutions 
must be designed for front gardens 
of houses, or communal stores for 
apartment blocks. For larger residential 
developments and blocks, the potential 
for recycling within the development 
must be examined and innovative 
solutions should be proposed to help 
residents reduce their waste.

All bin stores, whether internal or 
external, should be designed so that they 
support an attractive street scene, and 
are safe and easy to use. They must be 
well-overlooked, well-ventilated, well-
lit, convenient to access, and in close 
proximity to the homes they serve.

Bin stores located at the rear of 
properties with pathways to the street 
should be avoided as they can be difficult 
to access and use.

All standards in Building Regulations, 
Part H, must be met and should be 
referred to for further information.

Waste solutions should be considered 
alongside the technical street design 
requirements, as set out in the Bradford 
street design manual. The street layout 
must be able to accommodate waste 
collection vehicles, allowing them to 
pass through and stop outside dwellings. 
Well-connected streets with direct lines 
of travel are preferred (see Topic 2.3, 
Movement).

2.16

Bins stores should be 
designed to keep bins neat, 

off the street and be easy 
to access for collection 

purposes

Page 346

Broadbents_77
Highlight



87HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

COMMUNAL WASTE STORAGE FOR 
BLOCKS OF FLATS
For buildings of multiple storeys, 
communal waste and recycling stores 
should be provided that meet the 
requirements set out in the Building 
Regulations, Part H. They should be 
accessible to all residents, including 
children and wheelchair users, and be 
located on a hard, level surface. 

They should be located within buildings 
to limit the nuisance caused by noise 
and smells, and should be easy to clean 
and access for refuse and recycling 
collection teams.

The Council expects the capacity of the 
communal stores to be based on 110 
litres of refuse per household, per week, 
and 110 litres of recycling per household, 
per week.

page 7 of  17  MaccreanorLavington DRAFT 

1	 /Volumes/TPUD/Job	Server/5614	South	Lambeth	Estate	(JV)/GENERAL	FOLDER	For	5614,	5615	And	
5616/Stage	3	Briefing/Topics/Refuse	&	Bike	Stores/MLUK-487-15.01_Bin	And	Bike	Storage	170601	DRAFT.Docx	
	 15.01	

	
	
	
1	
Fully	Integrated	in	Recessed	Porch	
		

	
Fig.4.St.Andrews,	MaccreanorLavington	Architects	
	

	
Fig.5.St.Annes	Mews,	MaccreanorLavington	Architects	
	

page 10 of  17  MaccreanorLavington DRAFT 

1	 /Volumes/TPUD/Job	Server/5614	South	Lambeth	Estate	(JV)/GENERAL	FOLDER	For	5614,	5615	And	
5616/Stage	3	Briefing/Topics/Refuse	&	Bike	Stores/MLUK-487-15.01_Bin	And	Bike	Storage	170601	DRAFT.Docx	
	 15.01	

	
	
	
2	
Enclosure	Projecting	from	Face	of	Building	
	

	
Fig.8.Academy	Street,	MaccreanorLavingtonArchitects/KarakusevicCarson	Architects	
	
	

	
Fig.X.Acton	Gardens,	MaccreanorLavingtonArchitects		
A	similar	problem	occurred	here	as	with	Academy	Street	(above)	where	the	bin	store	is	higher	than	
the	railings	which	sit	on	front	of	it,	resulting	in	a	bin	store	which	isn’t	fully	integrated	in	its	context.	

Bin stores at St Andrews, Bromley-by-Bow (left) and Dujardin Mews, Enfield (right) are 
integrated into the front garden, boundary and building layout. They enable the pavements 
and front gardens to be neat and free of clutter. The left-hand image has a bin store set into 
the right side of the front door alcove. Photo: MaccreanorLavington

PRINCIPLE 2.16
Proposals should 
provide solutions where 
household waste is 
stored neatly and safely 
in a location that is 
easy to use and easy 
to collect from. Such 
storage should improve 
rather than detract 
from the streetscape, 
complementing the style 
and character of the 
building and landscape.

Core Strategy: WM1, H09, 
DS5

AAP: (Shipley) SCRC/SE8

Bradford - Waste 
Management DPD

City of Bradford MDC 
Waste and Recycling 
Policy

NPPF: paragraph 127

“I DON’T MIND TAKING 
THE BINS OUT FOR MUM 
BECAUSE IT USUALLY 
MEANS I BUMP INTO A 
NEIGHBOUR OR TWO ON 
THE WAY AND IT’S NICE 
TO SEE WHAT’S  
GOING ON  
IN THE  
SHARED  
GARDEN.”

2.16

WASTE STRATEGY

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

The bins used for communal waste 
storage should be 1,100-litre containers 
which are compatible with the district’s 
collection service. Communal bin rooms 
or enclosures, and their access points, 
should be of an adequate size to ensure 
that the layout and movement of these 
bins are easy and straightforward.

WHY?
Bradford Council is committed to 
reducing the amount of waste created 
by residents and supporting the effective 
recycling of waste, where possible.

Many of Bradford’s streets are cluttered 
with bins, detracting from the success 
and amenity of these parts of the 
public realm. By ensuring that all new 
developments have a clear strategy for 
the storage of waste, Bradford’s streets 
will become easier to navigate, and more 
pleasant to live on and move through.

Case study: Bin stores

Page 347

Broadbents_78
Highlight



88 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

MAKING INCLUSIVE PLACES

2.17

Street furniture clutter should be avoided

PRINCIPLE 2.17
All homes and neighbourhoods must 
be designed to be inclusive and 
accessible for all. They must allow all 
of their residents to participate equally, 
confidently and independently in 
everyday activities.

All of the principles in this design 
guide are aimed at creating inclusive 
homes and neighbourhoods. This page 
summarises the key strategic design 
guidance, with a particular focus on the 
public realm. More detailed guidance on 
the internal layout of homes is provided 
in Topic 3.2.

Ten per cent of proposed homes should 
be designed to meet the standards of 
Building Regulations M4(3): Category 3, 
Wheelchair user dwellings. 

The remaining 90 per cent should be 
designed to meet the standards of 
Building Regulations M4(2): Category 2, 
Accessible and adaptable dwellings. It is 
acknowledged that it is not always viable 
to achieve level access to all homes, so 
in this case all elements of Category 2 
should be achieved except that one.

The following list sets out key features of 
proposed layouts that the Council will be 
looking to identify:

• Clear, direct, level and clutter-free 
pavements and paths. An effective 
and robust strategy for parking and 
bins will be sought to ensure that 
parked cars and bins do not disrupt a 
scheme once it is built and inhabited.

• The provision of allocated disabled 
parking directly outside any 
accessible homes, giving residents 
easy access to mobility, and 
movement to and from the home.

• Level access to all open space 
and play facilities, with a focus 

on providing facilities that will be 
particularly appealing and interactive 
for less able residents.

• The provision of regular resting 
places on main walking routes 
in neighbourhoods. Frail, older 
people and those who find walking 
challenging rely on benches to rest 
and places to pause when travelling 
from their homes to their various 
destinations. Benches should be 
in well-overlooked locations and 
they should be designed into the 
streetscape so that they do not 
constitute clutter, or diminish 
movement or accessibility.

• Accessible homes, or homes meeting 
the Building Regulations M4(3) 
standards, should be located on 
streets for optimum physical and 
social accessibility. The homes must 
give residents easy access from the 
home to the street and provide the 
opportunity for overlooking and visual 
interaction with street life. Meeting 
neighbours and feeling included in the 
local community is an important part 
of life for those who are less able.

Page 348

Broadbents_79
Highlight

Broadbents_80
Highlight

Broadbents_81
Highlight



89HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

PRINCIPLE 2.17
All homes and 
neighbourhoods 
must be designed 
to be inclusive and 
accessible for all. They 
must allow all of their 
residents to participate 
equally, confidently 
and independently in 
everyday activities.

Local Plan: DS5, H09 

Building Regulations 
Part M

NPPF: paragraph 91 and 
127

“AS A WHEELCHAIR USER 
I DON’T EXPECT TO HAVE 
TO SLALOM AROUND 
WHEELIE BINS EVERY TIME 
I TRY TO GET ALONG THE 
PAVEMENT” 

2.17

MAKING 
INCLUSIVE 

PLACES

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

• The design process should include 
collaboration with older or disabled 
people where possible, and preferably 
with those who may live in the 
proposed development. Focused 
engagement will ensure that all the 
needs of these users will be identified 
and designed for. The earlier in the 
design process this happens, the 
better the outcome is likely to be.

• M4(3) homes must be equal in design 
quality, standards and finish to the 
rest of the development.

WHY?
Our guidance on this design topic has 
been put together in collaboration with 
an Older and Disabled People’s Group 
(see introduction to the guide). The 
guidance targets issues that this less 
able and more vulnerable group of people 
experience daily, to ensure that the 
quality of their lives is as good as that of 
more able residents in Bradford. 

This is a key area that the Council is 
determined to target as part of new 
housing development in the district.

Case study: Banbury Place, Andover

This eight-unit development in Andover, developed by the Enham Trust, was located and 
designed to give choice and independence to disabled people. Centrally located to Andover 
town centre for easy access to employment, transport and recreation facilities, it is designed 
to integrate with existing neighbouring homes. Its layout is level, secure, well-lit and 
designed around a single core. The units have large windows to maximise light and views 
out, and the building is of high quality and modern in finish. The scheme was winner of the 
Richard Fielden Award at the 2015 Housing Design Awards.

Page 349

Broadbents_82
Highlight

Broadbents_83
Highlight

Broadbents_84
Highlight



Full height windows and 
doors provide access to 
natural light and allow 
private open space to feel a 
part of the overall living area 
(Topics 3.2, 3.4 & 3.5)

A built-in desk and 
storage utilises the 
space underneath 
the stairs (Topics 
3.2 & 3.3)

Built-in storage for waste 
bins and bicycles keep these 
items tidy and secure, and 
allows for convenient access 
when located near the street 
(Topics 2.16, 3.3 & 3.5)

Details can 
accentuate 
the front door 
making the 
entrance clear 
and visible from 
the street, whilst 
adding depth 
to the elevation 
(Topics 3.7 & 3.8)

Cavity sliding doors 
between the kitchen and 
dining/living area creates 
the flexibility to provide 
privacy at different times 
(Topics 3.2 & 3.6)

Planting along the front of the 
curtilage boundary provides a 
layer of screening to create a 
sense of privacy for residents 
(Topics 3.5 & 3.6)

An area of built-in 
storage includes 
a coat cupboard 
at the entrance 
and cupboards 
within the kitchen 
(Topics 3.2 & 3.3)

An outdoor shed within 
the backyard provides 
essential storage for 
outdoor equipment 
(Topic 3.3)

A mix of hard and 
soft surfaces in 
private outdoor 
space increases 
usability (Topic 3.5)

A high horizontal window 
allows light and ventilation 
as well as privacy within the 
bathroom (Topics 3.4 & 3.6)

One large family bathroom also 
serves as the master bedroom en-
suite through the use of a cavity 
sliding door between bed and 
bathroom (Topic 3.2)A cluster of 

integrated storage 
creates an efficient 
use of space by 
including built-in 
wardrobes, a desk, 
and hallway storage 
(or hot water 
cupboard), as well 
as acoustic privacy 
between rooms 
(Topics 3.2, 3.3, 3.6 
& 3.8) 

Large windows in the master 
bedroom allow lots of access to 
natural light and views into the 
private back garden (Topic 3.4)

A tree in the backyard 
creates some privacy 
from neighbouring 
houses (Topic 3.6)

When integrated in 
the initial design,  
photovoltaic 
panels can be 
designed to appear 
as part of the 
overall design and 
not an ‘add-on’ 
(Topics 3.7 & 3.9)

Open plan living areas create 
flexible space and enables natural 
light to penetrate further into the 
plan of the house (Topics 3.2 & 3.4)

Indicative exploded 3 bed house diagram to illustrate various Section 3.0 design guide topics
Page 350



91HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

3.0  
MAKING A HOME

3.1  FLATS AND APARTMENTS

3.2 INTERNAL LAYOUT

3.3 STORAGE

3.4 LIGHT AND VENTILATION

3.5 OUTDOOR SPACE

3.6 PRIVACY

3.7 ELEVATIONS

3.8 MATERIALS AND DETAILS

3.9 ENERGY EFFICIENT

Page 351



92 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

FLATS AND APARTMENTS

PRINCIPLE 3.1
Proposals must demonstrate how access 
and circulation, views and aspect, and 
shared facilities have been designed to 
create attractive and secure flats and 
apartment buildings, with access to 
private or communal outdoor space for 
all.

Apartment buildings will range in scale, 
depending on the site’s context. In some 
cases they will be low, blending in with 
neighbouring housing. In more urban or 
prominent locations there may be the 
opportunity to create landmark buildings 
with townscape value (see Topic 1.4 
Making places for people and Topic 2.14 
Key buildings and corners). 

Internal layouts should be designed 
with respect to guidance with Topic 3.2 
Internal layout.

At the detailed design stage three key 
areas can significantly improve the 
quality of living in these higher-density 
environments. They are:

1. Access and circulation

2. Views and aspect

3. Communal facilities

Guidance on these areas is set out on the 
following pages.

The management and maintenance of 
communal areas is important. Applicants 
will be required to ensure that this will 
be set up as part of a detailed planning 
application.

1. ACCESS AND CIRCULATION
The entrance to an apartment building 
should be prominent and visible from the 
street, and designed with high-quality 
materials. 

On the ground-floor, two-storey 
maisonettes with direct access from 
the street are preferred. This will give 
bedrooms some privacy from the street. 

Where single-storey flats are 
unavoidable, they must have direct 
access from the street and be set back 
from footways with a buffer (such as 
planting) and/or private outdoor space 
to create some sense of privacy. The 
boundary treatment must be carefully 
considered to balance privacy and the 
need for natural surveillance and light. 

Long areas of dedicated circulation 
space should be avoided. The number of 
front doors accessed by a shared core 
must not exceed eight dwellings per floor 
per core, to provide a sense of ownership, 
privacy and security. All circulation space 
should be well lit, with natural light where 
possible, and all front doors must have 
adequate lighting for visibility and safety.

Integrated planting and seating areas 
can help to soften circulation, and 
other communal areas, and make them 
more inviting to spend time in and meet 
neighbours at.

2. VIEWS AND ASPECT
The orientation of flats and apartment 
buildings will have an impact on an 
individual home’s access to light and 
views. North-facing balconies and 
single-aspect units should be avoided 
(see Topic 3.4 Light and ventilation). 
Apartment buildings should be designed 
to benefit from attractive views to 
surrounding areas. 

3.1

Page 352



93HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

PRINCIPLE 3.1
Proposals must 
demonstrate how 
access and circulation, 
views and aspect, and 
shared facilities have 
been designed to create 
attractive and secure 
flats and apartment 
buildings, with access 
to private or communal 
outdoor space for all.

Local Plan: HO9, DS3

NPPF: paragraph 127

“THE LOBBY IS WHERE 
I’M MOST LIKELY TO MEET 
MY NEIGHBOURS, SO I’M 
HAPPY TO HELP LOOK 
AFTER THE PLANTS”

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

3.1

FLATS AND 
APARTMENT 

BUILDINGS

3. COMMUNAL FACILITIES
Communal facilities, including a shared 
garden or courtyard, and storage for 
bikes and bins, should be provided in all 
blocks of flats (see Topic 2.15 Parking 
and Topic 3.5 Outdoor space). 

When designed and maintained to be 
attractive spaces, they can facilitate 
social interaction and a sense of 
community. 

Communal open space should be 
provided in a central area or on the 
roof, giving residents access to views 
otherwise unseen.

Other communal amenities may include 
laundry facilities and drying space 
shared among a limited number of 
units; indoor activity rooms, such as for 
games, watching movies, or hobbies; 
or a large kitchen and dining area in 
which residents can host larger social 
gatherings than their flats or apartments 
can accommodate.

CONVERSION OF BUILDINGS TO FLATS
In a district such as this, with a 
significant amount of built heritage, there 
will be opportunities to convert existing 
buildings into flats, where policy allows. 
This includes the district’s former mill 
buildings, as well as buildings formerly 
used for commercial activities or other 
purposes. 

When converting these buildings, the 
guidance within this document must 
still be met, but providing private or 
communal outdoor space may be more 
difficult due to the restrictions of the 
existing building envelope. This can 
be a particular challenge for heritage 
buildings, where interventions can be 
costly. Communal roof terraces and 
shared gardens must be provided where 
possible and viable.

If it is not possible to provide outdoor 
space (balconies or terraces) , this must 
be justified. For example, apartments 
must demonstrate generous and flexible 
living spaces (see Topic 3.2 Internal 
layout), with plenty of natural light 
available to all habitable rooms (see 
Topic 3.4 Light and ventilation). 

Effort should also be made to integrate 
landscape and promote biodiversity 
in conversion projects such as at the 
entrance, within circulation areas, or as 
part of an elevation treatment. As for all 
homes and neighbourhoods, exposure to 
nature contributes to positive well-being.

Special features of heritage buildings 
should be retained and celebrated within 
conversions so that the building’s former 
use is evident. This may include retaining 
features such as upper floor loading 
doors or ensuring that original internal 
joinery is retained and refurbished.

Case study: Albany Street, Camden, London

Flats designed to fit in with the Conservation Area opposite, with a prominent front door, 
maisonettes at ground level, balconies, improvements to the public realm, cycle parking, 
dual aspect units and views out to the street or open space behind.

Page 353



94 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

INTERNAL LAYOUT

PRINCIPLE 3.2
Internal layouts must meet Nationally 
Described Space Standards and 
demonstrate: 

1. Functionality

2. Adaptability

3. Safety and security

4. Liveability

The Nationally Described Space Standards 
(NDSS) provide best practice guidance 
on gross internal floor areas, based on 
the number of bedrooms and bedspaces. 
All new homes in Bradford should comply 
with this.

The Building Regulations Approved 
Document M ‘Access to and use of 
buildings’ also sets out standard 
dimensions required for accessible and 
adaptable dwellings (M4(2) Category 2) 
and wheelchair user dwellings (M4(3) 
Category 3). New schemes should 
provide 10 per cent M4(3) dwellings and 
90 per cent M4(2), see Topic 2.17 Making 
inclusive places.

1. FUNCTIONALITY
Designing a home that is functional and 
easy to live in relies on an understanding 
of where to position rooms in relation to 
each other, to daylight and sunlight, and 
to public and private frontages. 

The size of living areas must relate to the 
number of bedspaces within a home, and 
detailed plans should demonstrate that 
there is enough space for all inhabitants 
to socialise. For example, the number 
of bedspaces should be matched by 
the number of chairs shown around the 
dining table.

Typical internal layouts that include 
furniture plans must be provided as part 
of a planning application to show that 
they will work.

Functionality can also be ensured by:

• Detailed layouts and sections that 
demonstrate that doors, windows, 
built-in furniture (including storage) 
and controls (such as light switches 
and plug sockets) will be positioned 
to be easily usable by everyone (see 
M4(2) and M4(3) guidance).

• Windows being located so that they 
allow adequate light and ventilation 
into rooms, minimising the possibility 
of moisture build-up, particularly in 
kitchens, bathrooms and laundry 
areas (see Topic 3.4, Light and 
ventilation).

• Taking advantage of areas typically 
under-used, such as the space under 
stairs or on landings, where a study 
area, storage or shelving could be 
provided.

• The use of screens or sliding doors to 
maximise the usable floor area of a 
room.

3.2

Definitions

Internal layout How rooms, furniture, 
windows, entrances and spaces are 
placed in relation to each other.

Habitable room Any room used or 
intended for sleeping, cooking, living 
or eating purposes. Enclosed spaces 
such as bath or toilet facilities, 
service rooms, corridors, laundries, 
hallways, utility rooms or similar 
spaces are excluded from this.

Page 354

Broadbents_85
Highlight



95HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

2. ADAPTABILITY 
Homes should be able to accommodate 
the various activities of daily life that 
change when we start a family, get older, 
or become ill or less mobile. Layouts 
should be designed to accommodate 
some flexibility to enable residents to 
customise their homes if and when 
required, allowing them to remain in their 
homes in the long term.

Multi-generational homes provide the 
opportunity for a part of the home to be 
split off as a stand-alone unit with its own 
entrance. This can allow down-sizers, 
adult children or elderly family members 
to live independently, yet close by, or it 
may provide an opportunity to generate 
a rental income (see case study over the 
page).

M4(2) guidance for accessible and 
adaptable dwellings sets out the 
principles and minimum dimensions for 
creating a home that is capable of later 
being converted into a wheelchair-user 
dwelling, M4(3). Basic layout diagrams in 
the guidance illustrate the requirements, 
including clear access zones in private 
and communal areas, and bathroom 
arrangements that allow a shower to be 
installed in the future.

Lifetime Homes criteria also provide 
guidance on how lifecycle flexibility can 
be achieved in internal layouts and can 
be referenced in proposals.

PRINCIPLE 3.2
Internal layouts must 
meet Nationally 
Described Space 
Standards and 
demonstrate: 

1. Functionality

2. Adaptability

3. Safety and security

4. Liveability

“WE NEED A PLACE WITH A 
KITCHEN BIG ENOUGH FOR 
ME AND MY MUM TO COOK 
TOGETHER”

3. SAFETY AND SECURITY 
Homes and neighbourhoods should be 
designed in ways that will make people 
feel safe and secure. 

All apartments and houses should be 
designed so that:

• Dwellings that front on to streets have 
their main entrances on to them.

• Habitable rooms, particularly living 
areas, overlook public places to 
provide ‘eyes on the street’. Kitchens 
are commonly located in the ground-
floor frontage, as people tend to 
move around them more frequently, 
rather than in living rooms, which are 
more typically used as spaces for 
relaxation.

• Entrances to buildings can be seen by 
passers-by and are well lit.

• Blank façades on to streets are 
avoided as much as possible, 
particularly at corners, which should 
be carefully designed to take account 
of their location, as well as privacy 
(see Topic 2.14 Key buildings and 
corners, and Topic 3.7 Elevations).

• A buffer (front gardens and/or 
landscaped setbacks) is provided 
between dwellings and streets 
to create appropriate separation 
between passersby and private 
residential space (see Topic 3.6 
Privacy).

Bradford Core Strategy: 
HO9, DS5
Nationally Described 
Space Standards 
Building Regulations 
Approved Document M 
Householder SPD
Lifetime Homes

NPPF: paragraph 127

3.2

INTERNAL  
LAYOUT

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESSAn indicative ground floor layout 
with a large living room for all the 
family, opportunity to open up to 

the kitchen for open plan living in 
the future, internal surveillance 

over the street from the kitchen, 
a place to dry clothes outside, 

and ample bike and bin storage. 

Page 355



96 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Case study: Multi-generational homes, 
Chobham Manor, Stratford, London 

This scheme includes a house designed to be ‘multi-
generational’, which consists of a three-storey, three-
bed home, with a self-contained studio annexe.

Designing a part of the home to be a self-contained 
studio flat, with a separate entrance, has created the 
flexibility to allow various scenarios. For example, the 
self-contained flat could be used for:

• a grandparent

• a returning child

• a home office

The house type also provides an active frontage 
around the corner of the street and an interesting 
elevation and roof line mix along the street edge.

MULTI-GENERATION HOUSE

MULTI-GENERATION HOUSE

3 STOREY TOWNHOUSES

3 STOREY TOWNHOUSES

Housing Types
This board shows indicative models and drawings 
of the third phase of homes at Chobham Manor. 
Pictured here is an example of the 3 storey townhouse 
and the multi-generational house. Brick is being 
proposed as the main elevational facing material.

Multi-generation house
• Large/extended families (3 or 4 bedroom plus annex)
• Flexibility of the layout – one or two separate dwellings
• Good typology for corner locations

3 Storey town house
• 4 bedroom
• Living room opens out to rear garden
• Roof terrace – private amenity

Ground floor and 
typical upper floor 

plan layout

Page 356



97HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

4. LIVEABILITY
As people are likely to engage in different 
activities in their home at the same time 
as those they live with, providing acoustic 
privacy through adequate insulation 
and careful detailing is vital to create a 
comfortable environment for everyone. 

Places for study, quiet and relaxation 
are as important as those for cooking, 
play and watching television, and should 
be treated as such. Homes with three 
or more bedrooms should have two 
separate living rooms (such as a living 
room and a kitchen/dining room) to 
make the home easier to live in and able 
to accommodate a greater number of 
residents.

Well-sized, open-plan layouts are an 
acceptable way to facilitate the flexible 
use of space in the home. For example, 
combining the living, kitchen and dining 
areas into an open-plan arrangement can 
help to accommodate multiple activities 
in the same space without overcrowding. 
Creating one large area, with greater 
exposure to natural light, allows residents 
to socialise more easily, compared 
to having multiple smaller rooms for 
separate uses.

Internal layouts should be designed so 
that all habitable rooms have a pleasant 
outlook, with views to nature where 
possible. By achieving this and providing 
convenient access to high-quality 
outdoor space, homes will have a positive 
impact on mental well-being. This is 
particularly important for residents with 
impaired physical abilities, who are likely 
to spend more time in their homes. (See 
also Topic 3.5 Outdoor space, and Topic 
3.4 Light and ventilation).

WHY?
With a large stock of older housing, 
designed for needs of a different time, the 
Council has an ambition to ensure that 
new homes provide better options for the 
district’s residents.

Our homes are important places for 
shelter, rest and rejuvenation. People 
want to feel happy going home, and 
relaxed when they are there. 

Careless and poor design of internal 
layouts can easily lead to homes to 
becoming stressful places, which can 
affect mental health and well-being. For 
example, not being able to find a quiet 
place to study and do homework will 
have a detrimental impact on a child’s 
academic progress.

All homes must therefore be designed to 
be easy to live in, highly functional, and 
efficient to maintain from the moment 
the occupants move in. In this way 
applicants can feel confident that they 
are creating places where residents will 
be able to thrive in their daily lives.

Little Kelham, Sheffield: An open-plan flat benefits from direct access from 
the kitchen/living room to the balcony, where balcony doors provide plenty of 
daylight. 

3.2

INTERNAL  
LAYOUT

Page 357



98 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Communal and private storage solutions at Marmalade 
Lane, North Cambridge, are located in the communal 

garden for safe and secure resident access.

Page 358



99HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

STORAGE

PRINCIPLE 3.3
Homes must include integrated internal 
and external storage for necessary 
household items, including a vacuum 
cleaner, luggage, bicycles and bins. 

The Nationally Described Space Standards 
set out minimum requirements for 
built-in internal storage according 
to the number of bedrooms. These 
requirements must be followed in 
Bradford District, and storage depths 
must be functional so that everyday 
items can be accessed easily.

INTERNAL STORAGE
Careful design can ensure that storage 
is well integrated into the internal layout 
of a home. Built-in wardrobes should be 
included, and innovative solutions such 
as ways to use the space under the stairs, 
should be identified.

An area of storage space of 1.5m2 should 
be provided for a two-person dwelling, 
and a further 0.5m2 for each additional 
person. 

Storage cupboards should be the height 
of the room and free of house utilities 
such as the hot water tank, boilers or 
washing machines. 

EXTERNAL STORAGE 
External storage is equally important, 
particularly for gardening equipment, 
cycles, and waste and recycling bins.

For full requirements see Topic 3.5 
Outdoor space, Topic 2.15 Parking, and 
Topic 2.16 Waste.

Waste and recycling bin storage should 
be discreet, designed to fit the required 
number of bins for the area, and located 
near the street where collections take 
place. 

Bike stores should be connected to the 
home, secure and easy to access from 
the street.

WHY?
Integrated internal and external storage 
makes homes more convenient and 
easier to live in. Defined areas for storage 
provides spaces to put away household 
objects, enables residents to live free of 
clutter and promotes the use of active 
travel by bike. All these factors will help 
Bradfordians lead healthier and happier 
lives.

PRINCIPLE 3.3
Homes must include 
integrated internal and 
external storage for 
necessary household 
items, including a 
vacuum cleaner, luggage, 
bicycles and bins. 

Core Strategy: HO9

Nationally Described 
Space Standards

Building for Life: Q12

Housing Quality 
Indicator: 6 Unit Layout

NPPF: paragraph 127

“I LOOKED AT THE PLANS 
AND THOUGHT: WHERE 
AM I SUPPOSED TO 
KEEP TWO BIKES, A PAIR 
OF SKIS AND A TON OF 
CAMPING GEAR?”

3.3

Cornwell Park, Cambridge: Integrated and 
secure external storage provides space for bins

3.3

STORAGE

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Page 359

Broadbents_86
Highlight



100 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Caudale on Varndell Street , London: Private balcony off 
a dual aspect flat, with 2.5m floor to ceiling heights and 

large window openings for optimum daylight.

Page 360



101HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

LIGHT AND VENTILATION

PRINCIPLE 3.4
Homes should be dual aspect, with 
generous floor to ceiling heights and 
designed to optimise natural light inside 
the dwelling. Homes must have direct 
sunlight into at least one living, kitchen 
or dining space.

DUAL-ASPECT
New developments should avoid single-
aspect homes that are north-facing, 
exposed to sources of noise, or contain 
three or more bedrooms. If single-
aspect units are proposed, the applicant 
will need to show how good levels of 
ventilation, natural light and privacy will 
be provided in each habitable room.

This will provide a choice of views and 
types of spaces, greater flexibility in 
the use of rooms, cross-ventilation, and 
better natural light inside the homes.

provide for direct sunlight to enter at 
least one communal habitable room (the 
living, or kitchen/dining rooms) for part 
of the day. Windows should be carefully 
positioned and sized to enhance natural 
light, but to limit and manage solar heat 
gain inside the building. It is important 
to consider the impact of neighbouring 
buildings, landscaping and shading 
devices on the amount of natural light 
that enters the dwelling. These need to be 
balanced to optimise light and warmth in 
the winter and mitigate heat gain in the 
summer. 

In instances where the Council is 
concerned that good levels of natural 
light may not be achieved applicants will 
be required to submit further evidence to 
justify their proposal.’

Windows should be carefully specified 
and detailed, meeting and preferably 
exceeding Building Regulations and 
British Standards to minimise heat loss 
and optimise solar gain. 

WHY?
A key part of providing high-quality 
homes in Bradford District is to ensure 
that they are well ventilated, exposed 
to high levels of natural light, and have 
a sense of space and outlook. These 
factors, all of which influence residents’ 
physical and mental well-being, were 
important challenges that the Older and 
Disabled People’s Group reported having 
to deal with.

Maximising natural daylight in the 
home can also minimise the need for 
artificial lighting during daylight hours. 
This reduces energy consumption and 
adheres to Part D of Bradford’s Strategic 
Core Policy SC2 on Climate Change and 
Resource Use.

PRINCIPLE 3.4
Homes should be dual 
aspect, with generous 
floor to ceiling heights 
and designed to optimise 
natural light inside the 
dwelling. Homes must 
have direct sunlight 
into at least one living, 
kitchen or dining space.

Core Strategy: CS2, HO9

NPPF: paragraph 127

“DO YOU KNOW WHAT 
MAKES ME HAPPY? 
LIVING SOMEWHERE 
WITH BIG WINDOWS AND 
LOTS OF LIGHT”

3.4 3.4 

LIGHT AND 
VENTILATION

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Definition

Dual aspect An apartment with 
opening windows on two external 
walls, on different sides of the 
dwelling.

FLOOR-TO-CEILING HEIGHTS
Applicants should provide a minimum 
of 2.5m between the finished floor level 
and the finished ceiling level. This height 
will give a decent sense of space and 
adequate natural light and ventilation 
in the home. In the case of renovating 
existing buildings, lower ceiling heights 
may be permitted, provided that layouts 
are spacious and well-designed.

NATURAL LIGHT
Glazing to all habitable rooms should not 
be less than 20 per cent of the internal 
floor area of the room. All homes must 

Page 361



102 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

The Malings, Newcastle - outdoor space is provided through 
terraces, roof gardens and a central communal space

Page 362



103HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

OUTDOOR SPACE

PRINCIPLE 3.5
All homes must have direct access to 
private outdoor space. Development 
proposals must demonstrate that 
outdoor space is sized appropriately, and 
has the potential to introduce planting, 
seating and storage, if these are not 
already part of an integrated design.

Development proposals must include 
private outdoor spaces (gardens, 
balconies or terraces) for all homes. 
If this is not possible for flats, a high-
quality communal garden must be 
provided. 

Gardens should receive direct sunlight 
all year round, for at least part of the 
day, and be accessed conveniently and 
directly from the home. 

They must be of a usable size, and 
detailed plans must be able to 
demonstrate that they can accommodate 
people (with a suitable number of 
seats, for example) appropriate to the 
associated number of bedspaces. 
Outdoor space must not be dominated by 
furniture, storage or bins, and it should 
allow for an uncluttered space to relax 
and enjoy a view of nature. 

HOUSES
Detailed house layout plans should 
demonstrate that outdoor areas have the 
space to accommodate:

• playing and socialising

• drying clothes

• cycle storage (see also Topic 3.3 
Storage and Topic 2.15 Parking)

• waste and recycling storage near the 
street (see also Topic 2.16 Waste)

• general storage for outdoor items 
and equipment (see also Topic 3.3 
Storage)

• a variety of plants and greening.

APARTMENTS
While apartments have similar 
requirements for outdoor spaces to 
houses, cycle and waste storage is often 
provided separately in a communal area 
at ground level.

For all outdoor space (and with 
apartments especially) a sense of 
shelter and privacy is a important to 
their success. For example, protruding 
balconies that are fully glazed or highly 
transparent are rarely used without 
residents adding a screen. Using inset 
balconies, or railings which are more 
solid, can help to solve this problem, 
as can trees and planting, which also 
provide many other benefits.

WHY?
Humans have a fundamental need to be 
connected to nature and the outdoors. In 
addition to the proven benefits to mental 
well-being, well-designed, functional 
outdoor space enables internal spaces 
to work at their best without the need to 
accommodate what is more naturally 
accommodated outdoors, such as drying 
laundry or gardening equipment. 

PRINCIPLE 3.5
All homes must have 
direct access to 
private outdoor space. 
Development proposals 
must demonstrate that 
outdoor space is sized 
appropriately, and has 
the potential to introduce 
planting, seating and 
storage, if these are 
not already part of an 
integrated design.

Core Strategy: HO9

Building for Life: Q11, Q12

Housing Quality 
Indicator: 3. Site: Open 
Space

NPPF: paragraph 127

“I DON’T GET OUT MUCH 
SO IT’S NICE TO HAVE A 
BALCONY WHERE I CAN 
KEEP MY PLANTS AND SIT 
LOOKING OVER THE CANAL” 

3.5

Heald Farm Court, St Helen’s extra care housing 
provides a large communal garden for residents

3.5

OUTDOOR SPACE

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Page 363

Broadbents_87
Highlight



104 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Typical approach to addressing neighbouring buildings

PRIVACY

PRINCIPLE 3.6
Layouts must ensure that the siting 
of homes provides adequate privacy. 
Development proposals must also ensure 
that houses do not impact negatively on 
existing nearby properties with respect 
to light, outlook and scale.

The Council’s existing Householder 
supplementary planning document 
provides guidance on the relationships 
between houses when considering 
alterations and extensions. Similar 
principles can be applied to new housing 
layouts, though the Council encourages 
more creative solutions to ensure that 
visual and acoustic privacy, light, and 
outlook can be achieved and maintained 
for everyone.

Typical separation distances between 
dwellings for maintaining adequate levels 
of privacy, and for allowing flexibility for 
future extensions and adaptations, are:

• 21 metres back-to-back from a 
habitable room window to another, 

unless that distance is indirect or 
effectively screened.

• 10.5 metres from a habitable room 
window to a curtilage boundary.

DESIGNING CREATIVELY

Achieving typical separation distances 
can sometimes be limiting. Particularly 
on small and constrained sites, and sites 
with varying topography, the need for 
specific geometries (as set out in the 
Householder SPD, for example) can be 
overcome by considering housing layout 
and building design with more creativity 
and innovation.  For example:

• Houses can be sited obliquely to one 
another.

• Windows can be designed more 
specifically to maintain privacy 
while still letting in light, for example 
by using vertically-proportioned 
windows, obscured glazing for non-
habitable rooms, high-level windows, 
pop-out windows (that jut out from the 
wall) and roof lights.

3.6

To maintain adequate levels of outlook and daylight within habitable rooms, where a 
dwelling will have habitable room windows facing towards another dwelling, that proposed 
dwelling(s) should be located so it will not encroach within a 25 degree line drawn from the 
middle of any window of a habitable room in the relevant wall of the neighbouring dwelling 
OR where it would maintain a minimum separation of 21 metres to any facing habitable 
room window. Diagram from The Bradford Householder SPD.

Page 364

Broadbents_88
Highlight



105HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

PRINCIPLE 3.6 
Layouts must ensure 
that the siting of homes 
provides adequate 
privacy. Development 
proposals must also 
ensure that houses do 
not impact negatively 
on existing nearby 
properties with respect to 
light, outlook and scale.

Local Plan: HO9

Householder SPD: 
Section 2

NPPF: paragraph 127

“IS IT TOO MUCH TO 
ASK TO HAVE A HOUSE 
WHERE YOU CAN’T HEAR 
THE NEIGHBOURS’ 
CONVERSATION 
THROUGH THE WALLS?”

3.6

PRIVACY

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

• Screening can be provided by 
outbuildings or vegetation, such as 
planted privacy strips.

• High-quality and robust materials, 
insulation and detailing can be 
used to limit the transmission of 
noise between rooms, neighbouring 
buildings and the outside (see also 
Topic 3.8, Materials and details).

• Where habitable rooms are located 
at the street frontage for natural 
surveillance, internal floor levels could 
be raised slightly above the level of 
pedestrians (as long as level access 
is provided). Alternatively, setbacks 
from footways can create buffer zones 
(particularly when planted, as above).

In all cases, a balance must be achieved 
between minimising the risk of 
overlooking,optimising light and outlook 

and creating a character street scene. It 
should also be considered that there will 
be different expectations of privacy in 
different environments, such as a town 
centre and a suburb. 

Detailed plans and sections will be 
required to demonstrate this balance, 
particularly for sites with varying 
topography, and medium- and high-
density environments.

WHY?
Privacy is an essential part of feeling 
safe and secure in our homes. By 
carefully considering the relationship 
to neighbouring buildings, homes will 
be comfortable and the potential for 
neighbourly tension will be reduced.

Case study: The Malings, Newcastle

This development in Ouseburn creates streets on desire lines down slopes, rather than 
across them, which creates an interesting street frontage with stepping roofs. Privacy 
is managed by opening up the urban blocks at an angle, ensuring habitable rooms don’t 
directly face each other when separation distances are tight and using pop-out angled 
windows directed out to the neighbouring open space.

 

Page 365



106 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Varied elevations step down  Wells Road, Ilkley 

Page 366



107HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

ELEVATIONS

PRINCIPLE 3.7
Proposals must demonstrate that 
elevations have good proportions; a 
balance between privacy and optimising 
internal natural light; a considered level 
of detail; and suitable materials for 
texture and depth. Streets can benefit 
from consistency of some of these 
elements to create a strong identity. 

Proposals must demonstrate that 
elevations have been designed:

• to be proportionally well-balanced

• with a consistent design approach

• with a reasonable level of variety to 
create interest and prevent monotony

• with respect for the local character, 
without reinforcing its limitations or 
repeating past mistakes.

The Council encourages simple building 
forms, with a focus on high-quality 
detailing and finishes, such as on 
brickwork, windows, doors and parapets.

Elevations must reflect their position 
(front, rear or side) and respond to their 
aspect. For example, street frontage 
elevations must be designed to be 
welcoming, and south-facing elevations 
should accommodate larger openings.

The proportions of windows and their 
positioning within the overall elevation 
will be important to the quality of the 
design. The balance between internal 
usability and the external composition 
should be carefully considered to avoid a 
scattered and random appearance.

Full-height windows at ground level tend 
to be inappropriate when exposed to the 
street, often leading residents to install 
curtains or other forms of screening for 

privacy. As with blank walls, this can 
create inactive frontages and an anti-
social feeling on the street.

The form of the roof (or roofs) contributes 
to the overall elevation and should be 
designed with this in mind. Gables tend to 
work well on end elevations, particularly 
for terraced and semi-detached houses.

Entrances should be obvious and easily 
accessed from the street. They should 
provide some shelter to allow residents 
the space and time to put down their 
bags without obstructing the footpath. 
Front doors should incorporate some 
means of viewing potential visitors for 
safety and security. 

WHY?
Elevations contribute significantly to 
the feeling and character of streets and 
neighbourhoods. With well-considered 
elevation design, streets feel pleasant 
and overlooked, and neighbourhoods feel 
cohesive with a clear identity.

Trumpington Meadows, Cambridge: Small 
details such as pop-out frames around openings 
can add interest and depth to an otherwise 
simple facade. 

PRINCIPLE 3.7
Proposals must 
demonstrate that 
elevations have 
good proportions; 
a balance between 
privacy and optimising 
internal natural light; a 
considered level of detail; 
and suitable materials 
for texture and depth. 
Streets can benefit from 
consistency of some of 
these elements to create 
a strong identity. 

“I’VE ALWAYS WANTED 
TO LIVE SOMEWHERE 
LIKE THIS THAT LOOKS AS 
THOUGH IT WAS DESIGNED 
BY A REAL HUMAN BEING”

3.7

Local Plan: HO9 

Building for Life: Q5, Q6, 
Q7

NPPF: paragraph 127

3.7

ELEVATIONS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

Page 367



108 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Cornwell Park, Paragon, Cambridge
Interesting brickwork detailing and carefully considered lighting, canopy 

and windows. Planter at front provides bench and buffer between the 
street and kitchen window, and matches the brickwork of the elevation.

Page 368



109HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

MATERIALS AND DETAILS

PRINCIPLE 3.8
Building materials must be selected for 
their appropriateness to local character, 
performance ability, environmental 
qualities and aesthetic value. Reinforced 
by high-quality, robust detailing, 
development proposals must employ 
a fabric-first approach which will allow 
homes to last longer and perform more 
efficiently.

The Council requires a fabric-first 
approach to detailing and specifying 
external building envelopes, to achieve 
more efficient use of resources (see also 
Topic  3.9, Energy efficiency). Internal 
walls and details must be designed to 
be robust enough to accommodate fair 
wear-and-tear by residents.

As well as ensuring that good technical 
outcomes are achieved, materials and 
detailing can make a big difference to 
a building and neighbourhood’s overall 
appearance. 

the elements of the home that experience 
the most use. Investing in spaces such 
as kitchens and bathrooms can ensure 
that homes work well in the long-term, 
and minimise the need for repair and 
replacement. 

APPEARANCE

Changes of material within a building’s 
external appearance should relate to 
the building’s form and have a clearly 
identifiable role in its design. When 
designed and detailed well, changes 
of material can help to articulate a 
building’s form and elevation, and 
respond to the scale of its context. 

Small details, such as recessed windows 
or a roof overhang, can provide depth and 
interest that makes a positive impact on 
a building’s appearance.

Various practical elements of the home, 
often forgotten until the end of the 
design process, would benefit from 
early consideration to ensure they are 
a successful feature of the elevation. 
These include meter boxes, lighting, 
flues, ventilation ducts, fences, gates, 
gutters and pipes. Thoughtful alignment, 
positioning and finish can help to ensure 
sensitive integration into a building’s 
overall form and appearance.

(See also Topic 2.13 Roofs and building 
forms, and Topic 3.7 Elevations).

WHY?

By ensuring that materials and details 
perform well and are considered for how 
they contribute to a building’s overall 
appearance, homes and neighbourhoods 
will be characterful as well as energy 
efficient.

Definition

Fabric-first A approach that involves 
maximising the passive performance 
of the components and materials 
that make up the building fabric 
itself, before considering the use of 
mechanical or electrical building 
services systems.

PRINCIPLE 3.8
Building materials must 
be selected for their 
appropriateness to local 
character, performance 
ability, environmental 
qualities and aesthetic 
value. Reinforced by 
high-quality, robust 
detailing, development 
proposals must employ 
a fabric-first approach 
which will allow homes to 
last longer and perform 
more efficiently.

Local Plan: CS2, HO9, 
DS4

Building Regulations Part 
E and L

Fuel Poverty - Framework 
for Action

NPPF: paragraphs 127, 
148, and 150

“THEY’VE USED THE 
LOCAL STONE. IT MAKES 
SENSE: WHY TRANSPORT 
BUILDING MATERIALS 
HALFWAY ROUND THE 
WORLD?”

3.8 3.8

MATERIALS AND 
DETAILS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

TECHNICAL QUALITIES

Developments must achieve adequate 
noise and heating insulation internally 
and externally, as poor insulation can 
be stressful and costly for residents. 
Building Regulations Part E and L should 
be met, and exceeded where possible.

Materials must be low-maintenance and 
durable, with detailed attention paid to 

Page 369

Broadbents_89
Highlight



110 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

ENERGY EFFICIENT

PRINCIPLE 3.9
Development proposals must 
demonstrate how homes are designed 
to be energy efficient and to optimise 
the use of natural resources, reducing 
residents’ utility bills and the 
environmental impact of building.

Throughout both outline and detailed 
design stages, an applicant must be 
able to demonstrate in their design and 
access statement how a proposal has 
been designed to be energy efficient. 
This includes optimising the use of 
natural resources, such as light and 
water, and designing and detailing 
external envelopes to be simple, robust 
and well insulated.

The Council has a strong ambition 
to combat climate change, as 
demonstrated in its Core Strategy. Part D 
of Strategic Core Policy SC2 requires new 
development to use resources efficiently 
and reduce their environmental impact, 
in particular by: 

• making use of natural light and solar 
energy

• achieving high standards of energy 
efficiency

• taking the opportunities to produce 
and/or access renewable energy

• minimising water consumption and 
maximising the use of water recycling 
and sustainable drainage systems.

Guidance in this document addresses 
these objectives, in particular:

• Topic 1.5 Prioritise the environment

• Topic 2.13 Roofs and building forms

• Topic 2.7 Water and drainage 

• Topic 3.2 Internal layout

• Topic 3.4 Light and ventilation

• Topic 3.8 Materials and details
The diagram opposite shows how some 
of the Core Strategy objectives can be 
achieved.

WHY?
By designing energy-efficient 
developments that optimise the use of 
natural resources, applicants align their 
proposals with the Council’s strategic 
objectives, increasing the likelihood of a 
planning application succeeding. 

Improving energy efficiency in our homes 
and in how we travel is an important 
means of improving air quality in the 
district. 

It will create a positive legacy, helping 
residents of Bradford District to lead 
healthy lives and minimise the costs of 
running their homes.

3.9

Definition

Energy efficiency The goal to reduce 
the amount of energy required to 
provide heating, light and water, and 
to run appliances.

Page 370

Broadbents_90
Highlight



111HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

PRIORITY

POLICIES / REFS

PRINCIPLE 3.9
Development proposals 
must demonstrate how 
homes are designed 
to be energy efficient 
and to optimise the use 
of natural resources, 
reducing residents’ 
utility bills and the 
environmental impact of 
building.

Core Strategy: SC2, HO9

Sustainable Design 
Guide SPD

NPPF: paragraphs 148, 
150, and 151

3.9

ENERGY  
EFFICIENCY

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

CHOICE

GREEN GREENER

INCLUSIVE

HEALTHY

DISTINCTIVE

SLOPES

EFFICIENT

1. 
A broad range of
adaptable and efficient
homes that are
afforddable to build, buy 
and run

2.
Meaningful, green streets
and spaces

3.
Accessible places with 
clear and legible pedestrian
routes

4. 
Healthy neighbourhoods
that promote wellbeing and
community life

5. 
Neighbourhoods with identity
that reflect the district’s
varied character

6.
Opening up views and 
designing well on slopes

7.
Efficient use of resources

8. 
Making design and planning
processs work together

PROCESS

“ENERGY BILLS SEEM 
REALLY LOW HERE. THE 
FLAT SEEMS NATURALLY 
WARM”

Rainwater storage 
can be integrated into 
building design for use 
in toilets and watering 
landscape

Cavity sliding doors 
allow for spatial 
flexibility as well as 
the ability to create 
enclosed spaces which 
will heat more quickly on 
colder days

Appliances must have 
high energy and/or 
water usage efficiency 
ratings

Windows must be sized, 
located and detailed 
with care so they provide 
access to light without 
potential for excessive 
heat loss or gain

Large windows optimise natural 
light and ventilation, saving 
energy by reducing the need to 
turn on lights and use fans.

Photovoltaic panels make use 
of solar energy and provide 
residents with a self-sufficient 
and renewable energy source, 
particularly when battery storage 
is part of the overall system

Simple building forms have 
less potential for heat to be lost 
through poor detailing, and are 
generally more efficient to build

Water efficient fixtures 
must be specified in all 
new homes, e.g. dual 
flush toilets, spray taps, 
etc

Indicative exploded 3 bed house diagram to illustrate how homes can be designed to be more energy efficient

Page 371

Broadbents_91
Highlight



Page 372



113HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

APPENDIX 1 -  
LINKING TO POLICY

The table overleaf sets out how the Priorities and Principles in this design guide relate 
back to the Design Policies within the local plan - the Bradford Core Strategy 2017. It 
will be useful for applicants to highlight how they have met local policy, and for officers 
to use when reviewing applications.

For reference the Bradford design 
Principles are as follows: 
 
1.1 Establish a project brief
1.2 Site and context analysis 
1.3 Responding to character
1.4 Making places for people
1.5 Prioritise the environment
2.1 Define a concept
2.2 Density and scale
2.3 Movement 
2.4 Green streets
2.5 Safe and characterful streets
2.6 Open space 
2.7 Water and drainage 
2.8 Landscape
2.9 Biodiversity
2.10 Play 
2.11 Housing mix
2.12 Topography and ground conditions 
2.13 Roofs and building forms
2.14 Key buildings and corners
2.15 Parking 
2.16 Waste 
2.17 Making inclusive places
3.1  Flats and apartments
3.2 Internal layout
3.3 Storage
3.4 Light and ventilation
3.5 Outdoor space
3.6 Privacy
3.7 Elevations
3.8 Materials and details
3.9 Energy efficient

Page 373



114 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Local 
Plan: 

Design 
Policy ref  

Title Policy wording

Bradford 
design 

guidance 
Priority

Bradford design 
guidance Principle

DS1
Achieving 

Good Design
 Planning Decisions including Plans, development proposals, and investment decisions should 
contribute to achieving good design and high quality places through:
A. Taking a holistic, collaborative approach to design putting the quality of the place first. 8 1.2, 1.3, 1.4, 1.5

B. Being informed by a good understanding of the site/area and its context. 8 1.2, 1.3, 1.4, 1.5

C. Working with local communities and key stakeholders to develop shared visions for the 
future of their areas.

8 1.1, 1.4

D. Taking opportunities to improve places, including transforming areas which have the 
potential for change and supporting the regeneration aspirations of the District.

8 n/a

E. Referring schemes where appropriate to design review and acting on the recommendations 
of the review.

8 1.1

F. Taking a comprehensive approach to redevelopment in order to avoid piecemeal 
development which would compromise wider opportunities and the proper planning of the 
area.

8 Section 2

DS2
Working with 

the Landscape

 Planning Decisions including Plans and development proposals should take advantage of 
existing features, integrate development into the wider landscape and create new quality 
spaces. Wherever possible designs should:
A. Retain existing landscape and ecological features and integrate them within developments 
as positive assets.

2 2.4, , 2.6, 2.7, 
2.8, 2.9

B. Work with the landscape to reduce the environmental impact of development. 2, 6 1.5, 2.7, 2.8, 2.9, 
2.12, 3.9 

C. Take opportunities to link developments into the wider landscape and green space 
networks.

2, 4 2.6, 2.8, 2.9

D. Ensure that new landscape features and open spaces have a clear function, are visually 
attractive and fit for purpose, and have appropriate management and maintenance 
arrangements in place.

2, 4 2.6, 2.7, 2.8, 2.9, 
2.10 

E. Use plant species which are appropriate to the local character and conditions. 2 2.9

DS3
Urban 

Character
Plans and development proposals should create a strong sense of place and be appropriate to 
their context in terms of layout, scale, density, details and materials. In particular designs 
A. Respond to the existing positive patterns of development which contribute to the character 
of the area, or be based on otherwise strong ideas. Innovative and contemporary approaches 
to design which respond to and complement the local context will be supported.

5 1.2, 1.3, 2.1, 2.5, 
2.12, 3.7, 3.8

B. Retain and integrate existing built features which could contribute to creating a distinctive 
identity.

5 1.3, 2.5, 2.13, 
3.1, 3.8, 3.9

C. Take opportunities to create new public spaces, landmark buildings, landscape features 
(including street trees), views and public art as an integral part of the design.

2,4 2.4, 2.6, 2.8, 
2.10, 2.14

D. Provide variety on larger developments with different character areas and a hierarchy of 
street types.

1,5 1.3, 2.2, 2.3, 2.4, 
2.5, 2.11, 2.14 

E. Create attractive streetscapes and spaces which are defined and animated by the layout, 
scale and appearance of the buildings.

2,5 2.2, 2.4, 2.5, 
2.13, 2.14, 3.7, 
3.8

F. Display architectural quality and create original architecture or tailor standard solutions to the 
site.

1,5,6 2.75, 2.13, 2.14, 
3.7, 3.8

G. Contribute positively to skylines through the roofscape of new development. 5, 6 2.2, 2.13

H. Ensure that tall buildings are appropriate to their location, are of high quality design and that 
they do not detract from key views or heritage assets or create unacceptable local 
environmental conditions.

5,6 2.2

I. Design shop front units which are consistent with the character, scale, quality and materials 
of the existing façade, building and street scene of which they form part.

5 2.5, 3.7, 3.8

DS4
Streets and 
Movement

 Plans and development proposals should take the opportunities to encourage people to walk, 
cycle and use public transport through:
A. Creating a network of routes which are well overlooked and convenient and easy for all 
people to understand and move around.

3 2.3, 2.4, 2.5, 2.17

B. Connecting to existing street and path networks, public transport and places where people 
want to go in obvious and direct ways, and where necessaryimproving existing routes and 
public transport facilities.

3 2.3

C. Integrating existing footpaths/cycle routes on the site into the development. 3 2.3

D. Take an approach to highway design which supports the overall character of the place and 
which encourages people to use streets as social spaces rather than just as routes for traffic 
movement.

3,5 2.3, 2.4,  2.5, 2.6, 
2.7, 2.10, 2.17

E. Take a design led approach to car parking so that it supports the street scene and 
pedestrian environment whilst also being convenient and secure.

2,3 2.5, 2.15, 2.17

DS5
Safe and 
Inclusive 

Places

 Plans and development proposals should make a positive contribution to people’s lives 
through high quality, inclusive design. In particular they should:

A. Be designed to ensure a safe and secure environment and reduce the opportunities for 
crime.

4 2.3, 2.5

B. Allow flexibility to adapt to changing needs and circumstances. 4 3.1, 3.2

C. Be designed to ensure buildings and places provide easy access for all, including those with 
physical disabilities.

3 2.17, 3.2

D. Encourage social interaction and where appropriate provide opportunities for members of 
the community to meet and come into contact with each other.

4 1.4, 2.4, 2.5, 2.6, 
2.14

E. Include appropriate design arrangements for servicing, waste handling, recycling and 
storage.

4 2.2, 2.3, 2.15, 
2.16, 3.3

F. Not harm the amenity of existing or prospective users and residents. 4 1.4, 2.5, 3.6 

H09
Housing 
Quality

A. New housing development should be high quality and achieve good design. All All
B. The Council will encourage and support new residential developments to achieve high 
sustainable design and construction standards. The minimum acceptable sustainable housing 
standards are set out in the Building Regulations. 1,2,3,4,7 1.5, 3.9
C. Larger housing sites should include a proportion of new homes which are designed to be 
accessible and easily adaptable to support the changing needs of families and individuals over 
their lifetime, including older people and people with disabilities. 1, 3 2.11, 2.17, 3.2
D. New development should provide private outdoor space for homes, unless site constraints 
make this clearly unfeasible and/or unviable. 1,2,4 3.5

E. New homes should be well laid out internally and should provide suitable space standards 
appropriate to the type of home. Rooms should receive adequate levels of daylight. 1 3.2, 3.4
F. New development should provide adequate storage for bins, recycling and cycles. These 
should be located or designed in a way which is both convenient for residents and supports 
the quality of the street scene. 1, 2 3.3, 2.16, 2.15

Page 374



115HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Local 
Plan: 

Design 
Policy ref  

Title Policy wording

Bradford 
design 

guidance 
Priority

Bradford design 
guidance Principle

DS1
Achieving 

Good Design
 Planning Decisions including Plans, development proposals, and investment decisions should 
contribute to achieving good design and high quality places through:
A. Taking a holistic, collaborative approach to design putting the quality of the place first. 8 1.2, 1.3, 1.4, 1.5

B. Being informed by a good understanding of the site/area and its context. 8 1.2, 1.3, 1.4, 1.5

C. Working with local communities and key stakeholders to develop shared visions for the 
future of their areas.

8 1.1, 1.4

D. Taking opportunities to improve places, including transforming areas which have the 
potential for change and supporting the regeneration aspirations of the District.

8 n/a

E. Referring schemes where appropriate to design review and acting on the recommendations 
of the review.

8 1.1

F. Taking a comprehensive approach to redevelopment in order to avoid piecemeal 
development which would compromise wider opportunities and the proper planning of the 
area.

8 Section 2

DS2
Working with 

the Landscape

 Planning Decisions including Plans and development proposals should take advantage of 
existing features, integrate development into the wider landscape and create new quality 
spaces. Wherever possible designs should:
A. Retain existing landscape and ecological features and integrate them within developments 
as positive assets.

2 2.4, , 2.6, 2.7, 
2.8, 2.9

B. Work with the landscape to reduce the environmental impact of development. 2, 6 1.5, 2.7, 2.8, 2.9, 
2.12, 3.9 

C. Take opportunities to link developments into the wider landscape and green space 
networks.

2, 4 2.6, 2.8, 2.9

D. Ensure that new landscape features and open spaces have a clear function, are visually 
attractive and fit for purpose, and have appropriate management and maintenance 
arrangements in place.

2, 4 2.6, 2.7, 2.8, 2.9, 
2.10 

E. Use plant species which are appropriate to the local character and conditions. 2 2.9

DS3
Urban 

Character
Plans and development proposals should create a strong sense of place and be appropriate to 
their context in terms of layout, scale, density, details and materials. In particular designs 
A. Respond to the existing positive patterns of development which contribute to the character 
of the area, or be based on otherwise strong ideas. Innovative and contemporary approaches 
to design which respond to and complement the local context will be supported.

5 1.2, 1.3, 2.1, 2.5, 
2.12, 3.7, 3.8

B. Retain and integrate existing built features which could contribute to creating a distinctive 
identity.

5 1.3, 2.5, 2.13, 
3.1, 3.8, 3.9

C. Take opportunities to create new public spaces, landmark buildings, landscape features 
(including street trees), views and public art as an integral part of the design.

2,4 2.4, 2.6, 2.8, 
2.10, 2.14

D. Provide variety on larger developments with different character areas and a hierarchy of 
street types.

1,5 1.3, 2.2, 2.3, 2.4, 
2.5, 2.11, 2.14 

E. Create attractive streetscapes and spaces which are defined and animated by the layout, 
scale and appearance of the buildings.

2,5 2.2, 2.4, 2.5, 
2.13, 2.14, 3.7, 
3.8

F. Display architectural quality and create original architecture or tailor standard solutions to the 
site.

1,5,6 2.75, 2.13, 2.14, 
3.7, 3.8

G. Contribute positively to skylines through the roofscape of new development. 5, 6 2.2, 2.13

H. Ensure that tall buildings are appropriate to their location, are of high quality design and that 
they do not detract from key views or heritage assets or create unacceptable local 
environmental conditions.

5,6 2.2

I. Design shop front units which are consistent with the character, scale, quality and materials 
of the existing façade, building and street scene of which they form part.

5 2.5, 3.7, 3.8

DS4
Streets and 
Movement

 Plans and development proposals should take the opportunities to encourage people to walk, 
cycle and use public transport through:
A. Creating a network of routes which are well overlooked and convenient and easy for all 
people to understand and move around.

3 2.3, 2.4, 2.5, 2.17

B. Connecting to existing street and path networks, public transport and places where people 
want to go in obvious and direct ways, and where necessaryimproving existing routes and 
public transport facilities.

3 2.3

C. Integrating existing footpaths/cycle routes on the site into the development. 3 2.3

D. Take an approach to highway design which supports the overall character of the place and 
which encourages people to use streets as social spaces rather than just as routes for traffic 
movement.

3,5 2.3, 2.4,  2.5, 2.6, 
2.7, 2.10, 2.17

E. Take a design led approach to car parking so that it supports the street scene and 
pedestrian environment whilst also being convenient and secure.

2,3 2.5, 2.15, 2.17

DS5
Safe and 
Inclusive 

Places

 Plans and development proposals should make a positive contribution to people’s lives 
through high quality, inclusive design. In particular they should:

A. Be designed to ensure a safe and secure environment and reduce the opportunities for 
crime.

4 2.3, 2.5

B. Allow flexibility to adapt to changing needs and circumstances. 4 3.1, 3.2

C. Be designed to ensure buildings and places provide easy access for all, including those with 
physical disabilities.

3 2.17, 3.2

D. Encourage social interaction and where appropriate provide opportunities for members of 
the community to meet and come into contact with each other.

4 1.4, 2.4, 2.5, 2.6, 
2.14

E. Include appropriate design arrangements for servicing, waste handling, recycling and 
storage.

4 2.2, 2.3, 2.15, 
2.16, 3.3

F. Not harm the amenity of existing or prospective users and residents. 4 1.4, 2.5, 3.6 

H09
Housing 
Quality

A. New housing development should be high quality and achieve good design. All All
B. The Council will encourage and support new residential developments to achieve high 
sustainable design and construction standards. The minimum acceptable sustainable housing 
standards are set out in the Building Regulations. 1,2,3,4,7 1.5, 3.9
C. Larger housing sites should include a proportion of new homes which are designed to be 
accessible and easily adaptable to support the changing needs of families and individuals over 
their lifetime, including older people and people with disabilities. 1, 3 2.11, 2.17, 3.2
D. New development should provide private outdoor space for homes, unless site constraints 
make this clearly unfeasible and/or unviable. 1,2,4 3.5

E. New homes should be well laid out internally and should provide suitable space standards 
appropriate to the type of home. Rooms should receive adequate levels of daylight. 1 3.2, 3.4
F. New development should provide adequate storage for bins, recycling and cycles. These 
should be located or designed in a way which is both convenient for residents and supports 
the quality of the street scene. 1, 2 3.3, 2.16, 2.15

Page 375



116 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

FURTHER READING

SECTION 1: DEFINING A BRIEF 
Happy City by Charles Montgomery, Farrar Straus Giroux, 2014.

SECTION 2: CREATING A NEIGHBOURHOOD 
Place Value and the Ladder of Place Quality, a Place Alliance Report, 2019 
http://placealliance.org.uk/research/place-value/ 
http://placealliance.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Place-Value-and-the-
Ladder-of-Place-Quality-Place-Alliance.pdf

Design Companion for Planning and Placemaking by Urban Design London, RIBA 
Publishing, 2017

Councillor’s Companion for Design in Planning by Urban Design London, 2018 
https://www.urbandesignlondon.com/resources/councillors-companion-design-
planning-2018/

Manual for Streets, Department for Transport and Department for Communities 
and Local Government, 2007 www.gov.uk/government/publications/manual-for-
streets

SECTION 3: MAKING A HOME
Happy By Design: a guide to architecture and mental wellbeing, by Ben Channon, 
RIBA Publishing, 2018

Housing Design Handbook: a guide to good practice, by David Levitt and Jo 
McCafferty, Routledge, 2018 

Housing fit for Purpose, by Fionn Stevenson, RIBA Publishing, 2019

Page 376

Broadbents_92
Highlight

Broadbents_93
Highlight



117HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

IMAGE CREDITS

Front cover: Photo of Ilkley - City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council (CBMDC)
Page 4: Wrose View. Bradford Civic Society photo competition, Streets of Bradford. Matthew - Woolcityup
Page 7: Plan of Bradford - Tibbalds
Page 8: Photo - Born in Bradford
Page 10: Choice photo – Tibbalds, Green photo – Tibbalds, 
Page 11: Inclusive photo – Tibbalds, Healthy photo - CBMDC
Page 12: Distinctive photo - CBMDC, Slopes photo - CBMDC
Page 13: Efficient photo - CBMDC, Process illustration – Rob Cowan
Page 20 & 21: Office working photo x 2 - Tibbalds
Page 22: Children’s consultation workshop photo – Tibbalds
Page 27: Engagement event photos x 2 – Tibbalds
Page 28: Apperley Green photo – Tibbalds
Page 34: Marmalade Lane photo – Tibbalds
Page 36: Diagrams - Tibbalds
Page 39: Northumberland Street photo – DK Architects
Page 40 & 41: Illustrations – Tibbalds
Page 42 – 45: Figure ground plans - Tibbalds
Page 42: Bradford city centre photo - CBMDC
Page 43: Church street, Ilkley town centre photo– Bradford Council
Page 44: Saltaire village photo – Tibbalds
Page 45: Worth Valley photo - CBMDC
Page 46: Varndell Road photo – Mae Architects, photograph © Ståle Eriksen
Page 49: Passive House terrace photo – Scottish Housing Expo, image courtesy of HLM Architects
Page 50: Illustration – Tibbalds
Page 52: Haworth photo - CBMDC
Page 53: Diagram – Tibbalds
Page 55: Illustration - Adriette Myburgh and Pollard Thomas Edwards Architects 
Page 56: Children cycling photo– Tibbalds, 
Page 57: Diagram – Tibbalds
Page 58: Movement strategy diagrams x 2– Tibbalds
Page 60: Street sections x 3 – Tibbalds
Page 61: Paintworks, Bristol photo – Crest Nicholson 

Derwenthorpe, York photo – ©Studio Partington, www.studiopartington.co.uk
 Greener Grangetown photo - image copyright GreenBlue Urban 

Ninewells, Cambridge photo– Tibbalds 
Page 62: Illustration – Tibbalds
Page 63: Illustrations x 2 – Tibbalds, photo of Crown Point, Trowse, Hopkins Homes
Page 64: Open space illustration – Tibbalds
Page 65: Coin Street photo – Philip Vile/Haworth Tompkins
Page 66: Canal photo - CBMDC
Page 67: Greener Grangetown photo - image copyright GreenBlue Urban
Page 68: Brentford Lock photos – Camlins landscape architects
Page 69: Tree diagram – Tibbalds
Page 70 - 71: Kingsbrook housing – images copyright to Barratt Developments plc
Page 72: Waterfountain play photo – Tibbalds
Page 72: Cornwell Park – Tibbalds
Page 74: Shipley Wharf photo– Bradford Civic Society photo competition  - Tabya Shariff
Page 76: Stanley Street photo – Tibbalds, Valley Parade photo - Bradford Civic Society photo competition 

– Andy Smith

Page 377



118 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Page 77: Photos x 2 and drawings x 2 of Canary Drive - CBMDC
Page 78: Apperley Green photo – Tibbalds
Page 79: Lister Mill, Bradford photo – Tibbalds, Chain Street photo - Bradford Civic Society photo 

competition– Ben Hoole
Page 80: St Paul’s Road, Manningham photo - Bradford Civic Society photo competition – Tom 

Barrett
Page 82: Longcross North, Chertsey photo – Tibbalds
Page 83: The Acres, Addingham photo - Bradford Civic Society photo competition – Helen Hudson
Page 84: Parking court photo – Tibbalds, bike store photo– Tibbalds
Page 86: Illustration – Tibbalds
Page 87: Bin stores photos x 2 – Maccreanor Lavington
Page 88: Illustration – Tibbalds
Page 89: Banbury Place photo - Tibbalds
Page 93: Albany Street photo– Tibbalds
Page 95: Illustration – Tibbalds
Page 96: Chobham Manor, Stratford photo– PRP Architects
Page 97: Little Kelham, Sheffield photo – Developer: Citu
Page 98: Marmalade Lane photo – Architects: Mole Architects, Developer: TOWN, Photographer: 

David Butler
Page 99: Cornwell Park photo – Tibbalds
Page 100: Varndell Street photo– Mae Architects, photograph © Ståle Eriksen
Page 102: The Malings photo – Ash Sakula Architects as architects and landscape designers, and 

Jill Tate as photographer.
Page 103: Heald Farm Court photo – Architects: DK Architects, Photographer: Tim Crocker
Page 105: The Malings photo–  Ash Sakula Architects as architects and landscape designers, and 

Jill Tate as photographer
Page 106: Wells Road, Ilkley photo - Bradford Civic Society photo competition - S Gwyther
Page 107: Trumpinton Meadows photo – Tibbalds
Page 108: Cornwell Park, Cambridge photo – Tibbalds
Page 111: Illustration - Tibbalds

All maps created from OS base

Page 378



119HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Page 379



120 HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS: A GUIDE TO DESIGNING IN BRADFORD

Page 380



Report of the Director of Corporate Resources to the 
meeting of the Executive Committee to be held on 04 
February 2020

Subject:  AY
Civic Quarter District Heat – Outline Business Case

Summary statement:

This report presents a summary of the outline business case to support the Council’s ambition to 
develop a City Centre based District Energy Network, supplying low carbon heat and electricity on 
commercial terms, to city centre civic buildings, other public sector buildings and commercial 
properties.

Joanne Hyde
Director of Corporate Resources

Portfolio:  Cllr Sarah Ferriby – Healthy 
People and Places
Cllr Alex Ross-Shaw – Regeneration, 
Planning and Transport

Report Contact:  Neill Morrison, Energy 
and Low Carbon Project Manager
Phone: (01274) 434003
E-mail: neill.morrison@bradford.gov.uk

 Overview & Scrutiny Area: Regeneration 
and Environment

Page 381

Agenda Item 13/



1. SUMMARY

This report presents a summary of the outline business case to support achieving the 
Council’s ambition to develop a city centre based District Heat Network supplying low 
carbon heat on commercial terms to City Centre Civic buildings, other public sector 
buildings and commercial properties. (A glossary of technical terms is included in Appendix 
1).

2. BACKGROUND

District Heat Networks (DHN) offers an opportunity to reduce the district’s carbon 
emissions, create new long term secure income streams, and contribute to corporate cost 
reductions. 

The UK government has identified DHN as a significant contributor to reducing UK 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and as a component in the transition to low carbon 
energy.  The Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) is making 
financial and technical resources available to support DHN project development across the 
country. 

In 2010, Bradford Council agreed to reduce its carbon emissions from its own activities and 
for the District by 40% by 2020.  The Council also agreed a target of 20% for energy for 
delivery of its own functions to come from renewable sources (Council March 2010).  

Executive considered a Renewable Energy report on 3rd May 2013.  This presented a 
discussion of the Link Member Report Bradford Power 2020 and Beyond, Renewables 
Future for Bradford Council and set out the Council’s approach to deploying a range of 
renewable electricity and heat projects. The report set out progress to date on a number of 
renewable technology projects deployed across Council assets and includes the case for 
use of biomass systems. Executive endorsed this approach.

Funding from the BEIS Heat Networks Delivery Unit (HNDU) has allowed the Council to 
commission consultants to undertake a technical and economic feasibility of a number of 
DHN scenarios, using the Civic Quarter as an anchor estate for the scheme and complete 
the current level of design work.  The Outline Business Case (OBC) has also been 
developed using HNDU funding (67%) as well as West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Energy Accelerator (WYCA) funding (33%) and BEIS have also provided grant funding for 
project management resource (100%).  The project management is being delivered by 
Arcadis, and the OBC has been prepared by a consortium headed by Turner and 
Townsend and includes Brodies Solicitors and Carbon Trust providing specialist legal and 
technical advice.

The project has now achieved RIBA Stage 3 design for the electrical and mechanical 
elements of the network, and the economic model, for a series of scenarios, has been 
completed.  This work package included air quality modelling across the network and a 
detailed assessment of the pipework route options.  

A pre planning enquiry has been submitted to the Council’s Planning Department. The 
initial feedback is positive, stating “This proposal sits well with the objectives of the Spatial 
Vision and policies SC1, SC2, SC6, SC9, BD1 EC1 and EN6 of the Bradford Core 
Strategy.”  Officers are working closely with the Air Quality team to ensure that any 
potential impacts are carefully considered and mitigated, to ensure the development does 
not create unacceptable air quality issues.

Page 382



In addition to the provision of heat, the network also offers an opportunity to utilise energy 
storage technology at a reduced cost if incorporated into the design before construction.  
The size of the electrical connection would be unaffected and the technology would be able 
to take advantage of financial incentives available for short term energy storage, these 
include Frequency Response, TRIADS, peak load management, day/night pricing and the 
utilisation of onsite generation capacity.  This needs to be explored as part of the phase 2 
expansion work.

The OBC has been prepared using the 5 case model and demonstrates a strong strategic 
fit, commercial, economic, financial and management case.  The headline information from 
each case is set out in the appropriate section below.  The full outline Business case is 
attached as Appendix 2.

3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

There must be context and understanding of how a district heat network fits into 
Bradford Council’s historic and recent strategic decisions with regard to energy use 
in the district.  Also its fit within the national and regional policy environment and its 
fit within the districts core strategy. Appendix 2 sets out the reason that District Heat 
supports the desired outcomes for these strategies.

The objectives of the project as laid out in the document are
 Provide competitively priced energy
 Provide a vehicle with the ability to generate income for the Council
 Minimise carbon emissions
 Reduce cost of heating Council buildings

Analysis of the project’s interdependencies, assumptions and constraints is set out 
in detail and is supported with a risk register that sets out the high level risks and 
mitigation in place.  

Appendix 2 shows a strong strategic fit locally, regionally and nationally.  It 
particularly fits with proposals being put forward under the transforming cities 
programme where there are options to share civil engineering and landscaping 
costs along a mutually beneficial timeline. 

4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL

Appendix 2 provides analysis of the critical success factors relating to the district 
heat project and applies these to the various options for the development of the 
scheme then using an evidence based assessment recommends an option for 
implementation.  The options are appraised with whole life financial viability 
parameters which have been referenced and summarised following a quality 
assurance process.  These include a full techno-economic model and cash flow 
assessment.

This work identifies a preferred core scheme and explains the changes made to this 
preferred scheme from the previous recommendation and the reasons for the 
changes.  It also includes elements of route optimisation and other changes due to 

Page 383



changes in the built environment around the magistrate’s court and this route with 
all relevant connections is included Figure [5].

A review of the techno-economic model for the core scheme is included. This is 
supported with an analysis of any optimism bias and then an analysis of the wider 
sustainability impacts.

The case demonstrates that there is a positive IRR for the scheme as designed and 
that the scheme remains technically feasible with updated information about the 
capital and revenue cost streams.

The financial case section of Appendix 2 presents the findings of the financial 
appraisal of the preferred option recommended in the economic case. Inputs to the 
appraisal were primarily sourced from the techno-economic model (TEM) initial 
prepared by Sustainable Energy Ltd (SEL) and subsequently modified by 
Woodward Energy Consulting Ltd (WEC).  Key issues addressed in this appraisal 
include funding requirements and funding sources, budget forecasting, project 
operations, financial risk, sensitivity analysis and state aid.

This financial case focuses on the core heat network, the subject of Appendix 2.  
However, the intent is to expand the scheme to include additional buildings and 
enhance the project returns.  The detailed financial projections for the SPV are 
included in an appendix to the document. This financial assessment has been 
undertaken by the Carbon Trust and is still subject to internal financial analysis.

The cost of this project is £14.463M, which is proposed to be used and funded as 
follows:

 Core Scheme                                           £000 %
Uses of Funds   
 Energy Centre 5618 39%
 Distribution Network 7840 54%
 Interest During Construction 145 1%
 Professional Fees 750 5%
 Working Capital 110 1%

 Total Uses £000 %
Sources of Funds   
 HNIP Grant 6459 45%
 Council Equity 5023 35%
 Council Loan 2871 19%
 Council Working Capital Facility 110 1%

Total Funds 14463  

The ‘Council Loan’ will be repaid and alongside the working capital facility is invest 
to save funding within the Capital Programme. The ‘Council equity’ of £5,023k will 
be funded by corporate borrowing in the Capital Programme. 

Page 384



The current financial modelling shows that the new District Heating Network over its 
life will bring in a share of Business Rates to the Council’s General Fund over and 
above the corporate borrowing amount – though it is the case that the Business 
Rates framework is currently being reviewed by the Government.

Please note, the project would incur abortive costs under the terms of the funding 
agreement held with West Yorkshire Combined Authority should the project be 
abandoned for reasons not deemed reasonable.  These costs are currently in the 
region of £40,000 but would escalate under the commercialisation stage of work 
and would create a pressure on the General Fund should the project be stopped.  
In the event that the development is abandoned due to a problem with the project’s 
overall financial viability, this claw-back would not be triggered.

5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES

The Management case takes a view on how the scheme has progressed and 
outlines how the project will be managed through the commercialisation phase, 
while providing a broad view of how the project will be implemented. It sets out the 
key milestones within the short and long term plan and how the project needs to co-
ordinate with other development and regeneration activities within the Council such 
as activities related to the transforming cities fund bid.

There is a projection of the likely costs associated with the commercialisation and 
delivery phases splitting out the costs by each of the activities although much, if not 
all, of this cost is able to be funded via support from BEIS (HNDU & HNIP) and the 
WYCA (Energy Accellerator).

There is a summary of the proposed goverance arrangements for the project both 
throughout the commercialisation and delivery phase.  This includes likely resource 
requirements for the Council governance board and other internal stakeholders as 
well as the resources that will be required to deliver each of the work packages.

The case demonstrates that there is a viable management methodology that 
satisfies the council’s requirements as well as the requirements of potential grant 
funders.

6. LEGAL APPRAISAL

Appendix 2 provides an overview of the procurement and commercial strategies of 
the project.  This is particularly important given the wide range of options around 
both of these crucial elements and how those choices impact on the Council’s 
options in terms of revenue, costs, access to grants and the amount of control it 
would retain.

Firstly Appendix 2 addressed the commercial concerns, reviewing the objectives to 
understand the key outputs to achieve and then overlaying these aims with the 
Council’s appetite for risk, requirements for control of project development and 
need to share in returns as well as any constraints and dependencies.

Page 385



This process informed the preferred delivery model and that formed the basis for 
the rest of the case.  The key benefits and opportunities, risks and barriers are 
summarised with any opportunities for mitigation.

There is an explanation of the Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) that will be required 
to operate the delivery model. This also sets out the benefits, risks and barriers that 
are associated with the recommendation as well as the process that needs to be 
undertaken to draft the terms correctly and what considerations need to be made 
during this process. Such as the board structure and where decisions require 
Council approval.

Appendix 2 then reviews the options around procurement strategies.  This 
commences with a review of the constraints involved with the supply of heat and 
power from the network and provides a route that satisfies contract standing orders 
and that can be accessed by the other public body customers.  It follows with an 
assessment of the proper procurement route for the construction phase.

Appendix 2 makes an assessment of any state aid implications on the council and 
the SPV and provides guidance on where different rates apply due to the majority of 
the scheme falling within a class ‘c’ assisted area.

The case shows that the scheme as designed will operate within the council’s 
preferred business structure and that the recommended development packages 
can be procured using the routes available to the council.

Internal Considerations
The council’s commercial legal team had involvement in the commercial workshop 
and together with procurement has been given the opportunity to consider the OBC. 
There is further development required during the commercialisation phase of work 
around:

o the formation and role of the SPV;
o procurement options, particularly in relation to the supply of energy;
o trading powers; and  
o state aid 

All commercialisation development work will be undertaken in conjunction with 
officers from legal and procurement to ensure that an appropriate path which 
adheres to the Council’s standing orders and to legislation will be followed 
throughout.

7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS

7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY

No impact

7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

 Please see background and description of Strategic Case for full details of how this 
project supports the Council’s wider sustainability objectives.

Page 386



7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS

Scheme is currently projected to save 12,640 tonnes of Carbon emissions over the 
project life however it needs to be recognised that the scheme itself is transitional 
with the aim being to provide a network that does not present a financial burden to 
the council in the earliest stages of its implementation.  There are aims to 
continually improve the network both adding connections and reviewing the heat 
sources to ensure that the carbon emissions are maximised over the life of the 
scheme.  Officers have observed from other schemes such as Nottingham and 
Sheffield that once the initial infrastructure is in place the secondary expansion is 
deliverable and networks expand to their capacity.  This is also being demonstrated 
in Leeds where the “pipes” scheme is being expanded.

7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

No impact

7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

No impact

7.6 TRADE UNION

No impact

7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS

The Energy centre will be located in City Ward directly at the boundary with Little 
Horton Ward.  This development will require planning permission and some of the 
planning guidance from the pre application is summarised in the background 
section of the report.  The main issues to ensure we do not cause a nuisance are 
the sound emissions from the energy centre and the air quality impacts that are 
experienced as we move emissions sources within these areas.  These issues are 
understood and steps are being taken to ensure that the scheme does not create 
adverse impacts.

7.8 AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS
(for reports to Area Committees only)

N/A

7.9 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING

No Impact

7.10 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT

No Impact

8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS

Page 387



Appendix 2 – Full Outline Business Case

Appendix 2 is Not for Publication and is exempt from disclosure in accordance with 
paragraph 3 of schedule 12a (financial or business affairs) of the Local Government Act 
1972.  It is considered that in all the circumstances, the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information

Appendix 3 – Project Delivery Plan

Appendix 3 is Not for Publication and is exempt from disclosure in accordance with 
paragraph 3 of schedule 12a (financial or business affairs) of the Local Government Act 
1972.  It is considered that in all the circumstances, the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information

9. OPTIONS

1. To reject the Outline Business Case and request that officers restart this project 
seeking alternative solutions to heat generation technologies, additional heat 
customers, alternative route options or other changes that deliver alternative 
outputs.

2. To reject the Outline Business Case and to choose to pursue alternative 
arrangements for the currently allocated resources that are needed to deliver the 
scheme and develop alternative plans as part of the council’s response to the 
climate emergency.

3. To accept the recommendations of the Outline Business Case and direct officers to 
start progression through the next stages of project development including 
appropriate grant funding applications, commercialisation work and required 
procurements.

10. RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommended
1) That the Outline Business Case is accepted and that Executive request officers 

continue to develop the project to commercialisation on the basis of the 
recommendations made to deliver the preferred outputs and business structure 
as described throughout the OBC and subject to finance approval of the 
financial and economic business cases by Strategic Director Corporate 
Resources in consultation with the leader of the council.  

2) That appropriate decision making authority is delegated to the Strategic Director 
Corporate Resources in consultation with the Healthy People and Places, and 
Regeneration Portfolio Holders to allow necessary milestones be hit to achieve 
the project. This delegated authority will allow funding applications to be 
submitted and project decisions on the structure and development of the project 
elements, such as agreeing heads of terms with customers, continue without 
delays.  

Page 388



11. APPENDICES

1. Glossary of terms
2. Outline Business Case – Not for publication
3. Delivery plan – Not for publication

12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

 None

Page 389



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 Glossary of terms

 • DHN – District Heat Network, pipes in the ground that move heat between 
buildings, central heating for cities

 • CHP – Combined Heat and Power, an engine that burns gas to produce electricity 
and the waste heat is captured and used 

• Load – the amount of heat required by the system at any time 

• Base Load – the typical load required during periods of light use of the system 

• Peak Load – The highest heat requirement at any point of the day, week, month or 
year 

• Heat exchanger – a device that allows heat to be moved in to or out from the DHN 
without having to mingle the fluid that the heat is being carried in. Allows systems to 
operate at different temperatures and pressures 

• Heat Interface unit – See Heat exchanger 

• Heat Meter – measures the flow rate of heat carrying liquid and the temperature 
difference allowing accurate billing for every unit of heat consumed 

• Boiler – burns fuel to provide heat 

• Biomass – usually wood fuel, either in chipped form (cheaper) or industrially formed 
into pellets (more compact and consistent quality). Can also be straw, miscanthus or 
other fuel crops. 

• Energy From Waste (EFW) – a facility that combusts municipal waste and 
harnesses the heat to generate electricity, heat left after this process can be 
distributed via a DHN 

• Losses – energy lost during distribution through heat leakage or electrical 
resistance 

• Private Wire Network (PWN) – a privately owned and operated electricity 
distribution network 

• O&M – Operation and Maintenance – the team or mechanism that keeps the 
technical equipment running smoothly 

• CRM – Customer Relations Management – the team or mechanism that deals with 
customers including billing, complaints and new customers

 Frequency response – This is an aspect of energy storage where the operator of 
an electrical storage facility can be paid to take excess electricity from the grid to 
help prevent generation capacity being shut down and incurring the losses that 
that process would cause.  The operator can then sell the stored electricity back 

Page 391



to the grid when energy is scarce making more money or use the energy on its 
own site if this is more financially beneficial.

Page 392



Page 393

Agenda Item 16/



Page 394



Page 395



Page 396



Page 397



Page 398



Page 399



Page 400



Page 401



Page 402



Page 403



Page 404



Page 405



Page 406


	Agenda
	4 MEETINGS OF COUNCIL AND THE EXECUTIVE 2020/21
	5 2020-21 BUDGET UPDATE
	6 CONSULTATION FEEDBACK AND EQUALITY ASSESSMENT ON NEW PROPOSALS IN THE 2020-21COUNCIL BUDGET
	7 QTR. 3 FINANCE POSITION STATEMENT FOR 2019-20
	8 DETERMINATION OF PRIMARY AND SECONDARY ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS
	9 ENSURING THE SUFFICIENCY OF SPECIALIST PLACES FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE WITH SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITIES (SEND) ACROSS THE DISTRICT
	10 PROPOSED REDUCTION OF PUBLISHED ADMISSION NUMBER AT CARRWOOD AND LOW ASH PRIMARY SCHOOLS
	11 HOMES AND NEIGHBOURHOODS DESIGN GUIDE
	Exec4FebDocAXapp1
	Exec4FebDocAXapp2
	PART A: 
introducing the guide
	Further reading
	Image Credits


	13 CIVIC QUARTER DISTRICT HEAT - OUTLINE BUSINESS CASE
	Exec4FebDocAYApp1

	16 MINUTES OF THE WEST YORKSHIRE COMBINED AUTHORITY

	Button 1: 
	Button 2: 


